
 

 

City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

August 25, 2020 
Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting – 6:00 p.m. 
4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stephens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson, Elkins 
 

APPROVAL TO SUSPEND CERTAIN RULES OF PLANNING COMMISSION DUE TO PANDEMIC: 

 

MEETING STATEMENT: 
To reduce the likelihood of the spread of COVID-19 and to comply with social distancing recommendations, this 
meeting of the Leawood Planning Commission is being conducted using the Zoom media format, with some of the 
commissioners appearing remotely. The meeting is being livestreamed on YouTube and the public can access the 
livestream by going to www.leawood.org for the live link. The public is strongly encouraged to access this meeting 
electronically; however, if you wish to comment on a public hearing item, please contact the Community 
Development Department to make arrangements.  
 
Public comments will only be accepted during the public hearing portion of each agenda item where a public 
hearing is required. The City encourages the public to submit comments in writing prior to the public hearing by 
emailing comments to pcpubliccomments@leawood.org. Written public comments received at least 24 hours prior 
to the meeting will be distributed to members of the Planning Commission. Those wishing to appear remotely using 
the Zoom format media, should register at pcpubliccoments@leawood.org on or before Friday, August 21st at  
5:00 pm.  Individuals who contacted the Planning Department in advance to provide public comments will be called 
upon by name.  
 
Electronic copies of tonight’s agenda are available on the City’s website at www.Leawood.org under Government / 
Planning Commission / Agendas & Minutes.  Because this meeting is being live-streamed, all parties must state 
their name and title each time they speak.  This will ensure an accurate record and make it clear for those listening 
only. This applies to all commissioners, staff, applicants and members of the public who may speak.  All motions 
must be stated clearly. After each motion is made and seconded, a roll call vote will be taken. The Chair or staff will 
announce whether the motion carried and the count of the vote. Reminder, please mute all microphones when you 
are not speaking. Thank you.    
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Approval of minutes from the July 28, 2020 Planning Commission meeting. 
Approval of minutes from the August 11, 2020 Planning Commission Work Session. 
 

http://www.leawood.org/
mailto:pcpubliccoments@leawood.org
http://www.leawood.org/


 

 

CONTINUED TO THE SEPTEMBER 22ND PLANNING COMMISSION: 
CASE 69-20 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD VILLAS – Request for approval of a Final Plat and Final Plan, located north of 
151st Street and east of Mission Road. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 65-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – AMENITY AREA – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located 
south of Town Center Drive and West of Roe Avenue. 

 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 04-20 – 135th STREET AND KENNETH ROAD – Mixed Use and Medium Density Residential – Request for 
approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Revised Preliminary Plat – Located south of 135th Street and west of 
Kenneth Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 49-20 – CAMERON’S COURT – Request for approval of a Rezoning from AG (Agricultural) and SD-O (Planned 
Office) to RP-2 (Planned Cluster Residential Detached) and MXD (Mixed Use District), Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary 
Plat, located south of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 74-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-3-3, ADMINISTRATIVE 
APPROVALS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Tenant 
Finishes. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 75-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-6.3, SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) - Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to building 
heights within SD-CR. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 66-20 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval 
of a Revised Final Plan, located south of 119th Street and east of Roe Avenue. 
 
CASE 67-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a 
Revised Final Plan, located south of Town Center Drive and west of Roe Avenue.  
 
CASE 64-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – FIRST ASCENT – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, located south of 
Town Center Drive and west of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 68-20 – PLAZA POINTE – GUIDEPOST MONTESSORI – Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, 
Revised Final Plan, and Special Use Permit for a Daycare/Montessori, located south of 136th Street and west of Roe 
Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
CASE 70-20 – VILLA DE FONTANA – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, Preliminary Plat, and Rezoning from 
SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O (Planned Office), and RP-3 ((Planned Custer Attached Residential 
District)(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per Dwelling)) to RP-2 ((Planned Cluster Detached Residential District )(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per 
Dwelling)), located south of 135th Street and east of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) minutes.  An 
additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 
July 28, 2020 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 
Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Stevens, McGurren, Elkins, Coleman, Block, 
Hunter (logged on after the meeting began), Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
APPROVAL TO SUSPEND CERTAIN RULES OF PLANNING COMMISSION 
DUE TO PANDEMIC:  
 
A motion to suspend certain rules of the Planning Commission due to the pandemic 
was made by Coleman; seconded by Block. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-
call vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Peterson, Hoyt, Belzer, Coleman, Block, and 
Stevens. 
 
MEETING STATEMENT:  
To reduce the likelihood of the spread of COVID-19 and to comply with social distancing 
recommendations, this meeting of the Leawood Planning Commission is being conducted 
using the Zoom media format, with some of the commissioners appearing remotely. The 
meeting is being livestreamed on YouTube and the public can access the livestream by 
going to www.leawood.org for the live link. The public is strongly encouraged to access 
this meeting electronically; however, if you wish to comment on a public hearing item, 
please contact the Community Development Department to make arrangements.  
 
Public comments will only be accepted during the public hearing portion of each agenda 
item where a public hearing is required. The City encourages the public to submit 
comments in writing prior to the public hearing by emailing comments to 
pcpubliccomments@leawood.org. Written public comments received at least 24 hours 
prior to the meeting will be distributed to members of the Planning Commission. Those 
wishing to appear remotely using the Zoom format media, should register at 
pcpubliccoments@leawood.org on or before Friday, July 24th at 5:00 pm Individuals 
who contacted the Planning Department in advance to provide public comments will be 
called upon by name.  
 
Electronic copies of tonight’s agenda are available on the City’s website at 
www.Leawood.org under Government / Planning Commission / Agendas & Minutes. 
Because this meeting is being live-streamed, all parties must state their name and title 
each time they speak. This will ensure an accurate record and make it clear for those 
listening only. This applies to all commissioners, staff, applicants and members of the 
public who may speak. All motions must be stated clearly. After each motion is made and 
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seconded, a roll call vote will be taken. The Chair or staff will announce whether the 
motion carried and the count of the vote. Reminder, please mute all microphones when 
you are not speaking. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Hunter joined the meeting. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have any revisions? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  We do not. 
 
A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Steven. Motion 
carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Peterson, Hoyt, 
Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the June 23, 2020 Planning 
Commission meeting. 
 
A motion to approve the minutes from the June 23, 2020 Planning Commission 
meeting was made by Stevens; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a 
unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Peterson, Hoyt, Belzer, Hunter, 
Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
CONTINUED TO THE AUGUST 25, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING:  
CASE 49-20 – CAMERON’S COURT – Request for approval of a Rezoning from AG 
(Agricultural) and SD-O (Planned Office) to RP-2 (Planned Cluster Residential 
Detached) and MXD (Mixed Use District), Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat, 
located south of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  
CASE 58-20 – EURONET WORLDWIDE – SIGN PLAN – Request for approval of a 
Final Plan for a Sign Plan, located south of 114th Street and west of Tomahawk Creek 
Parkway. 
 
A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by 
Block. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, 
Peterson, Hoyt, Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 56-20 – LEAWOOD FIRE STATION #1 & PARK – Request for approval of a 
Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, located south f 96th Street and East of Lee Boulevard. 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Staff Presentation: 
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City Planner Grant Lang made the following presentation: 
 
Mr. Lang:  This is Case 56-20 – Leawood Fire Station #1 & Park. The applicant is 
requesting approval of a Revised Final Plat to combine Lot Nos. 15-19 within the 
Leawood Estates Residential subdivision into one lot. This application is limited to the 
re-platting of five lots into one lot and does not include rezoning or design for the 
property. This process will allow for the removal of existing interior lot lines and the 
adjoining setbacks. The existing R-1 zoning will remain with this application. This is the 
first step in a multi-step process that the project will have to undertake. Further, they will 
be required to submit a Preliminary and Final Plan. Once the design process starts for the 
site, an additional Public Hearing and Interact Meeting will be required. The application 
does meet all requirements per the LDO (Leawood Development Ordinance), and staff 
recommends approval of Case 56-20 with the stipulations listed in the Staff Report. I’ll 
stand by to answer any questions.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you, Mr. Lang. Are there questions? 
 
Comm. Coleman:  What is the purpose of combining the five lots together? 
 
Mr. Lang:  At this point, we don’t have a plan; it is just clerical work to get all the city 
property into one large lot.  
 
Comm. Coleman:  Is there a reason to get it all into one block? 
 
Mr. Lang:  I believe they would like to place an additional Fire Station on the new 
property after removing the old one, but at this point, we don’t have that information. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  I was looking at the diagram in the Staff Report. As I understand, the 
existing Fire Station looks like it’s primarily on Lot 2 and a little bit on Lot 1. Lot 3 
includes the old City Hall. Lot 4 is vacant, and it used to hold the cell phone tower. 
 
Mr. Lang:  And the old Police Station. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  And then is it an existing home on Lot 5? 
 
Mr. Lang:  There was a home on the property. The city has acquired it, and the home is 
gone. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  There are numerous comments of concern from neighbors. It seems like 
the primary concern is lack of a plan at this point for what is going to be done on the 
property and a questioning of the process and if this is typical. I wonder if you could 
reflect a bit on the sequence of steps and if this is a standard practice to ask for the re-
platting before there are any plans whatsoever. 
 
Mr. Lang:  Any property owner within the City of Leawood is allowed to re-plat property 
at any point in time as long as it follows the LDO. Nowhere in that ordinance does it state 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 4 - July 28, 2020 

that a plan is required. We saw this with the recent Whitehorse residential subdivision. 
They combined two lots into one without a plan.  
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Did we have a vague notion of what they would do with that property? I’m 
trying to figure out if this is in the range of what has typically been done in the past or if 
this is somehow different.  
 
Mr. Lang:  It certainly is allowed within the LDO. With the Whitehorse case, there was 
mention of a pool. At that point, we were not supportive of developing on proper lines. 
This is just clearing the way for future development. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  Is it fair to say that, in the documentation from the Interact Meeting, 
one of the major concerns was related to the park and whether the neighbors wanted a 
park. I was on the Parks and Recreation Board recently, and my recollection was that this 
subject had an Interact Meeting a long time ago, and there was overwhelming support for 
a potential park. They sought perspective on the type of park. I was surprised to read that 
this meeting unfolded a perception of potential park. Is there anything that can be said 
about that comparison from before to now? 
 
Mr. Lang:  I think the reason it was called a park in this instance is it was reflecting what 
was on the Comprehensive Plan, which does show it as open green space for public use. 
If opinions changed for the residents, it would be a great question to ask them. 
 
Comm. Block:  You indicated this is a housekeeping measure. I think there was reference 
to it in the Interact Meeting from those who represented the city from the engineering 
company. From a design perspective, why is this step necessary? Does it affect their 
ability to design? 
 
Mr. Lang:  Without having a plan in front of me, I would assume if they are left with the 
individual properties, they would have to go up instead of out because they’re not going 
to be allowed to develop on the property lines. Those property lines also come with a 15’ 
setback. This would help with capacity and allow them to develop. The neighborhood is 
not supportive of a two-story building. This would satisfy that need. 
 
Comm. Block:  From a cost perspective, does not having this approval and then trying to 
design, having to change designs down the road because there is movement with the lots? 
 
Mr. Lang:  I’m not sure how much it would impact a cost-related activity. All we know is 
they want to re-plat and satisfy that need, clearing the way so they know what they can 
design. Now, they have limitations. 
 
Comm. Block:  It would not change any of the setbacks on the perimeter of all of the 
parcels, correct? They’re not going to be able to get any of this any closer to the exterior 
sides? 
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Mr. Lang:  That is correct; it only impacts the interior lines. This is still going to be zoned 
R-1. The setbacks will stay they same as they are now.  
 
Comm. Block:  Would this need to be rezoned at some point to put the Fire Station back 
on there? 
 
Mr. Lang:  It doesn’t need to be rezoned, as the use is allowed. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Are there other questions? What impact will the re-platting have on the 
zoning? 
 
Mr. Lang:  The zoning isn’t a part of this application, so it wouldn’t have any impact at 
all. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  If, for some reason, there is a desire or need to rezone, what would the 
city have to do in order to accomplish that? 
 
Mr. Lang:  The city would have to fill out an application, and then we would have an 
Interact Meeting.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  It would come back to the Planning Commission, correct? 
 
Mr. Lang:  Yes, it would. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  It would have a Public Hearing for the rezoning, correct? 
 
Mr. Lang:  Yes. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  We would then have to make a decision to recommend it to Governing 
Body for approval. 
 
Mr. Lang:  Correct. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  What impact will the proposed re-platting have on any deed 
restrictions on the five lots that are subject to be re-platted? 
 
Mr. Lang:  My basic understanding is the deed restrictions run with the land. Legal may 
have more to say about that.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  For my own edification, what are the standards we should be applying 
to make a determination whether we should recommend re-platting to Governing Body/ 
In certain circumstances, we have Golden Criteria. I’m not suggesting they apply here, 
but could you give some guidance on the standard we should be applying? 
 
Mr. Lang:  I might pass that off to Richard Coleman. 
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Mr. Coleman: You want to make sure that all the property lines, description of plat, any 
easements or other encumbrances on the property are known. That would be of interest to 
Governing Body. The platting has no effect on deed restrictions on the lot that the city 
bought. I know that was a question from a number of the residents. This is the normal 
process for developers. Often, there are multiple pieces of property for a development, so 
the first step is platting the property. Then that takes care of a number of issues that may 
arise when surveyors and engineers research the property. As was alluded to before, we 
don’t allow buildings to be built on property lines. We have interior setback requirements 
for interior property lines. By removing this, it allows whoever the city chooses to do the 
design to proceed knowing where the setbacks are, where the restrictions are, and not 
have those interior lot lines. We don’t know the final layout, but there will be 
opportunities for the public to participate throughout the process.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Mr. Lang, in the event that the city desires to develop part 
of the space for a public park or green space, what would the process be for the city? 
 
Mr. Lang:  I believe at that point, it would have to be rezoned to Recreational. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Assuming that goes through the same process, what about the plan for 
the park itself?  
 
Mr. Lang:  It would follow the same process of Preliminary and Final Plans, including 
Public Hearings as well.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  There has been a lot of conversation about the Fire Station. If and 
when such a plan is proposed to be executed, what is the process for that proposal? 
 
Mr. Lang:  There would be an Interact Meeting with a Public Hearing, going through 
Planning Commission and Governing Body.  
 
Comm. Block:  As a follow-up, the 1952 Covenants and Restrictions, referenced in one 
of these letters, is a legal matter that is not part of the LDO and not something Planning 
Commission and City Council would consider. Is that correct? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  The deed restriction, as Mr. Lang said, runs with the land. One of the 
encumbrances on the property are things the architect and engineer have to work around. 
There are sometimes deed restrictions on commercial property, too; it depends on what 
the original owner intended. 
 
Comm. Block:  We’re not going to have to worry about it, but it’s the northernmost and 
southernmost properties that have those? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  I believe it’s the southernmost property only. It’s the property that had a 
house on it. This gives more room for development and more room between existing 
homes. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? 
 
Comm. Peterson:  In the Interact Meeting, one of the participants – Katy Yeller – 
referenced a Susan’s Lot. Is that the southernmost property? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  I believe it is.  
 
Comm. Peterson:  How did the city come to acquire that? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  They purchased it. 
 
Comm. Peterson:  It wasn’t gifted or anything like that? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  No, it was not gifted.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. If there are no further questions for staff, I’ll open the 
Public Hearing. I would note that seven members of the community have registered to 
speak. We’ll permit four minutes for each speaker. I know from the reading I’ve done of 
the notes from the Interact Meeting that it is possible that a number of the residents who 
wish to be heard may have questions for staff. I will note that this is not an interactive 
sort of activity, but I would ask Mr. Lang to keep track of the questions, and the city will 
have an opportunity to respond following the closing of the Public Hearing. In our 
normal course of events, the applicant is given an opportunity to respond to staff before 
the Public Hearing is convened. In this case, it is a bit unusual because the city is also the 
applicant. Is there anyone from the city who wishes to be heard as applicant as contrasted 
from the planning staff? 
 
Brian Scovill, City Engineer, made the following comments: 
 
Mr. Scovill:  We do have our consultant engineer, Judd with Phelps Engineering, on the 
Zoom call. He is available to assist with questions. If he has comments he feel would be 
appropriate to add to the record, he may do that. 
 
Judd Claussen, Phelps Engineering, 1270 N. Winchester, Olathe, KS, appeared before the 
Planning Commission and made the following comments: 
 
Mr. Claussen:  We were retained by the city to prepare the technical documents for the 
Preliminary and Final Plat. Many of the comments and remarks I was going to make 
tonight have been discussed already, so I’ll be brief. Brian and I participated in the 
Interact Meeting on July 15th. The pages of notes provided to you were recordings of 
those conversations. We tried our best to answer the questions we could, and there were 
several questions relating to the plan of the future Fire Station, future possible park, and 
other types of future activities that may go on, on that site that really weren’t part of this 
application that we were not able to answer. With that, I’ll stand for any technical 
questions you may have on the plat. 
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Comm. Block:  When we’ve seen an issue where the two sides are not on the same page, 
they’ve worked together behind the scenes. In light of all these comments that are in our 
packet, does the city want to do a different process here, even though it sounds like this is 
the normal process? Has there been effort to reach out, other than the Interact Meeting? 
When an attorney represents a developer, those conversations might happen. 
 
Mr. Scovill:  I believe those conversations would happen during the design phase. Right 
now, we’re in the re-platting phase, which tends to be more of a formality of creating one 
solid lot. That is where we are now. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  With that, we will move on to the Public Hearing. Again, comments 
will be limited to four minutes. I will advise you when you’re at one minute. As I 
indicated, I’m anticipating as a result of some of the dialogue that there will be questions. 
Staff will have an opportunity to respond, and then we’ll move to consideration. 
 
Public Hearing 
Cary Shaw, 9618 High Drive, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the 
following comments: 
 
Mr. Shaw:  I live directly east of 9619, which is the address of the home that was 
purchased by the city. What I would like to do first is thank Brian Scovill, Judd Claussen, 
Grant Lang, and Scott Lambers because each of them has sat and listened to me and 
others, expressing our concern. What we’re asking respectfully for the Planning 
Commission to do is reject this plat request. There is no complete or clear plan on what is 
going to happen with this property. What we’re going to have to live with is whatever 
happens in a piecemeal fashion where these five lots get put together. The very first thing 
that is going to occur is while the internal setback lines change, it doesn’t affect our 
homes to the east; it affects the homes to the south and north because the setback changes 
from having a residential lot. Then, the north at 9605 is actually a separate parcel that the 
Kroc brothers left to keep a distance from the homes on 96th Street. If you read the deeds 
and restrictions from 1952, you’ll find a bunch of worthwhile information related to this. 
We’re asking you to reject it or table it until there is a clear plan for what is going to 
happen. While it was said earlier that there was universal approval for a park, no one 
asked the homeowners at 9610, 9612, 9614, 9618, or 9620 High Drive or 9625 Lee. None 
of this was going on when they were doing their original discussions on the Fire Station. 
Now, the status quo has changed because a residential lot has been purchased. 
Eliminating the setbacks and the lines will significantly impact Katherine Geller’s house 
at 9625 Lee Boulevard. We have no objection to a one-story Fire Station. Everybody 
wants it. People were disappointed when the Police Department left. We were hoping that 
a precinct would be maintained in North Leawood. What we’ve already seen is people 
camping in the trees. The morning after that occurred, the Police Department arrived at 
our door to find out if we were camping in our back yard. We’ve already seen 
backpackers and people walking their dogs back there. Of course, every home along this 
has dogs, and the dogs go running at the fence because there’s an intruder. The park 
concept is not something we are interested in. What we’re interested in is a one-story Fire 
Station and leaving City Hall or relocating City Hall onto the new lot. In talking with 
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Scott, to get the design they have right now on the site, they need 35 feet. We don’t have 
a problem with a variance; just leave the lot as it was. Do the screening, give the variance 
so they can have their driveway. 100% of the people support the Fire Station; it is just a 
matter of a park on Lee Boulevard that will create traffic issues, safety issues, and a 
whole bunch of volume. Ideas being tossed around include turning the old Fire Station 
into a pavilion, a water park, and a train park. This is not like there’s a street, a park, and 
a street separating the neighbors; it is back yards butting up to this property. The Kroc 
brothers left that property residential. They agreed to the Fire Station. They weren’t 
around when the Police Department came, and they agreed to City Hall. There are deeds 
and restrictions. It is currently zoned Residential. This is different than Whitehorse. This 
is not a homeowner requesting a lot line change so they can put in a pool. This is the city 
asking for five lots to be put together into one spot. It is a very different situation, so 
we’re asking the city to reject or table this until the city comes forward with a better plan 
or clearer plan that buys in to all the people behind the property and across the street from 
the property because we’re the ones affected. All the rest of the people that came and 
commented that they’re upset about a park don’t have to live across the street from it or 
behind it. With that, I’ll stand down. We respectfully ask you to reject or table this until a 
later date when there’s a better plan. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you, Mr. Shaw; we appreciate your comments. Is Charlotte Saw 
online? 
 
Mr. Shaw:  She can’t get her computer to work, so go to the next one. 
 
JoLynn Hobbs, President of Leawood Homes Association, appeared before the Planning 
Commission and made the following comments: 
 
Ms. Hobbs:  I’m also a member of the Leawood Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. 
I’m just joining to be aware of what’s going on in our neighborhood. I was also very 
involved in the Brook Beatty Park, located between 83rd and 95th on Lee Boulevard. I’m 
just joining to be aware of what’s going on in our neighborhood. Thank you. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you; we appreciate your comments. Is Mike Faulkner on the 
line? We’ll go to the next on the docket and see if he joins us later. 
 
John McElroy, 2327 W. 96th Street, appeared before the Planning Commission and made 
the following comments: 
 
Mr. McElroy:  I live directly to the north of the Fire Station, right behind the community 
garden. I think that Mr. Shaw did a fantastic job of explaining our concerns. I don’t 
pretend to speak for my neighbors or anything else, but this does directly affect me. I 
trust the committee to make the right decision, whatever that is, but I want to make sure 
there is an allotment for landscaping and appropriate border, whether that’s fencing or 
whatever that might be, or maybe there’s an allotment given to the residents to build their 
own border or landscaping to block whatever is built. I think it would make much more 
sense to have this conversation when we know what the plan is. That’s why I think that 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 10 - July 28, 2020 

Mr. Shaw stated very well that, without having a real plan, it’s hard to give our approval 
unconditionally. I do trust the committee; I just ask that whatever design is presented, 
there is an allotment for appropriate borders and landscaping. I think that’s all I wanted to 
voice my concern over. This is the first time I heard about the splash park, which is 
maybe slightly concerning. When I think about the fact that the Leawood Park is one mile 
down the road with a splash park, I’m not exactly sure why we want to spend our tax 
dollars building a splash park. I’m open to listen. Once there’s a plan, I will attend the 
Interact Meeting, which is probably more appropriate. With that said, I’ll yield the rest of 
my time. 
 
Chairman Elkins: Catherine Geller is on the line, but it appears we can’t hear her, even 
though it says she is not muted. 
 
Unidentified Speaker:  I believe the microphone is not set up correctly with Zoom. (Gives 
direction on setting up the microphone)  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Ms. Geller, it appears this isn’t working. If you want to try to call in, 
we’ll come back to you. Thank you so much. I’m sorry our technology is challenging 
tonight. 
 
Ellen Brown, 9614 High Drive, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the 
following comments: 
 
Ms. Brown:  I will just echo everything that Kerry Shaw said. We understand that there’s 
going to be a Fire Station behind us. They’ve talked about that since before we bought 
our house. We’re all fine with it. As far as a park goes, I thought the comment about 
neighbors being gung-ho about a park was interesting because since we’ve moved here, 
no one has ever asked us if we wanted a park. The first meeting we attended that we 
heard about a park asked what kind of park we wanted. It was never a question of 
wanting a park in our back yard, which we do not. I also agree with Kerry that it’s one 
thing to have a backdoor neighbor; it’s another thing to have complete strangers walking 
along your fence line in your back yard, not knowing who they are or what they’re there 
for. That’s very concerning. The biggest question is I’m trying to understand why, if 
there is no plan, how they know for sure that they need more space. That is all I have. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Ms. Geller, are you able to hear us? 
 
Catherine Geller, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the following 
comments: 
 
Ms. Geller:  I want to thank all of you for taking the time to do this and Kerry for all he 
has done, along with all of my neighbors. I do have the house that is directly south of 
9619 Lee Boulevard, the house that was taken down. My driveway, my front walk, and 
back yard face directly north to whatever would be built at that lot. Part of the confusion 
is that we don’t know what the city might plan for that lot, whether it would impose on 
our privacy and noise and change the character of the neighborhood. A green space is 
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fine with all of us. I don’t think anyone is opposed to a variance filed by the city for its 
own encroaching up to 10 feet with the Fire Station. As I understand from Mr. Lambers, 
they only need to come within 10 feet of 9619 Lee Boulevard. I don’t think that 10 feet 
on the north side of that would impinge upon anyone with the one-story Fire Station. It 
could be that I will never be able to go into my garage privately again or entertain in my 
yard privately again, depending on what the city does with this lot. Several issues have 
not been addressed. Is this a needed joinder, or will the variance satisfy the requirement 
for the Fire Station to come within 10 feet of what I refer to as Susan’s Lot? Is there a 
less restrictive means to accomplish the same goal as a variance? Is there a possibility of 
harm in having joinder at this point before some parameters and clarity are given as to 
what is to occur? Is there supposed to be a park where the old Fire Station is? Are they 
envisioning a museum or a quiet place that is not including parking lots and strangers 
looking into my home, my back yard, my garage? No one would want a house taken from 
next door to them and have their privacy destroyed. It not only destroys the land; it 
destroys your life. I think we are all concerned. The harm is the R-1 zoning that these 
plats are all zoned begs the question if we have a residential lot next to us and the zoning 
needs to change on a residential lot next to us at this time, will it still have to change in 
the future? If, by joinder, the vote that is required of the neighbors to do that if 
circumvented because, obviously, the Fire Station is going to take the priority and all of 
the plats joined will have to have the same zoning now, where at this particular point, 
they could be zoned differently, in effect, we will not have much say over what happens 
according to the current requirements. That is a concern. Is there even a possibility of 
harm in joinder, and is it the least-restrictive means to ensure that the Fire Station plans 
can go forward, which we all want, and that they can come within 10 feet of Susan’s lot, 
which is not an issue with me because there happens to be a forced border of landscaping 
at this particular time? What we don’t know is if that landscape border will be taken 
down so that all of the fire trucks will come within our vision. We just don’t know 
anything; I guess that’s just the bottom line. There is a possibility of harm at having 
joinder at this part, and it does not appear necessary from anything that was said, 
particularly when a variance would satisfy any existing need for the Fire Station plans to 
proceed. Is the vote of the neighbors, as required at this time prior to any rezoning of the 
lot next to me, still allowed with respect to a specific plat, separate from the other plats? 
The other plats are already used for public uses. Will the restrictions, deeds, and zoning 
of this plat be allowed to differ from the other plats? If not, then a plan needs to be set 
forth with just parameters. I’m not saying it needs every specific thing, but parameters of 
what is envisioned for this lot. Is the use going to be quiet and in character of the land, as 
a green space would be or the historic courthouse, or is it going to be a use that invades 
our privacy and allows people to look into my yard when I’m in my garage and affect the 
security and living of my family? I think you can probably all put yourself in that spot. 
It’s a curios spot to be in, for sure, but the potential harm outweighs any need for a 
joinder at this point when a variance would suffice, and parameters are needed. 
 
Chairman Elkins: Thank you; we appreciate your comments. I’ll go back to Ms. Shaw. 
Do you care to be heard? Sounds like not. I think I saw something that indicated that Mr. 
Faulkner was away from the city, but I wanted to make sure he has the opportunity in 
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case he called in from wherever he is. If not, is there anyone else who wishes to be heard 
on Case 56-20? If not, do I hear a motion? 
 
A motion to close the Public Hearing was made by Coleman; seconded by Block. 
Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Peterson, 
Hoyt, Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Does anyone from planning staff or city staff have comments, 
particularly with respect to the question about rezoning? 
 
Mr. Lang:  Rezoning isn’t part of this application at this time, so we’re just focusing on 
the re-platting. The Fire Station would be allowed in R-1 as it currently is. As far as any 
of the deed restrictions go, reflecting what Director Coleman said, it would be something 
the applicant and the HOA would have to work out as far as what they would be 
restricted on.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  The bottom line for me is if the citizens who spoke tonight will have a 
chance to have their views heard once a plan is actually proposed by the city for whatever 
use the city desire for the property. 
 
Mr. Lang:  Yes, they will absolutely have an Interact Meeting, and they’ll have a chance 
at the Planning Commission during the Public Hearing.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  So, they’ll have another opportunity at a Public Hearing to give us 
their thoughts when they see what plan is actually proposed. 
 
Mr. Lang:  Absolutely. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? 
 
Comm. Block:  If this were to be rezoned in the future, would the rezoning have to run 
with the plat lines? Is there even a scenario where, if all these properties are combined 
into one as is before us, and it’s decided down the road that the southern portion of this 
property is to become a park, it would have to be rezoned Recreation? It couldn’t be a 
park and be R-1, correct? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  A public park is a permitted use in an R-1 zoning district. It wouldn’t need 
to be rezoned. There will be a public planning process where all the neighbors and 
citizens who he an interest in whatever occurs here will be heard. The city hasn’t gotten 
to that stage yet, but it will be coming up. My understanding is the city is going to hire an 
engineer and architect to design the Fire Station and plan for the property. At that time, 
everybody will have a chance to provide input on what should occur on this property. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  You came across a little garbled on a key point. Is a public park use 
appropriate in a district zoned R-1? 
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Mr. Coleman:  Public uses are permitted uses in R-1 zoning districts. That’s why schools 
are allowed in R-1 zoning, and so are all public properties. That’s why the Fire Station 
was there before; that’s why the Police Station was there before. There is no rezoning 
required, but there will be a Public Hearing and public planning process so everyone has 
a chance to give their input. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  Richard, it seems to me, to the point made earlier, if the applicant 
weren’t the city, we’d be sitting here asking this of the applicant. In 1952, supposedly the 
Kroh brothers proposed and City Council approved the special section of land that is on 
the far northern portion of the property. Is there a scenario where that border could be 
left, the middle two lots lines could be removed, and the lot line that, at the moment, is to 
the north of 9619 could be moved to a point that would be similar to the point to the one 
that is drawn to the north? This would give a buffer zone on the far southern side like the 
people have on the far northern side and thus establishes one significant lot in the middle 
that is large enough to accommodate everything the city does but also continues to 
provide the buffer that they have to the north and could have to the south? Was that a 
possible option and somehow decided against? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  I think the city’s intent is that this is a clean slate for the Fire Station 
development. It’s why we didn’t leave the cell tower there. Its lease was not renewed. 
That why we tore out the old Police Station, and there’s a possibility that the old City 
Hall might be moved. The old Fire Station might not be there, either. My understanding 
is the intent of this is just to remove the internal lot lines so we have a clean slate for 
development of this property. That would be a normal process for any developer. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you, Mr. Coleman. We’ll move on to a discussion of the 
application to re-plat the five lots located south of 96th Street and east of Lee Boulevard. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  I’d like to echo Mr. Coleman’s comments that this is the first step to 
creating the plan in order to get the five plots together so a proper plan can be done for 
the site. From my personal experience before joining the Planning Commission, I was on 
the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board for three years. I know that this tract of land 
has had the city’s eye for a number of years to have a replacement for the Fire Station, as 
well as a park. That information is five-plus years ago. I think that’s probably still the 
intent. The reason for that is North Leawood does not have a lot of parks, unlike Central 
or South Leawood. Anytime there is an opportunity to have open space in the north part 
of Leawood, the city wants to grab that opportunity. As far as I know, nothing has been 
decided, like if it will be more of a passive or active park. I know one of the concerns was 
parking or lack of parking for that site. This is the first step to creating a good plan for the 
site. The city will definitely engage the neighbors and the public. As far as I’m 
concerned, this is just the first step. 
 
Comm. Block:  I plan to vote in favor of this proposal. I think the clean slate is needed in 
order to properly develop this area. I think it will be too limiting with these property 
lines. I think input from the concerned residents is good. I know the city will take that 
into consideration, as I would if I were buying this and heard these comments about what 
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people wanted or didn’t want on this property. I think that’s going to go into the next step 
in the process. There were references in some of the comments about the amount of 
money that has already been spent on some of these parcels. I think it would be wasted 
money if multiple plans had to be drawn up to try to fit in these parcels. I think the LDO 
that we have to work within for any development in the city requires a lot of landscaping 
and berming, especially in these public areas. I think there’s a school on 103rd that we 
considered not too long ago that raised concern about traffic lights and neighboring 
properties. We’ve dealt with tree easements or buffer zones between that and Ironhorse 
Park. I’m hopeful the city will take to heart all of these comments into their next steps in 
the process, and we’ll see a plan presented to us in the future that will alleviate those 
concerns. I think this process needs to move forward so they can get a plan. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:   I just want to follow up on Commissioner Block’s statement. In hearing 
from the residents and so forth, a big concern, understandably, is the establishment of 
some sort of buffer area for the residents that will be directly affected. As one measure of 
reassurance, I don’t know that I’ve ever seen the city accept a plan that didn’t have very 
good landscape buffers as opposed to what was there already. That is a chronic issue, and 
the city takes that very seriously with a high priority on maintaining mature trees if 
possible and, in fact, generally improving landscape buffers. Obviously, there is not a 
plan, but I would be stunned if that weren’t a key consideration.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other comments? If not, is there a motion? 
 
A motion to recommend approval of CASE 56-20 – LEAWOOD FIRE STATION 
#1 & PARK – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, located 
south of 96th Street and East of Lee Boulevard – was made by Coleman; seconded 
by Block. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, 
Peterson, Hoyt, Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Is there any other business to come before the Planning Commission? 
 
Comm. Coleman:  I have a question for staff with regard to the work session coming up 
in two weeks.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  I think we’ll discuss that once the meeting is adjourned. Any other 
business? 
 
A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by Block. Motion 
carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Peterson, Hoyt, 
Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you to the public for the participation this evening. 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Work Session 

August 11, 2020 

 

 

 

Planning Commission Members in Attendance: Belzer, Elkins, Coleman, Block, 

McGurren, Hunter, Stevens, Peterson, Hoyt 

 

Staff in Attendance: Ross Kurtz, IT; Ricky Sanchez, Planning; Grant Lang, Planning; 

Marcy Knight, Legal; Richard Coleman, Community Development 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’ll make a short recognition of the circumstances we find ourselves in 

today.  

 

MEETING STATEMENT: 

To reduce the likelihood of the spread of COVID-19 and to comply with social distancing 

recommendations, this meeting of the Leawood Planning Commission is being conducted 

using the Zoom media format, with some of the commissioners appearing remotely. The 

meeting is being livestreamed on YouTube and the public can access the livestream by 

going to www.leawood.org for the live link.  

 

Electronic copies of tonight’s agenda are available on the City’s website at 

www.Leawood.org under Government / Planning Commission / Agendas and Minutes. 

Because this meeting is being live-streamed, all parties must state their name and title 

each time they speak. This will ensure an accurate record and make it clear for those 

listening only. This applies to all commissioners, staff, applicants and members of the 

public who may speak. All motions must be stated clearly. After each motion is made and 

seconded, a roll call vote will be taken. The Chair or staff will announce whether the 

motion carried and the count of the vote. Reminder, please mute all microphones when 

you are not speaking. Thank you. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there a motion from the floor to suspend the rules so we can proceed 

with the work session by Zoom? 

 

A motion to suspend the rules for the meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by 

Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, 

Peterson, Hoyt, Belzer, Hunter, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll proceed to the business of the work session as presented in the 

agenda presented by staff.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Staff wants to clarify that an updated agenda was put on the website and 

sent to the commissioners today to add impact-resistant shingles. The topics of discussion 

are Home Occupancy, Regulations in Leawood as part of talks that have occurred with 
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Governing body with regard to LDO (Leawood Development Ordinance) requirements, 

Impact-Resistant Shingles, and possible LDO amendments. 

 

Home Occupancy 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  With the COVID pandemic, Governing Body is requesting that staff and 

Planning Commission read the requirements for home occupancy and see if there are any 

changes that are deemed necessary. Beyond the effects of the pandemic, we want long-

term solutions as well. Within the Home Occupancy section of the LDO, Section 16-4-

10, there are many requirements. Appearance of the house cannot include signage. The 

use being allowed cannot generate additional traffic, parking, or sewage. The use cannot 

increase the nuisance to the neighbors. No outside storage is allowed. No persons other 

than self or family members may reside in the residence. Only 25% of the house can be 

used for a business. A license to operate is required, and no retail sales are allowed. We 

currently have a list of prohibited home occupations, including automotive repair, beauty 

shop services, printing, and anything using chemicals that could get into the normal 

sewage. City staff compared these regulations to those of surrounding cities, and for the 

most part, they are similar. Prairie Village requires the entire business to be contained 

within the home, no help other than family members, no exterior alterations, or retail 

sales. Overland Park has the same requirements as Leawood in terms of liquor sales, 

adult businesses, massage places, etc. We’re finding a lot of similarities between what 

Leawood is currently doing and other cities. We looked at Lenexa as well, and they have 

to follow their zoning requirements, which means no commercial use within residential 

districts, no churches run out of homes. They require a Special Use Permit (SUP) in 

Lenexa. Olathe has to comply with all local, state, and federal regulations. The Fire 

Department may have to inspect the home, depending on the use. Governing Body asked 

that we look over this to find long-term solutions. We have been directed to speak to the 

current Home Occupancy regulations and review them to see if any changes can be made.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Is there a perceived problem? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I believe the issue is the city is getting requests for people wanting to do 

more Home Occupancies, and the LDO doesn’t allow for a lot of them. Since we just 

have a list of non-allowed uses, it would mean that everything else is allowed, which may 

not be the best way to go about it.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Are the people asking to go against the current regulations, or are we just 

saying that people are asking and coming up with ideas that we think maybe should be 

included in regulations? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Part of what prompted this is the pandemic and people working from 

home, but recently, we had a citizen contact City Council. It was a social worker with a 

counseling business who wanted to see about getting a license to be allowed to do 

counseling in the home. It is not on the prohibited list, but in general, unless it’s more 

specific, we haven’t allowed it. I wanted to look at some prohibited items, including 
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physicians, chiropractors, and dentists. Some medical professions are prohibited, and we 

wanted to get the Planning Commission’s thoughts on other professional services.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Is there any current provision for emergency remedy or temporary 

allowance? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Not really; we have a Temporary Use Permit, but that is geared toward 

festivals and farmers’ markets. Some of the neighboring cities utilize Special Use 

Permits, so that was one consideration. 

 

Comm McGurren:  Would you prefer a scenario where the people needed to call in and 

request a specific permit or exception to be provided, or would that be overwhelming? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Right now, Home Occupations require a license. That is how we check to 

see if they meet the requirements. I don’t think any terms or requirements that require 

staff to do more are the issue. It is more the use in the residential neighborhoods. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If I’m a therapist and I’m restricted to the outside of my office, if I’m 

doing virtual therapy sessions, is that covered under this, or are you only talking about 

when people come into the home? 

 

Mr. Coleman: We’re only talking about coming into the home. That’s a very good 

question because they would still technically need a license to do it virtually if they are 

operating their business out of their home, but no one is coming to their home. A lot of 

things have gone virtual, so that is a good question.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  My daughter-in-law lives in Madison, Wisconsin, and she’s a therapist. 

She’s been doing virtual sessions with her clients for the last several months. Would 

somebody like that need to go through this, or should there be a different procedure for 

those folks versus the others? More and more people’s businesses are pretty much visibly 

operating. To what extent does the city want to get involved in that?  

 

Chairman Elkins:  That was my thought, too. I know dozens of people in Leawood who 

are conducting sales activities out of their homes, which technically is in violation of this. 

They’re doing it over the Internet. I think, based on what I’m seeing at Cerner, larger 

parts of Cerner’s population will be working from home permanently, even after the 

crisis has passed. I definitely think we need to do something about the online/virtual 

question versus somebody physically coming to a residential space because that seems to 

be what we should be regulating.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  I agree. 

 

Comm. Block:  What I heard from what we currently have and what I believe the intent 

to be, it is really about the nuisance. I understand this can be broad and general. It would 

make sense that the business could occur as long as it doesn’t negatively impact the 

neighbors.  
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Comm. McGurren:  In our neighborhood a few years ago, an individual was running for 

United States Congress. The nuisance that occurred as the campaign was being run out of 

the house was all the additional cars. It lasted for eight months to a year. To me, I can see 

why people were frustrated. The nuisance factor of all the cars coming and going and 

parking in front of people’s houses. I think that is much more of a concern than it would 

be any of these local companies having people working out of their homes.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the definition of a nuisance in the ordinance? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  And what is the definition of an occupation? I wouldn’t think running for 

political office would be considered an occupation; it seems more like an activity. A 

nuisance could be coming from a lot of different places.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Currently, there is no definition for nuisance in the LDO.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  It will be in the City Code under Property Laws.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  A Home Occupation is defined as any occupation or activity conducted 

within a dwelling unit that is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the premises 

for dwelling purposes. It refers back to Section 16-4-10. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If I had some sort of book group or Bible study group that was coming 

every week at 10:00 in the morning and the cars were all the way up and down the street 

because there were so many people, that could theoretically fall into this category. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  I agree. For an anniversary party, we call and get the signs to block off 

the street, but certainly, that might be a nuisance to people. It seems like the city may 

need to work on that definition. This is going to be novel for all the cities, dealing with a 

time when the majority of people have had to work from home over the last six months. 

Could you carve out some sort of exception for online work that doesn’t have people 

coming into the home? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I would think there could be a different category for when no additional 

people are entering the premises because someone could be working completely in a 

solitary fashion, or someone could be working in the home with thousands of people via 

the Internet. As long as nobody was coming and going, it wouldn’t have any adverse 

impact on the neighborhood; whereas, far fewer people could be physically coming and 

going and causing a nuisance.  

 

Comm. Hunter:  What section of the code has the definition of nuisance? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  The LDO does not have one. Mr. Coleman stated that it is in the City 

Code. 
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Ms. Knight:  It’s in Section 11-204 of the City Code. It says it’s a thing, condition, or use 

of some continuity as distinguished from a solitary act, which through offensive odors, 

noises, substances, disturbances, emanations, sights, or the like, works, hurts, annoys, 

inconvenience, or damage to the public or to another with respect to his/her comfort, 

health, repose, or safety or with respect to the comfortable enjoyment of his/her property. 

That’s essentially it. It would have to be ongoing and persistent.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If you’re looking for how to revise things, I would definitely go for a two-

track system: one that involves offsetting the category of non-physical traffic-generating 

things as being exempt from this category and then deal with the ones that involve 

generation of physical traffic and whether or not you want people to apply for licenses, 

such as the Cerner employees and the freelance or not freelance, as the case may be, 

therapists. Whether you really want to keep track of those people or not is up to the city 

to decide. It doesn’t seem like those people are creating a nuisance, so they wouldn’t fall 

under the nuisance category.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  To go to the next slide, we wanted to see what kind of solutions we could 

implement within the LDO. Staff has talked about creating a cleaner process, may 

consider administratively approved SUPs, or consider notifications for neighbors within a 

close proximity. They will still have to follow HOA and deed restrictions, and the city 

does not enforce that. We have also talked about creating a list of allowed uses rather 

than those that are not allowed. If there are other ideas from the Planning Commission, 

we would like to hear those as well. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  Are you talking about starting to have people who work from home 

apply for a Special Use Permit? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That could be a possibility. Right now, they have to get a license from the 

city to operate. It wouldn’t be much different except that it would come through 

Planning. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I don’t think it would ever occur to someone doing their job remotely for 

Cerner to go to the city and get a permit to do that. Does that fall into the category of 

things the city wants to be policing? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think that’s a question we would bring up with Governing Body. I could 

see a scenario where someone has a business that is pretty much all online, such as Ebay 

or Etsy, and you have 30 deliveries a day by Prime. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I have 30 deliveries a day to my house. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  In COVID-era, I have 30 deliveries every day, too. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That could create an issue if delivery trucks were there continuously all 

day, picking up and delivering. You might want to consider that somewhat. 
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Comm. Peterson:  I’ve lived in Berkshire Leawood for 24 years now. What I find 

interesting is a very diverse group of professionals who live here and a large number who 

have literally worked out of their homes for decades. They never have someone from the 

business come into their home; yet, they are providing all kinds of technical support for 

various corporations. They also have numerous deliveries, but no one has perceived this 

as a nuisance or a problem. What would appear to be developing in this economy is 

companies are relying upon more and more of their workers to remain at home and work 

remotely, which I frankly see as a longer-term trend and will not go away. I do not see it 

as a nuisance. When I was in business, I functioned remotely for years because there 

were certain things I could do that way. No one knew business was being transacted from 

home. I would never have thought I would need a Special Use Permit. Are we looking for 

a problem, or is there a problem? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I don’t believe we are looking for the professionals who are working at 

home with a home office. I think it’s the type of profession that, instead of going into the 

office, they stay at home but still do the same types of things, which may not include 

being on the computer and taking phone calls; it may include additional people coming 

over. It is more the additional nuisance that we are considering. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  Again, you mention nuisance. Someone in the securities business 

could operate as a stockbroker from the home, and no one from the neighborhood would 

ever know it. That could go on for decades. I know people who have actually done that. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Then it’s not a nuisance. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Maybe we should focus on nuisance and define what it may look like in 

the COVID era. We could tighten up the definition rather than come up with what is 

allowed and what needs to be permanent. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I’d like to see us focused on the definition that was already read, ask 

the question Commissioner Belzer just asked, determine if there is something about 

traffic that is not included in the definition, and then ask if we are comfortable allowing 

the person who perceives the nuisance to call the city. Then, the city would handle it on a 

case-by-case basis.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  That’s how it’s handled right now.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  Is there a problem with that? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Sometimes, one person’s fun is another person’s nuisance. We have 

different nuisances that one person might be able to tolerate and another might not. The 

situation I was getting at was more of a retail business being run out of the home with 

selling over the Internet. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  You mentioned that this is the way it’s handled currently. Has there 

been a significant increase in the types of complaints or calls that come into the city? 
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Mr. Coleman:  No; we’ve gotten a few people who have reached out to City Council. 

That prompted us to look at the ordinance. One of the good things to come out of this 

discussion is the virtual issue. Maybe there is nothing somebody virtually needs to do, but 

if the business includes in-home visitation, it may be different. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I would think it would be simplifying to put that in a different category. 

Then, you could really get down to focusing on situations where large amounts of 

physical traffic are involved. That seems to be the nuisance piece of it. You could have a 

fictitious meter of how much traffic causes the nuisance. Clearly, 1-2 cars are not a 

nuisance; 100 cars are a nuisance. Something between is a partial nuisance, perhaps. Just 

to get rid of the whole category of people who are doing things in their homes, not 

generating any additional traffic over what a normal lifestyle would tend to dictate seems 

inappropriate. Some people have multiple teenagers with a lot of cars and friends who 

visit. That is potentially a lot of people in vehicles, but we wouldn’t regulate that. Just 

separate the non-traffic issues, which I assume we don’t want to be the business of 

regulating, and focus on the things that could be troublesome to the neighbors. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I think we’re talking about a business, and the business either has cars 

for people going to the business, or it has deliveries. If we narrow it down to those 

specifics, I think we’re safe. If someone is running an Ebay store out of their house, 

they’re going to have a certain number of deliveries per day. If someone is doing therapy 

out of their house, that creates traffic. If we narrow our focus down to that, I think it 

would take care of it. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Does everyone agree with that? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I just wonder if we need to add the issue of license to the mix and what 

type of activity triggers the license requirement.  

 

Mr. Coleman:  That’s a good point. Technically, if they have a business and it is where 

they receive their revenue, they should have a license. It’s minimal. We can bring that up 

to Governing Body. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Should there be a difference between somebody who is a salaried 

employee of a bigger company working remotely versus someone who is operating as the 

proprietor of the business? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That’s different, I think. Someone working from home is not working a 

business out of their house. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If they produce a nuisance because they’re having large department 

meetings, they’re back into the mix in the nuisance category. They wouldn’t have to have 

a license; they would just be a flat-out nuisance. 
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Mr. Coleman:  Do we think we’ve discussed this enough? We can draft something up and 

come back. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes, let’s move on to the next topic. 

 

Impact-Resistant Shingles 
 

Mr. Coleman:  You might recall in the earlier this year, we passed an ordinance that 

reduced the weight of shingles. Of course, apparently, we didn’t reduce them enough. 

They went from 275 to 265, but it turns out there are some that are actually lighter at 250 

pounds per square. We wanted to get your thoughts on that. They don’t appear any 

different. They reason they’re lighter is manufacturers have gotten stronger fiberglass 

layers in the shingles that would resist delamination of the shingle. It’ll knock the 

granules off in a hailstorm, but the shingles are still good. We have some manufacturers 

who would like it to be lowered to 250. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  What is the Planning Department’s opinion? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Between 265 and 250, there is not really a visible difference. The 

shingles, especially impact-resistant ones, are all getting lighter due to improvement of 

materials that go into them. They would still be required to have the 3/16” at the edge of 

the shingle, so it would still have the definition that the other shingles have.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the 250 a measure of? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s a measure of the weight of the shingle per square, so 100 square feet 

of shingles weigh 265 pounds. We had this request, and we wanted to bring it to you and 

see if you had any concerns. We’d like to hear any issues you have. 

 

Comm. Block:  Do we not allow three-tab shingles? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That is correct. 

 

Comm. Block:  I don’t know that we need to have the pounds in there in the first place. 

As long as it’s an architectural shingle and has that shadow lines, I don’t know that the 

weight matters that much. I think it’s the look that we’re after more than the weight. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There are some shingles that are not three-tab that are pretty thin and 

lightweight. There’s a real gradation between three-tab and the heavyweight shingles. I 

know that some leadership in the city wants to maintain the architectural and weight 

characteristics that were put in place a long time ago. We’ve been reducing the 

requirements to allow a greater variety. I can certainly bring that up with Governing 

Body. 

 

Comm. Block:  Does the impact-resistance distinction create a quality shingle? Is it a 

better quality? Will it last longer?  
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Mr. Coleman:  The impact-resistant shingles are lighter because they have fiberglass 

reinforcement layers in them. They have more of an asphalt part. They would last about 

the same amount of time, but the non-impact-resistant shingles would have to weigh 

more. They’re all subject to ultraviolet light, to some extent, and the weather.  

 

Comm. Hunter:  If Planning is okay with it, I don’t have a problem with it. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Any other comments? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I agree with Commissioner Hunter. If it seems like a good enhancement, 

I’m okay with it. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  It seems like there’s enough performance criteria for the shingles as far 

as impact resistance, structural makeup, and degradation from weather. If all the criteria 

are equal to the 265, it seems that should be okay. The thicker weight is more 

architectural thickness that is visible in the shingle, and maybe that is the concern. As 

they get too thin, they don’t meet the aesthetic standard. Is that the issue here? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That is how it is falling out. Some of it is an aesthetic judgment call. They 

all have to meet the International Code Council (ICC) evaluation requirements.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Okay, we can go on to the next topic. 

 

LDO Amendments 
 

Mr. Sanchez:  The first amendment has to do with façade changes. Normally, the 

Planning Commission sees these every so often on the Consent Agenda. We’ve heard 

from multiple developments and new businesses that the current process to change the 

façade of a tenant space is hindering their process, especially during COVID. We still 

want to show that we still want the tenants to fill the retail spaces. What has been 

proposed is that all façade changes could be administratively approved. Staff counted 

nine façade changes in the last two years. They will normally go through the three-month 

planning process, and they also have to get permits as well. If they could be approved 

administratively, they could also be denied. At that time, they could go through the 

normal process that is currently in place. They’ll still have to meet the requirements of 

the LDO and Design Guidelines. We’ve gotten a lot of interest from several 

developments to consider a quicker process. These tenants want to go in as fast as 

possible, and we want to allow that. We will also require a letter from the developer 

saying that they understand and approve of all the changes. You will probably see this at 

the next Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Is Leawood and outlier around this, or do the other cities have similar 

guidelines? 
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Mr. Sanchez:  To my knowledge, Leawood is an outlier in that we check facades for 

every tenant that moves in.  

 

Comm. Hunter:  Would this have applied to Peloton? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Yes, that is a good example. They didn’t meet the Design Guidelines, so if 

the administrative approval were in place at that time, their application would have been 

denied. They then would have challenged the denial and gone through Planning 

Commission. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Can you explain the three-month planning process?  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  They bring in their application, and we review it for a month. It then goes 

to the Planning Commission. In that month, we are taking notes and working with the 

applicant. After Planning Commission, they have to wait another month to go to 

Governing Body. They then get their permit, which can take up to two weeks.  

 

Comm. Hunter:  I think it makes a ton of sense to provide administrative approval. If it 

gets denied, they still have the ability to go through the process, but in the interest of 

getting tenants into vacant spaces, this is a great step. 

 

Comm. Block:  Agreed. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Agreed. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Agreed. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  Agreed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I guess I’m the outlier. I’m troubled because I absolutely agree with 

Commissioner Hunter about the need to expedite the process and that we’re regularly 

criticized for the length of time the planning process takes. On the other hand, I think 

nature and character of the façade is one of the fundamental things that, as a Planning 

Commission, we have an obligation to participate in. I guess I’ll have to think about it 

some more, but I have some reservations.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  Isn’t the good news that, if Richard and the Planning Department 

have the same concern, they’d kick it to us? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes, but the flipside is if Richard’s taste is different than the 

Commission’s, then there is no check and balance on that approval. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  That’s a fair point. Should there be very small committee within the 

department so it’s not just one person? 
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Mr. Coleman:  The entire staff looks at the designs. The big issue is the Design 

Guidelines that the façade needs to meet. If the guidelines are so broad that they allow 

anything, there is no reason to have administrative approval because everything fits. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that’s a fair point. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This administrative approval process would be similar to what we do with 

signage currently. All signage goes through the Planning Department, and we 

administratively approve them unless they do not meet Design Criteria. It would be very 

similar. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That’s what concerns me. I think signage is categorically different than 

the appearance of the façade.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  The text refers to new tenants, and there are examples of tenants in a 

development. Are there façade changes applicable to all building facades? In other words, 

it could be a whole development that is upgrading appearance, or it could be a building 

like US Toy moved out of. Are you saying this would apply to all façade updates? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This would not be for entire developments; this would be for small tenant 

spaces. The overall development has Design Guidelines, and those pinpoint what a tenant 

façade is. If the entire development wanted to change, it would have to come through as a 

Final Plan. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I think it’s a good idea to explore further and get something in front of 

us. I wanted to confirm if we are an outlier. We want to make Leawood friendly to 

business and invite them to come in. If this is a hindrance we can manage in the Planning 

Department, I would be in favor. I’d like to see the wording and situations this would 

cover. I think it’s a good idea worth exploring further.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  The next amendment we’ll bring to you is an increase to maximum 

building height in SD-CR zoning. Currently, the maximum is 50 feet. Staff has been 

considering a height up to 65 feet, but the developer must provide an additional setback. 

For every 1 foot higher than the currently allowed maximum, an equal distance in setback 

would be required. Currently, the structure setback is 40 feet. This would be reviewed on 

a case-by-case basis. They would have to come through Planning Commission and 

Governing Body, but it would be something we would bring forward to the Planning 

Commission and make sure that everyone is aware that this would be happening. Shows 

example. We also explored a 2-for-1 tradeoff with 2 feet of setback for every 1 foot of 

height increase. Staff wants to bring this to Planning Commission at the next meeting and 

wanted your thoughts and/or ideas. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You mentioned that staff wants it to come to the next meeting. The 

next meeting is going to be painful. Is there an application that you’re considering that 

suggests we need to expedite this? 
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Mr. Sanchez:  We will bring this forward as is in the agenda. We’re not going to push it 

forward in front of anything else. There is no rush at that point. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Can you identify a couple buildings in Overland Park to give a sense 

of what this height looks like? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I’ll defer to Richard on that. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Well, 50 feet is the maximum in SD-CR, but we have some buildings that 

are over 50 feet in the MX-D developments. For example, the top of the Aloft Hotel is 90 

feet, I believe. AMC might be in the vicinity. The parking garages are maybe a little more 

than 50 feet. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Would some of those buildings in Mission Farms be in that 

neighborhood? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  The new apartment building is in that neighborhood at 65 feet. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Does the City of Leawood currently own a building that goes over 50 

feet, and is your expectation that the new Fire Station would be 50 feet or less? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We don’t have any buildings that are over 50 feet. The Fire Station hasn’t 

been designed yet, but it wouldn’t be over 35 feet.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  Can you give a better definition of SD-CR? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It is Special District Commercial Retail. It’s General Retail and allows the 

most retail uses.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  How many stories are in 50 and 65 feet? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It depends, but 50 feet would be around three stories with 10’ ceilings and 

structural space.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  It would vary by building, but 15 feet per floor is a common height. 

Three stories would be 45 feet, but then a parapet on the top and roof structure would add 

to it. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Then, 65 feet would be roughly four stories.  

 

Comm. Block:  I thought somewhere else within the LDO is a similar setback exchange 

for height increase. Was that cell phone towers? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  That is correct. Cell phone transmission towers have that setback.  

 

Comm. Block:  Is it a 1-for-1 or 2-for-1? 
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Mr. Coleman:  I’d have to look it up. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is it just cell phone towers that have that requirement? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Church steeples also have it. They’re usually the tallest structure in a 

neighborhood. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Didn’t we have a sliding scale on setbacks for residential home heights 

at one time? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  On the teardown-rebuild residential ordinance, we have a sliding scale for 

houses that are torn down and rebuilt between ranch, story-and-a-half, and two-story 

homes. A 23’-at-the-eave envelope was developed, and then it goes 2-to-1 back to the 

side yard setback. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It’s one of the most complicated regulations we ever wrote. It took us 

three years to get there, so I know it’s complicated.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  It does seem like this kind of tradeoff for setback and height increase is 

fairly common in other cities or other zoning districts. It seems like the 1-for-2 or greater 

makes the most sense. Anything less would allow a pretty tall structure. Have you seen it 

in other cities? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It is common. One of the things we might look at is the adjacent zoning. 

In the example Ricky showed, it is SD-CR next to R-1, so that may require something 

different than SD-CR next to RP-4 or some other zoning classification.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  That’s a great point.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think a fundamental question for us is how we feel about a 65’ tall 

building in this zoning, and then we should consider the appropriateness of the setback 

formula. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  One way to look at this would be to put some criteria in place and require 

a Special Use Permit for any building over 50 feet in SD-CR.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Can you give a couple examples off the top of your head of SD-CR 

areas in development right now? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Ranch Mart and strip centers along State Line are SD-CR. The former 

Barstow School is SD-NCR, which is more restrictive.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Developments that could be affected by this include Town Center Plaza, 

Town Center Crossing, Ranch Mart, the area at State Line and 89th Street, and Nall 

Valley Shops.  
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Chairman Elkins:  I guess this is my night to be a naysayer. As you go through that list, 

it’s a little hard for me to contemplate 65’ tall buildings in many of those spots. Maybe 

Richard’s point of setting some conditions makes a lot of sense. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Agreed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that height of building makes a lot of sense in MX-D; I’m just 

not sure I can imagine it in Town Center.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I would say ditto to what Marc said, and then maybe you write into the 

guidelines in the things that would be considered in the granting of the SUP that the 

nearby zoning would be relevant, too, as you said before.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that makes a lot of sense.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  I know this is hypothetical, but in the Ranch Mart example, the office 

building to the left of the 65’ building in a similar position must have been right under the 

50’ height. It is a three-story office building that has been approved, correct? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s two stories.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. It has tall floors, though. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  This tall of a building could have rock climbing in it. Just kidding. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Any other comments? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Ricky, do you have anything else to bring before us? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That’s everything. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I would just reiterate that staff look closely at the agenda for the next 

meeting. We have some work to be done in that next meeting, unless there have been 

changes since last time. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  No changes; it is still very, very full. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think I’ve talked with Richard a little about this, but I think there’s 

history for at least one of the cases. I would encourage staff to share as part of the packet 

the minutes from prior consideration of Planning Commission and Governing Body when 

we get to those.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  We can do that. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Any commissioners have anything else? If not, as always, we thank 

you for your service and your time and putting up with these COVID times. Looks like 

we’ll be at it for the next meeting as well.  

 

 

 

 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – AMENITY AREA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL 
PLAN – LOCATED NORTH 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVENUE –  

CASE 65-20             **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of CASE 65-20 Town Center Plaza – Amenity Area – request for a Revised 
Final Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 

 The engineer is Judd Claussen with Phelps Engineering 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to alter the existing amenity area, including 
removal of the fountain, on the eastern end of the main retail center of Town Center Plaza, in the SD-
CR zoning district. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Park Place, zoned MXD (Mixed Use District). Directly 
north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and the Johnson County 
Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Apartment Residential District, previous LDO) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street are multiple developments within the City of Overland 
Park 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west of Nall Avenue is the T-Mobile Campus, located within City of Overland 
Park 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 Amenity area is the current location of the Town Center Plaza fountain. 

 The applicant proposes to alter the location by removal of the fountain, while adding a gathering space 
that will include a fire-pit, seating, and games. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Plaza has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body. 

 There are no proposed changes to signage with this application.  
 
LIGHTING: 

 There are no proposed changes to lighting with this application.  
 
LANDSCAPING 

 Existing maple trees on the east side of the project to remain. 

 Additional planters to be installed along the northern and southern edges of the project. 

 Any existing landscaping removed will be replaced within the site. 
  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 64-20, Town Center Plaza – First Ascent – 
request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to the of construction for the Town Center Plaza Amenity Area 
2. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Plaza.   
3. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access 

routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular 
paving material to match existing crosswalks within the Town Center Plaza development. 

4. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the 
building and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment 
compatible with the building structure. 

5. All decorative features not specifically identified on the plan, including lighting on the buildings, 
paving patterns, paving colors, plantings within the planter areas, benches, planters, decorative 
details on the building, signs, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Staff prior to 
building permit. 

6. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
7. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a) All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
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b) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
c) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
d) A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted 

prior to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved 
landscape plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry.   

8. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
9. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
10. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect 

except to the extent expressly modified herein. 
11. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 

all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through eleven. 

 



 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Town Center Plaza Amenity Area 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections or recommendations on Case 65-20 at this 

time. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 
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1.  All construction materials and procedures on this project shall conform to the latest revision of the following governing requirements, incorporated herein by reference: A)  City ordinances & O.S.H.A. Regulations. B)  The City of Leawood Technical Specifications and Municipal Code.. C)  The Project Technical Specifications .  2.  The contractor shall have one (1) signed copy of the plans (approved by the City) and one (1) copy of the appropriate Design and Construction Standards and Specifications at the job site at all times. 3.  The contractor will be responsible for securing all permits, bonds and insurance required by the  contract  documents, City of Leawood, Kansas, and all other governing agencies (including  local, county, state and federal authorities) having jurisdiction over the work proposed by these  construction documents.  The cost for all permits, bonds and insurance shall be the contractors  responsibility and shall be included in the bid for the work. 4.  The contractor is responsible for coordination of his and his sub-contractor's work.  The contractor shall assume all responsibility for protecting and maintaining his work during the construction period and between the various trades/sub-contractors constructing the work.  5.  The demolition and removal(or relocation) of existing pavement, curbs, structures, utilities, and all other features necessary to construct the proposed improvements, shall be performed by the contractor.  All waste material removed during  construction shall be disposed off the project site.  The contractor shall be responsible for all permits for  hauling and  disposing of waste material.  The disposal of waste material shall be in accordance with  all local, state and federal regulations.  6.  Contractor shall be responsible for all relocations, including but not limited to, all utilities, storm drainage, sanitary sewer services, signs, traffic signals & poles, etc. as required.  All work shall be in accordance with governing authorities specifications and shall be approved by such. All cost shall be included in base bid. 7.  All existing utilities indicated on the drawings are according to the best information available to the Engineer; however, all utilities actually existing may not be shown. The contractor shall be responsible for contacting all utility companies for an exact field location of each utility prior to any construction.  All utilities, shown and unshown, damaged through the negligence of the contractor shall be repaired or replaced by the contractor at his expense. 8.  The contractor will be responsible for all damage to existing utilities, pavement, fences, structures and  other features not designated for removal.  The contractor shall repair all damages at his expense.  9.  The contractor shall verify the flow lines of all existing storm or sanitary sewer connections and utility crossings prior to the start of construction.  Notify the engineer of any discrepancies.  10.  SAFETY NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR:  In accordance with generally accepted construction practices, the contractor shall be solely and SAFETY NOTICE TO CONTRACTOR:  In accordance with generally accepted construction practices, the contractor shall be solely and   In accordance with generally accepted construction practices, the contractor shall be solely and completely responsible for conditions of the job site, including safety of all persons and property during performance of the work.  This requirement will apply continuously and not be limited to normal working hours.  Any construction observation by the engineer of the contractor's performance is not intended to include review of the adequacy of the contractor's safety measures, in, on or near the construction site.  11.  WARRANTY/DISCLAIMER:  The designs represented in these plans are in accordance with established practices of civil engineering for the WARRANTY/DISCLAIMER:  The designs represented in these plans are in accordance with established practices of civil engineering for the   The designs represented in these plans are in accordance with established practices of civil engineering for the design functions and uses intended by the owner at this time.  However, neither the Engineer nor its personnel can or do warrant these designs or plans as constructed except in the specific cases where the Engineer observes the physical construction on a continual basis at the site.  12.  No work is to be allowed within the public right-of-way or easements without a right of way work permit.  13.  All paving construction and earthwork grading/compaction shall conform to the requirements of the geotechnical engineering report prepared for this project. 14.  Within forty-eight hours prior to any asphalt or concrete paving, the subgrade shall be proof rolled with a fully loaded tandem wheeled dump truck and observed by the on-site geotechnical engineer.  Areas of the subgrade with excessive rutting and or pumping shall be re-worked or removed in accordance with the project specifications.  Flyash or granular material may be added by the contractor to stabilize the subgrade.  See project specifications. 15.  All curb shall be sloped for positive drainage.  Contractor shall use "dry curb and gutter" as needed in localized paved areas that drain away from the curb and gutter.  See paving details. 16.  The Contractor is responsible for the protection all property corners and section corners. Any property corners and/or section corners disturbed or damaged by construction activities shall be reset by a Registered Land Surveyor licensed in the State of Kansas, at the contractor's expense. 17.  The contractor shall be responsible for the restoration of the right-of-way and for damaged improvements such as curbs, sidewalks, street light and traffic signal junction boxes, traffic signal loop lead ins, signal poles, etc.  Damaged improvements shall be repaired in conformance with the latest city standards and to the City's satisfaction. 18.  The contractor is responsible for providing berms, silt fences, straw bales, or other means to prevent eroded materials from reaching the public right-of-way and adjacent properties. In the event the prevention measures are not effective, the contractor shall remove any debris, silt or mud and restore the right-of-way or adjacent property to original or better condition. 19.  All disturbed areas are to receive 4" topsoil, sod, and water until a healthy stand of grass is established.  See the landscaping plans for requirements.   20.  The contractor shall sod all disturbed areas that are not shown to be landscaped. 21.  Contractor shall refer to the architectural building plans for exact locations and dimensions of vestibules, slope paving, sidewalks, exit porches, truck docks, precise building dimensions and exact building utility entrance locations.  All dimensions are to outside wall of building(s) or to back of curbs. 22.  Provide "fire lane" pavement marking and signing as required by local authority. 23.  Refer to building plans for site lighting electrical plan. 24.  Contractor shall be responsible for special inspections for pavements and curbs per city of Leawood UDO section 16-4-5.7 b1.  The  Contractor shall be responsible for special inspections for pavements and curbs per city of Leawood UDO section 16-4-5.7 b1.  The following website is a link to download the Leawood development ordinance http://www.leawood.org/commdev/ldo.aspx 25.  KCMMB granite mix to be used for all concrete curbs, sidewalks and concrete pavement.  KCMMB granite mix to be used for all concrete curbs, sidewalks and concrete pavement. KCMMB granite mix to be used for all concrete curbs, sidewalks and concrete pavement. 26.  The parking lot pavement and roadways shall be constructed and tested in accordance with the 2008 update to the Leawood  The parking lot pavement and roadways shall be constructed and tested in accordance with the 2008 update to the Leawood Development Ordinance Section 16-4-5.7 (B) (1). 27. Construction vehicles, including vehicles of construction personnel, shall not be parked within the Right-of-Way. All staging and storage Construction vehicles, including vehicles of construction personnel, shall not be parked within the Right-of-Way. All staging and storage of equipment and/or materials for private improvements shall be contained on the proposed development unless a Right-of-Way Permit has been obtained by the Contractor to close a lane.
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1. CONTOURS AND ELEVATIONS: Existing and proposed contours are shown on plans at one foot (1') contour intervals, unless CONTOURS AND ELEVATIONS: Existing and proposed contours are shown on plans at one foot (1') contour intervals, unless otherwise noted,  proposed contours and elevations shown represent approximate finish  grade.  Contractor shall hold down subgrades to allow for pavement and sub-base thicknesses. 2. If the contractor does not accept existing topography as shown on the plans, without exception, he shall have made at his If the contractor does not accept existing topography as shown on the plans, without exception, he shall have made at his expense, a topographic survey by a registered land surveyor and submit it to the owner for review. 3. CLEARING AND GRUBBING: Prior to beginning preparation of subgrade, all areas under pavements or building shall be stripped of CLEARING AND GRUBBING: Prior to beginning preparation of subgrade, all areas under pavements or building shall be stripped of all topsoil, vegetation, large rock fragments (greater than 6 inches in any dimension) and any other deleterious material.  The actual stripping depth should be based on visual examination during construction and the results of proof-rolling operations. The root systems of all trees (not designated to remain) shall be removed in their entirety.  Stripping materials shall not be incorporated into structural fills.  4. TOPSOIL STRIPPING:  Prior to the start of site grading, the contractor shall strip all topsoil from areas to be graded, and TOPSOIL STRIPPING:  Prior to the start of site grading, the contractor shall strip all topsoil from areas to be graded, and stockpiled at a location on or adjacent to the site as directed by the owner.  At completion of grading operations and related construction, the contractor will be responsible for redistribution of topsoil over all areas disturbed by the construction activities.  Topsoil shall be placed to a minimum depth of six inches (6") and in accordance with specifications for landscaping.  At that time, and prior to the installation of landscaping or irrigation, all topsoil graded areas shall be visually inspected and accepted by the owner and ITL.  5. Contractor shall adjust and/or cut existing pavement as necessary to assure a smooth fit and continuous grade. Contractor Contractor shall adjust and/or cut existing pavement as necessary to assure a smooth fit and continuous grade. Contractor shall assure positive drainage away from buildings for all natural and paved areas. 6. SUBGRADE PREPARATION: Prior to placement of new fill material, the existing subgrade  shall be proofrolled and approved under SUBGRADE PREPARATION: Prior to placement of new fill material, the existing subgrade  shall be proofrolled and approved under the direction of the Geotechnical Engineer or his representative.  7. PROOFROLLING: Subsequent to completion of stripping and over-excavation, all building and pavement areas to receive PROOFROLLING: Subsequent to completion of stripping and over-excavation, all building and pavement areas to receive engineered fill should be systematically proof-rolled using a tandem axle dump truck loaded to approximately 20,000 pounds per axle.  Also, any finished subgrade areas to receive paving shall be proof-rolled within 48 hours of paving.  Unsuitable soils that are detected and that can not be recompacted should be over-excavated and replaced with controlled structural fill.    8. EARTHWORK:  EARTHWORK:  A) GEOTECHNICAL:  All earthwork shall conform to the recommendations of the Geotechnical report.  Said report and its recommendations are herein incorporated into the project requirements by reference. Prior to beginning construction, the contractor shall obtain a copy of and become familiar with the geotechnical report.  Unless specifically noted on the plans, the recommendations in the geotechnical report are hereby incorporated into the project requirements and specifications. B) SURFACE WATER: Surface water shall be intercepted and diverted during the  placement of fill.   C) FILLS:  All fills shall be considered controlled or structural fill and shall be free of  vegetation, organic matter, topsoil and debris. In areas where the thickness of the engineered fill is greater than five, feet building and pavement construction should not commence until so authorized by the on-site geotechnical engineer to allow for consolidation. D) BUILDING SUBGRADE: As specified in the Geotechnical Engineering Report, the upper section of building subgrade shall consist of Low Volume Change (LVC) material defined as approved, compacted granular fill or low to moderate plasticity cohesive soil materials stabilized with Class C Flyash.  Granular fill shall consist of compacted granular materials with a maximum particle size of two (2) inches or less, such as limestone screenings.  Refer to geotechnical report for complete requirements.  E) EXISTING SLOPES: Where fill material is to be placed on existing slopes greater  than 5:1 (horizontal to vertical), existing slope shall be benched providing a minimum vertical face of twelve inches (12").  The benches should be cut wide enough to accommodate the compaction equipment.  Fill material shall be placed and compacted in horizontal lifts not exceeding nine inches (9") (loose lift measurement), unless otherwise approved by the Geotechnical Engineer.  F) COMPACTION REQUIREMENTS: The upper 9 inches of pavement subgrade areas shall be compacted to a minimum density of ninety five percent (95%) of the material's maximum dry density as determined by ASTM D698 (standard proctor compaction).  The moisture content at the time of placement and compaction shall within a range of 0%  below to 4% above optimum moisture content as defined by the standard proctor compaction procedure.  The moisture contents shall be maintained within this range until completion of the work.  Where compaction of earth fill by a large roller is impractical or undesirable, the earth fill shall be hand compacted with small vibrating rollers or mechanical tampers.  9. All cut or fill slopes shall be 3:1 or flatter.  All asphalt parking areas shall be a minimum of 1% slope but not more than 5% All cut or fill slopes shall be 3:1 or flatter.  All asphalt parking areas shall be a minimum of 1% slope but not more than 5% slope unless otherwise noted.  All pavements within ADA parking areas shall not exceed 2% total slope.  All grades around building shall be held down 6" from finish floor and slope away another 6" in 10 feet.  Contractor shall notify engineer prior to final subgrade construction of any areas not within this slope requirement.   10. TESTING AND INSPECTION: Owner's Independent Testing Laboratory (ITL) shall make tests of earthwork during construction and TESTING AND INSPECTION: Owner's Independent Testing Laboratory (ITL) shall make tests of earthwork during construction and observe the placement of fills and other work performed on this project to verify that work has been completed in accordance with Geotechnical Engineering Report, Project Specifications and within industry standards.  The ITL will be selected by the owner and the cost of testing will be the owner's responsibility.  11. CLASSIFICATION:  All excavation shall be considered unclassified.  No separate or additional payments shall be made for rock CLASSIFICATION:  All excavation shall be considered unclassified.  No separate or additional payments shall be made for rock excavation. 12. PERMANENT RESTORATION: All areas disturbed by earthwork operations shall be sodded, unless shown otherwise by the PERMANENT RESTORATION: All areas disturbed by earthwork operations shall be sodded, unless shown otherwise by the landscaping plan or erosion control plan. 13. UTILITIES:  The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these UTILITIES:  The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on records of the various utility companies, and where possible, measurements taken in the field.  The information is not to be relied on as being exact or complete.  The contractor must call the appropriate utility companies at least 48 hours before any excavation to request exact field location of utilities.  It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to relocate all existing utilities which conflict with the proposed improvements shown on the plans. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:   August 25, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:  August 17, 2020 
 

135th STREET AND KENNETH ROAD – MIXED USE AND MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL – REQUEST 
FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAN AND REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAT – Located 
south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road – Case 04-20     **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
This application was previously denied by the Planning Commission on January 28, 2020, and was 
reviewed by the Governing Body on July 20, 2020. Although not technically a remand, because the 
applicant has made substantial changes to the previously approved Preliminary Plan, this case must 
be reviewed again by City Staff and the Planning Commission.    
 
For example, the increase in density of the RP-3 portion of the development increased by more than 
5%, which is not considered a minor change within section 16-3-13 (D) of the LDO. Changes within 
the MXD portion of the development were also made to the project after it was determined that the 
substitution of duplexes to townhomes were considered a major change. 
 
Due to changes within the RP-3 portion, located north of 137th Street, a change has also been made 
from the previously approved Preliminary Plat and Final Plat.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends denial of Case 04-20 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed Use and Medium Density 
Residential – request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Revised Preliminary Plat. However, if 
the Planning Commission votes to approve, staff provided a number of stipulations in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The property is owned by Vic Regnier Builders, Inc. 

 The developer is Rick Lashbrook with Leawood 135, LLC 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering. 

 The landscape architect is Jason Meier with Meier Consulting. 
 
HISTORY: 

 A Preliminary Plat, Preliminary Plan, Special Use Permit, and Rezoning for the 135th and Kenneth 
Development was approved by the Governing Body with case 71-18 (Ordinance #2919) on December 
3, 2018. The following was approved with that application. 

 Rezoning of 18.25 acres to MXD (Mixed Use Development District) and 38.09 acres to RP-3 
(Planned Cluster Attached Residential). The MXD zoned land was located on the north side of future 
137th Street, and the RP-3 zoned land was located both on the north and south sides of future 137th 
Street. 

 The mixed use portion of the development was approved for a total of 410,200 sq.ft. of construction 
on 18.25 acres for an FAR of 0.43, which included a 25% discount on residential space per the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. The MXD part of the development contained the following use 
percentages. 
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 41,000 sq.ft. of retail/restaurant space - (10.0%) 

 82,000 sq.ft. of office space - (20.0%) 

 287,200 sq.ft. of residential apartments (182 units for a density of 9.97 du/ac) – (70.0%) 

 67,200 sq.ft. for an assisted living facility (84 beds) 

 The RP-3 portion (named Regents Park with this application) of the development consisted of 54 
duplexes and 3 triplexes (117 units) on 38.28 acres for a residential density of 3.06 units/acre. 
Eighteen duplexes (36 units) were approved on the north side of future 137th Street and 36 duplexes 
and 3 triplexes (81 units) were approved on the south side. 

 A Final Plat and Final Plan for the Regents Park Multi-Family development was approved by the 
Governing Body with case 33-19 (Resolution #5245) on July 15, 2019 which consisted of public 
infrastructure and the RP-3 portion of the development. 

 A Revised Preliminary Plan was applied for and was recommended for denial by the Planning 
Commission on January 28, 2020. The application was then heard by the Governing Body on July 20, 
2020, and was sent back to the Planning Commission to consider as a Revised Preliminary Plan due to 
major changes which were proposed within the RP-3 portion of the development. 

 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Revised Preliminary Plat to alter 
the proposed phasing of the development and to propose changes to the residential area north of 137th 
Street zoned RP-3, and the west side of High Drive zoned MXD. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned RP-3 (Planned Cluster Attached Residential) and MXD (Mixed Use). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates the portion of property north of the future 137th Street as Mixed Use 
and Medium Density Residential, and the area south of the future 137th Street as Medium Density 
Residential. 

 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:  

 North Directly to the north of the property is 135th Street, an arterial roadway, and undeveloped 
property zoned AG, on the north side of 135th Street.  

 South Directly to the south of the property is the Leawood Falls Subdivision, zoned RP-4 (Planned 
Cluster Residential District under a previous version of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance), and the Villas of Highlands Ranch, zoned RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached 
Residential District). 

 East Directly to the east of the property is Kenneth Road and undeveloped land, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 West West of the property is undeveloped land, zoned AG, followed by Chadwick Place, a 
commercial development zoned SD-NCR (Planned Neighborhood Retail) and SD-O 
(Planned Office). 

 
CHANGES FROM THE APPROVED PRELIMINARY PLAN AND PRELIMINARY PLAT: 

 With this application, the applicant is proposing multiple changes to be made to the previously approved 
Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plat for this project, including the following: 

 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE PLAT: 

 The previously approved plat showed a street which dead ended in a cul-de-sac in the middle of Tract 
A. The resubmitted plat now shows this as a privately own the street within Tract A, and the previously 
dedicated right-of-way is no longer to be dedicated to the city. 

 Below shows the difference between the previously approved Tract A, and the proposed Tract A: 
 
Previously Approved         Proposed 
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PROPOSED CHANGES TO RP-3: 

 The duplex residential units on the north side of 137th Street included 18 duplex units (36 dwelling units) 
under the previously approved plan. 

 The applicant is now proposing 15 townhouse style residential structures (59 dwelling units) 

 A new private street would connect into 137th Street with private alleyways to be placed behind the 
residential units for access into the townhomes garages. 

 A new park area will be located at the northern portion of the tract, at the end of the private street. 

 On street parking areas are located along the private street by the entrance into the tract, and around 
the park. 

 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO MXD: 

 In addition to the changes made within the RP-3 zoned area north of 137th Street, changes have been 
made to the MXD zoned areas from the previously approved plan. 

 
MXD Area West of High Drive Entrance: 

 The previously approved plan consisted of 4 buildings (A-D) 
Building A – 52,000 Sq. Ft. consisting of 42 residential units 
Building B – 52,000 Sq. Ft. consisting of 42 residential units 
Building C – 78,000 Sq. Ft. consisting of Retail/Office Space and 56 residential units 
Building D – 63,000 Sq. Ft. consisting of Retail/Office Space and 42 residential units 

 The proposed plan consists of 3 buildings (A-C) 
Building A – 101,570 Sq. Ft. consisting of 89 residential units 
Building B – 74,000 Sq. Ft. consisting of Retail/Office Space and 44 residential units 
Building C – 59,430 Sq. Ft. consisting of Retail/Office Space and 50 residential units 

 Building heights were increased from a mixture of 4 to 5 stories, to all 5 story buildings. The tallest building 
is now 75’ tall, 4’ taller than the previous tallest building. 

 A covered parking area is now located in between building A and B, with a Pool Deck above. 
 

MXD Area East of High Drive Entrance: 

 No changes are being made to this portion of the development. 
 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO PHASING: 
Currently Approved Phasing Plan: 

 The currently approved phasing plan includes all duplex and triplex residential buildings to be 
constructed within the first phase along with 137th Street from Kenneth Road to Chadwick Street. 

 The amenity area at the intersection of 137th Street and High Drive would be included as part of the 
second phase. 

 The third and fourth phases would include the Mixed Use portion of the development on the east and 
west sides of High Drive. 

Proposed Phasing Plan: 

 The first phase of the development would include the duplex and triplex residential buildings located 
south of 137th Street, including the construction of 137th Street from Kenneth Road to Chadwick 
Street. 

 The second phase of the development would include the amenity area at the intersection of 137th 
Street and High Drive. 

 The third phase would include the townhouse portion of the RP-3 zoned area. 
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 The fourth and fifth phases would include the Mixed Use portion of the development on the east and 
west sides of High Drive. 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:  

 The Regents Park subdivision (duplex and triplex units, located south of 137th Street) include a total of 
36 duplexes and 3 triplexes (81 units). This portion of the development is unchanged from the previous 
plan proposal. 

 The duplex residential units which were located north of 137th Street have been replaced with a 
townhouse type development with a total of 15 buildings (59 units). This portion of the development will 
include a centrally located park for the townhomes, with private internal streets, along with a gated 
entrance 

 In total, the RP-3 portion of the development will now consist of 140 residential units on 38.09 acres for 
a density of 3.68 dwelling units per acre. This is an increase from the previously approved plan, which 
had a density of 3.07 dwelling units per acre. 

 The mixed use portion of the development proposes a total of 410,200 sq.ft. of construction on 18.25 
acres for an FAR of 0.43, which includes a 25% discount on residential space per the Leawood 
Development Ordinance.  The MXD part of the development consists of the following uses: 

o 41,000 sq.ft. of retail/restaurant space - (10.0%) 
o 82,000 sq.ft. of office space - (20.0%) 
o 287,200 sq.ft. of residential apartments (182 units for a density of 9.97 du/ac) – (70.0%) 
o 67,200 sq.ft. for an assisted living facility (84 beds) 

Although changes have been made to the site regarding buildings and site design, the calculations for 
uses and density has not changed from the previous plan. 

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the 135th Leawood Development: 
 
Mixed Use Bulk Regulations 

Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 30’ - 137th Street and 
High Drive 

40’ – 135th Street 

Deviation Requested - 
adjacent to 137th Street 

and High Drive only 

Interior Structure Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Single Family Residential Structure 
Setback 

75’ 850’ approx. 
Complies 

Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 

Interior Parking Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 45.8% Complies 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 15% Complies 

Minimum Acres 10  18.25 Complies 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 
(F.A.R.) 

0.25                          
198,718 SQ.FT. 

0.43                
410,200 SQ.FT. 

F.A.R. Bonuses Granted 

Required Use Ratios ≥ 20% - Residential 
≥ 20% - Office 
≥ 10% - Retail 

70.0% 
20.0% 
10.0% 

Complies 

Residential Density ≤ 15 DU / acre 9.97 DU /acre Complies 

Minimum Residential Unit  Size 80% - ≥900 sq.ft. 
20% - ≥750 sq.ft. 

Not provided 
Applicant acknowledged, 

but not provided 
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Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Height Limit 90’ 75’ Complies 

 
Planned Cluster Attached Residential District (RP-3) 

Criteria Required Provided Criteria 

Front Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Side Setback 30’* 15’ Deviation Requested 

Side Lot Corner Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Rear Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Density 7.26 du/ac 3.68 du/ac Complies 

Maximum No. of Attached Units ≤ 4 per building 4 per building Complies 

Open Space 30% of lot area 59.5% Complies 
         * Measured from building lines and building clusters 

 
ELEVATIONS: 

 Although building elevations are not reviewed until the time of Final Plan, the applicant has provided 
preliminary elevations. 

 The tallest building within the development is Building B within the west portion of the MXD zoned area. 
This building is 75’ tall. With the previous plan, the tallest building was 71’ tall. 

 At the time of Final Plan, more detail regarding the building finish materials will be required and will have 
to meet the regulations within the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
LANDSCAPING:   

 No changes have been made to the previous landscaping plan that was approved with the Final Plan 
application. 

 The applicant has made slight changes to the Mixed Use portion of the development and the townhouse 
development to reflect the changes made with this application.  

 Landscaping will be reviewed at the time of Final Plan for the Townhome development, and the area 
zoned MXD. 

 
TRAFFIC:   

 The applicant provided a traffic study completed in March, 2019 and has been reviewed and approved 
by the Public Works Department. 

 
SIGNAGE:  

 No signage is proposed with this application. Signage will be reviewed under a separate Final Plan at a 
later date. 

 
DEVIATIONS REQUESTED: 
These requested deviations are the same as previously granted with Case 71-18: 

 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on not less than a 1:1 ratio of increase floor area to 
increased open space being a benefit to the community as passive recreational potential for the public. 

 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on a 1:1 ratio of additional open space to additional 
allowable floor area for incorporation underground parking. 
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 Allow a 30 foot building setback from 137th Street and High Drive within the MXD portion of the 
development based on compensating common open space (not less than 1:1 ratio) is provided elsewhere 
in the project. 

 Subject to meeting the City’s Building Code, allow a minimum side yard setback of 15 feet from vertical 
wall to vertical wall within the RP-3 portion of the development. 

 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact Meeting was held on August 10, 2020. A sign-in sheet and summary of the meeting is 
attached. 

 
IMPACT FEES:  

 135TH STREET CORRIDOR IMPACT FEE: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the 135th Street 
Impact fee in the amount of $0.58 per square foot for office, $1.95 per square foot for retail, and $389.40 
per residential unit for areas north of 137th Street, which is due prior to issuance of building permit. This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 PUBLIC ART IMPACT FEE: A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required. Approval 
of the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, and 
be approved by the Governing Body at a later date. In Lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public art 
impact fee in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of finished floor area for nonresidential development 
prior to issuance of a building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 PARK IMPACT FEE: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee in the amount of 
$0.15 per square foot of finished floor area and $300 per residential unit is required prior to issuance of 
building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 SOUTH LEAWOOD TRANSPORTATION IMPACT FEE: The applicant shall be responsible for a South 
Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to recording of the Final Plat.  

 
GOLDEN FACTORS: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by an arterial street (135th Street) and undeveloped land zoned AG (Agricultural) and 
shown on the Comprehensive Plan as Mixed Use to the north; the residential neighborhoods of Leawood Falls and 
Villas of Highlands Ranch on the south; a collector street (Kenneth Road) and vacant land zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) and designated as Mixed Use by the Comprehensive Plan to the east; and undeveloped land zoned 
AG and designated as Mixed Use on the Comprehensive Plan to the west. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North Directly to the north of the property is 135th Street, an arterial roadway, and undeveloped 
property zoned AG, on the north side of 135th Street.  

 South Directly to the south of the property is the Leawood Falls Subdivision, zoned RP-4 (Planned 
Cluster Residential District under a previous version of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance), and the Villas of Highlands Ranch, zoned RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached 
Residential District). 

 East Directly to the east of the property is Kenneth Road and undeveloped land, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 West West of the property is undeveloped land, zoned AG, followed by Chadwick Place, a 
commercial development zoned SD-NCR (Planned Neighborhood Retail) and SD-O 
(Planned Office). 
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The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The property currently zoned MXD and RP-3, which allows for mixed use and medium density residential. 
Therefore the property is suitable for the uses proposed, but the plan still does not meet the intent of a Mixed 
Use development within the 135th Street Corridor. For example, MXD envisions planned developments that 
include a mixture of residential, retail, office and cultural uses in a single structure or multiple structures that 
incorporate a coordinated, consistent theme throughout the development in its pedestrian and vehicular 
access and way. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect the nearby property: 
The site is suitable to the zoning districts which have been established in a previous application; however, 
the design of the development does not allow for the retention of existing natural areas and does not allow 
for good planning practices to be followed in the way of grid network of streets, nodes of activity, and vehicular 
and pedestrian connectivity.  
 
An objective within the Comprehensive Plan states “Ensure that residential growth patterns result in 
neighborhoods that have their own sense of place, yet are closely linked to the community as a whole”, with 
a directive which states “additional gated communities will not be allowed within the City of Leawood in order 
to promote a sense of community.” The gated RP-3 portion of the development restricts the general public 
from creating vehicular connectivity from the rest of the project area. 
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The site is currently undeveloped, but is being used for farming. It has been zoned Agriculture (AG) since the 
property’s incorporation into the City of Leawood. It was rezoned to MXD and RP-3 on December 3, 2018 
with Case 71-18 (Ordinance #2919). 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of the denial of the application: 
The design of the development does not create a gridded street network, activity nodes, and vehicular 
connectivity which hinders the opportunity for multiple modes of transportation including public transit and 
the preservation of natural areas. Additionally, the plan does not meet the intent of the 135th Street 
Community Plan, as it does not offer a truly “mixed-use” development. Requiring these changes to the plan 
would not pose a hardship on the applicant, yet they would provide greater flexibility and a greater chance 
for an economically viable and sustainable development. The result will be a gain to the public health, safety, 
and welfare of the community if these standards are followed and the application denied. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
City staff recommends denial of the application for the reasons outlined in the staff report and Golden Factors. 
 
Conformance of the request change to the adopted master plan of the City: 
The comprehensive plan designates this property as Mixed Use and Medium Density Residential. The zoning 
is MXD and RP-3, which conforms to the City of Leawood’s 2019 Update of the Comprehensive Plan. 
However, the comprehensive plan states that additional gated communities will not be allowed, as a way to 
promote a sense of community. 
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STAFF COMMENTS: 

 Staff is not supportive of the RP-3 portion of the development to have a gated entryway. The 2019 Update 
to the Comprehensive Plan states that additional gated communities will not be allowed within the City 
as a way to promote a sense of community. (Stipulation #8) 

 The stipulations regarding the improvements to public utilities and street construction continue to be 
placed within this staff report. (Stipulations #5, #7) 

 The private street shall meet all requirements per the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-8-3.2 
(Stipulation #9) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 04-20 – 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed 
Use and Medium Density Residential – request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan. However, if the 
Planning Commission were to approve the application, staff provides the stipulations below: 
1. The project shall be limited to the following: 

a. 410,200 sq. ft. of construction on 18.25 acres for an FAR or 0.43, with a 25% discount for residential 
within the MXD zoned portion of the development that shall meet all requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance, including FAR density bonuses, and the City of Leawood’s Comprehensive 
Plan. 

b. 36 duplexes (72 units), 3 triplexes (9 units), and 15 townhomes (59 units) on 38.09 acres for a density 
of 3.68 dwelling units per acre. 

2. At the time of Final Plan for each phase, the application shall provide revised elevation drawings for all 
buildings that meet the material requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance, including roofing 
material. 

3. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 
a) A 135th Street Impact Fee in the amount of $0.58 per square foot of office, $1.95 per square foot of 

retail, and $389.40 per residential unit for areas north of 137th Street. This amount is subject to 
change by Ordinance. 

b) A Public Art Impact Fee in the or a piece of public art is required prior to the issuance of a building 
permit in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of finished floor area for nonresidential development. 
This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c) A Park Impact Fee in the amount of $300 per residential unit is required prior to issuance of a building 
permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

d) A South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, due prior to recording of the Final Plat. This amount 
is subject to change by Ordinance.  

4. The right-of-way for 137th Street shall be shifted to the north, to provide a tract of open space to act as a 
buffer between the street and the existing residential development to the south, as it is extended to the 
west beyond the current dedicated right-of-way. 

5. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the construction of 137th Street, including the portion 
connecting the development to Chadwick Street, and within the proposed development. 

6. The completion of the design and construction of all public streets for the full width of the property shall 
be under a single set of construction plans. 

7. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 
to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any building within the project. 
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8. Within the RP-3 portion of the development, all above ground facilities shall be placed in the rear yard 
wherever practical. If locating these facilities in the rear yard is not practical or appropriate, as determined 
by the City Engineer, then such facilities shall be at least 25’ behind the right-of-way. 

9. No portions of this development shall be gated or shall restrict the entry of any vehicles or pedestrians.  
10. All private streets proposed within this development shall meet the requirements for private streets per 

the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-8-3.2. 
11. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 

inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be installed 
only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

12. Within the MXD portion of the development, all utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final 
development plan, with a height of 56 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a 
pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall be installed only with the prior recommendation of the 
Planning Commission as being in compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on 
review of a site plan containing such final development plan information as may be required by the City, 
and approved by the Governing Body.  The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not 
limited to duration or renewal requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant 
the conditions. 

13. Within the RP-3 portion of the development, all new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a 
footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall 
be authorized only by approval of a special use permit prior to construction. 

14. The following deviations are hereby granted: 
a) 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on not less than a 1:1 ratio of increase floor 

area to increased open space being a benefit to the community as passive recreational potential for 
the public. 

b) 15% increase in the applicable maximum FAR based on a 1:1 ratio of additional open space to 
additional allowable floor area for incorporation underground parking. 

c) Allow a 30 foot building setback from 137th Street and High Drive within the MXD portion of the 
development based on compensating common open space (not less than 1:1 ratio) is provided 
elsewhere in the project. 

d) Subject to meeting the City’s adopted Building Code, allow a minimum side yard setback for the 
Villas of 15 feet from vertical wall to vertical wall within the RP-3 portion of the development. 

15. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, within the MXD portion of the development buildings shall be 
required to have a buffer a minimum of 10’ deep adjacent to buildings. 

16. Where head-in parking overhangs sidewalks, sidewalks must provide for a minimum of 2’ of additional 
width to accommodate the overhang of cars. 

17. Along all public streets, a minimum of a 10’ tree lawn shall be provided between back of curb and adjacent 
sidewalks. 

18. Sidewalks shall be 6’ in width along 135th Street, both sides of High Drive, and on the north side of 137th 
Street.  A 10’ asphalt hike/bike trail shall be required along the south side of 137th Street and west side 
of Kenneth Road.  All other sidewalks shall be a minimum of 5’ in width. 

19. Within the MXD portion of the development and per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where 
pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be 
enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular paving material. 

20. All buildings within this development shall conform to the architectural type, style, and scale of the 
buildings approved by the Governing Body at Final Plan. 

21. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 
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22. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be screened from 
public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used in the buildings and shall 
be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and accented with appropriate landscaping.  The 
gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, sight obscuring, decorative steel. 

23. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 
compatible with the building architecture. The height of the screen must be at least as tall as the utilities 
being screened. 

24. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this project shall 
be a maximum of 18’ in height. 

25. Lighting fixtures along 137th Street, High Drive, and Kenneth Road between 135th Street and 137th Street 
shall be of a special design that matches the existing light fixtures on 137th Street. 

26. At the time of Final Plan a landscape plan shall be submitted that meets all requirements of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

27. Lighting plans, photometric studies that meet the Leawood Development Ordinance, along with specific 
light fixtures, shall be required at the time of Final Plan. 

28. Materials boards shall be submitted at the time of Final Plan application. 
29. A model shall be submitted at the time of final plan application. 
30. Sign design and calculations shall be required at Final Plan. 
31. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 

works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior to recording 
the final plat. 

32. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire Marshal’s 
memo dated on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior to issuance 
of a building permit. 

33. A statement shall be included on the final plat for the RP-3 portion of the development that states that 
there shall be no ingress or egress within the rear yard, or street-side side yard to 137th Street for those 
lots that are adjacent to 137th Street. 

34. For all public streets within the RP-3 portion of the development, the developer or Homes Association 
will maintain any planting or statuary within the street right-of-way. The developer shall execute a right-
of-way maintenance agreement with the Public Works Department for any planting or statuary 
improvements within the public right-of-way.   

35. For the MXD portion of the development, a cross access/parking easement for the entire development 
shall be recorded with the final plat at the Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 

36. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all common 
areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm water 
system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in the 
development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such common areas or 
common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing and replacing said 
common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood will be jointly and 
severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of such lot. 

37. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun or if 
such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may request a 
hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City Council may grant 
one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the developer. 



12 
 

38. In addition to the stipulations listed in this document, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 
all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through thirty-eight. 













 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Richard Sanchez     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 18, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: 135th & Kenneth Development 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections to the Full Resubmittal of plans on Case 

04-20. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 
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135th & Kenneth (Regency Park) August 11, 2020 Interact Meeting  Attendance: Richard Lashbrook, Developer Amy Grant, Polsinelli PC  The meeting was held via Zoom call.  Approximately 8 people were in attendance.  There was no sign-in sheet available. The meeting began at 6:00 p.m.  Rick Lashbrook explained the revised preliminary plan regarding changing the area north of 137th Street from villas to townhomes and some minor changes to the MXD portion of the project.     The following is a summary of the question and answer portion of the meeting. 1. Has the additional traffic load on 137th Street be looked at? Response:  Yes, the Developer’s traffic engineer submitted a traffic study to the City with its original application.    2. Please explain the phasing and whether or not the product will be for rent or own? Response:  The Phase 1 villa product will be owner-occupied.  The Phase III townhome product will either be rental or owner-occupied depending on market trends at the time it is developed.    3. Who will be responsible for the construction and maintenance of the private drive surrounding the townhomes? Response:  The private drive will be constructed by the Developer and the HOA for the townhomes will be responsible for maintaining the drive.  4. What will the price range of the townhomes be? Response: That will also be market-driven but we expect the villas to start in the $600,000 price range and for the townhome product to be similar or slightly less than that.  5. Who has to pay for the widening of 135th Street?   Response:  The Developer is having on-going discussion with the City Council regarding that issue.      6. When do you expect to start construction and how long will it take? Response:  We will start the site work for the villa phase once we receive plan approvals from the City.  The other components will be market driven. 



 

74478927.1 

 7. We currently have robust landscaping near our home but it is located on your property.  Will you provide notice to the adjacent neighbors when construction will start so that we can better understand if any of the existing landscaping will be removed? Response:  The City has dictated the location of the 137th Street extension.  We want to be a good neighbor and do not want to remove any existing landscaping that is not absolutely necessary for the construction of 137th Street.  8. Have there been any changes to the proposed detention/retention ponds? Response:  No.  9. Are you aware of similar product now being proposed to the west of your project near Roe? Response:  We are aware of that project.  However, that will be a single-family home product, which is different from the villas and townhomes that we are proposing.    Comment:  If the villa price point is at $600,000, I would be disappointed with the density of the townhomes and apartment right across the street.    10. What is prompting all of this development along 135th Street right now?  Response:  There are currently some motivated Seller right now and our project was a bit of a test case for the types of development that the City might allow along 135th Street, which is likely a factor.      The meeting concluded at 6:30 p.m.   
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Richard Sanchez

From: John H. Becker <maui_john@hotmail.com>
Sent: Friday, August 7, 2020 11:36 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Public Hearing August 25, 2020 - Leawood 135

Dear Sir/Madam – We just received another notice from Mr. John D. Petersen of POLSINELLI, regarding a 
public hearing on August 25th 2020 for the Leawood 135 Project. 
 
We opposed this project the last time it came up and we still do. At that time Mr. Petersen assured all who 
would listen that he would take his millions of dollars and spend it somewhere else if it were not approved. It 
was not, yet he is back, regurgitating the same flawed project.  
 
There appears to be no significant change and we hope that the Planning Commission will promptly and 
properly deny this application once again. 
 
/s/ John H. Becker & Carol T. Monaghan-Becker 
             13640 Belinder Road 
              Leawood, KS  66224 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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DRAINAGE ESMT. BK.
4547, PG. 277 (TR. 1)

POINT OF BEGINNING
SUGGESTED SURVEYOR'S

DESCRIPTION

YL

YL

YL YL

GW

M
H

SS

BM 1056

GW

BM

SS

G
W

x2

PVCR

TSLP

BM

20' U/E BK. 4547, PG. 277
ACCESS ESMT. BK. 4547, PG. 277

30' WATER ESMT
BK. 1665, PG. 982

40'x70' ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY ESMT.
BK. 1665, PG. 982

125'x175' WATER EASEMENT
BK. 1665, PG. 982

20' WATER EASEMENT
BK. 1665, PG. 982

DRAINAGE ESMT. BK.
4547, PG. 277 (TR. 3)

℄10' SAN. SEWER ESMT.
BK. 1727, PG. 817

DRAINAGE ESMT.
BK. 4547, PG. 277 (TR. 4)

NE CNR., NE 1/4, NE 1/4
SEC. 34-T13S-R25E
FND. 2 1/2" BRASS CAP
IN MONUMENT BOX

NW CNR. LOT 14
VILLAS OF HIGHLAND
RANCH
FND. 1/2" REBAR
0.1'Ex0.3'S

NW CNR., NW 1/4, NE 1/4
SEC. 34-T13S-R25E
FND. 2 1/2" BRASS CAP
IN MONUMENT BOX
POINT OF COMMENCING
SUGGESTED SURVEYOR'S DESCRIPTION

N CNR. LOT 3
FND. 1/2" REBAR
W/ KSLS 491 CAP
0.2'S

SW CNR. TRACT E
FND. 1/2" REBAR
W/ BROKEN CAP

NE CNR. TRACT E
FND. MONUMENT
W/ KSLS 776 CAP
SE CNR. TRACT E
FND. MONUMENT
W/ KSLS 776 CAP

FND. MONUMENT W/
KSLS 776 CAP AT P.C.

MH

SW CNR., E 1/2
NW 1/4, NE 1/4
SEC. 34 T13S-R25E

SE CNR., NE 1/4, NE 1/4,
SEC. 34 T13S-R25E

60' EASEMENT FOR
HIGHWAY PURPOSES TO

JOHNSON COUNTY
KANSAS

BK. 64, PG. 454

10' WATERLINE ESMT.
WATER DISTRICT NO.

2
JOHNSON CO., KS

BK. 914, PG. 932

EM & ELEC.
CABINETS x2

ANTENNAE

DRAINAGE ESMT. BK.
4547, PG. 277 (TR. 2)

10' WATERLINE ESMT.
BK. 200811, PG. 002095 (#11)

DRAINAGE ESMT.
BK. 4547, PG. 277 (TR. 5)

ADDITIONAL 25' PROPOSED
RIGHT-OF-WAY UNDER

SEPARATE DEED OF
DEDICATION

PROPOSED 6'
CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PROPOSED 6'
CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PROPOSED 8'
ASPHALT TRAIL

COMMUNITY
GARDEN

PEDESTRIAN  NATURE WALK
ALONG CREEK WITH
SEATING AREAS
28,200 SF

PEDESTRIAN  NATURE WALK
ALONG CREEK WITH
SEATING AREAS
28,200 SF

C
    50 UNITS, 54,430

SF
RESIDENTIAL

BELOW GRADE
PARKING

 4 STORY ABOVE
RETAIL/ OFFICE

4,500 SF

T. PEDESTRIAN
PLAZA & PATIO

TERRACED
CORNER

FEATURE- 850 sf

PEDESTRIAN
PLAZA & PATIO -

1,400 sf

A
T.

89 UNITS, 101,570 SF
RESIDENTIAL

192 SUB-SURFACE / ENCLOSED

STALLS

164 SURFACE STALLS

B

LO
BBY

BR
EE

ZE
W

AY

23 ENCLOSED STALLS

RETAIL 1ST FLR.
10,500 SF

OFFICE TOWER
3 STORIES:
10,000 SF
44 UNITS,
64,000 SF

4 STORY ABOVE
RETAIL

BELOW GRADE
PARKING

POOL DECK ABOVE

ASSISTED LIVING
BELOW GRADE

PARKING
100 STALLS

 OFFICE
11,250 SF/ 11,250 SF

RETAIL

13,500 SF

RETAIL
12,500 SF

H

E

E

F

304 SURFACE STALLSOFFICE
ABOVE

28,500 SF

GOFFICE
 10,500 SF/ 10,500 SF

PEDESTRIAN
PLAZA

2,680  SF

T.

T.

T.

T.

TWO LEVEL
OFFICE
BLDG

TWO LEVEL
OFFICE
BLDG TWO LEVEL

OFFICE
BLDG

TWO LEVEL
OFFICE
BLDG
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sf

PEDESTRIAN
PLAZA & PATIO

TERRACED
CORNER

FEATURE- 800 sf
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sf

TWO STORY
67,200 SF

PEDESTRIAN PLAZA
680  SF

30' BUILDING
SETBACK

30' BUILDING
SETBACK

30' BUILDING
SETBACK
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K
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sf

GATEGATE

80' PROPOSED
RIGHT-OF-WAY TO BE

ACQUIRED UNDER
SEPARATE DOCUMENT

FOR CONNECTION TO
CHADWICK STREET 6' SIDEWALK

10' TRAIL

RIGHT TURN LANE

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
WITHIN INTERSECTION

STAMPED AND COLORED
CONCRETE AT CROSSWALKS (TYP.)

PROPOSED 6'
CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PROPOSED 6'
CONCRETE SIDEWALK

PROPOSED SIDEWALK
EASEMENT 1' OUTSIDE

SIDEWALK

PROPOSED SIDEWALK
EASEMENT 1' OUTSIDE
SIDEWALK

BENCH

BENCH

BENCH

5' ASPHALT
TRAIL

PR
IVATE STR

EET

PRIVATE STREET

PARK

TRACT A

30' B
UILDING & PARKING

SETBACK

GATE

SE CNR., NE 1/4
SEC. 34-T13S-R25E

FND. 3 1/4" BRASS CAP
IN MONUMENT BOX

SW CNR., NE 1/4
SEC. 34-T13S-R25E
FND. 5/8" REBAR

1326.99'

S87°30'07"W...2653.97'

1326.99'
S. LINE SW 1/4, NE 1/4 SEC. 34-T13S-R25E

S. LINE SE 1/4, NE 1/4 SEC. 34-T13S-R25E

E. LINE SW 1/4, NE 1/4 SEC. 34-T13S-R25E W. LINE SE 1/4, NE 1/4 SEC. 34-T13S-R25E
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

January 28, 2020 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, 

Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the November 26, 2019 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On Page 33, Ms. Knight should be in place of Ms. Bennett. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  On Page 11, the first paragraph shows Comm. Peterson, but it wasn’t 

me. Also, beginning on Page 19 and carrying through the rest of the document, it should 

be “Petersen” and not “Peterson.” 

 

A motion to approve the minutes from the November 26, 2019 Planning 

Commission meeting as amended was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

CONTINUED TO THE FEBRUARY 25, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 

MEETING: CASE 01-20 – CORNERSTONE OF LEAWOOD – ONSPRING 

HEADQUARTERS – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th 

Street and east of Nall Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

CASE 02-20 – LEAWOOD ESTATES – LOT 9 & PARTIAL LOT 8 – RESIDENTIAL 

EMERGENCY GENERATOR – Request for approval of a Final Landscape Plan, located 

north of 95th Street and east of High Drive.  
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CASE 03-20 – HALLBROOK EAST VILLAGE – SECOND PLAT – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 112TH Street and west of State Line 

Road.  

 

CASE 05-20 – STONE LEDGE SUBDIVISION – SECOND PLAT – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 154th Street and east of Nall Avenue.  

 

CASE 07-20 – PARK PLACE – ENGEL & VOLKERS – Request for approval of a Final 

Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant Space, located north of 117th Street and east 

of Nall Avenue. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I don’t think it’s necessary to pull the case, but I have a question on 

Case 03-20. What is the reason for going from three lots to two lots? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  The potential owners want a larger lot for their house. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  I have a related question. When three lots are rezoned as two lots, are 

the lots renumbered with Johnson County Records? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They will be renumbered. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there other questions? If not, I’ll entertain a motion.  

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Hoyt; seconded by Stevens. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, Peterson. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH – MIXED USE AND MEDIUM 

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, located 

south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 04-20 – 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed Use and 

Medium Density Residential – request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan for 

property located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road. Staff would like to 

make a change to Stipulation No. 1A. It should read, “The project is limited to the 

following: 410,200 square feet of construction on 18.25 acres for an F.A.R. (Floor Area 

Ratio) of 0.43 with a 55% discount for residential within the MX-D zoned portion of the 

development. That shall meet the requirements of the LDO (Leawood Development 

Ordinance). This matches what was previously approved Preliminary Plan. 

 With this case, the applicant is proposing a couple different changes from the 

previously approved Preliminary Plan. The first has to do with the phasing of the project. 

Previously, all the residential units were to be constructed in the first phase, including the 

richards
Arrow
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units south of 137th Street and the units north of 137th Street on the west side. The 

proposed change is to have the duplex and triplex units south of 137th Street be 

constructed first with a common area at the intersection of High Drive and 137th in a 

second phase with the third phase consisting of the residential units north of 137th Street. 

The second proposed change is to the stipulations previously agreed upon by staff. You 

have a table on the dais to show you the proposed changes. These are newer than what is 

in the Staff Report. These stipulations the applicant would like deleted or modified have 

to do with the applicant not wanting to construct the public improvements on 135th Street, 

including the construction of a third lane and burial of power and utility lines. Multiple 

developments along the 135th Street Corridor have equally conformed to these regulations 

to construct or pay into escrow for the construction of public improvements along street 

frontages as the construction progresses. This includes developments such as Market 

Square and Plaza Pointe. The developments that have three lanes of traffic along 135th 

Street have already done the projects. Staff is asking for this process to continue what has 

already occurred with those developments. The applicant has verified that no other 

changes are being made to the previously approved plan, including the construction of 

137th Street from Chadwick to Kenneth, the Mixed-use portion facing 135th Street, and 

the number of residential units in the whole design of the project. The only changes are 

the stipulations and phasing. Staff recommends denial of Case 04-20 in order to keep the 

previously approved Preliminary Plan in effect. I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Sanchez? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Is the primary nature of staff’s objections the public improvement and not 

the phasing? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. We would want those constructed in the first phase. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It’s not the phasing itself that is the issue; it is their desire to delay some of 

the public improvements. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  That is the main issue; however, staff was happy with what was previously 

submitted. We would like to revert back to that. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  I have a question related to the position of the third lane eastbound. I 

assume it’s going from Chadwick to Kenneth or State Line. 

 

Mr. Ley:  The third lane is constructed along their frontage of the development. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  In addition to that, there will be turn lanes, correct? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Block:  Could you remind me of the history of the homes north of 137th Street? I 

didn’t think homes would be in the very first iteration, and they were added. Now, they 
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are in a later phase. Didn’t they get some kind of variance to include those homes on the 

north side of 137th Street? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I believe those have always been shown on the plans as being part of the 

first phase. There is a mixed-use portion that includes apartments, retail, and offices. 

Those have always been shown in a later phase. They want the part that is north of 137th 

Street to be in its own phase. 

 

Comm. Block:  On the Public Works document, it refers to stipulations highlighted in 

bold print, but I didn’t see anything highlighted in bold. I couldn’t decipher what was 

new and what was old. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  If I’m not mistaken, the handout has some of that clarified. 

 

Mr. Ley:  The stipulations were changed from the original plan. We updated the 

stipulations to match what was approved at City Council. There were stormwater issues 

we had on the prior approved plan. There was a stipulation that stated the developer 

would work with staff to create some amenities. Those were updated to reflect what was 

actually approved.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  Would it help if you point out the changes? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  On the handout, you’ll see that Stipulation No. 4 stayed the same, but the 

applicant would like to delete it. No. 7 has a change with the word “approved” in the last 

line. No. 8 has a sentence added before, “however” from the Staff Report. No. 32 appears 

to be the same as the Staff Report. No. 2(C)I refers to the Public Works memo and 

remained the same. In that same section, wording changed but seems to have a lot of the 

same language. No. 2(C)3 changed to match what was in the new Public Works memo. 

They are requesting to change the timing. The current stipulation requires the fee to be 

paid prior to the city releasing the Final Plat; the proposal is to require the fee prior to the 

city releasing the Final Plat for Tracts G and H. No. 7 was previously deleted, and the 

applicant would like to delete it on this one as well. They added text to it, and it reads the 

same as what we previously included. No. 19 is a new stipulation that was not in the 

previous plan, and it was not in the Staff Report. No. 20 was the previous No. 13, and it 

has the same language that it had before; however, they want to phase all the public 

improvements. I believe the applicant will be able to go more in depth with the 

stipulations they wish to change.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  Mr. Sanchez, I don’t recall an applicant asking for some of these 

things to be changed, either in the preliminary part of our hearing or after the fact. I 

assume this is not normal. Could staff comment on that? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Staff did research on the previous developments along 137th Street. Similar 

language was either converted to them or part of the stipulations. To my knowledge, none 

of those developments had any pushback, or they did not communicate that to staff. We 
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had these stipulations in the first plan, and at Final Plan, some of them went forward with 

that as well. This is the applicant wanting to come back and change the stipulations.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  With respect to the phasing of the residential areas, does staff oppose 

that? You said you would prefer the original, but when push comes to shove, is staff 

opposed to changing the phasing? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I don’t believe we would be opposed to phasing the residential. The 

applicant may be able to talk about it more. If it is all one phase, they would have to 

construct all the public improvements, which would also mean creating the road north of 

137th Street into the separate cul de sac for those residential units. I’m assuming they 

would like to push that off until they are ready to do that other phase.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I don’t think I want to ask you to go through each of the stipulation 

modifications again, but I’m curious as to staff’s position with respect to the 

modifications. It’s obvious to me that staff is opposed to deleting No. 4. Beyond that, can 

you highlight which of the modifications staff opposes? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Would be okay with changing the wording on No. 7. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Maybe I’m misreading this, but I thought the bigger issue with No. 7 is 

that the current stipulation says that it will be under a single set of construction plans, and 

the modification is that it’s under a separate set of plans. That seems to be the bigger 

issue. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think staff is okay with phasing the development project as long as the 

public improvements that were in the original approval are associated with those phases 

in a reasonable manner. Of course, the additional villas north of 137th are in the third 

phase, so that street would have to be built at that time. The other mixed-use 

developments on 135th Street should have the third lane, burial of power lines, and other 

public improvements done along with it. We would agree that we don’t necessarily want 

an extra third lane when it is not necessary. There is no time frame associated with any of 

the phasing, so we don’t know if the land on 135th Street will be developed in two years 

or ten years. We’re amenable to having the improvements phased, but it is the city’s 

policy that the improvements are made by the developer and not the city. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  You’re okay with their sense of timing. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I want to hone down on the issues of contention, then. With respect to 

the other requested modifications to the stipulations, are there others that staff stands 

opposed to? I just don’t want to have Mr. Petersen have to go through them all if there 

are some that you are agreeable to. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Regarding No. 8, we would want the developer to be responsible for the 

burial of utilities on 135th Street.  
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Mr. Coleman:  We would want No. 32 to stand as it is. We also want No. 2(C)I to stand 

as it is. 

 

Mr. Ley:  Regarding 2(C)II, we want to make sure they understand that they would still 

be responsible for the third lane if they construct High Drive with Phase One. It just 

depends on when High Drive would be constructed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  How about No. 2(C)III? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The concern Public Works has with this one is if they construct the High Drive 

intersection in the roadway and the development on the north side comes in prior to 

Phase Four or Phase Five, traffic signals could be warranted and we would not have the 

50% match for the signal. We would still want to collect the escrow up front if they’re 

going to construct High Drive with Phase One. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  No. 7? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We would want it to remain as it is. We don’t want to delete or change it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  No. 19? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We’re okay with modifying it to read how they wrote it to match the phases. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And No. 20? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We would be okay with the proposed modification.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ve narrowed the issues a bit. What I understand is there is not 

agreement with respect to Nos. 4, 7, 8, 32, Public Works Memo Nos. 2(C)I, 2(C)II, and 

2(C)III. With that, I would invite the applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, 6201 College Boulevard, appeared before the 

Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re grateful to be here with what we feel is a great project for the city. 

The most important people in the room are Richard and Rick Lashbrook, principals of 

Leawood 135, LLC. The give and take helped quite a bit so we can zero in on the issues 

before us, but I feel a few prefatory comments might help. Some of you were here in 

December, 2018 when we brought this project before you. It is a vertical and horizontal 

mixed-use project. It is approximately a 56-acre tract that is intended to be developed 

with a variety of uses, including attached villas to the south along 137th and then two 

pods of more vertical mixed-use product with residential over retail, office, and senior 

living adjacent to 135th Street. The plan before you is the exact plan. As time has gone 

on, the developer has been resolute in confirming the intent to develop the plan. The 

dream was to move the entire development forward in a sequential fashion. The 
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stipulations we’re going to talk about contemplated that. For the record, we agreed to 

every stipulation under consideration this evening with the idea that we had a plan in 

front of use that we would execute if the market cooperated. I can speak to the 135th 

Street Corridor and people who have made the wrong decision, which is to put tens of 

millions of dollars into horizontal infrastructure, hoping that the development would 

come in and bring a return on investment. I would respectfully ask you to take note that 

the 135th Street Corridor, despite tens of millions of dollars of additional lanes, reverse 

frontage roads, and sewage systems, remains essentially undeveloped. These developers 

are serious about developing in the City of Leawood, but they’re not going to make that 

mistake. To pull the vertical pieces into position, they needed partners with expertise and 

committed capital. It’s fair to say every single well-known mixed-use developer was 

approached. Every alternative was considered, and there is not a taker for those front 

pieces. In large part, it is because of the heavy burden of infrastructure costs. We’re here 

today to do two things that staff articulated well. One involves phasing in the different 

components of the attached villa project, largely due to financing and timing. Banks will 

finance when they see product coming behind. There are certain banks that didn’t provide 

that due diligence, which is why several pieces of property along 135th Street have now 

gone through four changes of hands. We’re trying to avoid that. Additionally, there is 

phasing of public infrastructure. We’re going to ask that some of it be eliminated in its 

entirety, but also to modify some elements to not require the infrastructure to be added 

when we start the first villa, which is how the stipulation reads today. I understand that 

we are asking the Planning Commission to make decisions about policy of financing 

public streets and burying power lines. I understand one might say it is not in the purview 

of the Planning Commission but rather the Governing Body, but there is a process. The 

only way to change stipulations is to come through this process to reach the Governing 

Body. I’m not saying we’re wasting your time because your input is valuable.  

 (Shows plan on monitor) The plan was always to have villas north of 137th Street, 

which results in three phases. The amenity area sits where High Drive ends coming in off 

135th Street. We’re now proposing five phases. Phase One would be villas south of 137th; 

Phase Two would be the amenity; Phase Three is the balance of the villa product, 

designed to allow us to phase in and not put the street in until we’re ready for that phase; 

Phase Four is the pod west of High Drive; Phase Five is the mixed-use portion east of 

High Drive.  

 Moving on to stipulations, I’d like to give you some financial comparisons to 

explain why we are proposing the changes. No. 4 is one we would like deleted. It 

indicates that we would build a third lane on 135th Street. We would still be responsible 

for any deceleration and right-turn lanes both at High Drive and at the right-in access on 

the most eastern mixed-use pod, but we would like to be released from the responsibility 

to build that third lane. I’ll speak later about the cost, the traffic report, and the purpose of 

that third lane. Staff alluded to the fact that we would be building it for no reason at this 

point because it goes nowhere until Missouri does something. No. 7 is one we have staff 

support on. This breaks away from the idea that when construction begins on the villas, 

all the public improvements need to be designed at the same time. We understand that we 

can phase some of those improvements. No. 8 addresses power lines and is a similar 

situation. We ask that it be removed and modified to the extent that it is talking about 

power lines that run immediately adjacent to 135th Street and not any power lines that are 
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internal or any electrical service provided internal to the site. We’re not asking to be 

relieved from that responsibility, but we’re asking to be relieved from the responsibility 

to bury the existing power lines along 135th Street. No. 32 says that there are other 

requirements in the Public Works memo, which is the normal process for Leawood. 

We’re not asking to eliminate it; we’re just asking that it be shored up to any changes we 

do in the Public Works memo, which includes re-dating the memo. Moving to the Public 

Works memo and No. 2(C)I, we’re asking that it be deleted because it is another bite at 

the apple on the additional lane along 135th Street. No. 2(C)II goes a bit to timing. We 

understand we will do the right turn lanes at High Drive and do the right turn lanes in the 

future when the eastern pad is developed. We are asking for a modification that preserves 

the responsibility for us to do our deceleration and turn lanes at those identified 

intersections but eliminating the overall lane widening or additional lane construction for 

135th. No. 2(C)III goes to the traffic signal. Right now, we would be required to pay that 

escrow in with the villas. High Drive will be built with this portion of the project, as will 

137th. I don’t think anyone anticipates that there will be a need for signalization with the 

addition of these villas. This is based on a need. The stipulation could be fashioned that 

would require payment when the signal is warranted. It could be 5-6 years, so to ask for 

payment now is a financial tug at the development. No. 7 refers to the burial of power 

lines, and we want to be sure we’re being consistent and we’re talking about the KCP&L 

lines that currently exist along 135th, and we’re asking for relief from that obligation. Any 

requirements for any other electrical service in the interior of our site, including 137th 

Street, would not be below ground. I think we have agreement on Nos. 19 and 20, which 

goes to phasing and doing the public improvements when they are needed. That is a very 

quick overview of what you had from staff. I’d like to speak to why we’re coming back 

after we have agreed to a plan. Committed development costs include construction of 

137th Street from Chadwick to Kenneth Road, High Drive, cul de sac streets, signalized 

intersection, and eastbound right turn lanes. The deceleration and right-turn lanes would 

be done immediately and are a large portion of the overall costs of that additional 

southern lane on 135th Street because all the utilities need to be relocated. The issues 

we’re talking about in the stipulations are over $7.5 million. To add the burial of power 

lines increases that number by $1,650,000 and another $450,000 to finish the widening of 

the third lane. It’s a showstopper, even to those who are still in discussions about 

bringing multi-family living over retail. For the record, we have other impact fees that 

relate to traffic. We’re not asking for relief from the 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee, 

from the Public Art Impact Fee, or the South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee. That 

approaches another $500,000. I go back to the traffic study to put the third lane in some 

context. This was studied in a traffic report with a 2040 projection. Until Missouri builds 

a third lane, this lane would go nowhere.  

 To summarize, our request is to approve the new phasing plan in terms of the 

northern portion of the villas. With each stipulation, whether it be from the Planning 

Department or Public Works, we are seeking the relief we requested. With that, I’m 

happy to answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Petersen? 
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Comm. Hoyt:  Could you go back to the slide that showed the costs that you expect to 

incur if the third lane were added? (slide displayed) These are isolated costs. What is the 

total cost of the entire project? I’m trying to determine the scope of this portion to the 

entire project. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s probably a relatively small percentage. Off the top of my head, I’m 

going to guess it’s 2%. That’s unfortunately not the way a financing structure is put 

together. The infrastructure doesn’t produce income. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:   You also said this isn’t the total cost of all the infrastructure changes you 

are making. What is the total of all the infrastructure changes? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  $2.1 million. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Didn’t you say the deceleration lanes are included in the $7.5 million? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  To restate and emphasize, these costs are the costs attributed to the 

stipulations we’re discussing. There are numerous other costs. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  That’s what I’m trying to figure out. I’d like to know all those other ones 

that don’t generate income but are costs nevertheless. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I wouldn’t know that off the top of my head. I’ll let them figure it. 

 

Comm. Block:  Do you have visuals of the lanes? I’m having trouble understanding 

where the deceleration lanes are and where the third lane fits into that. I don’t know what 

you’re proposing to delete and what you’ve committed to in the past. It seems the 

deceleration lane would be further into the project, If you’re going to delete the third 

lane, you’re proposing to put a deceleration lane where that would go, which would have 

to be ripped out down the road to add a third lane, and then a deceleration lane would 

have to be moved further into the project. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  There will be setbacks and right-of-way to enable that. As I indicated, all 

the utilities have been moved out of the way; it is really just breaking the curb and 

moving the curb line in. 

 

Comm. Block:  I thought you indicated you did not want to move all those utilities. 

They’ll be moved in far enough? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The underground utilities in that area include water, sewer, and probably 

fiber. To do our deceleration lanes, we’ll have to move all of those. 

 

Comm. Block:  Will you move them far enough to account for that third lane? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’ll move them into the expanded right-of-way. 
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Comm. Block:  You’ll do both of the yellow lines with the first phase? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Again, we have a modification to the stipulations. The one to the west of 

High Drive would be done as part of the villas; the one to the right is the entrance point 

for the eastern portion of the mixed-use development on the east side of High Drive along 

135th We are proposing to do that when that portion of the development actually gets 

started. 

 

Comm. Block:  So, it goes to another street that would not be constructed until Phase 

Five? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir.  

 

Comm. Block:  You would build High Drive, 137th Street, not the cul de sac north of 

137th Street and not the street that goes east. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Correct.  

 

Comm. Block:  Why would you not have to bury the power lines at any point in any of 

these five phases? Why would you be able to not do that, based on what’s happened 

elsewhere in the city and the LDO? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We want to have a project we can finance. We can’t find anybody that is 

willing to take that as part of the deal. When we get to Governing Body, I assume they’ll 

have other alternatives for making these public improvements that may not put the 

burden on each project but do a more corridor-wide solution. We know today we can’t 

afford to bury those power lines at $1.6 million and bring a partner in to develop the 

mixed-use. Right now, we have to do what they want with the villas. We can’t live with 

that; that’s just a non-start. Villaggio is an example. Times were good then. They buried 

power lines and put in all the streets. I don’t need to tell you what’s happened to that 

property. I know that property sold the last time in foreclosure for the amount of the 

assessments only, and it’s back in a distressed state again. It can’t be done in this day and 

age. It couldn’t be done then, quite honestly. I’m not being critical of the developers, but 

it can’t be done. Those power lines are not there because of the ramifications of this 

project. Those power lines are there because KCP&L won’t bury their own power lines; 

they make the cities do it if they want it done. Then the cities tell the developers to do it. 

Some cities don’t require it. Overland Park doesn’t require it. It all adds up, and $2 

million could be a small percentage of all the other investment that comes in, but those 

amounts can make or break projects. We need some help on two things that we’ve 

identified. Anything that our development impacts on the public and requires 

improvements, we’ll pay for: turn lanes, signalization, complete construction of 137th 

Street because our activity generates the need. We aren’t causing the need for a third lane 

on 135th Street. There is no traffic study that shows that. Also, KCP&L won’t bury their 

own power lines, and it’s an aesthetic issue. 
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Comm. Block:  Regarding the traffic signal, I don’t know how the 50% was determined, 

but I assume this part of the project is going to contribute to extra traffic. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re not arguing with the 50%; that’s typical. 

 

Comm. Block:  But you don’t want to put any of that money into escrow today. We can’t 

come back five years from now because you may or may not be the owners at the time. I 

don’t understand how you want to push that off and not escrow that now if you agree that 

50% of the cost is yours. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It does happen in other communities. The commercial portion will be the 

contributing factor for the south side of the street and the need for signalization. We don’t 

want to have to escrow with the villas. We want the escrow requirement to be phased; we 

don’t want the escrow requirement to be tripped by the villa development. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is it half of $165,000 or all of it? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  $165,000 represents half of the estimated costs. 

 

Comm. Block:  When would you put it in? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  At the beginning of development of the Mixed-use portion. 

 

Comm. Block:  Which could be ten years from now. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Correct, or the city would have the right to come back against that property 

as an assessment. 

 

Comm. Block:  So, the HOA is going to collect and escrow $165,000? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We suggested that it be on the commercial property. 

 

Comm. Block:  It just doesn’t make sense to me. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  The avoidance of trying to put together all the costs we’re facing to start 

the villa project, including bringing in a public road that will serve commercial traffic as 

well with High Drive, through the deceleration lane, which is primarily needed for High 

Drive, at least half of the lane-widening on 135th Street, leads us to consider the 

signalization as an extra cost that will sit in escrow for potentially ten years. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Mr. Petersen, if I recall correctly, this is the third time this 

development has been before this commission; is that correct? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  At least. 
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Comm. Coleman:  Part of what I’m struggling with is why these issues did not come up 

the first time, second time, third time, or fourth time. Is it just the money issue that has 

now come to light? These are standard things that I’ve seen go through on other projects. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Projects are approved, and developers think there’s a chance to do it, but 

the arbiter in your world is that it’s required for the project. The arbiter in our world is the 

market. I know you’re not suggesting this, but it could be that we say we’ll agree to it just 

to come back and ask to have it removed. That is not the case at all. This is very common 

as an approval gets tested in the market. We’re not going to take risks that border on 

gambling, so we come back and ask for a modification. To ask for modifications three 

times on a project this size in my world is nothing. It was good faith taking our 

requirements to the market, but every single multi-family MX-D developer in your city 

crunched the numbers and said we needed to get rid of these costs. Out of $10 million, 

we’re coming back for $2.1 million for projects that we don’t impact. We’re going to get 

a mixed-use partner in here. I bet we’ll be back again because there will be something in 

here we’ll have to tweak to make a high-quality project that didn’t fit squarely into a 

more theoretical approach. If there could be a financing mechanism put forth by the city 

where one project didn’t have to take $2 million of these public improvements that many 

cities don’t require at all and others do as part of their Public Works projects. I’m not 

suggesting Leawood should do that. I recall an effort early on in the 135th Street Corridor 

to spread it out all the way back from 133rd to 137th. That made sense, but it fell apart and 

couldn’t be done. We’re trying to get things started. Everything that is needed to handle 

our project, we’ll pay for, but we need a little help. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  You said it would be interesting if a funding mechanism could be 

developed that would share the costs. Of the $2.1 million, what would seem to be a 

reasonable share of that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  There are different methodologies, part by the city at large because there 

are a lot of people utilizing and enjoying the aesthetics of no power poles. It could be 

based on square footage. Villaggio did it with $9 million that got paid down to $6 

million. City bonds are out there that have been in default for a long time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’ve got a series of questions, but let’s focus on the power lines first 

because that’s been a longstanding issue. I’m thinking about the idea, “Don’t oppose 

unless you have propose to go with it.” What would be your “propose” for burying the 

power lines? It’s a good discussion on policy. What would you have Governing Body do 

with respect to power lines? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You’re going to get me in all sorts of trouble. I’m not speaking on behalf 

of my clients; I’m speaking on behalf of myself. It’s a city aesthetic issue. If the city 

wants power lines buried, then I think the city needs to step up and help bury power lines, 

or there should be incentives. Where you see them buried in other cities is when there 

was an incentive. It is an extraordinary cost. KCP&L does the work; it can’t be bid out. 

It’s honestly a public investment to bury the power lines by allowing tax dollars to be 

diverted to reduce the costs. In Overland Park at 115th Street and Nall, the city didn’t 
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require burying the power lines. We got a CID approved there, and one of the conditions 

was that the power lines are buried. I would think maintenance of streets would be a 

higher priority than aesthetics. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  One of the things that concerns me about the power lines is a concern 

that, if we don’t address it now, we’ll have the same situation that we had for years at 95th 

and Mission. That is that it won’t be your clients dealing with it, but 40 years from now, 

when it comes time to redevelop what your clients have put together, we’ll deal with it 

then. I’m really concerned about that. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That’s being addressed at Ranch Mart.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Even with an incentive package, your clients are ready to move 

forward now. If the city could see clear to give you relief on that now and we, as a city, 

come up with some CID or other incentive program, how would your clients then be 

qualified to contribute at that point in time since they already have their investment in the 

ground and going? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That is a conversation to be had as we move through the process. We’d be 

open to having that discussion, but to get there, I have to stand on the points I’ve made 

this evening. We would hopefully anticipate a side discussion to not only solve it for this 

project but for other projects as well.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  You mentioned in your presentation that you and your clients believe 

it would be appropriate to invest in the escrow at such time when the traffic signal is 

warranted. How would we collectively determine when a light is warranted? Is it when 

your folks decide or the city? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That’s your responsibility typically. Cities determine when it is time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there a consensus right now that it’s not warranted today or at the 

time that your first phase is happening? 

 

Mr. Ley:  I believe they’re just doing a right-in, right-out. Is that correct? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes. 

 

Mr. Ley:  They’re not going to have a westbound left turn lane. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  So, there is no dispute that the light is not warranted at this time. 

 

Mr. Ley:  That’s correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  But prior practice would be to escrow the money at the first instance. 
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Mr. Ley:  We started that policy about five years ago. Prior to that, we had the developers 

install signals upfront because we were anticipating all the development to occur. They 

would like to change the stipulation to have them pay when the signal is warranted, but 

then the problem is that we have to try to find the person to collect money from. It makes 

it difficult. That’s why we try to collect the money upfront.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Dropping back to the power lines, when would it be appropriate to 

bury the power lines, Mr. Petersen? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Probably when the ultimate improvements are done to 135th. I don’t know 

exactly where they sit in the right-of-way. The frustrating part is if we just do public 

streets and it’s a city project, the utility company moves them. If it’s a developer, the 

developer moves them. That happens on a fairly regular basis. The immense cost is in 

burying the power lines.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It seems like the best time to bury the power lines if on the front end. I 

understand what you’re saying about the financing issues, but wouldn’t you agree that, if 

financing were available, the best time would be before the development goes into place? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  In a perfect world, it would be the best time. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I have a question about the third lane. You mentioned a couple times 

that the traffic studies available indicate there is not really a need for that third lane until 

2040. Frankly, I didn’t see that in your record anywhere. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s in the traffic study that was part of the original. I’m not sure if that 

land will ever be built because it doesn’t go anywhere. It dies at State Line.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  The record we have before us is a traffic study suggests 2040 is the 

earliest a third lane would be justified? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It’s clearly not required as part of this development, and the analysis was 

done under the 2040 condition.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I suspect this may be a bit out of order, but under the LDO, do we 

even have the authority to grant removal of the stipulations relative to the power lines and 

the third lane? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You have the power to recommend on any land use plan. As part of any 

recommendation of any land use plan or ordinance adopting a zoning category or 

stipulation, you have the right to recommend on any stipulation. I started out by saying 

that you may say it sounds like a policy issue, but I do think you have the authority to 

make a recommendation based on any stipulation. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Would we be recommending on the face of it a violation of a standing 

provision of the LDO? 
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Mr. Petersen:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  You’re saying the Governing Body could move forward with this 

without amending the LDO.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  I think they could, yes. This is no different than if we had a traffic study 

that said that the project would be developed and gave levels of service and delays for the 

intersection, leading you to make a recommendation of an acceptable level of service. I 

think the necessity for a third lane of a road and an aesthetic issue of burying power lines 

is in the realm of reviewing a development plan. I think the city could not require it and 

not be in violation of the LDO. There may be a policy that would have to be considered. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  To your knowledge, is there an LDO provision that requires power 

lines to be buried? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  If there is, I’m not aware of it.  

 

Chairman Elkins: We’ve understood that there is a requirement to bury the power lines, 

but I’ve never asked if the requirement stems from the LDO or from a policy. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I’ve never seen it codified.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have a view on either the lane expansion or the burying of 

the power lines? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  For the burying of the power lines, under Public Utilities and Public 

Safety Uses, there are statements that refer to developments burying the power lines. It’s 

Section 16-1-4.1.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there anything about the lane expansion? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Along 135th Street, we’ve always required the developers to do the third lane. 

The city has a fee schedule that addresses arterial street fees. If a developer constructs 

adjacent to an arterial street, there is a requirement to pay $783 per foot of frontage. It is 

actually half that cost, but that is the cost going from a collector to an arterial. The 

developer at 135th and Mission had to do the lane widening of 135th Street as well as 

paying the linear footage for that improvement. We had the same situation at 

Cornerstone. They paid $783 divided by two because it falls on the center line.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  We’re paying that. 

 

Mr. Ley:  I don’t think that’s part of the stipulations because you’re not adjacent to an 

arterial street.  
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Mr. Petersen:  Richard cited the code for power lines, and we’re adhering to that. The 

onsite have to be buried but not transmission lines in a thoroughfare right-of-way that we 

happen to be adjacent to. I think there’s a distinction there, and I made it in my 

presentation.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I understand there is room for discussion. I was trying to get an 

understanding of the parameters in our current ordinance. Are there other questions? 

 

Comm. Block:  Along the same lines of the traffic signal, is it codified? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The city hasn’t paid for signals when a developer creates an intersection.  

 

Comm. Block:  I’m curious if the requirement to have the developer put money in escrow 

for the traffic signal is supported by the LDO. 

 

Mr. Ley:  Each case is considered individually based on the traffic study.  

 

Comm. Block:  I understand that each situation is different as to whether it needs a signal 

or not, but how do you make the determination as to when they need to escrow for that 

signal. You say the signal will be necessary in whatever period of time; what are you 

hanging your hat on to make sure they put that money in escrow today? 

 

Mr. Ley:  Typically, we collect upfront. 

 

Comm. Block:  Based on what?  

 

Mr. Ley:  The traffic study. 

 

Comm. Block:  Is there a policy to support that decision? 

 

Mr. Ley:  The policy is they have to do a traffic study and address their traffic impacts to 

the city. That is where the stipulation comes in. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It is on a case-by-case basis with the general policy. I draw a distinction 

here, and that is that until the commercial is developed and the median is broken, there is 

no intersection. We’re not breaking it as part of the villas. Under the circumstances, we 

think a fair proposal is to look at when they start developing the commercial or when it is 

warranted, whichever comes first.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’m not sure I followed all of Mr. Coleman’s reference to the LDO, but 

a colleague pointed out that in Section 16-1-4.1 at the end, it says, “In the case of a new 

or amended Preliminary or Final Plan or Plat, the owner/developer and/or applicant shall 

be responsible for placing all existing utilities underground prior to issuance of a building 

or occupancy permit or at such time mandated by the approved plan or plat.” In your 

view, Mr. Petersen, does what you’re proposing fall in compliance with that? 
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Mr. Petersen:  All the utilities that will be on our property will be buried. These aren’t on 

our property; they’re on the public right-of-way. New utilities, we are burying.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  Mr. Petersen, do I read correctly that there are approximately 117 

villas planned? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  What is the average projected sale price per villa? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  As I recall, around $600,000 per unit. It’s a healthy price. We’re trying to 

have good options in that price range. Again, that speaks to the economics. If we’re 

getting $2 million a site, we have a bit more flexibility to address aesthetics. In a position 

such as this with us coming back, it comes down to what is proposed in that commercial 

development is state-of-the-art vertical mixed-use. What makes it good is another really 

expensive structured parking. Then, with another $2 million to bury power lines is 

extensive. The alternative is to bring down the quality of the structured parking, which is 

not their intent, but it’s a piece of straw out of the haystack. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? Thank you, Mr. Petersen. Under the LDO, a case 

such as this provides for a Public Hearing. Before we begin, we’ll allow four minutes for 

comments. We would also appreciate avoiding replicating comments. We want input 

from the community, and we’ve spent a considerable amount of time talking about policy 

tonight. I think that was the applicant’s intent to provide that record for the Governing 

Body. 

 

Public Hearing 

Kevin Jeffries, 13451 Briar Drive, Leawood Economic Development Council, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Jeffries:  To speak to the policy issues you are talking about tonight, to let you know, 

the Economic Development Council (EDC) has been discussing the concept of the 

widening of 135th Street and if it should be a public project, much like 143rd and Mission 

Road and part of our Capital Improvement Program. Should we utilize financing 

mechanisms like TIF (Tax Increment Financing), which has typically been kind of a bad 

word to use in Leawood. If you really look into what a TIF is, it’s not really a giveaway; 

it's another way of financing a project. When taxes go up on the property because the 

property has improved, some of that is captured. Tax abatements come back and help pay 

for those infrastructure improvements. I think for 20-30 years, we have said it’s a terrible 

thing, but I think it’s something we might want to at least look at in certain circumstances 

where there is a big public benefit. I think if we want Leawood to look different, this is a 

great opportunity for us to take that stand and do a little something like that. The EDC 

has been encouraging discussions about a lot of infrastructure, including the widening of 

135th Street and coordinating with Missouri. In the mornings, there is a huge bottleneck. 

There are so many people coming in to Johnson County from Missouri that those extra 

westbound lanes might be warranted. That would relieve some of that congestion. Again, 
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that serves all of Leawood and Johnson County, so I suspect the county might help pay 

for some of that. Mr. Ley would know better about the CARS program and what would 

qualify. I think the hodge-podge we have now is a game. I’ve been trapped more than 

once in the wrong lane. I just think it’s something we need to look at the future as 

opposed to putting it on individual developers. Thank you very much. 

 

As no one else was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made 

by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: 

McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Petersen, do you wish to respond? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You asked about the 2040 analysis on the third lane. The traffic study that 

serves as the basis for the approval is on Page 8 of your packet.  

 

Chairman Elkins: Thank you. That will be part of the record. Mr. Petersen, did you have 

anything else to add to the record at this point? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  No. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That brings us to a discussion by the commission. We have some 

weighty issues before us.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It seems like there are a couple of non-weighty issues in terms of being 

agreed to in principle, and that’s the phasing of the development and the phasing of the 

Public Works. We’re really strictly looking at the issue of not building the third lane on 

135th Street and not burying the 135th Street utilities.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I also heard an issue about escrow. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  It seems like there could be some finessing of the language to give the city 

the option to call in the escrow at the point the city determines the need is present or 

imminent. I don’t know if that’s the way the other commissioners see what we have in 

front of us. 

 

Chairman Elkins: I think that’s a fair statement. The issue is trying to think of how we 

can best bring this to a conclusion: whether we consider each item individually and then 

act upon the application in total. Before we get into the technicalities, let’s get some 

commentary from the commissioners about what they think on this whole issue of the 

city’s prior practice of addressing the infrastructure improvements and burying the power 

lines. Power lines have been an issue as long as I’ve been a resident, so I’m curious to 

hear what the commissioners’ thoughts are on our prior practice, our current practice, and 

what Mr. Petersen and his clients are proposing. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  I would say we don’t have the authority to make that decision based on 

the current wording of the LDO. In terms of theoretical situations and if the city needs to 



Leawood Planning Commission - 19 - January 28, 2020 

change, I’d be open to options. I look forward to seeing development in the city. I’d be 

willing to look at different options. I think Governing Body should look at different 

options, but I don’t think that’s before us right now, and I don’t think we can make that 

decision.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I have concerns of changing things from the way we’ve done them in 

the past. A lot of these requirements are required of all of our developers. I don’t think 

we’ve asked anything out of the ordinary with the plan we and City Council approved. 

I’m also concerned about precedent if we alter things at this point from the normal way 

we conduct business in relation to the LDO and the way we hold developers to a certain 

set of standards that we’ve applied on everyone. I have some grave concerns with that. 

Part of this is going to be going to City Council for them to make decisions on what to 

do. We have to look at what’s before us now as opposed to trying to make changes to the 

way we normally do things on the fly.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think that’s probably correct; although, I do know for a fact that 

Governing Body looks to our discussion to help inform them around the policy decisions. 

I don’t disagree with Commissioner Coleman or Commissioner Hunter that it may well 

be outside our ability to move forward, but the discussion is very worthwhile. That is 

why we have the process we do. I concur with both of you that it’s probably the case with 

respect to what we can do, but I think it’s appropriate for us to offer discussion. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  I agree completely with what both of you have said. I think we’re in 

short-term and long-term mode. Short-term mode is tonight and the decision we have 

associated with that. I agree with the precedent-setting concept. On the flipside, I think 

over a longer period of time, it ought to be assessed whether there are other options and 

something that makes more sense that creates more development that is successful over 

time. It feels to me that we’ve got two different time frames, and it would be seemingly 

odd to combine them into one time frame.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other comments? I guess the observation I would have is that I tend to 

agree with Commissioner Coleman that there’s a certain sense of fairness about the fact 

that historically, we’ve required developers to put in this infrastructure, to bury the power 

lines, to do the other things we’ve talked about tonight. On the other hand, I’ve been 

looking at the 135th Street Corridor for over 20 years now as a resident. We’ve gone 

through at least two, if not three, iterations of a special corridor development plan. Yet, 

we sit out there today without really any active development. It would suggest to me that 

now is the time for the city to consider some radical changes from what we’ve done in 

the past, even though it has served us well to date. I don’t know that it’s a fair comparison 

to look at 135th Street to the west. My sense is that, while there is infrastructure and 

buildings, I don’t know how economically viable a lot of those developments to the west 

of Nall are. In some ways, it may not be much different than Mr. Petersen’s reference to 

Villaggio. That remains to be seen. I’m about to a point in my own personal journey here 

with thinking that the city may need to rethink the approach to some of these things and 

perhaps, as Mr. Jeffries said, consider some sort of public-private partnership. That’s my 

observation from watching all these years and seeing plan after plan. We’ve seen this, 
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and I don’t know that we’ve seen a whole lot of change in the plan. I don’t know of the 

most recent plan for 135th Street encouraged or discouraged Mr. Petersen’s clients from 

moving forward, but there still seem to be obstacles in the way of successful 

development. Maybe there’s a developer right around the corner. It is concerning that 

we’ve tried the old ways for so long and just haven’t seemed to make much progress. 

Other comments? 

 

Comm. Stevens:  I think it’s supportive of this development the way it has come together 

and has been designed with the distribution of uses, especially the phasing, which makes 

a lot of sense, assessing the phases with the infrastructure as they are needed. It is 

interesting to do Phase One and that infrastructure that’s part of it and that none of that 

really affects these two improvements of widening the lanes or burying the power across 

135th. I know it’s not part of what the ordinance calls for because it’s one development, 

and once it has started, the frontage should be improved on 135th. It could be a way to 

also phase that improvement. I guess kicking off Phase Four and then Phase Five, when 

the real need for those improvements along 135th. Phase One and even Phase Two and 

Phase Three really aren’t part of these last two items that we’re debating over. It’s an 

interesting way of looking at this development and how it’s come together that it seems 

like that could even be a possibility to attach those improvements to the later phases.  

 

Comm. Block:  I had a similar thought through this process as well. What’s before us 

tonight is just to not do the power lanes or the third lane at all. If you kick it to Phases 

Four and Five, that development becomes unattainable for sure. I don’t think we can 

deviate, and I don’t want to deviate as a Leawood resident with what the Governing Body 

has done with Mission to bury power lines. It’s important to the Governing Body and to 

us as residents. Maybe the solution is the escrow. If 50% because it’s a master 

development goes into escrow, when the other developments kick off, they put in the 

other half. This portion of the development then puts in the fair share so it’s there when 

it’s needed.  

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I sort of like that idea. I was thinking the same thing. There’s a timing 

issue in all of this that isn’t quite gelling, especially with the additional lane on 135th 

Street. It seems a little out of proportion to the first phase of the project. I don’t know 

because I don’t understand exactly where all the digging is going to have to happen for 

various things to occur, but in the past, a lot of the logic of doing infrastructure 

throughout the city is if you’re digging up the street to do one thing, you go ahead and do 

everything that could be done while the street is dug up. At the point where 135th Street 

has to be dug into for one reason or another, that would be the time to bury the power 

lines.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  I had a real problem with putting the burden of the third lane on the 

developer when the traffic study has determined that it is not needed for some time. On 

top of that, there’s the additional turning lanes. I kind of view that as overkill. I don’t 

know how we could modify that or suggest modifying it. The biggest problem I had was 

with requiring the developer to pay for that third lane. I don’t know how often you go 

down 135th, but there’s really not a traffic problem because there’s nothing around there. 
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The other issue I have is putting the burden of burying the existing power lines, 

especially transmission lines, on the developer. There should be some way to work with 

the city or the county to do that, which is what is happening on Mission Road from 119th 

to 127th. The city is only paying for part of that. The county is paying for part of it. Those 

are existing lines that have been there for 30 or 40 years. Those are my two main issues. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I guess the one point is that you need to remember that we 

are planning for 178 townhomes to go in there, and shortly after that, a commercial 

development. Presumably, that will draw more traffic. It may not justify the third lane for 

the entire way, but we need to consider the additional demand. I understand that the 

traffic study suggests that even with the burden of this development on 135th Street, it 

won’t justify that third lane until sometime near 2040, but it is certainly something for us 

to keep in mind.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  One thing that occurred to me, especially when the residential homes 

go in, in the final phases, is that it is going to clearly increase the traffic problem, but 

we’re only putting in a third lane eastbound, not westbound. There’s no one developing 

north of 135th, but all the burden for the third lane eastbound goes upon the applicant. 

What happens to the third lane if it’s required? Who’s going to finance that when it goes 

westbound? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Under the current program, it would fall to whoever develops that 

space along the north side of 135th.  

 

Comm. Block:  I live down that way, and it might not warrant that lane now, but I 

definitely think of rush hour, and 135th from Mission all the way to Wyandotte on the 

Missouri side is well traveled. This is a year and a half old. I assume not much has 

changed since then, but how much life span does a traffic study have? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We work with the traffic engineer upfront to try to calculate the 2040 counts. 

It’s not like they look at what’s going to happen in 2025, 2030, until they come to the 

magic number that it is going to be warranted. We’re looking at full buildout in 2040, so 

that’s when everything around the full area is completely developed. If that occurs in 

2030, that lane is warranted in 2030. It’s just an estimate. In 2030, we’ll be looking at 

2050 traffic models, and that is a full buildout. As far as the counts, they’re typically 

good for a couple years, so it depends on the growth and how much new development is 

occurring in Overland Park and also into Missouri. If a new development comes in, in a 

year, they would be required to do new traffic counts and project those future accounts. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think we’re ready to discuss this. I think the way I would like to 

approach it is take it in four different pieces. I’d like the commission to weight in by vote 

how we feel about the phasing for both the development of the residential space and the 

phasing of the infrastructure as one item. I’d like to take the escrow of the traffic light as 

a second item and then the relief to the developer for the burying of the power lines as the 

third. Then, as a fourth, the relief for the widening of the lanes on 135th Street. I think I 
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know how those will go out, but once we’ve gone through those exercises, we’ll see how 

we stand for the plan in total.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Would it be possible to take a five-minute break? 

 

Five-minute recess 

 

Chairman Elkins:  As I indicated prior to our break, my plan is to take up each of the four 

issues individually and then see where we are with respect to the overall plan and perhaps 

vote on the plan in its total, based on the outcome of those four issues. We’ll see how it 

goes as to whether we need to take each stipulation individually when the time comes. Do 

I hear a motion with respect to the issue of the stipulations relating to the phasing of the 

residential space and the infrastructure going along with it. 

 

A motion to approve the stipulations with regard to phasing, including No 19 – was 

made by Coleman. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll take it up as an overall issue with the idea that staff can make 

conforming changes to the case. 

 

Motion seconded by Hoyt. 
 

Chairman Elkins:  Discussion on the motion related to phasing of the residential and 

infrastructure. 

 

Motion carried with a with a unanimous vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, 

Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The second issue relates to the escrow for the traffic signal proposed in 

the plan. Is there a motion relative to the idea of the relief requested by the applicant, 

relative to the escrow for that stoplight? 

 

A motion to approve the requested escrow relief with the additional provision added 

that the city would have the option to call for the money at its discretion if it has 

evidence that a shorter timeline is necessary – was made by Hoyt; seconded by 

Belzer. 
 

Chairman Elkins:  Any discussion? 

 

Comm. Block:  I’m going to vote no because I don’t think it’s a realistic ask. The 

developer is potentially going to be long gone. Once these 171 units or this first phase 

even is done, the developer has no responsibility. Then, it is on the homeowners, the 

HOA, and whatever that entity is that’s remaining. This developer is going to sell and 

move on to the next thing. I don’t think there’s any going back in 6-7 years and getting it. 

It’s either now or we release them. 
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Chairman Elkins:  You’re assuming the developer is going to abandon the commercial 

development and just not do it, despite the fact they have an approved plan for it? 

 

Comm. Block:  If I read the interact meeting notes correctly, they don’t have control over 

those other parcels for these other phases. My understanding is they don’t even own the 

land we’re talking about; it is just under contract. They don’t own all 57 acres.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I agree with Commissioner Block. When it comes to getting funds for 

escrow, there’s a reason they’re upfront. There are too many downsides, and I don’t feel 

comfortable with splitting that cost up.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  Can we ask for an answer to that? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think we’re probably past that point. Commissioner Hunter, I’d 

welcome your thoughts on the subject. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  Do we have the authority to approve how money is held by the city for 

that use?  

 

Chairman Elkins:  I don’t know the answer to that question. The issue we’re dealing with 

here is if we have the authority to insist on the applicant putting money into escrow, 

which is a slightly different question.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Isn’t it also our recommendation to Governing Body for them to take 

into consideration? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes, it is a recommendation. 

 

Comm. Peterson:  We’re not necessarily saying it’s written as law; this is our 

recommendation to Governing Body for their consideration.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  It strikes me that the need for the stoplight will probably be triggered 

more by the commercial development than the residential. If it’s not this developer that 

develops the residential space, that would be the appropriate place for the escrow. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Is it fair to say that in the phasing concept that included the phasing 

of the infrastructure, we’ve already answered the point that we would assume the light 

would come later anyway and the question now is all about the escrow? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Yes. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  Could we recommend that we tie the escrow to the traffic light at the 

time of Phase Five? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We could, but there’s a pending motion to not do so. 
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Comm. Block:  Mr. Petersen agreed that 50% of the cost was theirs; he just doesn’t want 

to pay today. The 171 units are causing half of the impact that is going to require that 

traffic signal is how I understood what he’s saying. He is saying he wants to put the 

money in closer to when it’s going to trigger the need. I think if we don’t get it in the 

bank today, I don’t think we’re going to get it.  

 

Comm. Peterson:  Related to the phasing, I have a suggestion. We have five phases. 

Phase One is the main area of the duplexes. Phase Two is basically the community 

swimming pool, etc. Phase Three begins the northern portion. Regarding the traffic 

signal, Phases 1-3 are more than 50% of the total land area, but not necessarily traffic. 

The stoplight in question and potentially the triggering of the escrow could perhaps be 

triggered at the beginning of Phase Three versus Phases Four or Five. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It is certainly something to consider, but we have a motion pending. 

We’ll dispose of that and move forward how we think it’s appropriate. 

 

Motion withdrawn by Comm. Hoyt; second withdrawn by Belzer.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does Commissioner Peterson have a motion? It doesn’t have to be tied 

to a particular stipulation 

 

A motion to recommend that the escrow is triggered according to the 50% schedule 

as outlined in the applicant’s response at the beginning of Phase Three of the 

project, as outlined in Sheet A, dated December 20th – was made by Peterson; 

seconded by McGurren.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Discussion on Commissioner Peterson’s motion? 

 

Comm. Block:  I have the same concerns. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I don’t know about amending this motion again, but I believe it’s at 

Phase Four and not Phase Three where the impact would occur and where the breaking of 

the median would take place. 

 

Motion amended to change “Phase Three” to “Phase Four” by Peterson; seconded 

by McGurren.  

 

Comm. McGurren:  I agree with Commissioner Block. If it is at Phase Three when villas 

are still to be built, it is doable and likely; if it is at Phase Four or Phase Five, it is 

unlikely. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other discussion? 

 

Motion did not carry with a vote of 3-5. For: Stevens, Peterson, and Belzer. 

Opposed: McGurren, Hunter, Hoyt, Coleman, Block. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Where does that leave us on the stoplight? It leaves us with no relief 

on the stoplight. Let’s move to the question of the buried utilities. Is there a motion on the 

applicant’s request for relief from the obligation to bury the utilities? It could be that we 

don’t recommend the relief. 

 

A motion to recommend the city and the developer work out a plan through which 

there may be some relief associated with burying the power lines, but if it does not 

come, the exemption of cost associated with burying the power lines would be denied 

– was made by McGurren; seconded by Peterson. Motion with a vote of 5-4, 

including an affirmative vote from the chairman. For: McGurren, Belzer, Hoyt, 

Peterson, and Elkins. Opposed: Hunter, Stevens, Block, and Coleman. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll go to the last of the major issues raised by this application, 

which relates to the relief requested by the applicant from the city’s proposed obligation 

to provide a third lane on 135th Street, eastbound. 

 

A motion to recommend that 50% of the escrow for the third lane until Phase 4 

begins, and the developer of the fourth and fifth phase would be responsible for the 

remainder – was made by Block. 

 

Comm. McGurren:  Just to clarify, it would be 50% when Phase One begins; 50% when 

Phase Four begins. 

 

Comm. Block:  I think the other 50% would be borne by whoever develops Phases Four 

and Five. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  50%? 

 

Comm. Block:  We were discussing the conundrum of potentially different ownership. I 

might be wrong, but that’s what I thought I read. When that final portion begins, I 

understand it’s a Master Plan submission to us. They’re asking to be totally relieved of 

this responsibility; I’m saying they should come halfway. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  Wasn’t it $485,000, so it would be half of that? 

 

Comm. Block:  Yes. 

 

Motion seconded by Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Is there discussion? 

 

Motion carried with a vote of 7-1. For: Peterson, Stevens, Block, Coleman, Belzer, 

Hoyt, McGurren. Opposed: Hunter. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to the overall plan that was presented to us. My 

perspective on what I’ve heard is that the plan as presented by the applicant has portions 
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we are unwilling to recommend to the Governing Body for approval. That should drive 

your recommendation to the plan. The motion could be either a recommendation for the 

plan to be approved or denied in total. 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  As we either deny or endorse the proposal in its entirety, does there not 

need to be some reference to those other votes we just took? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Those are in our record. We’ve got to do one or the other. 

 

A motion to recommend denial of CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH – 

MIXED USE AND MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval of 

a Revised Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road 

– was made by Hoyt; seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a unanimous 

vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, Stevens, and 

Peterson. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Thank you for your time. That was hard work, and the commentary was 

rich and will be useful as we move forward. 

 

CASE 06-20 – 2019 ANNUAL UPDATE TO THE CITY OF LEAWOOD 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – Request for approval of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 06-20 – Annual Update to the City of Leawood 

Comprehensive Plan for 2019. As the Planning Commission may remember, there was a 

work session held on November 12, 2019. At that meeting, staff presented some changes 

to the Comprehensive Plan Map, and I would like to refresh the Planning Commission on 

those changes. 

 (Refers to plan diagrams) The first change to the map was at 9609 Lee Boulevard, 

which is the Fire Station in North Leawood. The city recently purchased that property to 

the south, and what the Comprehensive Plan is showing is that land that had previously 

been purchased to be shown as public use for the future of the area that will soon be 

redeveloped. The second change that staff made is to a property on 133rd and Mission 

Road, currently, the location of the Kleinwood building. Previously, it had been shown as 

mixed use. Being that the property is already developed and has been for several years 

now, we just want to reflect what is existing on the property, which is office. Also on 

135th Street and Kenneth Road, we had redone the alignment of the road per the previous 

Preliminary Plan that was approved, and now this plan that just went through. We 

updated the future roads and the road alignment with what was previously approved and 

the zoning as well. The zoning changed from MX-D to show the current zoning they got 

approved. On 137th and Kenneth, just east of the development we talked about is a small 

triangular piece, and it just made more sense as an office use. Another change would be 

at 151st and Mission Road to update some of the streets that have already been 



 
Regular Meeting 

THE LEAWOOD CITY COUNCIL 
July 20, 2020  

Minutes Excerpt 
 

The City Council of the City of Leawood, Kansas, met in regular session in the 
Council Chambers, 4800 Town Center Drive, 7:30 P.M. on Monday, July 20, 
2020. Mayor Peggy Dunn presided.  
 
 
Councilmembers present: Julie Cain, Chuck Sipple, Jim Rawlings, Mary Larson and James 
Azeltine.  
 
Councilmembers present via Zoom: Debra Filla, Andrew Osman and Lisa Harrison.  
 
Councilmembers Absent: none 
 
Staff present: Scott Lambers, City Administrator  Patty Bennett, City Attorney  
  Dawn Long, Finance Director  Mark Tepesch, IT Specialist III  
  Chief Troy Rettig, Police Department Colin Fitzgerald, Fire Chief  
  Chris Claxton, Parks and Rec Director Nic Sanders, HR Director  
  David Ley, Public Works Director  Kelly Varner, City Clerk 
    
Staff present via Zoom: Richard Coleman, Planning Director 
 
Others present via Zoom: John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, Rick Lashbrook, Lashbrook 

Company, Mary Tinkler and Scott Keller, KBS III Park Place Village LLC 
representatives.  

 
12. PLANNING COMMISSION  
[From the January 28, 2020 Planning Commission Meeting]  
 Ordinance approving Planning Commission’s recommendation of denial of request 

for Revised Preliminary Plan for a Mixed Use and Medium Density Residential 
Development, located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road (PC Case 
04-20) [ROLL-CALL VOTE] [Continued from May 4, 2020, May 18, 2020, June 
1, 2020, June 15, 2020 and July 6, 2020 Governing Body Meetings]  (PC) 

 
City Administrator Scott Lambers stated that he had sent an email recapping the conversations 
between the City and the application’s representative, Mr. Petersen. He indicated they were not 
able to come to a mutually agreeable solution to the issue; therefore, there is an approved 
Preliminary Plan that calls for the third lane of 135th Street to be installed and for the power lines 
to be buried. The Revised Preliminary Plan on the dais removes those stipulations. Any and all 
conversations with regard to trying to reach a compromise are now off the table. The final 



communication from the applicant was that the client wished to discuss the issue directly with the 
Governing Body. 
 
Councilmember Harrison stated that she was under the impression that there would be a work 
session to learn about finance options available with hopes that some of those options could be 
used in this case. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that a work session was scheduled to review the current economic 
development policies. Each will be reviewed, and he will also identify economic incentives that 
currently do not have policies, which would include property tax abatement. After that meeting, 
City Council will give guidance as to next steps. These polices are old, and there may be some 
desire to modify them to reflect trends in today’s market. That would most likely be included in a 
subsequent meeting based on guidance offered. 
 
Councilmember Cain asked for clarification of what was tabled and what was being presented 
currently. 
 
Mr. Lambers confirmed that the proposed changes from the twin villas to the quadplexes was not 
being considered, and it could be remanded back to the Planning Commission to discuss details.  
 
Mayor Dunn asked for applicant comments.  
 
John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, appeared and reviewed the proposed project. He reviewed that 
on July 6th, he presented a three-step proposal, covering the villas and the vertical mixed-use 
building on 135th Street with the parking structure. The cost of $2.1 million would become due 
when the Mixed-Use Development (MXD) began. He worked with Mr. Lambers and the Finance 
Department to deliver the other $7.5 million of public streets that would support the villas and, in 
part, the townhomes. He pointed out that the costs are not necessary to support the project from 
the perspective of traffic safety, capacity, ingress, and egress. He felt that it was more necessary 
for the City at large. He pointed out what he felt to be two fundamental influencers on consideration 
of the proposal, including the applicant’s initial agreement to do the $2.1 million in improvements. 
He pointed out that these issues were always points of contention for the applicant, but it became 
a condition for approval. The idea was put in the infrastructure and then find a mixed-use multi-
family developer that has done vertical development, sell the property and get an immediate return 
on investment. Many developers in the area who have done vertical development entered into 
discussions but could not get rates high enough to build parking and also take on costs. Other 
developers were consulted, but they requested land in the deal, which changed the look of the 
financing. The other influencer was that the developer could lower the price on the land. The 
landowner has contributed to the costs of public improvements, and the land is also a lower value 
than it would be if it were in a different location. He pointed out that he would like to go back to 
the Planning Commission to get the townhome concept in place. There is consensus on Special 
Benefit District (SBD) financing for the roads that have to be done to support the villas and 
townhomes at $7.5 million, which is about 16% of the cost. The developer then offered $700,000 
toward the $2.1 million, which included higher equity and lower land costs. In discussions with 
Mr. Lambers, the $700,000 contribution needed to be increased to $1.1 million. He asked for the 
City to invest in the project to help make up the difference between the $700,000 and $1.1 million. 



He stated that private capital invested in the project will be $109 million with property taxes of 
$22,106.10 split between all the different tax jurisdictions. The City’s share of the yearly property 
tax off the site today is $165.62. With the completed project, the yearly property tax paid is 
projected to be $1.59 million per year with the City’s share being $310,963 per year. Ten-year 
projections are $106,000 for vacant ground. City of Leawood would collect $828.10; completed 
project would product $16,724,000. City of Leawood would collect $3,253,000. Nearly half of the 
$16 million would go to schools. The day the building permit is pulled, the City receives $1.1 
million for the 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee. 
 
He requested Industrial Revenue Bonds (IRB), which the Kansas Department of Revenue states 
are the most popular and cost-effective methods of financing. They include the benefit of 
exemption for labor and materials purchased as part of construction. He estimated that the tax 
exemption would impact Leawood by approximately $100,000. The balance of the benefit comes 
from the state not collecting sales tax. He pointed out MXD developments in other cities have all 
been built with incentives and sales tax exemptions. He addressed the concept of precedent by 
suggesting developing a policy that incents targeted projects that pay for improvements that affect 
the City and that allows for consideration on a case-by-case basis. He asked to take the townhome 
concept back the Planning Commission for review and direct staff to prepare a development 
agreement to address the benefit district financing, sales tax exemption, and contractual obligations 
of the Impact Fees. 
 
Mayor Dunn asked what the duration would be for the IRB. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that to get an exemption, the property has to be momentarily owned by the 
City through a lease and a lease back. Once building materials are purchased, the bonds are retired.  
 
Mr. Lambers stated that the City went through the Capital Improvement District (CID) process 
carefully to establish the policy itself. As part of that, the road work was considered. What was 
agreed upon was that the applicant would need a Preliminary Plan and Rezoning if necessary. Once 
those were approved, the applicant would file a Final Plan and a plan for financial incentives. Right 
now, this conversation is not correct procedurally. If the applicant would like to return to the 
Planning Commission to discuss the quadplexes, it would be appropriate. The conversation about 
IRB needs to happen with City Council. Stipulations need to be considered the responsibility of 
the developer and would remain in place. If the City provides financing for any part of the project, 
it would occur in the second phase. In terms of IRBs, there are a few problems. The applicant has 
to own 80% of the building, which is not Mr. Lashbrook’s intent. IRBs are intended to create jobs, 
which would be the secondary benefit to granting any financial incentives. Leawood also does not 
allow IRBs for single buildings. The stipulations would need to remain with the plan. City Council 
would add them to the plan and then remand it to the Planning Commission, then it would come 
back, all of which maintains the integrity of the planning process.  
 
Mayor Dunn confirmed it would still be a Revised Preliminary Plan and that the incentive 
conversation would occur during the Final Plan. 
 
Mr. Lambers affirmed that the Final Plan comes under consideration at the same time as 
consideration of financial incentives.  



 
Councilmember Sipple asked who would amortize the SBD debt being used as payment for the 
internal streets. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that part of it will be laid off on villa owners, but only so much can be handled 
that way or the lots won’t sell. That is why the SBD is a benefit for only 16% of the cost. The rest 
will be privately financed debt and equity. 
 
Mr. Lambers stated that the financing discussion is not part of the planning process. The question 
was not appropriate because it is part of the development agreement. 
 
Mr. Petersen stated that the approach is difficult because a developer must go to the Final Plan 
stage at $400,000-$500,000 of engineering costs to find out if the deal is feasible. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that Mr. Petersen agreed to it when it was established as a practice. 
 
Mr. Petersen stated that he understood the difference between zoning and land use review and 
approval. He asked why an investment package couldn’t be considered.  
 
Mayor Dunn pointed out that financing was discussed in the last meeting; it is the suggestion of 
the IRB that conflicts with the planning process.  
 
Mr. Lambers reiterated that the Preliminary Plan is supposed to give a good perspective of what 
will be built. When the application for Final Plan and the financial requests are considered, they 
match up with one another. He expressed concern about the statement that the Preliminary Plan 
was subject to changed due to the developer’s wishes. The idea is that negotiations occur during 
Preliminary Plan consideration, and the Final Plan should be substantially compliant with the 
Preliminary Plan. He asked that the project be remanded back to the Planning Commission for 
review of the quadplexes, at which time it can return for Governing Body consideration. After that 
is approved, financing can be discussed. The body likes the plan; the only objection is about the 
financing. He suggested that Mr. Petersen should review the December 3, 2019 City Council 
minutes, where the power lines and the third lane were not part of the objections and that Mr. 
Petersen extolled the virtue of the third lane and burying the power lines being part of the 
Certificate of Occupancy for the first villa.  
 
Mr. Petersen stated that Leawood has a planning document that speaks to many financing issues. 
He asked to reduce the stipulations to a maximum contribution on the stipulations that speak to 
burying power lines of $1.1 million.  
 
Mr. Lambers asked what his estimate of the sales tax exemption savings to the developer was. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that it is between $1 and $1.3 million, but there are other costs. 
 
Mr. Lambers asked about the difference of $200,000. 
 



Mr. Petersen replied that it accounts for bond fees. He stated that it is a $32 million building with 
approximately 40-50% being building materials. 
 
Mr. Lambers asked if the developer would give $1.1 million and receive $1.2 million. 
 
Mr. Petersen stated that there are other calculations. 
 
Councilmember Azeltine was in favor of remanding the issue back to the Planning Commission 
but wanted to add in stipulations regarding road improvements. He stated that it seemed that the 
developer wanted to the do the residential portion and then would seek the IRB at the time the 
MXD portion begins. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that was correct.  
 
Councilmember Azeltine expressed concern because if the MXD portion is not completed, the 
street improvements are also on hold. Because an IRB has never been done in Leawood, it will 
require a deep conversation. The discussion of financing will be concurrent with the Final Plan 
discussion, as it has been in the past with other financing vehicles.  
 
Mr. Petersen stated that the payment for the third lane and/or power lines tied to the commercial 
development was at the suggestion of staff as an offer of negotiation and probably the only 
practical way to do it.  
 
Mr. Lambers disagreed and said that there was not a statement about when the payment would be 
due; it was an Impact Fee for the entire project. He was willing to consider two payments: one at 
the beginning and another later in the process. His proposal was two payments totaling $600,000 
for streets and $500,000 for burying power lines and included the developer making a payment 
related to the project and not going toward anything else. 
 
Mr. Petersen asked when the payments would occur. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that one would be at the time of the first Certificate of Occupancy, and the 
other would be at the time of Certificate of Occupancy for the MXD building.  
 
Mr. Petersen replied that he misunderstood the communication about the matter. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that it could still be discussed at the appropriate time.  
 
Councilmember Azeltine pointed out that the proposal reduces the City’s risk. 
 
Mr. Lambers reiterated that it would be part of the development agreement, along with the SBD 
and everything else. Another part of the discussion was using temporary financing.  
 
Councilmember Harrison thanked Mr. Petersen for sharing property tax numbers. She asked who 
paid for the streets when JC Nichols built Waterford. 
 



Mr. Petersen replied that there was probably not a collector street but that the developer probably 
didn’t pay anything for Mission Road, which was left unimproved even though it was most likely 
on the Capital Improvement Plan to be widened at some point. 
 
Councilmember Harrison asked if the developer traditionally pays for the internal streets. 
 
Mr. Petersen confirmed that is the case, and it is what the developer is planning for the current 
proposal. 
 
Councilmember Harrison asked if that was the $7.5 million. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that it is part of the $7.5 million because 137th Street is included as well. 
 
Councilmember Harrison asked if there was only one mixed-use building and which one it was on 
the plan. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that Buildings A, B, C, and D are MXD. 
 
Councilmember Harrison asked if the remainder of the financing would come to the City when 
Buildings A, B, C, and D begin construction. 
 
Mr. Petersen confirmed that it would. 
 
Councilmember Osman stated that Mr. Petersen did a good job of explaining the points that a 
developer goes through and some of the financial ramifications for both the developer and the 
City; however, he thought the efforts to compromise were in good faith, but it is a difficult process. 
An IRB is a new tool, so the understanding is new as well. He agreed that the plan should be 
remanded to the Planning Commission and that the Councilmembers could learn more about the 
tools before discussing a policy that includes them. He understood that time could be an issue, but 
he felt it was important to allow the Councilmembers to fully understand the new financing option. 
 
Councilmember Filla asked if there was a commitment to if/when the mixed-use development 
would occur. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that the market would decide that, but if it’s not built, there is no incentive.  
 
Councilmember Filla asked if the villas would be in the $700,000-$750,000 range. 
 
Mr. Petersen replied that it was more like $600,000-$650,000, and the townhomes are in the 
$450,000 range.  
 
Councilmember Filla stated that she didn’t remember a presentation where sales tax and revenue 
that came to the City and schools served as justification for the development. She didn’t remember 
using SBD for streets, either. The IRB and tax abatement are new. She wondered if, because of all 
the compromising and subsidizing, is it not the right time for the development. She expressed 
concern about office use in the future and that the housing market price that Leawood needs is 



lower than that. She did not like the idea of a tax abatement or SBD fees passed on to homeowners. 
She stated that the pandemic has the potential to change how people live, how people drive, and 
where people work.  
 
Councilmember Cain stated that the project was fully supported with an override of the Planning 
Commission and staff recommendations. She didn’t know if the Planning Commission could 
approve the project if it goes back if something contradicts the LDO. She also talked about utilizing 
the IRB and how the developer gets back the $1.1 million but the City does not get anything back. 
She encouraged considering employing the IRB on the entire amount and dividing the 
responsibility for the remainder of the funding between the developer and the City. She expressed 
frustration with the project being approved based on the developer’s agreement to stipulations but 
then the developer now changing their position. She still supports the development. 
 
Mayor Dunn stated that the Planning Commission’s last denial had no objection to the proposed 
phasing, and neither is the Governing Body. They got into deep discussion about who would pay 
for the signal, the third lane, and the burial of the power lines. They knew it was not their charge 
to decide, so they split the requests into four parts and voted on individual motions. The overall 
motion was to deny. She assumed the finance discussions would not occur with a remand, but she 
didn’t know for sure. She asked Mr. Lambers if the phasing needed to be discussed with the 
stipulations being added back in. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that it did not need to be done, as the applicant would come with a proposal. 
He felt it was important to distinguish between a stipulation that costs the developer versus 
financial incentives from the Governing Body; the Planning Commission has no role in that. 
 
Mayor Dunn stated that everyone is fine with the phasing. 
 
A motion to remand Case 04-2020 – 135th Street and Kenneth Road – Mixed Use Medium 
Density Residential – Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan – with the addition 
of Stipulations dealing with public improvements to 135th and Kenneth and the burying of 
power lines back to the Planning Commission was made by Councilmember Azeltine. 
 
Ms. Bennett pointed out that the stipulations are still included. 
 
Mr. Lambers stated that the application was revised to remove the stipulations. 
 
Mr. Petersen stated that he asked for them to be removed but that the application was not made 
regarding that. He stated that he asked the Planning Commission to modify the stipulations that 
dealt with financing. 
 
Councilmember Azeltine stated that it includes Impact Fees and the improvements to 135th Street. 
 
Councilmember Cain points out that the applicant asks for the change in the approved Preliminary 
Plan to delete Stipulation No. 4. 
 
Mayor Dunn pointed out that the townhomes were not part of either one. 



 
Councilmember Azeltine stated that the same application that the Planning Commission denied is 
remanded back. 
 
Mayor Dunn stated that it now includes the townhome discussion. 
 
Ms. Bennett stated that it should be remanded to consider the townhomes, phasing, and perhaps 
ask for a partial approval that addresses phasing and townhomes while denying the parts of the 
application that deal with the streets and power lines. 
 
Mayor Dunn stated that planning staff needs to look at the townhomes. 
 
Mr. Lambers stated that it should be able to be remanded to the August meeting, and it would come 
back to City Council the second meeting of September.  
 
The motion to remand was amended to include the phasing and the townhomes by 
Councilmember Azeltine, seconded by Councilmember Filla. 
 
Councilmember Cain asked if the entire proposal, including the desire to delete stipulations, would 
be remanded. 
 
Councilmember Azeltine pointed out it is just their desire and that the stipulations are still included. 
 
Mayor Dunn stated that a denied Preliminary Plan that has been modified is what is being 
remanded. She asked if it requires a simple majority if it is denied a second time. 
 
Mr. Lambers replied that anything that comes back requires a simple majority and that the 
argument is that the change is not substantial, which is why it can be remanded. 
 
Councilmember Cain replied that the case hasn’t been reviewed since January. 
 
Ms. Bennett pointed out that they will have minutes to review, which will make clear that they are 
not being asked to reconsider their decision based on the stipulations for the road construction and 
the burying of the power lines; rather, they are being asked to consider the phasing and the 
townhomes.  
 
Mayor Dunn suggested that Ms. Bennett attend the Planning Commission meeting. She asked for 
additional discussion. 
 
Motion was approved with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:   July 28, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:  July 17, 2020 
 

CAMERON’S COURT - REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REZONING FROM AG (AGRICULTURAL) 
and SD-O (PLANNED OFFICE) TO RP-2 (PLANNED CLUSTER RESIDENTIAL DETACHED) and MXD 
(Mixed Use District), PRELIMINARY PLAN, AND PRELIMINARY PLAT - Located south of 133rd Street 
and west of State Line Road - Case 49-20    **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff is not supportive of the application as submitted, as it does not meet the requirements of either the 
Comprehensive Plan, which formally incorporated the 135th Street Community Plan in 2014, or the 
Leawood Development Ordinance, as outlined below. Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny 
Case 49-20, Cameron’s Court – request for approval of a Rezoning, Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Rick Oddo with Oddo Development Company, Inc. 

 The properties are owned by Vic Regnier with Vic Regnier Builders, Inc. 

 The engineer is Jeffrey Skidmore with Schlagel Associates 

 The architect is Henry Klover with Klover Architects, Inc. 

 The landscape architect is Daniel Foster with Schlagel Associates 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Rezoning, Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat. 

 The site is located south of 133rd Street and east of State Line Road for a total of 116.47 acres.  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Rezoning from AG (Agricultural District) and SD-O (Planned 
Office) to RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached Residential District (6,000 sq. ft. per dwelling unit)), 
Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plat for the Cameron’s Court development, which includes, but not 
limited to, the following: 

 56 single family lots within the RP-2 zoned portion of the development 

 662 multi-family dwelling units  

 404,864 Sq. Ft. of retail/office 

 66,472 Sq. Ft. hotel 

 The applicant is requesting to phase the development into four phases. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
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ZONING: 

 The properties are currently zoned AG and SD-O. 

 
 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:  

 North To the north of the proposed project, across 133rd Street, include Wilshire Place (RP-1) 
and Greenbrier (R-1) residential subdivision, Enclave at Cedar Pointe subdivision (RP-2), 
and Village of Seville Commercial Development (SD-CR).  

 South To the south of the proposed project, across 135th Street, includes the Lord of Life Church 
(SD-O), Chadwick Place (SD-NCR and SD-O) commercial development, and undeveloped 
land (RP-3, MXD, and SD-CR).  

 East Directly to the east of the proposed development, across State Line Road, is a commercial 
development within Kansas City, Missouri.   

 West To the west of the proposed development, across Pawnee Lane, is the Market Square 
commercial development (SD-CR).  

 
LOCATION: 
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PHASING: 

 Below is a diagram showing the phasing of the development: 

 
 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The development is bordered on the north by 133rd street, on the east by State Line Road, on the south 
by 135th Street, and to the west by Pawnee Lane. This application does not include the Covenant 
Chapel property, located south of 133rd Street and west of the proposed Kenneth Road. 

 High Drive is proposed to be constructed with this development. It is to be located between the RP-2 
zoning district and Tract A, and the western boundary of Tract B, and will run through the development, 
going north to south. 

 Along with the RP-2 zoned area, the applicant is also proposing an MXD portion of the development 
with a total of 1,308,468 Sq. Ft. of building area on 97.4 acres for an F.A.R. of 0.249 with a 25% 
residential discount, allowed per the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-2-6.4 (G).  

 Existing power lines are located on the eastern common property line of the development (west side 
of State Line Road). 

 All private internal streets/drives will be built to public street standards and will have to meet all 
requirements per the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-8-3.2. 

 Five foot wide sidewalks are proposed with all sidewalks interior to the sites, with seven foot wide 
sidewalks near abutting head-in parking areas, and eight foot wide sidewalks at storefronts. The 
development will also include a 10’ tree lawn between the sidewalk and back of curb of the street. 
Approximately 3’ of sidewalk will be constructed within a 4’ sidewalk easement. 

 Other than the RP-2 portion of the development, the other phases of the development are proposed 
within separate tracts including; Tract A, Tract B, and Tract C. 

 
Below is a list of Site Plan Comments for each phase of the development: 

 
RP-2 

 This portion of the development bound by Pawnee Lane on the west, 133rd Street on the north, High 
Drive on the east, and Tract A of the development on the south. 

 The applicant is proposing to rezone this portion of the project to RP-2 with 56 single family residential 
lots on 13.36 acres, for a density of 4.19 dwelling units per acre (average lot size of 10,0387.14 Sq. 
Ft.). 
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 Two main entrances into this phase are off of 133rd Street with two cul-de-sacs at the eastern and 
western ends of the phase. 

 
 
Tract A (Phase 3) 

 Tract A is bound by Pawnee Lane on the west, 135th Street on the south, High Drive on the east, and 
Phase 1 on the north. 

 Tract A is proposed to be zoned MXD, consisting of 27 multifamily residential buildings, a 142 Sq. Ft. 
maintenance building, and an 8,500 Sq. Ft. club house for a total of 340 residential units proposed with 
this phase. 

 The main entrance into the tract is off of 135th Street with two other entrances off of Pawnee Lane and 
High Drive. 

 Four ponds are located within this portion of the development, along with a 20,000 Sq. Ft. park area, 
a dog park, and a sidewalk connection that runs the length of the development from Pawnee Lane to 
High Drive. 

 The internal drive within this tract is proposed to be privately owned and gated.  

 Portions of the parking are located within the building, while the rest of the parking is located on the 
surface. 

 
Tract B (Phase 2) 

 Tract B is bound by High Drive on the west, 133rd Street on the north, 135th Street on the south, and 
portion of Kenneth Road and the western property of Covenant Chapel on the east. 

 Tract B is proposed to be zoned MXD, consisting of 7 multifamily residential buildings and an 8,500 
Sq. Ft. club house for a total of 322 residential units are proposed with this phase. 

 Two entrances are located off of High Drive, with a third entrance located from an access point shared 
by the commercial/office portion of the development. An “Emergency Access Only” drive is also 
proposed along the north side of the Tract, to be accessed from 133rd Street. 

 Two ponds are located within this tract, along with a retention pond at the southeast corner. In addition 
to the ponds, this phase will include a dog park, a 71,000 Sq. Ft. community park, and a 142 Sq. Ft.  
maintenance building. 

 The internal drives within the tract are proposed to be privately owned and gated. 

 Portions of the parking are located within accessory structures, with the rest of the parking to be surface 
parking. 

 An existing stream is located along the eastern property line of the tract. 

 Multiple retaining walls are proposed, with heights ranging in maximum heights from 5’ to 10’ in height. 
 

Tract C (Phase 4) 

 Tract C is bound the Covenant Chapel eastern property line on the west, 133rd Street on the north, 
State Line Road on the east, and 135th Street on the south. 

 Tract C is proposed to be zoned MXD, consisting of 17 buildings with a mix of retail and office uses for 
a total of 474,936 Sq. Ft. of building area is proposed to be constructed in this phase. 

 A hotel, and a gas station with a convenience store are uses that are shown to be located within this 
Tract. A special use permit is required for the hotel and gas station with a convenience store, which 
will be required prior to approval of Final Plan for this phase. 

 The main entrance to this tract is located off of State Line road. The main entrance will delineate the 
ingress and egress with a median.  
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 Two other entrances into the tract are located on 133rd street, along with three other entrances off of 
Kenneth Road. 

 A main drive goes through the tract, connecting Kenneth Road to 133rd Street. 

 All parking within this portion of the project is surface parking. 

 Retaining walls are located within this tract, ranging in maximum heights from 5’ to 16’. 

 In between building T and U is a 24,000 Sq. Ft. plaza area. In addition to the plaza area, a pocket park 
infiltration planter is located between building W and X, a retention pond at the northeast corner of 
135th Street and Kenneth Road, and detached and attached patios to a number of the buildings. 

 
PRELIMINARY PLAT: 

 The applicant is proposing 56 single family lots for the first phase of this development, with an average 
lot size of 10,387.14 Sq. Ft. The smallest lot size is 9,100 Sq. Ft., while the maximum is 22,635 Sq. Ft.  

 In addition to the 56 single family homes proposed in phase 1, three other tract areas are proposed 
with this project: 

*Approximate numbers calculated 
 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the RP-2 Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 30’ 30’ Complies 

Side Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Corner Lot Street Side 
Setback 

20’ 10’ Does Not Comply 

Rear Setback 20’ 20’ Complies 

Lot Sq.ft. Acres Description 

RP-2 581,962 13.36 Located at the southeast corner of Pawnee Lane and 
133rd Street. Will include 56 single family residential lots 

Tract A 1,410,037 32.37 Located at the northeast corner of Pawnee Lane and 
135th Street. To include 27 multifamily residential 
buildings. 

Tract B 912,582 20.95 Located at the northeast corner of High Drive and 135th 
Street. To include eight multifamily residential buildings.  

Tract C 1,593,860 36.59 Located at the northwest corner of 135th Street and 
Kenneth Road. To include 17 buildings with a mix of retail 
and office uses.  

Tract 1 105,798 2.42 Located along the eastern property line of Covenant 
Chapel 

Tract 2 77,101 1.77 Located at the southwest corner of the Commercial/Retail 
use development. 

Tract 3 46,609 1.07 Located along the eastern property line of the 
development on State Line Road. 

Tract 4 97,266 2.23 Located at the southeast corner of Tract B, just south of 
Covenant Chapel. 

ROW 248,218* 5.71 Right-of-Way dedicated for High Drive and commercial 
development entrance facing 135th Street 

Total 5,073,433* 116.47  
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Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Lot Size 6,000 Square Feet per 
dwelling unit 

10,395 Square Feet 
per dwelling unit 

Complies 

 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for each tract in the MXD Zoning 
District: 
 
Tract A 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking : 25’ 

Structure: 42’ 
Parking: 70’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Side Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking: 25’ 

Structure: 41’ 
Parking: 29’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Rear Setback Structure:40’ 
Parking:25’ 

Structure: 75’ 
Parking: 99’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Interior Setback Structure: 10’ 
Parking: 10’ 

Structure: 27’ 
Parking: N/A 

Complies 
Not Applicable 

Building Setback from 
Residential 

75’ 75’ Complies 

 
Tract B 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking : 25’ 

Structure: 62’ 
Parking: 25’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Side Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking: 25’ 

Structure: 40’ 
Parking: 30’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Rear Setback Structure:40’ 
Parking:25’ 

Structure: 45’ 
Parking: 82’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Interior Setback Structure: 10’ 
Parking: 10’ 

Structure: 43’ 
Parking: N/A 

Complies 
Not Applicable 

Building Setback from 
Residential 

75’ 85’ Complies 

 
Tract C 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking : 25’ 

Structure:40’ 
Parking: 40’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Side Setback Structure: 40’ 
Parking: 25’ 

Structure:40’ 
Parking: 70’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Rear Setback Structure:40’ 
Parking:25’ 

Structure: 40’ 
Parking: 85’ 

Complies 
Complies 

Interior Setback Structure: 10’ 
Parking: 10’ 

Structure: 35’ 
Parking: N/A 

Complies 
Not Applicable 

Building Setback from 
Residential 

75’ 260’ Complies 
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 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the entire MXD Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Minimum Acres 10 Acres 103.11 Acres Complies 

Floor Area Ratio .25 Maximum .249 Complies 

Height Limit 90’ 51’10” Complies 

Required Use Ratios 20% Residential 
10% Retail 
10% Office 

66.5% Residential 
11.9% Retail 
21.6% Office 

Complies 

Minimum Residential 
Unit Size 

900 Sq. Ft. for at least 
80% of the units with no 
less than 750 Sq. Ft. for 

all remaining units 

N/A Applicant has 
acknowledge 

Residential Density 15 Units Per Acre 6.80 Units Per Acre Complies 
 

PARKING: 

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, RP-2 zoned areas shall have 2 totally enclosed parking 
spaces per unit.  

 Within an MXD zoned area, the Leawood Development Ordinance requires 2 parking spaces per 
residential unit (1 totally enclosed) + 3.0 to 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 gross Square Feet of non-
residential space. 

 Section 16-4-5.4 (A) of the Leawood Development Ordinance allows for the applicant to modify the 
requirements of the parking ratios required per the Leawood Development Ordinance with a supporting 
traffic engineering/parking plan approved by the City.  

 The applicant is proposing a parking ratio of 1.46 parking space per residential unit for both Tract A 
and Tract B. A parking ratio of 3.0 parking spaces per 1,000 Sq. Ft. for the Tract C portion of the 
development for a total of 2,883 parking spaces within the MXD zoned portion of the application.  

 
LANDSCAPING:  

 Landscaping is reviewed and approved at the time of Final Plan. The applicant has provided a 
preliminary landscape plan. 

 An existing tree plan was requested by the Planning Department to be provided by the applicant. This 
plan shows the locations of all trees larger than 12” caliper inches. Per the Leawood Development 
Ordinance, all trees larger than 12” caliper shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper inch ratio.  

 When a development reaches a density of 132” per acre within their MXD zoning area, the site is 
allowed to replace 50% of their total calipers. The site does not meet this requirement at a density of 
49.62 Caliper Inches per Acre. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 Lighting is reviewed and approved at the time of Final Plan. 
 
SIGNAGE:  

 No signage is approved with this application. All signage will be reviewed at the time of Final Plan.  

 At the time of Final Plan for any portion of the MXD zoned area, Design Guidelines will be required for 
the entirety of the development, which must include a section on signage.  
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REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 Per the Leawood Development 16-2-6.4(F), a 25% discount on the residential square footage is 
allowed to be deducted from the constructed square footage of the entire development. 

 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact Meeting was held on June 11, 2020. A sign-in sheet and summary of the meeting is 
attached.  

 
IMPACT FEES: 

 Park Impact Fee: The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of 
the Final Plat in the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit, and $0.15 per square foot of non-residential 
building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 Public Art Impact Fee: the applicant shall be responsible for a Public Art Impact Fee prior to the 
recording of Final Plat in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of non-residential building area. This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 Street Fee: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Street Fee of $391.50 per linear foot of 
frontage along State Line Road. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee: The applicant shall be responsible for a135th Street Corridor 
Impact Fee of $1.95 per square foot of retail building area, $0.58 per square foot of office/non-retail 
building area, and $389.40 per residential unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by a collector street (133rd Street) with low density residential and commercial to 
the north; an arterial street (135th Street) and undeveloped land on the south; an arterial street (State Line 
Road) and commercial on the east, and a collector street (Pawnee Lane) with commercial to the west.  
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North To the north of the proposed project, across 133rd Street, include Wilshire Place (RP-1) 
and Greenbrier (R-1) residential subdivision, Enclave at Cedar Pointe subdivision (RP-2), 
and Village of Seville Commercial Development (SD-CR).  

 South To the south of the proposed project, across 135th Street, includes the Lord of Life Church 
(SD-O), Chadwick Place (SD-NCR and SD-O) commercial development, and undeveloped 
land (RP-3, MXD, and SD-CR).  

 East Directly to the east of the proposed development, across State Line Road, is a commercial 
development within Kansas City, Missouri.   

 West To the west of the proposed development, across Pawnee Lane, is the Market Square 
commercial development (SD-CR).  

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The site is suitable for mixed use development as shown within the City of Leawood’s 2019 Update of the 
Comprehensive Plan. However, the proposed plan submitted with this application does not meet a number 
of regulations set forth within the Leawood Development Ordinance. In addition, the plan does not meet 
various objectives, goals, and land uses of the Comprehensive Plan which includes the 135th Street 
Community Plan. 
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Below are the regulations within the Leawood Development Ordinance that this application does not meet: 

 The applicant has provided a parking study for the development to the south, across 135 th Street. 
Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, 16-4-5.4(A) states “Parking requirements may be 
modified on a project basis with supporting traffic engineering/parking plan approved by the City”. 
The City cannot accept a parking study for a different development as this development is 
proposing gated communities which does not allow for shared parking to take place.  

 The private streets within the MXD portion of the development (Tract A and Tract B) does not meet 
Section 16-8-3.2 (A) of the Leawood Development Ordinance as it states “Private Streets shall be 
allowed only within residential developments as authorized herein and as authorized by the 
Governing Body”. The private street is located within areas proposed to be zoned MXD. 

 The corner lots within the RP-2 portion of the development do not meet the Corner Lot Street Side 
Setback of 20’. The site plan shows a setback of 10’. A deviation has not been requested for a 
reduction of the setback, which then would only allow for a reduction of up to 75% of the standard 
requirement. 

 The applicant is proposing accessory structures which are to be used as covered parking areas. 
Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, 16-4-1.4 (B) states “Architecturally attached structures 
shall be allowed only when the accessory structure is connected to the primary structure with a 
minimum 10’ wide structure […]. The accessory structures and the primary structure shall not be 
more than 15’ apart, measured from the exterior wall of the accessory structure to the exterior wall 
of the primary structure.” The accessory structures proposed to cover the parking areas are not 
connected to the primary structure and are approximately 75’ away from the primary structure.  

 Retaining walls are proposed within the MXD portion of the development. Per the Leawood 
Development Ordinance, retaining walls with a height of 6’ or less are permitted within all required 
setbacks. For retaining walls greater than 6’ in height, the walls shall be within all required setbacks 
provided that it shall be setback from the property line one foot for each foot, or part thereof in 
excess of 6’ in height. In multiple instances, the retaining walls proposed are located within the 
setbacks with some walls exceeding the 6’ maximum height, which to staff’s knowledge was not 
notified to the adjacent property owners by certified mail at least 10 days prior to Planning 
Commission consideration. 

 
Below are the regulations within the Comprehensive Plan that this application does not meet: 

 The Comprehensive Plan Map shows the project area as Mixed Use. The proposed application 
shows a plan with an RP-2 zoned area, which is considered Medium Density Residential. The 
proposed plan does not match the Comprehensive Plan Map within the 135th Street Community 
Plan. 

 An objective within the Comprehensive Plan for residential development is to ensure that 
residential growth patterns result in neighborhoods that have their own sense of place, yet are 
closely linked to the community as a whole. The directive to the objective states “Additional gated 
communities will not be allowed within the City of Leawood in order to promote a sense of 
community”. This development has separated its residential portion of the Mixed Use development 
by creating gated communities. 

 The Mixed Use portion of the Comprehensive Plan defines Mixed Use as “a development which 
permits a mixture of retail, office, residential, and cultural uses in a single structure or multiple 
structures which incorporate a coordinated consistent theme throughout the development and 
encourage a high level of pedestrian connectivity”. The different Tracts within the development are 
separated from each other by collector streets and gates. A consistent theme has not been 
developed for all portions of the project to work together.  
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 An objective of the Mixed Use portion of the Comprehensive Plan is to develop human scale, 
village or main street style, mixed use developments. The project is proposing four separate styles 
of development that are all separated from each other and does not have a mix of uses within each 
tract.  

 
Below are the regulations within the 135th Street Community Plan that this application does not meet: 

 The applicant shows multiple internal drives within the development as different road types 
designated by the 135th Street Community Plan. These road types include Destination Streets, 
Active Pedestrian Streets, and Neighborhood Streets. The street types used by the applicant do 
not meet the intent which was created by the 135th Street Community plan and do not match the 
requirements for the street types which include large planting areas, wider sidewalks, on street 
parking, sharrows for bicycles, and rain gardens. 

 The applicant is proposing to not construct Kenneth Road or Chadwick Road, which are crucial 
parts for completing the 135th Street Future Street Network. This creates issues when trying to 
create a street grid network as intended within the 135th Street Community Plan. In addition, the 
Community Plan shows Pedestrian Issues and Barriers within the corridor and notes that the 
intersection of 133rd and Kenneth is an incomplete connection. Not constructing Kenneth Road 
would further create a barrier would keep the connection incomplete. 

 Transitions from a less dense development to a more dense and commercial development have 
been created with this application; however, the plan does not meet the intent of the Transect 
Zones for the corridor. The transects were created so that low to medium density development 
would be closest to 133rd Street, as to protect the existing residential neighborhoods to the north 
of 133rd Street from the commercial, office and high density residential mixed use area, which 
would be closest to 135th Street.  

 
If any of the items above are to be rectified and updated to come into conformance with the 
Ordinance/Plans, the site design for the entire development may be subject to major changes.  
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The subject property is undeveloped land; however, separate portions have been zoned at a previous date.  
 
Property number HF251327-4003 was zoned to B-4 on February 3, 1975 (Ordinance #482). This zoning 
has since been carried forward to the current zoning description as SD-O.  
 
Property number HF251326-2004 was zoned B-1 on April 7, 1975 (Ordinance #484). This zoning has since 
been carried forward to the current zoning description as SD-O. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The site is suitable for Mixed Use Development that follow the example of transects shown within the 135th 
Street Community Plan. This plan has created a dispersion of density and uses that could detrimentally 
affect the existing neighborhoods to the north of 133rd Street by having high density residential housing 
and commercial/office spaces that run north to south, instead of east to west, and potentially creating traffic 
issues by not constructing Chadwick Road and Kenneth Road. 
 
The project does not currently meet the restrictions set forth within the Leawood Development Ordinance, 
the 2019 Update to the City of Leawood Comprehensive Plan, and the 135th Street Community Plan. If the 
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applicant were to meet the requirements of the Ordinance and plans, major changes may need to be made 
to the site design of the development.  
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
The design of the development does not create a gridded street network, activity nodes, and vehicular 
connectivity which hinders the opportunity for multiple modes of transportation including public transit and 
the preservation of natural areas. Additionally, the plan does not meet the intent of the 135 th Street 
Community Plan, as it does not offer a truly “mixed-use” development. Requiring these changes to the plan 
would not pose a hardship on the applicant, yet they would provide greater flexibility and a greater chance 
for an economically viable and sustainable development. The result will be a gain to public health, safety, 
and welfare of the community if these standards are followed and the application denied.  
 
The recommendation of the professional staff: 
City Staff recommends denial of the proposed application due to the reasons listed within the Golden 
Criteria, Staff Comments, and Stipulations. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan of the City of Leawood as the 
application does not meet the following: 

 The Comprehensive Plan Map shows the project area as Mixed Use. The proposed application 
shows a plan with an RP-2 zoned area, which is considered Medium Density Residential. The 
proposed plan does not match the Comprehensive Plan Map for the City of Leawood. 

 An objective within the Comprehensive Plan for residential development is to ensure that 
residential growth patterns result in neighborhoods that have their own sense of place, yet are 
closely linked to the community as a whole. The directive to the objective states “Additional gated 
communities will not be allowed within the City of Leawood in order to promote a sense of 
community”. This development has separated its residential portion of the Mixed Use development 
by creating gated communities. 

 The Mixed Use portion of the Comprehensive Plan defines Mixed Use as “a development which 
permits a mixture of retail, office, residential, and cultural uses in a single structure or multiple 
structures which incorporate a coordinated consistent theme throughout the development and 
encourage a high level of pedestrian connectivity”. The different Tracts within the development are 
separated from each other by collector streets and gates. A consistent theme has not been 
developed for all portions of the project to work together.  

 An objective of the Mixed Use portion of the Comprehensive Plan is to develop human scale, 
village or main street style, mixed use developments. The project is proposing four separate styles 
of development that are all separated from each other and does not have a mix of uses within each 
tract.  

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The applicant shall provide staff with a parking study which is specific to this site. A study directly taken 
from a separate project will not be accepted by the Planning Department. The plan must then be 
amended to reflect the findings of the updated parking study. (Stipulation #2) 

 The applicant shall provide the information required within the Public Works Memo on file for this 
application. (Stipulation #3) 
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 The applicant shall provide the information required within the Fire Department Memo on file for this 
application. (Stipulation #4) 

 Staff is not supportive of the separation of uses within the MXD zoned portion of the development as 
there is no interaction between each of the Tracts, essentially creating four separate developments (3 
residential, and one commercial/office). The applicant shall work with staff to better follow the intent of 
Mixed Use as stated within the City of Leawood Comprehensive Plan. (Stipulation #5) 

 The applicant shall remove the RP-2 portion of the development from the application as it does not 
meet the Comprehensive Plan map, which shows this area as Mixed Use. (Stipulation #6) 

 The applicant shall remove all gates from the residential portion of the Mixed Use development as it 
directly defies the Directive of the Residential section within the Comprehensive Plan. (Stipulation #7) 

 If it is the intent of the applicant to create the street designations within the 135th Street Community 
Plan, the applicant shall work with staff to update the plan and show the correct use of the street 
designations, including lane widths, street accents, sidewalk widths, etc. (Stipulation #8) 

 The applicant shall provide a plan showing the construction of Kenneth Road and Chadwick Street to 
help create a grid network. (Stipulation #9) 

 An updated plan set meeting all requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance must be 
submitted. Requirements which must be met include, but are not limited to: accessory structure 
connection to primary buildings, retaining walls within setbacks and height requirements, removal of 
private streets within non-residential developments, etc. (Stipulation #10)  

 The applicant shall work with staff to conform the site to better meet the transect design set forth within 
the 135th Street Community Plan, which will allow for the least dense portion of the development to 
abut the existing residential neighborhoods north of 133rd Street. (Stipulation #11) 

 Two maintenance buildings are proposed within Tract A and Tract B. These maintenance buildings are 
proposed to be 142 Sq. Ft. each with large trash compactors connected to these buildings. Staff is not 
supportive of these maintenance buildings as they are a way for the sites to remove the trash 
enclosures from the buildings for which they are intended to be servicing. (Stipulation #12) 

 An updated Tree Inventory Plan will be required and shall reflect the findings within the updated studies 
being requested by City Staff. (Stipulation #13) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 49-20, Cameron’s Court - request for approval of 
a Rezoning from AG and SD-O to RP-2 and MXD, Preliminary Plat and Preliminary Plan. Staff provided 
the following stipulations to create a plan which may be acceptable for the Planning Commission to 
recommend approval in the future, but Staff cannot support approval even if the applicant agrees to the 
following stipulations. These stipulations, by their nature, would require major changes to the design of the 
application, which will require staff to re-review the plans to consider and recalculate the various aspects 
of the project. 
1. Shall the applicant submit a revised plan set meeting the items listed within the Staff Comments, and 

Stipulations listed below, the updated plans will need to be reviewed by City Staff to ensure that a 
substantial change has not been made to the plans submitted. Shall a substantial change be deemed 
by City Staff, the application will need to be re-reviewed by City Staff and brought back to the Planning 
Commission for recommendation to the Governing Body. 

2. The applicant shall provide staff with a parking study which is specific to this site. A study directly taken 
from a separate project will not be accepted by the Planning Department. The plan must then be 
amended to reflect the findings of the updated parking study. The parking study shall be submitted and 
approved by the Planning Department prior to Governing Body consideration. 
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3. The applicant shall provide the information required within the Public Works Memo on file for this 
application prior to Governing Body Review. 

4. The applicant shall provide the information required within the Fire Department Memo on file for this 
application prior to Governing Body Review. 

5. The applicant shall work with staff to better follow the intent of Mixed Use as stated within the City of 
Leawood Comprehensive Plan. 

6. The applicant shall remove the RP-2 portion of the development from the application as it does not 
meet the Comprehensive Plan map, which shows this area as Mixed Use. 

7. The applicant shall remove all gates from the residential portion of the Mixed Use development as it 
directly defies the Directive of the Residential section within the Comprehensive Plan. 

8. The applicant shall work with staff to update the plan and show the correct use of the street 
designations, including lane widths, street accents, sidewalk widths, etc. 

9. The applicant shall provide a plan showing the construction of Kenneth Road and Chadwick Street to 
help create a grid network. 

10. An updated plan set meeting all requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance must be 
submitted. Requirements which must be met include, but are not limited to: accessory structure 
connection to primary buildings, retaining walls within setbacks and height requirements, removal of 
private streets within non-residential developments, etc. 

11. The applicant shall work with staff to conform the site to better meet the transect design set forth within 
the 135th Street Community Plan, which will allow for the least dense portion of the development to 
abut the existing residential neighborhoods north of 133rd Street. 

12. The applicant shall provide a plan showing how trash is being handled for each Tract area. 
13. An updated Tree Inventory Plan will be required and shall reflect the findings within the updated studies 

being requested by City Staff.  
14. A Landscape Plan which encompasses the entire Mixed Use development shall be required at the time 

of Final Plan for any portion of the Mixed Use development. 
15. A Special Use Permit is required for the gas station and hotel shown within Tract C of the development.  
16. Design Criteria shall be created for the Mixed Use zoned area prior to Final Plan for any phase of the 

Mixed Use development. 
17. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 

to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any building within the project. This does not include existing high voltage overhead 
power transmission lines on the western edge of the development.  

18. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all above ground facilities shall be placed in the rear yard 
wherever practical. If locating these facilities in the rear yard is not practical or appropriate, as 
determined by the City Engineer, then such facilities shall be at least 25’ behind the right-of-way. 

19. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 55 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than the 15 
square feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only with 
the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this 
Ordinance.  

20. All new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area shall be authorized only by approval of a 
Special Use Permit prior to construction. 

21. The applicant shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 
a. Park Impact Fee: The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the recording 

of the Final Plat in the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit, and $0.15 per square foot of non-
residential building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 
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b. Public Art Impact Fee: the applicant shall be responsible for a Public Art Impact Fee prior to the 
recording of Final Plat in the amount of $0.15 per square foot of non-residential building area. This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c. Street Fee: The applicant/owner shall be responsible for a Street Fee of $391.50 per linear foot of 
frontage along 135th Street. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

d. 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee: The applicant shall be responsible for a135th Street Corridor 
Impact Fee of $1.95 per square foot of retail building area, $0.58 per square foot of office/non-
retail building area, and $389.40 per residential unit. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

22. Sidewalks shall be minimum of 10’ from the back of curb to allow sufficient width for street trees to be 
planted.  

23. Per the Leawood City Code street trees shall be planted a minimum of 5’ from the back of curb and 
adjacent sidewalks. 

24. All pedestrian connections, including sidewalks and trails, shall comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. 

25. The completion of the design and construction of all public streets approved with this application shall 
be under a single set of construction plans. 

26. At the time of Final Plan, the applicant shall provide City staff with a copy of the covenants and 
restrictions proposed for all residential developments.  

27. At the time of Final Plat, the applicant shall provide additional language on the Plat describing the 
Tracts within the development including maintenance and responsibilities.  

28. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 
common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm 
water system improvements. The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in the 
development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such maintenance, 
repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such common areas or 
common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing and replacing 
said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood will be jointly 
and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of such lot. 

29. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
30. All streets within the subdivision shall be public. The developer or Homes Association shall maintain 

any planting or statuary within the street right of way. The developer shall execute a right-of-way 
maintenance agreement with the Public Works Department for any planting or statuary improvements 
within the public right-of-way. 

31. The Preliminary Plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun or 
if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may request 
a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period. The City Council may 
grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the developer.  

32. In addition to the stipulations listed in the document, the developer/applicant agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through thirty-one. 

















August 19th, 2020

City of Leawood, Kansas
Attn: Brian Scovill, PE
4800 Town Center Drive
Leawood, Kansas 66211

Per the City’s request, Olsson has reviewed the traffic impact study submitted for the 
Cameron’s Court development dated August 13th, 2020. This review summary 
incorporates input provided by City staff.
 

1. [Page 1] The report describes gated entry access for the multi-family development. 
Gated entry will be provided at locations along Pawnee Lane, Chadwick Street, and 
High Drive. Did not note discussion within report on proposed operations of these 
access locations (i.e. length of throat provided, rate of service, expected queue). Need 
to provide discussion and/or analysis to illustrate that adequate storage is provided 
internal to site to reduce potential for any queuing of traffic off-site onto public roadway 
network.

2. [Page 1] Last Paragraph – Confirm the west leg of 133rd Street and State Line Road 
will be provided, not east leg. 

3. [Page 4] Table 2 – Update table to reflect accurate commercial development AM trips. 
Per e-mail correspondence with Jeff Wilke, correct calculations were used for analysis 
and were provided for the purposes of this review.

4. [Page 7] General report comment – Discussion of existing/existing+approved 
individual queuing and level of service not presented, and subsequent impact of 
residential and full build development on those operations not provided. Identify 
existing/existing+approved deficiencies and impact of proposed development on 
individual movement queuing and level of service. 

5. [Page 9] Upstream and downstream influence area should be reviewed for each 
intersection location in relation to access spacing. Upstream influence area discussed 
for some proposed drives but not all, did not note discussion on downstream. 

6. [Page 10] 133rd Street and W High Drive – W High Drive utilizes an existing curb cut 
but is offset from E High Drive (existing extension to north). City preference is to align 
High Drive across 133rd Street. Aligning with existing High Drive provides fewer offset 
intersections and improved spacing along 133rd Street. (With current offset will have 
350-400’ between proposed Drive 3, proposed High Drive extension, existing High 
Drive (to north), and proposed Drive 4.) If offset is proposed to remain, discuss 
influence of overlapping left-turn movements and confirm adequate storage provided 
for left-turn maneuvers.

7. [Page 11] Paragraph 3 – Are the internal drives outside the influence area of the 
adjacent intersection?

8. [Page 11] Paragraph 6 – A 250-foot southbound left turn lane is recommended for the 
135th Street and Kenneth Road signalized intersection. Is proposed internal Drive 4 
spacing adequate to support construction of turn lane with adequate taper?

9. [Page 12] Paragraph 4 – Provide documentation of signal warrants in appendix. 
Confirm that proposed southbound left-turn bay length (110 feet) is adequate to 
accommodate expected queuing through future scenarios.



10. [Page 15] Paragraph 3 – If Drive 6 aligns with existing access to the north, adequate 
design will need to be provided to limit the south extension of the drive to right-in/right-
out as proposed in the report.

11. [Page 15] Paragraph 1 – Drive 5 utilizes an existing curb cut but is spaced 260 feet 
center to center from Overbrook. Consider aligning with Overbrook instead, providing 
fewer offset intersections and improved spacing along 133rd Street.

12. Kenneth Road/Drive 5 is intended to be a through street in accordance with the City’s 
future street network. The current site plan does not illustrate the extension of Kenneth 
Road. If Kenneth Road is not proposed to be extended through the site as a public 
roadway, the traffic impact study should evaluate the impacts to the surrounding road 
network with and without the extension of Kenneth Road between 133rd Street and 
135th Street. Operations should be reviewed, and discussion provided regarding the 
impact of providing or not providing the Kenneth Road extension.

13. Chadwick Street is intended to be a through street in accordance with the City’s future 
street network. The current site pan does not illustrate the extension of Chadwick 
Street. If Chadwick Street is not proposed to be extended through the site as a public 
roadway, the traffic impact study should evaluate the impacts to the surrounding road 
network with and without the extension of Chadwick Street between 133rd Street and 
135th Street. Operations should be reviewed and discussion provided regarding the 
impact of providing or not providing the Chadwick Street extension.

14. [Page 15] Paragraph 4 – The configuration of the eastbound approach of 133rd Street 
and State Line Road is a left-turn lane, shared through/right and right-turn lane. Is a 
shared through/right needed for operations?

15. [Page 16] Paragraph 1 – There are only two receiving lanes east of State Line Road, 
provide guidance on how far the lanes should be extended. Consider the 135th Street 
Corridor Plan. The recommendation of providing three through lanes westbound along 
135th Street is consistent with the corridor plan. Eastbound direction is only for 
improvement from High Drive to Kenneth Road. This recommendation should be 
extended west to at least Pawnee Lane (frontage of development).

16. [Page 17] Table 8 (continued) – Poor operations at Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
are expected but a signal is not warranted. In this scenario 135th Street will be a 6-lane 
section. Consider limiting access at this location to right-in/right-out. 

17. [Page 18] Paragraph 4 – It appears the second recommendation listed under N 133rd 
Street and State Line Road may be incorrect. Confirm. Also confirm that the first 
recommendation is correct.

18. [Page 20] Throat length of proposed drives was not discussed in report. See comment 
2 above for comment on throat length in relation to gated drives. For all proposed drive 
locations, throat length should be discussed in relation to storage for exiting vehicles.

19. [Page 21] S 133rd Street and State Line Road recommendations – Can different 
improvements be recommended to support concurrent east/west phasing instead of 
introducing split phasing to the corridor?

20. [Synchro Models] 
i) Peak hour factors are represented for overall intersection versus individual 

movement. Provide justification regarding why overall intersection was chosen 
method for analysis purposes. Average overall PHF can, at times, present a more 
conservative analysis of intersection operations.

ii) State Line Road is coded with a speed limit of 30 mph. It appears that the posted 
is 40 mph. Confirm posted speed limit. Expected to have a minimal impact on 
operations.



iii) S 133rd Street and State Line Road – The southbound left turn movement is 
existing phased permitted/protected. Southbound left turn is coded for permitted 
only in existing models.

iv) 135th Street and Mission Road – The northbound/southbound left turn movements 
are existing phased permitted/protected. Both movements coded for protected 
only in existing models.

v) Existing+Approved+Residential – 135th Street and Kenneth Road - Were 
operations considered with northbound/southbound left turn permitted only versus 
permitted/protected phasing? Is permitted/protected phasing needed to support 
full build operations?

vi) Existing+Approved+Residential and Full Build – 135th Street and High Drive – AM 
peak period southbound left turn coded for protected with northbound left turn 
coded permitted/protected. Is protected phasing needed for both or can movement 
run permitted only? (PM peak period review considers both permitted/protected.)

vii) Existing+Approved+Full Build – Kenneth Road and Internal Drive 4 – The 
northbound right turn is coded as a yield movement. Reason?

viii)Existing+Approved+Full Build – 135th Street eastbound assumed two lane, report 
recommendation is for improvement to three lane (westbound is coded correctly).

Sincerely,

Tom Fulton, Vice President



 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Richard Sanchez     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Cameron’s Court Case 49-20 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department requests additional information as outlined below 

regarding the planning process for Cameron’s Court Case 49-20 

 

 Specific parking lot sizes for the apartment complexes located east of High Drive to 

determine whether adequate access is available for all fire department apparatus.  

This should address access concerns between the parking structures and apartment 

buildings 

 Detailed information on what the design and construction materials consist of for 

the parking structures for the apartment buildings. 

 Clearance height of the covered walkway between the parking structures and the 

apartments. 

 Width and turning radius numbers for the street identified as “Neighborhood 

Street”.  Needed to ensure access for all fire department vehicles is avaialable. 

  

 

 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 

 

 

 



 
 

 
June 11, 2020    
           VIA EMAIL 
Ricky Sanchez 
City of Leawood 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
 
RE: Case 49-20 – Cameron’s Court – Interact meeting notes and attendance 
 
 
Ricky, 
 
This letter is intended to provide the attendance record and meeting questions and notes from the Interact 
Meeting held on Wednesday, June 10, 2020 at 6:00pm. Questions are in bold and responses follow in italics. 
 
Attendance record:  
 
 
 
Question & Answer:  

Danilo: What do you foresee as the price range for the single-family homes? 
A: $650-750k.  
 
Chris Vukas: Has a traffic study been completed? 
A: Not yet, but we will have to complete one prior to breaking ground and going to final approval. 
 
Gareth: Are you suggesting that the multi-family apartments will be a similar demographic to the 
Villa Milano apartments you have referred to? Specifically, why do you think the multi-family 
apartments will not impact student populations at the local schools?  
A: Drawing from experience; there are only 3 child residents at Villa Milano. With this type of upscale 
community, most residents could afford a house and if they have children, they typically favor a house. 
We get empty-nesters, retirees, divorcees, and couples who do not have kids yet.   
 
Brittany: Concerned with traffic to the schools and how much tax money is going to Mission Trail. 
Would like to understand more about the community that this is affecting, it would be good to 
know what the make-up of students and families look like.  
A:  
 
Vivvy3@gmail.com: What is price points of ranch houses and apartments? 
A: Houses - $650-750k. Apartments – One beds will start at $1,200, two beds will start at $1,800. 
 
rbrunton: Other than the exterior finishes previously referenced, what forms the basis of the 
conclusion that the multifamily buildings are high end?  They do not appear substantively better 
than any of the apartment complexes being constructed on 135th Street in OP. 
A: We have high-end finishes, please look at our other communities to see our high standards. 



 
Sue: Concerns as to why the City is requiring mixed use.  
A: We are unsure, but we have put forth a plan is viable and that is far less dense than the City wants. 
 
Unknown: What is the difference between the 2-4 story buildings? 
A: The “big house” look, some are 2-story w/ walkouts. 133rd Street is 3-story. 135th Street is 4-story. 
 
Unknown: What is the “orange” building on High Drive? 
A: Clubhouse. 
 
Dan: What drives the design of the commercial; City, the design, demand? Concerned that if 
demand for a 10-story office building presents itself, that will be proposed later. 
A: The current mix is required by the City.   
 
Sree Murthy: What is your expectations on the number of people that would live in the proposed 
neighborhood? How many school-going kids, teenagers, etc? Any idea? 
A:  
 
Unknown: What is the plan to get rid of all the empty retail? 
A:  
 
Gareth: It's confusing when you talk about whether you are referring to the "purple" units or the 
"brown" units.  Can you spend time discussing the "brown" units specifically?  What properties are 
similar to those units? 
A:  
 
Sree Murthy: What are those gray buildings east of High Drive? 
A:  
 
Skip: Has the city said anything about where the retail is going and adding in more traffic signals at 
133rd Street? 
A: We must complete a traffic study, but if it becomes required, we will do that. The current study 
shows that a third lane will not be required for 20-30 years. It is not just a matter of adding a traffic 
light, there must be a warrant from the City.  
Q: Will 133rd Street stay as it is now? 
A: Yes, it will, unless traffic study deems otherwise. This is why we want to push traffic to 135th Street. 
 
Arthur Peterson: Mr. Oddo, would you please state how many people are present at the Villa 
Milano clubhouse, other than Oddo Development personnel/representatives? 
A: This is Patrick Reuter with Klover Architects running the presentation on behalf of Rick Oddo, there 
are roughly 50-60 people in attendance, there is a sign in list that will be posted online afterwards of 
the participants. 
 
rbrunton: What is the density of the College Boulevard apartments that are indicated to be 
substantively higher density than this plan? 
A:  
 
Unknown: What is your construction schedule? 
A: march-June of next year (2021) we would start with the buffers/single-family homes. Apartment 



communities would follow. Commercial/retail would be last.  
 
Steve: What land is under contract by Oddo? 
A: Right now, it is the residential portion. The Retail plots are intended to remain under Regnier 
Ownership. 
 
Unknown: Suggestion for next meeting to have a representative from the Reigner family at the next 
meeting. 
A: Bob Regnier will be at the next meeting. 
 
Paula Hobson: What is the price point planned for the single-family homes? 
A: $650-750k.  
 
rbrunton: What are the sizes of the berms that are proposed as barriers for this development?  The 
proposed site plan is not able to demonstrate for or our evaluation. 
A:  
 
Lisa: What is the planned square footage of the single-family homes? 
A: They will range from 2,400-3,200sf.  
 
Gareth: What traffic mitigation solutions are you prepared to offer to residential streets in 
neighborhoods (e.g. High Drive in Wilshire Place) that will be impacted by your development? 
A:  
 
rbrunton: Why doesn't the project work as true mixed use? For the East Phase of apartments, it 
appears your density is much closer to the high end of Leawood's requirements (13.25 units per 
acre).   What do you anticipate to be the number of residents in the East Phase?   
A:  
 
Paula Hobson: I understand that you will build some of the single-family homes. What other 
builders will you be inviting in to build the single-family homes? 
A: 
 
Duane Opfer: If the commercial is unlikely, why is it being built close to Mission? Why not build it 
along State Line? Specifically, why not put the high-density housing along State Line? 
A:  
 
 

This concludes our recap of the Interact meeting. Please feel free to give us a call should you have any 
further questions or concerns. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Henry C. Klover 
President 
 
CC: Rick Oddo (Oddo Development), Curt Holland (Polsinelli), David Rinne (Schlagel), Jeff Skidmore (Schlagel) 
Attachments:  









Name (Original Name) User Email Join Time Leave Time

Jeannette Cox jcox@oddodevelopment.com 6/10/2020 17:32 6/10/2020 19:46

Ryan Powell 6/10/2020 17:34 6/10/2020 19:11

Rick Oddo 6/10/2020 17:34 6/10/2020 17:40

Tony Apuzzo tapuzzo@gmail.com 6/10/2020 17:36 6/10/2020 18:44

Erich Goldstein erich.goldstein@kansascityhomes.com 6/10/2020 17:41 6/10/2020 17:42

Chris Vukas 6/10/2020 17:43 6/10/2020 17:43

Kevin Jeffries kevinj@leawoodchamber.org 6/10/2020 17:43 6/10/2020 17:45

Rick Oddo 6/10/2020 17:47 6/10/2020 19:46

Beth Fullwiler beth.fullwiler@gmail.com 6/10/2020 17:47 6/10/2020 19:04

Kevin Jeffries kevinj@leawoodchamber.org 6/10/2020 17:51 6/10/2020 17:52

Duane Opfer 6/10/2020 17:51 6/10/2020 19:46

Steve 6/10/2020 17:52 6/10/2020 19:45

LASHBROOK 6/10/2020 17:53 6/10/2020 17:53

Lisa 6/10/2020 17:53 6/10/2020 19:26

Andrew Jacob andrew.jacob@wellsky.com 6/10/2020 17:56 6/10/2020 19:06

Pamela Sandler pamsandler@gmail.com 6/10/2020 18:03 6/10/2020 18:12

Matthew 6/10/2020 18:05 6/10/2020 18:22

Twinkal 6/10/2020 18:06 6/10/2020 19:13

John McEntee mcentj2@nationwide.com 6/10/2020 18:12 6/10/2020 18:32

MET Station 5’s iPhone 6/10/2020 18:15 6/10/2020 18:49

Scott Russell 6/10/2020 18:17 6/10/2020 18:32

Bridget's iPhone 6/10/2020 18:20 6/10/2020 18:33

Matthew 6/10/2020 18:23 6/10/2020 18:36

Scott Russell 6/10/2020 18:32 6/10/2020 19:43

Quentin 6/10/2020 18:33 6/10/2020 19:44

Bridget's iPhone 6/10/2020 18:33 6/10/2020 19:05

Kevin Jeffries 6/10/2020 18:33 6/10/2020 19:45

Jason Reif 6/10/2020 18:35 6/10/2020 18:39

Matthew 6/10/2020 18:36 6/10/2020 18:39

Kelly Mosier’s iPhone 6/10/2020 18:51 6/10/2020 19:46

Missy's iPhone 6/10/2020 18:51 6/10/2020 19:34

Jason Reif 6/10/2020 18:52 6/10/2020 19:10

Oliver’s iPhone 6/10/2020 18:54 6/10/2020 18:57

Chris Vukas cvukas@sunflowerkc.com 6/10/2020 18:58 6/10/2020 19:45

Karen Braun karen.braun@yahoo.com 6/10/2020 19:00 6/10/2020 19:06

Bridget's iPhone 6/10/2020 19:05 6/10/2020 19:37

Karen Braun karen.braun@yahoo.com 6/10/2020 19:06 6/10/2020 19:19

Andrew Jacob andrew.jacob@wellsky.com 6/10/2020 19:07 6/10/2020 19:25

Andrew Jacob 6/10/2020 19:27 6/10/2020 19:29

Karen Braun karen.braun@yahoo.com 6/10/2020 19:28 6/10/2020 19:46

Sree Murthy 6/10/2020 19:33 6/10/2020 19:46

Mike's iPhone 7 6/10/2020 19:34 6/10/2020 19:35

Karen Hardinger 6/10/2020 17:56 6/10/2020 18:56

Kristal Myers 6/10/2020 17:57 6/10/2020 17:57

Sree Murthy 6/10/2020 17:57 6/10/2020 19:33

Kristal Myers 6/10/2020 17:58 6/10/2020 19:15



rbrunton 6/10/2020 17:58 6/10/2020 19:45

John H 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:37

Sue Newsom 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:12

Chris Vukas 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 18:56

mschaefer 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:46

steve kinney 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:45

Ravi Dasari rdmizzou@yahoo.com 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:45

vivvy3@gmail.com vivvy3@gmail.com 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 18:56

Georgina Greenyer 6/10/2020 17:59 6/10/2020 19:12

Paula Hobson ph.interiors1@gmail.com 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 19:45

KIM SCHAEFER kschaefer@bakeru.edu 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 19:45

Dan Goldberg danpgoldberg@gmail.com 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 19:46

Mike Hargens 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 19:45

Gareth 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 19:45

Erich Goldstein erich.goldstein@kansascityhomes.com 6/10/2020 18:00 6/10/2020 18:56

Missy Houser missy.houser@yahoo.com 6/10/2020 18:01 6/10/2020 18:51

Arthur Peterson 6/10/2020 18:01 6/10/2020 19:44

Danilo's iPhone 6/10/2020 18:03 6/10/2020 18:57

tom 6/10/2020 18:03 6/10/2020 19:47

danny’s iPhone 6/10/2020 18:03 6/10/2020 19:48

Oliver’s iPhone 6/10/2020 18:03 6/10/2020 18:54

Mrs Anderson lupettino@hotmail.com 6/10/2020 18:05 6/10/2020 19:46

Quentin 6/10/2020 18:11 6/10/2020 18:31

Todd Sandler todds@naturallywiredkc.com 6/10/2020 18:12 6/10/2020 19:45

Matthew 6/10/2020 19:01 6/10/2020 19:13

Bridget's iPhone 6/10/2020 19:37 6/10/2020 19:38



The applicant has requested that the RCLCO – Highest and Best Use Analysis, be publicly distributed and 

to be part of their application submission.  

 

Due to the large file size, the analysis is not able to be attached to this document.  

 

For a complete download of the analysis, please go to: http://www.klover.net/camerons-court 

 

There you will see a link to the RCL Market Survey. 

 

You can also access the document by this direct link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-

%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0 

http://www.klover.net/camerons-court
https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0


From: Grant Lang 

Sent: Monday, July 13, 2020 11:33 AM 

To: 'Adam Berman'; Planning and Development General Email 

Cc: Anna.Berman@KutakRock.com 

Subject: RE: Oddo Development between 133rd and 135th from Pawnee to State Line 

 

Good Morning, 

 

Thank you for submitting your letter to the Planning Department. The letter will be added to the public 

record, which will be reviewed by the Planning Commission and Governing Body once the case is to be 

heard. 

 

CASE 49-20 (Cameron's Court) is scheduled to be heard at the August 25th Planning Commission 

meeting. 

 

Please let me know if you have any other questions. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Grant D Lang 
City Planner 

Phone: 913-663-9163 

 
 

From: Adam Berman <adam@bw-llp.com>  

Sent: Monday, July 13, 2020 11:29 AM 

To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Committees - City Council <Allcouncil@leawood.org>; 

Planning and Development General Email <PlanningandDevelopmentGeneralEmail@leawood.org> 

Cc: Anna.Berman@KutakRock.com 

Subject: Oddo Development between 133rd and 135th from Pawnee to State Line 

 

Peggy, 

 

My wife and I are residents of Wilshire Place.  Attached please find a letter that we have prepared 

regarding our views of the proposed Cameron Court development between 133rd and 135th from 

Pawnee to State Line.   

 

If you have any questions for us, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

Thank you.  

 

 

Adam K. Berman 

Bessine Walterbach, LLP 
3000 NE Brooktree Lane, Suite 100 

Kansas City MO 64119 

Direct [816] 595-8491 

Fax [816] 436-2574 



www.bw-llp.com  

 
General Notice: The above message may be privileged or confidential and any such attribute is expressly reserved.  Notify sender 

immediately of any inadvertent receipt and permanently delete.  Email may not be a secure method of communication. 
 

FDCPA Notice: Bessine Walterbach, LLP is a law firm regularly engaged in the collection of debt.  This is an attempt to collect a debt and 

any information obtained will be used for that purpose.  If this is our initial communication with you, then unless you, within 30 days after 

receipt of this document, dispute the validity of the debt, or any portion thereof, we will assume the debt to be valid.  If you notify us in 

writing within 30 days of receipt that the debt, or any portion thereof, is disputed, we will obtain verification of the debt and mail you a copy 

of such verification, including the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.  Please note this Notice in 

no way alters your rights or obligations with respect to legal proceedings, as courts set deadlines that often differ from those set forth in the 

FDCPA. 
 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Adrienne Rader <raderfamily@mac.com>
Sent: Monday, June 15, 2020 4:01 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's Court of Leawood development

To whom it may concern, 
I am unable to attend the meeting regarding this project because I work in a hospital and am trying to limit my exposure 
to groups of people.  I hope these comments make it to the people making the decisions.  I am adamantly opposed to 
this large development for many reasons.  First, I very much do not want any high density residential buildings in south 
Leawood.  These increase traffic, pollution and overcrowding in schools.  I already have difficulty letting my kids ride 
their bikes around because of traffic and the increase in panhandling in the area.  This would make it even more 
extreme.  Second, there are already many commercial buildings that aren’t filled to capacity and in need of updating 
along State Line, including the shopping center at 123rd and State Line that used to house HyVee.  This one in particular 
is a huge problem.  These buildings have been empty for years and the site has become an eyesore.  I know Barstow 
Academy bought the HyVee building but they have yet to do anything with it and the shopping center is dated, deserted 
and unappealing.  Third, the extensive development of any and all grasslands in Leawood is causing animals to be 
displaced from their habitats.  We have seen increasing numbers of coyotes, bobcats, deer, mallard ducks and owls in 
our neighborhood, which is interesting to see but it isn’t good for the animals or the residents.  They’re supposed to be 
able to roam in the wild.  Finally, with the recent pandemic and economic challenges many Americans are facing I can’t 
imagine this project would be successful, viable long term and able to be maintained at the level Leawood residents 
expect.  The rapid and sometimes haphazard growth in south Leawood has us considering relocating.  We don’t want to 
leave but I’m afraid this project would be a great detriment to those of us who have chosen to make our life long homes 
here.  Please consider these issues when voting for or against approval of this project. 
Sincerely, 
Adrienne Rader 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 



1

Richard Sanchez

From: alexey glazyrin <aglazyrin@yahoo.com>
Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 8:57 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Cc: annaglaza@yahoo.com
Subject: Oddo Leawood Development

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Dear Sir/Madame 
I am really worried about  Oddo housing development plan next door to my home at 133 Street. In my opinion it will 
ruin our neighborhood, devastate our school system and deprive us of the possibility of recreational  area located next 
to existing homes. I will do my best to oppose those plans.  In my opinion both existing tax payers of Leawood and 
Leawood government will benefit more  if this last piece of Leawood undeveloped property would be used in the future 
as recreational/cultural/sporting center. That would increase home values in the area and consequently will increase tax 
collection. It will improve quality of life and attract more good people to the neighborhood. Oddo plans stand for just 
the opposite.  
Please feel free to contact me for details 
Alexey Glazyrin 
248 9533517 
aglazyrin@yahoo.com 
13225 Falmouth Street Leawood KS 66209 
18 June 2020 
 
 
Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



From: Brad Kelsheimer
To: Planning and Development General Email; Committees - City Council
Subject: Oddo Development plan for 133/135th street corridor
Date: Saturday, August 1, 2020 9:21:20 AM

I am writing to you as a fellow citizen of Leawood who is concerned about the development
that has been proposed by Oddo Developers for the land located between 133rd street and
135th street from stateline to approximately Mission Road.  I live along 133rd street adjacent
to the area of the proposed development in the Wilshire Place Neighborhood.  My wife and I
moved to this area approximately three years ago because of the good schools and the quiet
community.  We attended the meetings sponsored by the Oddo team.  I have many
reservations about their proposed development in that area.  One of my many concerns has to
do with the increased traffic in the area especially on 133rd street due to the apartment
complexes as well as the commercial retail.  This will make getting out of our neighborhood
more dangerous as well as more difficult due to the increased traffic at state line as well.  I'm
also afraid of the increased traffic down high drive that could be used as a cut through.  There
are many children in our area that play and ride bikes; I do not want to see any child get
injured because of someone else's carelessness and speeding. I know that they have done
traffic studies, but there is no way that those are valid.  They were done during coronavirus
with most people working from home and isolating, not during "normal" times with kids
attending schools, etc.  With regards to the children, Oddo and his team have repeatedly said
that they don't think this will increase the burden on the local schools.  I don't see how they
can make this claim based on what they historically have seen.  I believe that the line from the
movie "Field Of Dreams" applies here, "Build it and they will come".  Leawood/Blue Valley
Schools are a wonderful system and people want to be there; that's why I would hate to see
them become overpopulated due to the increased demand from more unnecessary apartments
in the area.

While this proposed plan does have some good elements, mainly the single family homes.  I
don't believe the commercial retail or multifamily dwellings prove to be viable.  There are
already too many vacant commercial retail sites and ample opportunity for businesses to go
into those sites.  Additionally, many apartment complexes are not well maintained over the
long run and are not typically built well.  This tends to eventually lead to a change in the
clients that they attract and can ultimately lead to increased crime in the area.  I think that this
has already been seen with the other apartments just south of the target at 135th and stateline. 
As a concerned homeowner, I do not want to be able to look out my window and see a four
story complex staring back at me.  This will diminish our privacy as well as destroy the
property values of this area.

Oddo Developments plan doesn't protect the communities of Leawood, I respectfully request
that you reject their proposed plan.  Please feel free to contact me with any questions.  Thank
you for your consideration.

Brad and Katie Kelsheimer
13291 High Drive
Leawood, KS 66209
314-608-7551

mailto:kbkelsheimer@gmail.com
mailto:PlanningandDevelopmentGeneralEmail@leawood.org
mailto:Allcouncil@leawood.org


WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS
or ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.



1

Richard Sanchez

From: brian johnston <bjohnston1965@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, June 22, 2020 3:07 PM
To: Peggy Dunn; Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General Email
Cc: Michelle Johnston
Subject: Fwd: FW: Letter of Concerns regarding Cameron's Court Development Proposal -- 

Request for Distribution
Attachments: Microsoft Word - Wilshire Place Neighbors Letter (Signed).pdf

Good afternoon.  Michelle and I are also property owners in the Wilshire Place development and one of those 
most immediately impacted by the proposed Cameron Court development project and are equally concerned 
and wholeheartedly request the City reject the proposal as presently provided by the developer.  In addition to 
the well-reasoned statements against the proposal as provided in the attached letter, we would also note that 
decreased property values for us also have an immediate detrimental effect on property tax revenue to the City 
as well.  When we bought our house two years ago, we knew full well that the property to the south of us would 
be developed at some point but a development with multi-family housing was not what we would have 
envisioned for that area given the obvious traffic and school limitations of a property of such density.  We also 
question the logic of such a large scale project during these times in particular; why build more retail and office 
space when similar locations immediately to the north, east and to the south along State Line Road are less than 
half full already? Where is the pent up demand for multi-tenant housing in southern Johnson County, away from 
a main traffic corridor and far from any larger employers?  We respectfully submit that a build it and they will 
come mentality is less than prudent under current circumstances, if ever.  We respectfully request that the 
Council and Planning Commission reject the current proposal to at least reduce the current project density, if 
not complete wholesale changes to the scope of development altogether.  Thank you for your consideration.  
 
Brian and Michelle Johnston 
2545 West 132nd Terrace 

---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Michelle Johnston <mjohnston@tortoiseadvisors.com> 
Date: Mon, Jun 22, 2020 at 2:04 PM 
Subject: FW: Letter of Concerns regarding Cameron's Court Development Proposal -- Request for Distribution 
To: bjohnston1965@gmail.com <bjohnston1965@gmail.com> 
 

  

  

From: Lynn vukas <lynnvukas@mac.com>  
Sent: Monday, June 22, 2020 1:57 PM 
To: Danielle Mau Sears <maudanielle@gmail.com>; Halley Goldstein <hgoldstein@cannongroupinc.com>; Julia Jacob 
<jcassidy3@yahoo.com>; Karen Braun <karen.braun@yahoo.com>; Kimberly Goldberg <goldbergkimberly@gmail.com>; 
Loren Reif <Lorenereif@gmail.com>; Michelle Johnston <mjohnston@tortoiseadvisors.com>; Julie Herman 
<juliemarieherman@gmail.com>; Julie Haag <juliewilkers@hotmail.com>; Beth Jaworski <beth@lancaster‐liquor.com> 
Subject: Fwd: Letter of Concerns regarding Cameron's Court Development Proposal ‐‐ Request for Distribution 
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Please feel free to pass along 

 

Begin forwarded message: 

From: "Brunton, Ryan C." <ryan.brunton@stinson.com> 

Subject: RE: Letter of Concerns regarding Cameron's Court Development Proposal -- 
Request for Distribution 

Date: June 22, 2020 at 9:45:29 AM CDT 

To: Quentin Cole <quentinrcole@gmail.com>, "sfehnel@hntb.com" <sfehnel@hntb.com>, 
"billjohansen1@gmail.com" <billjohansen1@gmail.com> 

Cc: "Place, Jeff" <JPlace@littler.com>, "Brunton, Ryan C." <ryan.brunton@stinson.com>, 
Chris Vukas <cvukas@sunflowerkc.com> 

  

  

  

  

 
 
 
--  
Brian  
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



From: Grant Lang 

Sent: Tuesday, July 14, 2020 8:33 AM 

To: 'Brian Rader'; Planning and Development General Email 

Subject: RE: Proposed Construction at 135th 

 

Good Morning, 

 

Thank you for submitting your letter to the Planning Department. The letter will be added to the public 

record, which will be reviewed by the Planning Commission and Governing Body once the case is to be 

heard. 

 

CASE 49-20 (Cameron's Court) is scheduled to be heard at the August 25th Planning Commission 

meeting. 

 

Please let me know if you have any other questions. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Grant D Lang 

City Planner 

Phone: 913-663-9163 

 

 

-----Original Message----- 

From: Brian Rader <brianrader@me.com>  

Sent: Tuesday, July 14, 2020 8:30 AM 

To: Planning and Development General Email <PlanningandDevelopmentGeneralEmail@leawood.org> 

Subject: Proposed Construction at 135th 

 

Planning Board, 

 

I am a 13 year resident of Leawood.  I am writing with my EXTREME opposition to the proposed 

construction north along 135th street, East of Mission Rd. High density housing and more business/strip 

mall construction is completely unnecessary.  The added traffic and overcrowding of schools, which this 

type of development will bring, does not align with the values and tranquility that Leawood represents.  

I already have concerns over the safety of letting my children ride their bicycles to school.  The safety of 

all pedestrian and cyclist will be at risk if a project of this magnitude is allowed.  More traffic, more stop 

lights, more pollution, more overcrowding of schools, less green space…none of these are positive 

additions to our community. The only option that could fit this area are single family homes with lots at 

a minimum of 1/3 acre and green space.  The developers only care about squeezing the most profit out 

of the land.  They do not care about the ramifications that they cause to our wonderful community.  We 

will be the ones that have to deal with this oversized monstrosity.  I request that the planning board be 

the voice of our beloved community and protect us from high density housing and strip malls. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Brian Rader 

(South) Leawood Resident 



brianrader@me.com 

 

 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS 

unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 



From: Brian Rader <brianrader@me.com> 

Sent: Tuesday, July 14, 2020 8:30 AM 

To: Planning and Development General Email 

Subject: Proposed Construction at 135th 

 

Planning Board, 

 

I am a 13 year resident of Leawood.  I am writing with my EXTREME opposition to the proposed 

construction north along 135th street, East of Mission Rd. High density housing and more business/strip 

mall construction is completely unnecessary.  The added traffic and overcrowding of schools, which this 

type of development will bring, does not align with the values and tranquility that Leawood represents.  

I already have concerns over the safety of letting my children ride their bicycles to school.  The safety of 

all pedestrian and cyclist will be at risk if a project of this magnitude is allowed.  More traffic, more stop 

lights, more pollution, more overcrowding of schools, less green space…none of these are positive 

additions to our community. The only option that could fit this area are single family homes with lots at 

a minimum of 1/3 acre and green space.  The developers only care about squeezing the most profit out 

of the land.  They do not care about the ramifications that they cause to our wonderful community.  We 

will be the ones that have to deal with this oversized monstrosity.  I request that the planning board be 

the voice of our beloved community and protect us from high density housing and strip malls. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Brian Rader 

(South) Leawood Resident 

brianrader@me.com 

 

 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS 

unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Bruce Olberding <bruce.olberding@yahoo.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 8:33 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron Court project

Thank you for allowing individuals the opportunity to express our perspectives and opinions on this matter.    
 
The Cameron court project as proposed will dramatically alter traffic and lifestyle within southern Leawood. 
1) Adding over 600 units of living will create an incredible amount of traffic, currently the path each day is full of individuals 
biking, walking and running.   This will be dangerous with adding more living units than is currently in Leawood South. 
2) There is an abundance of commercial space available within the area- how does adding more seem feasible with the 
current economic environments. 
3) It is more feasible to add another development similar to Wilshire Place, Greenbriar -etc.    Why is adding apartments a 
good idea? 
4) this project could potentially devalue the hundreds of homes in Greenbriar and Wilshire place and spill over into 
waterford. 
 
 
Thank you, 
 
Bruce 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Cathy Olberding <cathyolberding@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 7:05 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron Court

Leawood Police Department is outnumbered, and adding more population to an area where they can’t keep up with 
nightly car break‐ins is a recipe for disaster. 
 
133rd Street is likely to have the same amount of traffic as 135th Street, which means it won’t be safe for little kids 
walking to MTE. 
 
Cameron Court should find a different place to develop.  Leawood is not the right place. 
 
Cathy Olberding 
13003 Windsor Cir 
Leawood, KS 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Chris Nelson <christopher.nelson@zurichna.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 4, 2020 10:12 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Cc: 'kathleen.g.nelson@gmail.com'
Subject: RE: Cameron's Court development

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Planning Commission of Leawood, 
 
My name is Chris Nelson, I am a resident of Wilshire Place, located at 13282  High Drive, Leawood, Kansas.  I want to 
voice my strong opposition to the proposed Oddo development of Cameron’s Court. 
 
I attended Oddo’s meeting at Villa Milano and I was dismayed by the lack of social distancing provided by Oddo 
Development.  The cynic in me believes this may have been intentional to suppress opposition.  I was surprised that they 
are proposing 662 multi family living units and 59 single family homes along with retail in this development.  I cannot 
recall an apartment complex in Leawood that has 4 story apartments.  I feel the proposed development looks cheap and 
is inconsistent with Leawood’s current architecture and standards and is not well thought out re increased traffic to 
133rd street and High Drive.  I also question the need for additional retail space with the vacant spaces along 135th street. 
 
Based on Oddo’s proposed plan the majority of the apartment buildings will exit onto 133rd Street with a slight jog to 
High Drive should they decide to cut through Wilshire Place and Wilshire subdivisions to connect to Mission Road.  I live 
5 houses in on High Drive and I feel this street is already very busy with no stop or yield signs to slow traffic.  Residents 
of Wilshire Place regularly complain about how busy High Drive is and are concerned for their children’s as well as their 
own safety on this street.  Should this development proceed I anticipate a ripple effect of  traffic to Wilshire Place, 
Greenbriar, Wilshire and Leawood South’s neighborhoods as people revise their commute to deal with the increased 
traffic on 133rd Street.  I would expect traffic lights being required at all exits from Wilshire Place, Greenbriar and The 
Enclave as it is already difficult to exit our subdivisions with the current level of traffic on 133rd.  I know of several 
residents looking to put their houses on the market to avoid the increase in traffic. 
 
I also felt the recent traffic study done in late June will misrepresent the traffic pattern of 133rd Street, as it was done in 
the Summer of an unprecedented global pandemic.  Most Wilshire Place residents I know are working from home, and 
there is no school, and very few sporting events, practices or events in general going on currently.  That will not be the 
case once this pandemic is on the decline.  I do not see any value in the traffic study done in late June 2020. 
 
I am adamantly opposed to the proposed development plan and hope that the planning commission takes the opinions 
of current Leawood residents into account when evaluating this plans feasibility. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
Christopher L. Nelson, FALU, FLMI, ARA, ACS 
AVP‐Underwriting 
Zurich Life North America 
(913) 664‐3579 
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Christopher.nelson@zurichna.com 
 
 
Confidential \ Personal Data 
 
******************* PLEASE NOTE ******************* 
This message, along with any attachments, is for the designated recipient(s) only and may contain privileged, 
proprietary, or otherwise confidential information. If this message has reached you in error, kindly destroy it 
without review and notify the sender immediately. Any other use of such misdirected e-mail by you is 
prohibited. Where allowed by local law, electronic communications with Zurich and its affiliates, including e-
mail and instant messaging (including content), may be scanned for the purposes of information security and 
assessment of internal compliance with company policy. WARNING: This email originated from an 
EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and 
know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 10:06 AM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: FW: Cameron's Court development - Chris Nelson to Mayor Dun

 

From: Chris Nelson <christopher.nelson@zurichna.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2020 9:54 AM 
To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Committees ‐ City Council <Allcouncil@leawood.org> 
Subject: FW: Cameron's Court development 
 
Mayor Dunn and Leawood City Council Members, 
 
I am forwarding you my email to the Leawood Planning Commission re my strong opposition to the proposed Cameron’s 
Court project by Oddo Development.  Should this project be approved I feel it will greatly affect the lives of the 
surrounding subdivisions and schools.  I ask that you take the current, Leawood resident’s opinions into consideration 
and reject this plan. 
 
Thank you for your consideration,  
 
 
Christopher L. Nelson, FALU, FLMI, ARA, ACS 
AVP‐Underwriting 
Zurich Life North America 
(913) 664‐3579 
Christopher.nelson@zurichna.com 
 
 
Confidential \ Personal Data 

From: Chris Nelson  
Sent: Tuesday, August 04, 2020 10:12 AM 
To: planning@leawood.org 
Cc: 'kathleen.g.nelson@gmail.com' <kathleen.g.nelson@gmail.com> 
Subject: RE: Cameron's Court development 
 
Planning Commission of Leawood, 
 
My name is Chris Nelson, I am a resident of Wilshire Place, located at 13282  High Drive, Leawood, Kansas.  I want to 
voice my strong opposition to the proposed Oddo development of Cameron’s Court. 
 
I attended Oddo’s meeting at Villa Milano and I was dismayed by the lack of social distancing provided by Oddo 
Development.  The cynic in me believes this may have been intentional to suppress opposition.  I was surprised that they 
are proposing 662 multi family living units and 59 single family homes along with retail in this development.  I cannot 
recall an apartment complex in Leawood that has 4 story apartments.  I feel the proposed development looks cheap and 
is inconsistent with Leawood’s current architecture and standards and is not well thought out re increased traffic to 
133rd street and High Drive.  I also question the need for additional retail space with the vacant spaces along 135th street. 
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Based on Oddo’s proposed plan the majority of the apartment buildings will exit onto 133rd Street with a slight jog to 
High Drive should they decide to cut through Wilshire Place and Wilshire subdivisions to connect to Mission Road.  I live 
5 houses in on High Drive and I feel this street is already very busy with no stop or yield signs to slow traffic.  Residents 
of Wilshire Place regularly complain about how busy High Drive is and are concerned for their children’s as well as their 
own safety on this street.  Should this development proceed I anticipate a ripple effect of  traffic to Wilshire Place, 
Greenbriar, Wilshire and Leawood South’s neighborhoods as people revise their commute to deal with the increased 
traffic on 133rd Street.  I would expect traffic lights being required at all exits from Wilshire Place, Greenbriar and The 
Enclave as it is already difficult to exit our subdivisions with the current level of traffic on 133rd.  I know of several 
residents looking to put their houses on the market to avoid the increase in traffic. 
 
I also felt the recent traffic study done in late June will misrepresent the traffic pattern of 133rd Street, as it was done in 
the Summer of an unprecedented global pandemic.  Most Wilshire Place residents I know are working from home, and 
there is no school, and very few sporting events, practices or events in general going on currently.  That will not be the 
case once this pandemic is on the decline.  I do not see any value in the traffic study done in late June 2020. 
 
I am adamantly opposed to the proposed development plan and hope that the planning commission takes the opinions 
of current Leawood residents into account when evaluating this plans feasibility. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Regards, 
 
 
Christopher L. Nelson, FALU, FLMI, ARA, ACS 
AVP‐Underwriting 
Zurich Life North America 
(913) 664‐3579 
Christopher.nelson@zurichna.com 
 
 
Confidential \ Personal Data 
 
******************* PLEASE NOTE ******************* 
This message, along with any attachments, is for the designated recipient(s) only and may contain privileged, 
proprietary, or otherwise confidential information. If this message has reached you in error, kindly destroy it 
without review and notify the sender immediately. Any other use of such misdirected e-mail by you is 
prohibited. Where allowed by local law, electronic communications with Zurich and its affiliates, including e-
mail and instant messaging (including content), may be scanned for the purposes of information security and 
assessment of internal compliance with company policy. WARNING: This email originated from an 
EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and 
know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 11:16 AM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: RE: Cameron Place Proposal

From: chris vukas <chrisvukas@gmail.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 10:49 AM 
To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Committees ‐ City Council <Allcouncil@leawood.org> 
Subject: Cameron Place Proposal 

 
 
 
6‐17‐20 
  
  
Mayor Dunn and City Council Members 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
  
Re:         Cameron Place Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood 
  
Dear Mayor Dunn and City Council: 
  
We are writing on behalf of a group of concerned residents of the Wilshire Place, regarding the proposed Cameron Place 
development. First, the group recognizes that Oddo Development has put a significant amount of time and thought into 
the current draft proposal for the Cameron Place Development. We, as the neighborhood most impacted by 
development between 133rd and 135th from Pawnee to State Line, are open to a great project that will not only 
enhance our neighborhood, but provide additional amenities to make Leawood an even better place to live.  
  
After reviewing the plans, as well as information provided by Oddo, we have concluded the project as currently 
envisioned is incompatible with our area.  The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street, as well as the existing 
commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor, are almost entirely high‐end residential developments. 
We need to be careful that any new development does not adversely affect them. The City’s existing development plan 
calls for moderate‐high density mixed use projects in our area.  We fully support that vision for our City.   
  
We feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of existing home and enhance our 
overall community.  While there are some very good elements to the project, including the duplex homes and 
apartments in a “Villa Milano” style, we believe the plan is too dense, calling for over 600 hundred apartment units. The 
current plan also calls for four story structures, which will tower over the skyline of our neighborhood.   
  
All of us moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services available in south 
Leawood.  The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, and potential crime to 
our area without providing the amenities of a mixed‐use project. Mission Trail Elementary is already at capacity and 
could not handle an influx of additional students from 1200‐1400 new residents.  133rd street is not well‐suited to such a 
huge influx of additional traffic. Gezer Park too would likely be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in such a 
small area.   
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Again, we look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed.  We are not 
opposed to plans that are consistent with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues.  But, we respectfully request 
that you reject the current project as Oddo development has proposed it.  
  
Sincerely yours, 
 Chris Vukas 
13252 Falmouth Rd 
Leawood, KS 66209  
  
Concerned Residents of Wilshire Place  
--  
 
 
 
 
Best, 
 
Chris 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Grant Lang
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 11:43 AM
To: 'chris vukas'; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: RE: Cameron Place Proposal

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Good Morning, 
 
Thank you for submitting your letter to planning staff. Staff will add the letter to the public record, which will be 
reviewed by the Planning Commission and the Governing Body once the case is to be heard. 
 
Please let me know if you have any other questions. 
 
Thank you, 
 

Grant D Lang 
City Planner 
Phone: 913-663-9163 

 
 
 

From: chris vukas  
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 11:37 AM 
To: Planning and Development General Email  
Subject: Cameron Place Proposal 

 
 
 
6‐17‐20 
 
 
Leawood Planning 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
Re: Cameron Place Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood 
 
Dear Leawood Planning Department: 
 
We are writing on behalf of a group of concerned residents of the Wilshire Place, regarding the proposed Cameron Place 
development. First, the group recognizes that Oddo Development has put a significant amount of time and thought into 
the current draft proposal for the Cameron Place Development. We, as the neighborhood most impacted by 
development between 133rd and 135th from Pawnee to State Line, are open to a great project that will not only 
enhance our neighborhood, but provide additional amenities to make Leawood an even better place to live.  
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After reviewing the plans, as well as information provided by Oddo, we have concluded the project as currently 
envisioned is incompatible with our area. The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street, as well as the existing 
commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor, are almost entirely high‐end residential developments. 
We need to be careful that any new development does not adversely affect them. The City’s existing development plan 
calls for moderate‐high density mixed use projects in our area. We fully support that vision for our City.  
 
We feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of existing home and enhance our 
overall community. While there are some very good elements to the project, including the duplex homes and 
apartments in a “Villa Milano” style, we believe the plan is too dense, calling for over 600 hundred apartment units. The 
current plan also calls for four story structures, which will tower over the skyline of our neighborhood.  
 
All of us moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services available in south Leawood. 
The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, and potential crime to our area 
without providing the amenities of a mixed‐use project. Mission Trail Elementary is already at capacity and could not 
handle an influx of additional students from 1200‐1400 new residents. 133rd street is not well‐suited to such a huge 
influx of additional traffic. Gezer Park too would likely be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in such a small 
area.  
 
Again, we look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed. We are not 
opposed to plans that are consistent with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues. But, we respectfully request 
that you reject the current project as Oddo development has proposed it.  
 
Sincerely yours, 
Chris Vukas 
13252 Falmouth Rd 
Leawood, KS 66209  
 
Concerned Residents of Wilshire Place  
--  
 
 
 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Cindy Brock <cindy.brock@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, June 23, 2020 2:34 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's Court development

Just one short year ago, we moved to the lovely Leawood Ks area.  We were so excited to be a part of the 
beautiful surroundings and very uncrowded areas including high traffic and dense apartment living. 
 
We moved from Plano, Texas after 25 years to retire here in Leawood.  Our pleasant Plano turned into a terribly 
crowded area with apartments and retail centers crowded along a 4 lane road.  Our schools suffered from the 
dense apartments that were recently built and traffic was horrendous trying to get out of our subdivision.  I was 
so elated to find an area that offered the gentile living that we wanted to experience in our retirement 
years.  Now that is being threatened by the proposed Cameron Court development.   
 
The one attribute that I told my friends and family and we moved to Leawood, was the fact that the housing and 
apartments and retail were set back away from the roads.  It gives the area a feel of living in the enchanted 
forest.  Now it looks like, judging from the plans, the development will be in our face and bustling with traffic 
noise as we live right on High Drive. 
 
I hope you will consider what you are approving and continue to follow the path of offering a beautiful area to 
raise families and retire without feeling stressed out about the traffic, housing sitting on the street practically, 
overcrowding of schools and having Gezer park overwhelmed with so many people.   
 
When Plano finished their building project, we moved.  If this is approved, I will be looking again to move to an 
area where the area can fulfill my desire to live in a less chaotic area and where their planning council matches 
my lifestyle of peace and serenity and beauty. 
 
I hope you relook at your current plan and truly look to future implications as they are not favorable to this 
lovely area. 
 
In addition, my husband and I concur with the letter sent to you by Wilshire Place. 
 
Respectfully, 
Richard J Brock 
Cynthia A Brock 
13212 High Drive 
Leawood Ks  66209 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



June 17, 2020 
 
Leawood City Council 
11400 Cambridge Road 
Leawood, KS 66211 
  
Re:         Cameron Place Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood 
  
Dear Mayor Dunn and City Council: 
  
We writing on behalf of a group of concerned residents of the Wilshire Place, regarding the proposed 
Cameron Place development. First, the group recognizes that Oddo Development has put a significant 
amount of time and thought into the current draft proposal for the Cameron Place Development. We, as 
the neighborhood most impacted by development between 133rd and 135th from Pawnee to State Line, 
are open to a great project that will not only enhance our neighborhood, but provide additional 
amenities to make Leawood an even better place to live. And our house is within 200 feet of the 
proposed development.  
  
After reviewing the plans, as well as information provided by Oddo, we have concluded the project as 
currently envisioned is incompatible with our area.  The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street, as 
well as the existing commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor, are almost entirely 
high-end residential developments. We need to be careful that any new development does not 
adversely affect them. The City’s existing development plan calls for moderate-high density mixed use 
projects in our area.  We fully support that vision for our City.   
 
We feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of existing home and 
enhance our overall community.  While there are some very good elements to the project, including the 
single family homes and apartments in a “Villa Milano” style, we believe the plan is too dense, calling for 
over 600 hundred apartment units. The current plan also calls for four story structures, which will tower 
over the skyline of our neighborhood.   

 
All of us moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services available in 
south Leawood.  The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, 
and potential crime to our area without providing the amenities of a mixed-use project. Mission Trail 
Elementary is already at capacity and could not handle an influx of additional students from 1200-1400 
new residents.  133rd street is not well-suited to such a huge influx of additional traffic.  Gezer Park too 
would likely be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in such a small area.   
 
Again, we look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed.  
We are not opposed to plans that are consistent with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues.  But, 
we respectfully request that you reject the current project as Oddo Development has proposed it.  
  
Sincerely yours, 
  
Dan and Kim Goldberg 
3089 West 132 Place, Leawood, KS 66209  
  
cc: [the Mayor, and the entire City Council] 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Dario Jaramillo <darjar14@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, June 15, 2020 2:50 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: 133rd proposed development concerns

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

TWIMC: 
 
I am extremely concerned about the proposed development on 133rd in Leawood. 
 
Our schools are in jeopardy of being underfunded and overcrowded and this project only significantly hurts our 
children’s educational opportunities..as well as ours our children at increased risk of injury and other risk 
factors. 
 
Please note my extreme dissatisfaction with this proposal  
 
Dario Jaramillo 
4145 W 128th Terrace, Leawood, KS 66209 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Dennis Palmer <dennispalmer430@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 9:08 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Fwd: Waterford's and Its Residents concerns about the  Cameron Court Project.

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

I am resending the below to the planning Commission because i used the wrong email address earlier and 
apologize for any confusion.  
 
Would you please be so kind as to acknowledge receipt of Waterford’s comments by replying to my email.  We 
want to make sure they were delivered. 
   
Thank you  
 
Dennis Palmer 
President of Waterford  
 
 

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Dennis Palmer <dennispalmer430@gmail.com> 
Date: August 20, 2020 at 8:41:47 AM CDT 
To: Planning@leawood.com 
Cc: davidl@leawood.org, RichardC@leawood.org, Lisa Harrison <lharrison.kc@gmail.com> 
Subject: Re:  Waterford's and Its Residents concerns about the  Cameron Court Project. 

  
 
 
Subject: Waterford's and Its Residents concerns about the Cameron Court Project. 

Please enter the following in the record of the Planning Commision meeting regarding the 
Cameron Court Project at its meeting on August 25, 2020. 
 
Waterford Homes Association is a single family residential community of 331 homes located 
near the proposed Cameron Court Project. Waterford's Board has reviewed the Project and has 
objections and concerns about various aspects of the Project.  Also, it gathered comments and 
questions about the Project from its residents. The major concerns. comments and questions 
about the Project from Waterford's Board and residents are set out below.  
 
1. A universal concern and question is the substantial increase in traffic caused by the Project to 
133rd, 135th and 132nd streets, the last of which runs through the south side of Waterford and 
already is being used by non-residents as a cut through road to 133nd and other streets. 
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What measures and requirements will the Commission take to limit the drastic impact on traffic 
congestion and problems resulting from the Project?  Will additional traffic signals and patterns 
be required? If so, where? Will  the City restrict access to the Project to and from 135th only and 
not from 133rd (the north side) to minimize the dramatic impact on traffic in surrounding 
neighborhoods? 
 
2. The mix, number and height of apartments proposed by the Project does not seem appropriate 
and there is much concern about this. We understand that the number of apartment units 
available for rent in south Johnson county already exceeds the demand for apartments. What is 
the general occupancy rate of apartments along 135th near the Project? How many units 
currently exist along 135th street corridor.? Are the apartments provided for in the Project 
necessary and why?  
 
What requirements or rules provide for a mix of low income housing at the project?  Does the 
Commission have plans or intend to regulate the type of housing allowed at the Project? Has the 
developer considered 55+ apartment/townhomes for residents who are looking to remain in the 
area but want to downsize? Will the developer offer high end single family townhomes/villas 
like those across 135th, off of 137th and Mission road?  
 
Will the developer restrict the project to business use only and  place a berm separating the 
project from 133rd, like the one behind 
the Price Chopper at 135th and Mission? And, if so are there concerns about adding additional 
commercial/office space when there is already seemingly much space that is not being used and 
vacant? What is the current vacancy rate for commercial/office space in Overland 
Park/Leawood? 
 
We understand the apartment buildings may be as tall as 5 stories. What are the height 
restrictions in Leawood? Does Leawood have adequate fire and safety equipment to reach the top 
stories? Even if it has water suppression capabilities to fight fires, can it safely get people out of 
5 story buildings?    
 
3. What is the impact of the Project on the Mission Trail Elementary school student capacity and 
traffic at the school? What has the developer done to show that the Impact on education at the 
school is reasonable and will not negatively impact and stress the class size and safety of 
children due to a sharp increase in traffic flow around the school? 
 
4. There is high level of concern and questions about the adverse impact and strain on Leawoods 
public recreational amenities, and particularly its parks and green spaces. For example, 
Waterford has seen an uptick in younger families moving into its neighborhood. On nice days, 
Gezer Park is overflowing. The play area already is too small to handle the crowds of children 
and adults.  Already there is not enough park space in South Leawood near Waterford's 
concentrated neighborhood which kids and families can easily walk to. Families are having to go 
to other parks by car when Gezer Park has such high use and is often full.    
 
Has the developer considered or Commission studied the impact of the Project on residents using 
Leawood"s recreational amenities, and especially on the many residents currently using Gezer 
Park? What are the Planning Commission's recommendations for allotted park space in the area 
and what is the impact of the Project on those recommendations? 
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And, if the Project or some version of it is allowed to move forward, will there be requirements 
for the developer to donate additional parkland or prove ample park space within the Project for 
the new residents? Currently, the open land provides a green space buffer and at the least a 
portion of any Project should be reserved for public parks and green space. 
 
Waterford appreciates the opportunity to present these concerns and questions and objections in 
writing to the Commission. It is very near the Project and will be directly impacted by the 
Project. As a result its presentation should be given substantial weight and consideration. Thank 
you. 
 
Waterford Homes Association Board. 
 
 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



 

ENCLAVE AT CEDAR POINTE HOA 

RE: CAMERON’S COURT COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
              

OVERVIEW 

Concerns expressed by members of our Homes Association and neighboring communities at 
the Oddo Development Interact Meeting on June 8, 2020, compelled our HOA committee to 
seek modifications to the original site plan presented. Our neighborhood fully understands 
that the land from 133rd to 135th and State Line to Cornerstone Presbyterian Church will 
eventually be commercially developed. Our endeavor over the last two months has been 
focused on upholding our community’s safety, livability and property values. As stakeholders 
in the development process, we met with the developer and made several inquires to the city 
in pursuit of the following residential objectives: 

1. limiting entry/exit points onto 133rd to control traffic flow, avoiding cut-through traffic 
and addressing safety concerns for pedestrians and cyclists, 

2. creation of a tree preservation along 133rd to retain the existing tree line that acts as a 
privacy barrier and natural habitat,  

3. and location of high-density buildings closer to the 135th higher-traffic commercial 
corridor and away from the residential 133rd neighborhoods.  

Action Taken 

The developer worked with our committee in arriving at site plan modifications. The revised 
site plan introduced to us on August 11, 2020 is attached to this memorandum and addresses 
our concerns in the following manner: 

Reduction of access points on 133rd St east of church to State Line; revisions include only 
one entry at Kenneth Road (with no cut-through) and one right-only across from Village of 
Seville. The elimination of the Overbrook access point addresses a very real safety concern 
with attempted cut-through traffic in our neighborhood, entry exit traffic at our entrance, 
and headlights beaming into our homes. The addition of the right-only access across from 
Village of Seville keeps traffic from turning left onto 133rd and crossing in front of our 
neighborhood. And, finally, the use of Kenneth Rd instead of Overbrook as the main 133rd 
entry into the commercial development keeps the commercial traffic to the western end of 
our neighborhood, out of sight and out of our neighborhood entrance.  

By not having Kenneth cut-through from 135th and utilizing a u-shaped drive through the 
commercial development before coming back out to 133rd, we avoid the high risk of 
additional traffic on 133rd. Eastbound traffic is highly congested at 135th and State Line west 
to Pawnee during rush hour. The current site plan already calls for a 135th/133rd cut-through 
at High Dr in addition to the existing cut-through at Pawnee. Traffic backed up at 135th and 
State Line would attempt to use a Kenneth Rd cut-through as a bypass of the 135th and State 
Line intersection. This type of traffic is rush hour, commuter traffic, a cut-through to 133rd 
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would allow rush hour traffic to overflow into our neighborhoods at the location where 
pedestrians cross 133rd to connect to the sidewalk. 

An Overbrook access point or Kenneth cut-through would significantly and negatively impact 
pedestrian and bicycle traffic and create dangerous intersections, especially for children. 
Ultimately, these factors would devalue all nearby residential properties and affect the 
enjoyment of our homes. 

Preservation of existing dense, old-growth tree line (along the south side of 133rd, east of 
the church, to the intersection of the Village of Seville). This natural sight and sound barrier 
will be fully retained up to the building envelope as depicted on the site plan, keeping the 
irreplaceable natural aesthetic and privacy enjoyed by residents, pedestrians and cyclists. 
Destruction of this tree line would be a stark contrast to the current residential environment 
and devalues surrounding properties. 

Movement of high-density, high-traffic commercial activity is now placed along 135th St., as 
far away from the 133rd residential corridor as possible, and replaced with one low-density, 
one-story commercial building with green space running from the tree line east to the Village 
of Seville right-only access point. This movement and configuration of the retail/office and 
other commercial buildings retains the residential qualities along 133rd, otherwise, our homes 
would be exposed to high traffic, noise and lack of privacy.  

STATEMENT 

The city’s 135th Community Plan seems to support the residents’ desire to retain green space, 
improve walkability, and live in a serene environment. We appreciate the city’s earnest and 
conscientious efforts to uphold these qualities to protect property values and quality of life. 
We very much would like to collaborate with the city and the developer to achieve this. 

We support the August 11 Site Plan revisions as the revisions pertain to our direct objectives. 
We have appreciated the developer’s time and consideration in this endeavor. As stakeholders 
in the development, we request that any material changes to the August 11 Site Plan are 
brought to our attention in any future iteration of this plan by the developer or the city. 

While our efforts with the developer have resulted in modifications to support our concerns, 
we would like to understand how and when other infrastructure elements, especially for the 
multitude of pedestrians and cyclists - such as crosswalks, turn lanes, bike lanes, etc. - will 
be addressed and by whom. Those elements aren’t currently reflected in the site plan. Whose 
responsibility is that infrastructure and how we can address it even ahead of actual 
development of commercial property, as there is currently a need. 

We look forward to attending the Planning Commission Hearing on August 25th to gain an 
understanding of all concerns and express the message contained in this statement.  

We believe, with the utmost sincerity, that all stakeholders can and should work together to 
support the best interest of the city, the developer and the residents  —an engagement that 
we hope is present in moving forward with any development along the 133rd St residential 
corridor.
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TO: CITY OF LEAWOOD PLANNING COMMISSION 

RE: CAMERON’S COURT REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF REZONING AND PRELIMINARY PLAN  
 Case No 49-20 
 
DATE: August 20, 2020 

It is not readily apparent how the preliminary plan submitted in support of rezoning fulfills the 

recommendations of the 135th Street Community Plan dated December 2013 and adopted by the 

Leawood City Council on June 16, 2014 (Resolution No. 4258)(“The 135th Street Plan”). In fact, the 

preliminary plan appears at odds with the 135th Street Plan in significant regards.   

The Cameron’s Court preliminary plan, which stretches from State Line Road to Pawnee, contains no 

apparent bicycle/pedestrian amenity. This is especially true with regard to 133rd Street, which if the plan 

described results in development will eliminate 133rd Street as a viable bicycle through way (despite its 

designation as such ). It should be relatively easy for the developer to include a bike/pedestrian shared 

path that allows bicycles and pedestrians to traverse this stretch of land safely and away from the 

significant traffic on both 135th Street and 133rd Streets . 

As the 135th Street Plan recognized, “135th Street itself is a significant pedestrian barrier at major 

intersections, due to its width, character and traffic volume.” p.76.  It goes without saying that traffic 

volumes have increased since 2013, making 135th Street even less pedestrian-friendly.  In the same vein, 

traffic speeds on 135th Street make it completely inappropriate for bicycle traffic.   

Just as water flows where it wants to go, pedestrians and bicycles have flowed away from 135th Street 

and to 133rd Street.  The City of Leawood (“the City”) has designated much of 133rd Street between 

Mission Road and State Line Road as a “shared roadway for bicycles and vehicles.”  The 135th Street 

Plan, p.70.  This designation was made consistent with the  low traffic count and restricted speeds that 

allow for safer access for bicycles and pedestrians along 133rd Street. 

The 135th Street Plan also describes measurements of success (p.98), which include “increase in bike 

facilities” and “reduction in pedestrian-motorist collisions” and that “[P]roviding an excellent pedestrian 

environment is a top priority for development.”  (P.98). 

In contrast to the guidance provided by the 135th Street Plan, the proposed development will 

substantially increase vehicle traffic on 133rd Street, makes no apparent improvement for pedestrians 

and bicycles, and in fact results in the elimination of some bicycle lanes on 133rd Street. 

Further, the only access to any pedestrian or bicycle facilities for residents of the Enclave at Cedar Pointe 

is via Overbrook Road south to 133rd Street.  Although a sidewalk exists on the north side of 133rd Street 

between State Line Road and Overbrook Road, that sidewalk ends approximately 260 feet west of 

Overbrook Road.  Residents of Enclave at Cedar Pointe then must cross 133rd Street to access the 

sidewalk on the south side of 133rd in order to continue walking west (to enjoy Geyser Park).  The 

developer’s traffic study concludes that much of the current designated bicycle lane along 133rd Street 

will be eliminated in order to accommodate turn lanes for the 6 additional access points from the new 

development onto 133rd Street. The traffic study also confirms that “(F)ull build-out of the proposed 



development will result in a significant increase in traffic to the surrounding street network.” (P.21).  

Cameron’s Court preliminary plan makes no accommodation for pedestrians on the north side of 133rd 

Street to access the sidewalk on the south side of 133rd Street. 

In addition, it should be recognized that this area of Leawood is significantly underserved regarding 

wireless coverage.  The addition of hundreds of new residences and several commercial buildings will 

overwhelm what little available wireless bandwidth exists today.  The Planning Commission should 

contemplate what solution should be planned for prior to approving this rezoning request.   

It is our opinion that considerations for pedestrian and bicycle safety, consistent with the 135th Street 

Plan, should be fully addressed before any zoning change is approved for the preliminary plan currently 

under consideration.  The Planning Commission should also consider the likely inadequacy of wireless 

coverage associated with the rezoning request.  

We appreciate the opportunity the submit these comments. 

 

Mark McGrory 
Ginevera Moore 
2212 W. 131st Street 
Leawood, KS  66209 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 8:51 AM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: FW: Oddo Development Plan

From: Jeff Logan <Jeff.Logan@c2fo.com> 
Date: June 18, 2020 at 8:08:07 AM CDT 
To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org> 
Cc: "bridgetlogan06@gmail.com" <bridgetlogan06@gmail.com> 
Subject: Oddo Development Plan 

  
Peggy, 
I trust this finds you well.  I am reaching out as a result of a neighborhood meeting I attended last night 
in Wilshire Place here in Leawood.  My family and I have lived in this neighborhood since 2006.  The 
topic of discussion was around the proposed plan to develop the land south and east of our 
neighborhood.  The meeting was attended by ~40 residents and organized by our board. 
  
The overwhelming majority of the folks in attendance are categorically opposed to the plan in its current 
form.  I would like to make it clear that there was not a single dissenting voice that was willing to 
speak.  My assumption is that you will be hearing from a number of folks in our neighborhood if/when 
this plan makes it through planning on 8/27.  So you are prepared for that influx, here are the key points 
that you will likely hear: 
  
‐Oddo is an apartment developer with admittedly little interest in building single family homes but “will 
do it to satisfy the city.”* 
  
‐The influx of traffic from more than 600 new dwellings will significantly impact our neighborhood in 
many ways not the least of which is a decrease in our property values and ability to sell. 
  
‐Our local elementary school will be overwhelmed.  As you likely know, Mission Trail Elementary is a 
Blue Ribbon School and a big reason why our neighborhood has been so stable and attractive. 
  
‐The density of the plan is completely unacceptable.  Three and four story apartment towers do not fit 
into the aesthetic of the city.  While Oddo touts the 59 SFH being built, the concern is the number of 
rental units being added in this plan.   
  
‐For any of this to happen, my understanding is that it would require re‐zoning the land.  The residents 
in attendance were adamant that the zoning not change.  The definition of mixed‐use is being skirted by 
the plan Oddo presented to our community a couple of weeks back.  They don’t have an agreement in 
place to procure the land where all of their commercial dwellings would be built as it stands.  There is no 
way they can meet the mixed‐use requirements given this.  I think you would have to agree that to build 
a bunch of high‐density apartment on the existing parcel with “hope” that eventually they will procure 
and develop the commercial site is a poorly thought through plan. 
  
The residents of Wilshire Place will band together against this initiative.  Thank you for your time. 
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*sentiment expressed by Rick Oddo during community Zoom meeting 
  

 

Jeff Logan 
Senior Vice President 
Mobile: 9136533244 
C2FO: The World's Market For Working Capital® 

  

 
The information contained in this message and any attachment may be privileged, confidential, and protected from disclosure. 
If you are not the intended recipient, or an employee, or agent responsible for delivering this message to the intended 
recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution, or copying of this communication is strictly prohibited. If 
you have received this communication in error, please notify us immediately by replying to the message and deleting from 
your computer. 

  
  

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: jkincaid@kpmadvantage.com
Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 3:34 PM
To: Richard Coleman; Mark Klein; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Enclave at Cedar Pointe HOA Statement Regarding Cameron's Court Case No 49-20
Attachments: ENCLAVE HOA STATEMENT RE CAMERONS COURT.pdf

Hello, 
 
I am writing today on behalf of the Enclave at Cedar Pointe Homes Association located at 133rd and 
Overbrook regarding the rezoning application for Cameron's Court. 
 
The commercial side of the Cameron's Court development is directly across from our neighborhood. Since 
the June Interact Meeting, we have taken steps to address our residential concerns and would like to work 
with the city as the matter progresses.  
 
We have requested the attached statement to be included in the packet for the August 25, 2020 Planning 
Commission hearing. Two representatives from our neighborhood also intend to speak on behalf of our 
residents at the hearing. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Julie Kincaid 
President, Enclave at Cedar Pointe HOA 
 
(913) 219-7579 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Kathleen Nelson <kathleen.g.nelson@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 18, 2020 10:29 PM
To: Peggy Dunn; Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Opposition to Cameron's Court Development

Leawood Planning Commission, Leawood City Council and Mayor Dunn,  
 
I am writing to express my strong opposition to the Cameron’s Court development that has been proposed 
between 133rd and 135th Streets and Pawnee to State Line Road. The proposed development, which includes 
662 multi-family units plus 59 single family homes, is simply too dense and will overwhelm our neighborhood 
schools (Mission Trail Elementary and Leawood Middle School) and Gezer Park. 
 
I live at 13282 High Drive and I am extremely concerned about the increased traffic that this development 
would create. The current plan calls for the highest-density apartments to exit onto High Drive, which, with just 
a slight jog, will connect to the existing portion of High Drive and substantially increase traffic in the Wilshire 
Place subdivision. There is already heavy traffic on High Drive, especially during rush hour, making it difficult 
to pull in or out of our driveway.  It is also difficult to exit onto 133rd Street from High Drive, and the increased 
traffic from several hundred apartments will certainly make it worse. Any traffic study that has been conducted 
since early March 2020 is not an accurate representation of the traffic on 133rd Street. During the 
unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic, when schools and all extra-curricular activities have been cancelled, and 
many homeowners in the surrounding neighborhoods are working from home, traffic on High Drive and 133rd 
Street has been greatly reduced. And with 25% of Blue Valley students choosing to attend school virtually in 
the fall, and many employees not planning to return to their offices until 2021, a reliable traffic study cannot be 
conducted until this pandemic has subsided.     
 
I am not alone in my opposition to this plan. Although the Wilshire Place Homeowners’ Association Board, due 
to certain conflicts of interest with Oddo Development, has taken a less active role in opposing this 
development compared to previous proposals, the subdivision is overwhelmingly opposed to Oddo’s plan. An 
online poll of Wilshire Place residents was conducted in late June 2020 and showed that over 80% of 
respondents opposed the proposed development. More specifically, 60.87% of respondents “strongly 
oppose” and another 20.00% “oppose” the proposal.   
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Kathleen Nelson 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



Kelly M. Sherman 

26 Bar Farm, LLC 

12920 El Monte Street 

Leawood, KS 66209 

816-805-3494 

 

RE: Public Hearing 6:00 PM Tuesday, June 23,2020, Planning Commission 

       City Council Chambers of Leawood City Hall 

       Cameron’s Court/135th Street to 133rd Street, Pawnee Lane to State Line Road 

        

Dear Leawood Planning Commission,  

I am a homeowner in Ward 4 in Leawood, Kansas. I am also the owner of property within 200 feet of the 

above referenced property. As a result of notice for an “interact meeting” scheduled for June 10th of this 

year, I have reviewed the detailed plans for Cameron’s Court. I was unable to attend the meeting.  

 

I am writing to give my support to this project for the following reasons: 

-The reputation of the developer, ODDO Development Company, is outstanding from a tenant, customer 

and community perspective. It’s projects are well planned and financially successful. It’s owners have a 

longstanding positive reputation in the real estate industry in Johnson County, KS. 

-Based on the plans I have reviewed, it is obvious that Oddo has taken an incredible amount of time and 

expense to design a community development that incorporates residential and commercial spaces 

desirable to customers and tenants, while still embracing the “general guidelines” set forth by the city 

for community development. 

-It makes a lot of sense to cluster the residential parts of the development near existing residential and 

place the commercial and retail parts along State Line where the infrastructure for traffic already exists.  

As a result, this design has good traffic flow, retail and office synergy, and a quieter residential 

neighborhood. 

-Regarding the proposed residential, providing variety is important. Not everyone who lives in Leawood 

wants to live only one way and this community gives people options. The developer mentioned Villa 

Milano as an example for the type of “multi-family” which stands out as a beautiful and successful 

community. Obviously they know how to create neighborhoods that work for everyone. 

-Private streets are another unique suggestion in this plan. There are several examples of these in 

Leawood which are successful, sought after communities.  

I am sure that there are parts of these plans that the Planning Commission will have suggestions to 

improve or modify. After being in many meetings regarding the proposed Regency development next to 



our property, I am sure there will be cautions raised about this plan not meeting the Leawood 

Comprehensive Plan guidelines. As a Leawood resident and 135th Street Corridor land owner, I 

encourage you to keep an open mind and assist this developer in making their land into a beautiful, 

realistic, and financially viable mixed use community. 

I know it can work for everyone if you want to find a way forward. 

Respectfully submitted,     Kelly Sherman 

 



From: Reta Cailteux <rkcailteux@gmail.com> 

Sent: Friday, June 26, 2020 9:32 AM 

To: Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General Email 

Cc: Peggy Dunn 

Subject: Cameron's Court 

 

We are homeowners in Wilshire Place and wanted to express our concerns regarding the 

proposed development that is close to our subdivision.  

 

We have reviewed the plans by Oddo Development Company and here are some of our 

concerns: 

 

1. This is a quiet area and the amount of apartments proposed causes several problems...noise, 

traffic and too many children attending MIssion Trail elementary.   

2. The apartments off of 133rd (close to the church) should be removed. Only the 

apartments close to 135th street should be allowed if this project moves forward.  

3. There should be more single family homes.  This is one of the last areas north of 135th street 

and is very coveted.  This could be achieved by removing some of the apartments. 

4. Office space/retail that is close to Stateline is a major problem.  Leawood currently has so 

many empty multi use and strip malls (Town Center and Park Place also included). The proposed 

buildings will be empty for years. It has taken Price Chopper almost 20 years to fill their empty 

storefronts and this will be the same.  More people are working from home now and before 

Covid 19 plus the cost of rent will be too high for a small business. 

5. The hotel might possibly function on the corner of 135th and State LIne; however, homeless 

are always panhandling and roaming that area.  This will not be a safe area for travelers and their 

cars. 

 

These are our current concerns for the proposed development and thank you for taking the time 

to read this email. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Kevin and Reta Cailteux 

3049 W. 132nd Terrace 

Leawood, KS. 66209 

 

 

 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 4:43 PM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: FW: Oddo Development on 133rd

From: Kristin Ramsey <kristinjramsey@gmail.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 18, 2020 2:37 PM 
To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org> 
Subject: Oddo Development on 133rd 
 
Good afternoon, 
Hope you are doing well during these crazy times. I’m writing to you on behalf of my family. We live at 13200 Canterbury 
Road in Wilshire Place Development. My house his approximately 4 houses away from 133rd Street where the Oddo 
team is proposing to rezone the property between Mission and State line to be residential. This has a huge impact on 
our neighborhood, school district, traffic, etc. I wanted to let you know that our family is opposed to this development 
being approved by the city. 
 
There was a neighborhood “listening” session last night and it was clear that not one resident in our neighborhood that 
attended the meeting is for this development. We want to make sure our voices get heard and that we are not aligned 
with this getting approved. 
 
The density of this plan is unacceptable. Three and four story apartment towers do not fit into the Leawood aesthetic. 
We have a large concern for the number of units going in as well as potential change in plans once this is rezoned. We 
know this has to get rezoned fist and then I’m not sure what they are proposing meets citiy guidelines. 
 
Mission Trail, Leawood Middle and BVN are already crowded and could not handle more students and the 
student/teacher ratio would also go up which would affect our children’s education and we chose these neighborhoods 
for the amazing school system that BV has to offer. 
 
Overall this will impact our home value, traffic to get out of our neighborhood and the amazing school system that is a 
part of this area. 
 
We’d love your support to not approve this development and hear from our neighbors and listen to what they have to 
say. 
Thank you for listening. 
Kristin Ramsey 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Larry Gunja <popgun06@att.net>
Sent: Sunday, August 16, 2020 12:10 PM
To: Peggy Dunn
Cc: Planning and Development General Email; Committees - City Council
Subject: Cameron's Court Development Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawwood

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Mayor Dunn, Planning Commission, and City Council:   
 
This e-mail is in regards to the Oddo Development Company proposed development for the area within the 
boundaries of 133rd Street on the north, 135th Street on the south, Pawnee Lane on the west, and State Line on 
the east.  I am a resident of Leawood and my subdivision, Wilshire Place , will be the most affected area within 
the proposed development.  I am open to development of this area as long as it is in accordance with Leawood's 
vision, and one that enhances the already high standards of our neighborhoods.   
 
I strongly support Leawood's current plan for "moderate" high density mixed-use development within our 
boundaries.  The proposed Oddo Plan does not meet these standards.  The area is currently surrounded by both, 
high-end single-family residential homes and businesses that meet the city's requirements. I urge you to stand 
firm in our city's vision and continue to ensure to maintain the quality of life that is currently afforded to all 
Leawood residents.   
 
I'm sure you agree that any new development should enhance our home values and enhance our city.  The Oddo 
Plan which calls for an addition of 662 apartment units along with 59 single family homes (a total of 721 living 
units) is far too dense for the area. The plan also proposes some four-story structures which will not  conform 
with what is currently located along the 135th street corridor.  The addition of 721 living units will put stress on 
our excellent schools i.e. Mission Trail Elementary, exceptional city services, and our beautiful Gezer Park.  I 
don't think that our streets (specifically 133rd Street and High Drive which are becoming more heavily traveled 
already) will be able to handle the additional traffic that will result from this project.   
 
I look forward to this area being developed responsibly within the nature of the existing neighborhoods and 
businesses.  
 
I ask that you please reject the current development proposal from Oddo Development.   
 
If you have any questions for me, please contact me at your convenience.  My contact information is below.   
 
Thank you for your consideration.   
 
Larry Gunja  
13288 High Drive  
Leawood, KS 66209  
popgun06@att.net  
C 913-991-2765  
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: L Siomades <loriannesiomades@gmail.com>
Sent: Thursday, June 25, 2020 3:36 PM
To: Peggy Dunn; Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's Court development

Good afternoon, 
 
As a resident of Wilshire Place, I would like to add my support to the letter authored by Jeff Place, Ryan Brunton, and 
Chris Vukas regarding the Cameron’s Court development project.  We not only agree with the concerns that they have 
carefully outlined, we have some additional points to make as well. 
 
Two blocks east of proposed site for Cameron's Court is an existing retail development with more than half a dozen 
empty retail spaces sitting fallow, deteriorating. Look to the west and you will find more empty retail storefronts going 
to ruin, creating a blight on an otherwise healthy community. Empty buildings, and abandoned plazas are a magnet for 
crime, drugs, and teenage mischief, resulting in property damage and lose of property value all around. Leawood has no 
business building new retail when they can not even fill what they have now. It is a vulgar example of excess, waste and 
misappropriation of funds. 
 
In the name of transparency, please make public the evidence that 1200+ people are actively looking for a place to live 
and Oddo Development is indeed meeting a genuine need and not simply generating income and expanding a personal 
portfolio. 
 
The homeowners of Wilshire Place, Waterford, and surrounding neighborhoods invest an exorbitant amount of time, 
effort and money keeping their properties looking lovely in order to uphold values for everyone. It’s a matter of pride 
and of course aesthetics. The HOA fees support that aesthetic—in theory. If this development gets pushed through, that 
aesthetic is out the window—and so should the HOA fees. No amount of paint or petunias will compensate nor cover‐up 
the traffic, the dented cars, the trampled park, the noise, or the long shadow of a four‐story structure looming over our 
neighborhood. 
 
This is not a new story. This is not a unique situation. This proposal has been executed many times all over this country 
and it has never ended well. Follow the dots…you know what will happen: The school will suffer from over crowding. 
Your best teachers will leave. The pods you will have to build out back will be deemed unacceptable by most parents 
(rightfully so) and those families will move away. You’ll have problems in the over crowded classrooms and Mission 
Elementary will become the “embarrassing” school that no parent wants a bumper sticker for. More families will move 
away, selling at a loss, reducing property value even further. Other families will move in who cannot afford to paint 
every third year and the landscaping trucks that circle our streets on a daily bases will have to find work elsewhere. 
 
Shall I continue? 
 
Let’s talk about poor Gezer Park. The gentlemen were kind in their letter—using the term “overwhelmed” when 
describing the inevitable consequence of the park. I will be more blunt: I hope there is plenty of money in the coffers to 
maintain our little oasis, because the clean‐up crew had better set up permanent residence under the pavilion. As soon 
as you unleash 600 apartment dwelling residents who are starved for a little green space and a place for Rover to relieve 
himself—you can kiss that thyme good‐bye. Plan on draining the “Dead Sea” every year, as well as replacing pieces of 
playground equipment—annually. The grass will be trampled to dirt. It will be sad. And more families will move away. 
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And how about the obvious? The fact that we should be “social distancing” isn’t something that is going away anytime 
soon. Thankfully, thus far, keeping a responsible distance from people has been relatively easy to do. Cram 1200+ 
people into our Price Chopper and we might as well be in a D’Agostino’s in NYC at noon. 
 
Have you already called your realtors? Or maybe you’ve already sold because you knew what was on the horizon. Lucky 
you. Please do what you can for the rest of us who have been tossed under the bus. Be brave and do the right thing. 
 
Good luck. 
 
Sincerely, 
Lorianne and Thomas Siomades 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: maggie switzer <maggie_maloney@yahoo.com>
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2020 8:16 PM
To: Peggy Dunn; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Oddo Development Plan/Cameron's Court

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Mayor Dunn, 
 
We are writing you today as concerned homeowner's and Leawood residents. We have been following the developments 
regarding the proposed plan for the Cameron's Court development that Oddo Development is presenting to the city. We 
live in Wilshire Place, specifically on High Drive, and we are extremely concerned that this massive development, 
specifically the size and proposed cut thru to High Drive will be detrimental to our neighborhood, our home values, our 
children's safety and our local schools. 
 
Oddo Development is proposing over 600 units and some of these will be 3 or 4 story buildings. The sheer volume of units 
is concerning for those of us who live on High Drive and 133rd Streets. Our street has a very high volume of traffic on any 
given day without this development. The impact on traffic from over 600 additional housing units will greatly depreciate our 
property values and make High Drive even more unsafe than it already is for the numerous young children who live in 
Wilshire Place and ride their bikes all around the neighborhood.  
 
We are aware that two traffic studies were conducted, the first one being around the time that quarantine began. Any 
traffic study held at this time does not accurately reflect the normal traffic flow on 133rd Street. The schools were shut 
down and residents were working from home in record numbers. On a normal given afternoon, anytime between about 
3:30 until 6:00 pm, turning east onto 133rd from High Drive can take numerous minutes due to the immense amount of 
traffic. The second study was conducted around the first of July and quite frankly is no more accurate than the first in 
regards to normal day to day traffic on 133rd. The majority of residents in Wilshire Place and Leawood are still working 
from home and we are on summer break from school. The proposed 600 units would make traffic flow on 133rd street 
more of a congested than it already is. The backup of traffic in the morning with residents traveling east on 133rd to turn 
left onto State Line will lead to excessive back ups and congestion. 
 
As far as safety goes, High Drive is used as a major cut through to residents in nearby neighborhoods as well as those 
that reside in Wilshire Place. That being said, the majority of these drivers are not obeying the speed limit or are distracted 
by texting. There are many, many children in this neighborhood that are out on their bikes and scooters crossing High 
Drive. We witness at least a few children a day who almost get hit by cars. We do not want nor need the influx of cars 
from the Cameron's Court development to make an already dangerous situation even more so. 
 
We wish recognize the Wilshire Place residents concerns and reject this proposed development. 
 
Sincerely, 
Maggie and Tom Switzer 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



From: Mary Larson
To: Debbie Brenner
Subject: Fwd: my council member
Date: Monday, August 10, 2020 11:19:55 PM

Debbie,

Attached below is some correspondence Patty Bennett asked me to forward to you for the
Cameron Place file.

Thank you,
Mary Larson
Leawood City Council Ward 2

Begin forwarded message:

From: Mary Larson <MaryL@leawood.org>
Date: August 8, 2020 at 9:26:16 AM CDT
To: Rick Oddo <roddo@oddodev.com>
Subject: my council member

 Rick,

Congratulations on your purchase of the 23 acres at the NW corner of 135th and
Mission.  That’s exciting news for you and I wish you well.

As an experienced and successful developer, it will come as no surprise that I‘ve
been advised repeatedly by our City Attorney not to discuss development issues
with an applicant or any concerned citizens, especially when there is a project in
the pipeline that is on the Planning Commission agenda and soon to be on the
City Council agenda.  I should have been more specific in my previous email that
I’d be happy to talk about anything in Leawood.  My apologies, but I was really
referring to Public Works, Police, Parks and Rec, etc.  

Any conversation we’d have that touches on development would have to be
disclosed on the record when the item comes before the Council.  Detail of the
conversation captured from notes would have to be given.  I assure you that the
same standard applies to any concerned Leawood resident who would like to have
a conversation regarding a development proposal.

I know you are aware of all this, but just want to be sure to explain myself.  It’s
not my nature not to talk to or respond to anyone that wishes to do so.

Best Wishes,
Mary Larson

mailto:MaryL@leawood.org
mailto:debbieb@leawood.org


On Aug 6, 2020, at 3:01 PM, Rick Oddo <roddo@oddodev.com>
wrote:


Yes, there are several other items that I would like to talk about.  As you
know, I am a resident of Leawood and I have a lot of concerns about what
is going on in the City, and I do have more at stake than most residents.   I

also just bought 23 acres at the NW corner of 135th and Mission.  I would
like to be able to have a conversation about “Leawood” and how to get
things that the neighbors want, verses what the City wants, verse what
the market wants.  Please remember, the only thing that gets built, is
where these things match up with what the market wants.   I can avoid
talking about Cameron’s Court, a $400,000,000 viable community.  When
would be a good time to talk about the other site, and Leawood in
general.  
 
<image001.jpg>

 

Rick Oddo
CEO
Oddo Development Company, Inc.
15431 W. 100th Terrace
Lenexa, KS 66219
O (913) 894-6336 x 150
F (913) 894-9100
www.OddoDevelopment.com
 
Please make note my email address has changed to
roddo@oddodev.com
 

From: Mary Larson <MaryL@leawood.org> 
Sent: Thursday, August 06, 2020 2:44 PM
To: Rick Oddo <roddo@oddodev.com>
Subject: Re: my council member
 
Rick,
 
Thank you for the email and it’s good to hear from you.  I’m always happy
to talk about Leawood, but probably tops on your list is the Cameron
Place development proposal, which is the one thing I’m not allowed to
discuss with you.  I believe the development proposal remains on the
August 25th Planning Commission agenda and I will look forward to
seeing the plans once it’s set on the City Council agenda.  If there are any
other Leawood issues you’d like to talk about, I’m all ears.
 

http://www.oddodevelopment.com/
mailto:roddo@oddodev.com


Hope you and Karen are doing well and that our paths will cross soon!
 
Best Wishes,
Mary Larson
 

On Aug 6, 2020, at 11:56 AM, Rick Oddo
<roddo@oddodev.com> wrote:


Mary, long time no speak.  I just found out that you are my
Ward council member.  I would like to talk to you about a
few items going on in Leawood.  When would be a good
time for me to call you to discuss things. 
 
<image001.jpg>

Rick Oddo
CEO
Oddo Development Company, Inc.
15431 W. 100th Terrace
Lenexa, KS 66219
O (913) 894-6336 x 150
F (913) 894-9100
www.OddoDevelopment.com
 
Please make note that my email address has changed to
roddo@oddodev.com
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE.
DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize
the sender and know the content is safe.

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE.
DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize
the sender and know the content is safe.

mailto:roddo@oddodev.com
http://www.oddodevelopment.com/
mailto:roddo@oddodev.com
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Richard Sanchez

From: Reta Cailteux <rkcailteux@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, June 26, 2020 9:32 AM
To: Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General Email
Cc: Peggy Dunn
Subject: Cameron's Court

We are homeowners in Wilshire Place and wanted to express our concerns regarding the proposed development 
that is close to our subdivision.  
 
We have reviewed the plans by Oddo Development Company and here are some of our concerns: 
 
1. This is a quiet area and the amount of apartments proposed causes several problems...noise, traffic and too 
many children attending MIssion Trail elementary.   
2. The apartments off of 133rd (close to the church) should be removed. Only the apartments close to 135th 
street should be allowed if this project moves forward.  
3. There should be more single family homes.  This is one of the last areas north of 135th street and is very 
coveted.  This could be achieved by removing some of the apartments. 
4. Office space/retail that is close to Stateline is a major problem.  Leawood currently has so many empty multi 
use and strip malls (Town Center and Park Place also included). The proposed buildings will be empty for 
years. It has taken Price Chopper almost 20 years to fill their empty storefronts and this will be the same.  More 
people are working from home now and before Covid 19 plus the cost of rent will be too high for a small 
business. 
5. The hotel might possibly function on the corner of 135th and State LIne; however, homeless are always 
panhandling and roaming that area.  This will not be a safe area for travelers and their cars. 
 
These are our current concerns for the proposed development and thank you for taking the time to read this 
email. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Kevin and Reta Cailteux 
3049 W. 132nd Terrace 
Leawood, KS. 66209 
 
 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



June 17, 2020 
  
Mayor Peggy J. Dunn 
City Council of Leawood, Kansas 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
Re:         Cameron’s Court Development Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood 
  
Dear Mayor Dunn and City Council: 
  
I am writing with respect to the proposed Cameron’s Court development. First, I recognize that Oddo 
Development has put significant amount time and thought into the current proposal for the Cameron’s Court 
development. As a resident of the neighborhood most impacted by development between 133rd and 135th from 
Pawnee to State Line (Wilshire Place), I am open to a great project that will not only enhance our neighborhood, 
but provide additional amenities to make Leawood an even better place to live.  
  
After reviewing the plans, as well as information provided by Oddo, I conclude the project as currently 
envisioned is incompatible with our area.  The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street, as well as the existing 
commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor, are almost entirely high-end residential and 
commercial developments. We need to be careful that any new development does not adversely affect these 
neighborhoods. The City’s existing development plan calls for moderate-high density mixed use projects in our 
area. I support that vision for our City. 
 
I feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of existing home and enhance 
our overall community. While there are some very good elements to the project, including the single family 
homes and apartments in the style of the Villa Milano apartments located to the south of 135th Street, I believe 
the plan is too dense, calling for over 600 hundred apartment units. The current plan also calls for four story 
structures, which will tower over the skyline of our neighborhood.   
 
My family moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services available in south 
Leawood. The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, and potential 
crime to our area without providing the amenities of a mixed-use project. Mission Trail Elementary is already at 
capacity and could not handle an influx of additional students from 1200-1400 new residents. I do not believe 
133rd street is well-suited to such a significant influx of additional traffic. In addition, I am concerned Gezer 
Park will be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in such a small area.   
 
Again, I look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed. I would 
not oppose development plans that are consistent with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues. But, I 
respectfully request that you reject the current project as proposed by Oddo Development. To the extent you 
have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. Thank you very much for your consideration. 
  
Very Truly Yours, 

  
Ryan C. Brunton 
3144 W. 132nd Terrace 
Leawood, Kansas 66209 
913-685-9682 
  
cc: [City Planning Department] 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Matthew Winston <mrockwin@gmail.com>
Sent: Friday, August 21, 2020 7:16 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email; Richard Sanchez
Cc: Peggy Dunn; Debra Filla; Andrew Osman; Mary Larson; Jim Rawlings; Chuck Sipple; Lisa 

Harrison; Julie Cain; James Azeltine
Subject: 49-20 Cameron's Court - Public Hearing

  
Good morning, 
 
I'm writing to this group to voice my support for Oddo Development and the current plan 49-20 Cameron’s 
Court listed on the planning commission’s agenda for 8/25/2020.  
 
For full disclosure, I am related (cousins) through marriage to Rick Oddo. I do not have any other affiliation or 
involvement with Oddo Development or Cameron’s Court plan. I do have a heavily weighted opinion as I live 
on 133rd street and my backyard faces the center of Cameron’s Court residential development area.  I’m sure 
you will hear from many who’s aim it is to stop any development of this area. They do not have the big picture 
in mind and won’t support anything other than keeping the land vacant.  Please do not forget there are well over 
500 homes in the impacted area surrounding this land. I led the effort a few years ago and collected over 500 
signatures from those surrounding houses in opposition to a plan by Continental Properties. We all know 
support is often not as vocal as opposition.  Many support this and just won’t make the effort to share their 
views of support. I would also remind you of what you already know: silence does mean approval.  
 
We have an opportunity to have a local developer complete an appropriate and economically viable project on 
this land that will compliment the city and its overall appeal. Please do what is right for the city and residents 
of Leawood and approve this plan. 
 
Here are my main points of support: 

1. The addition of two rows of single family houses is a welcomed buffer between the line of houses in 
Wilshire Place and the apartments planned for this development.  

2. The look and finish of the first phase of apartments to the south of the single family houses seems to 
compliment the high end finish needed to match the current builds in the City of Leawood.  

3. Moving all of the mixed use, retail, and office buildings to Stateline Road and 135th Street is the right 
location. The lack of success of many of the existing building along 133rd street give an example of 
what not to do. Please don’t push for a repeat of what has failed time and time again.  

 
I do want to clearly state this will add to the through traffic in Wilshire Place and the surrounding subdivisions. 
The city must be prepared to quickly react and make immediate changes to direct traffic towards 135th Street, 
Stateline Road, and Mission Road and keep this traffic from seeking short cuts though the surrounding 
subdivisions.  Speed bumps, police enforcement, and even potentially cutting streets to form cul-de-sacs should 
be part of your immediate solutions as traffic through our subdivision will cause problems to an otherwise quiet 
area. Please do not wait too long to initiate these traffic calming measures. Oddo Development is pushing for 
offset streets from the phase 2 area of apartments instead of a direct connect to High Drive. THIS IS A 
MUST.  Having a straight shot will cause even more of the traffic issues I have previously mentioned. Please 
do not ask Oddo Development to change the offset street to a straight connection to High Drive.  
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On a final note, Kenneth Road does not need to cut straight through to 133rd Street. Stateline Road and 
135th Street are designed to handle much more traffic than they currently see. Both streets are fairly quiet even 
during peak traffic times. Please be sure there is a focus to allow for immediate access and exits using these 
main roads which would further eliminate the need for Kenneth Road to connect straight through to 133rd 
Street.  
 
In closing, I’m available to clarify any points I’ve made and I look forward to working with this committee and 
the city council members as we finally let this land be developed and work together to keep the surrounding 
subdivisions family friendly, safe, and quiet while we complete the development of the City of Leawood.  
 
 
Best wishes as you navigate this plan and thank you for all you do.  
 
 
Matthew Winston 
3289 W 132nd Place 
Leawood, KS 66209 
(816) 651-7121 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Ryan Westhoff <westhoffr@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, June 17, 2020 12:11 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: 6/23/20 Meeting - Cameron’s Court

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Dear Commissioners: 
 
I am a resident of Cherry Creek, and I am writing in support of the proposed development bordered by Pawnee, 133rd, 
State Line and 135th. 
 
I know residents have historically opposed new development in this area for a variety of reasons (traffic, apartment 
residents sending their children to Mission Trail, concerns about property values, and general resistance to change), but 
I think we’ve had cornfields long enough. This type of development is exactly what the the property was 
designed/planned for 30 years ago when our community was developed. Unless the City plans to turn the 135th corridor 
into a big park or keep the cornfields for another 30 years, I feel that the proposed development is the highest and best 
use for the subject property, and it should be permitted to move forward. 
 
My wife and I look forward to shops/restaurants along 135th no longer struggling stay open with an influx of additional 
residents/workers in the vicinity, my kids look forward to the prospect of making new friends at Mission Trail, and we all 
should look forward to increased property values and a higher tax base as a wave of younger families get excited about 
the prospect of moving to a community that is on the rise. 
 
Please vote yes and don’t hesitate to call if you have any questions. 
 
Ryan Westhoff 
816.786.8520 
4116 W. 130th St., Leawood, KS 66209 
 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 



1

Richard Sanchez

From: Sarah Tadtman <sarah.tadtman@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, June 16, 2020 11:22 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's Court

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

To whom it may concern,   
 
My husband and I moved to Leawood (Waterford) in the last year. We were drawn to the area because of the 
great schools and low population density near our home, and thought it would be a great place to start our 
family.  
 
We recently became aware of the proposal to develop the area between 133rd and 135th and State Line and 
Pawnee Lane. We believe this proposal will drastically change the population density and traffic near our home 
for the worse. Admittedly, we are not experienced in the intricacies associated with city development and 
planning, but we would like to be made aware of any decisions and progress involving this proposal, and would 
appreciate any opportunities to formally oppose the proposal. If you have any guidance as to how to stay up-to-
date on the proposal, please let me know.  
 
Thanks in advance for your help.  
 
 
--  
Best,   
Sarah Tadtman 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: scott gilroy <swgilroy@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, June 15, 2020 3:00 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's Court

Planning Committee,  
 
I am Scott Gilroy, I live in the Cherry Creek community,  I am against the development of Cameron's Court on 
133rd and 135th.  In particular I am against the mixed use development of the 2-4 story apartment 
buildings.  This will change the dynamic of the community and have a negative impact on the schools.  I would 
think single family homes would be a better fit for our city.  
 
Thank you,  
 
Scott Gilroy  
4149 W. 128th Terrace  
Leawood, KS 66209 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Stephan Stout <stephan.stout@yahoo.com>
Sent: Monday, June 15, 2020 12:58 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron’s Court

Hi ‐ I am a homeowner in the Cherry Creek subdivision (129th and Mission), and I wanted to voice my concern about the 
proposed “Cameron’s Court” development. 
While I understand that some development in Leawood is inevitable, this is not the right plan — too many apartments, 
and likely unnecessary retail and office buildings. 
I am in favor of Phase 1 (59 typical one‐family homes), but I disagree with the rest of this proposed development. 
I am concerned about the increase in traffic in the area, and the real risk of home values being affected in a negative 
manner. 
Please consider this e‐mail as a “No” vote from a current Leawood resident that lives in close proximity to this proposed 
development. 
Sincerely, 
Stephan 
 
Stephan Stout 
12834 Alhambra St. 
Leawood, KS 66209 
(816) 853.6570 
 
Sent from my iPhone 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Steve Durr <stevedurr3@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2020 8:55 PM
To: Richard Sanchez; Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron's court development 

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

My name is Steve Durr. I live at 2211 W. 132nd St., in Enclave at Cedar Point.  My back porch faces 133rd so I see much 
of what goes on.  I have always assumed that the vacant land across 133rd would be developed, but have hoped that 
any development would be done responsibly and with foresight.  At this point I don't think Cameron's Court meets this 
criteria. 
 
 I have reviewed the traffic study and have some serious concerns .  At full build out the analysis predicts an increase in 
traffic of 21224 trips (table 2).  Per table 3, 15% of all trips will be on 133rd west bound. WHAT ABOUT EAST BOUND 
TRAFFIC?  NOT ADDRESSED. 
  Exactly FIFTY PERCENT of all entrance/exits (5 of 10). from the development feed into 133rd plus the exits on Stateline 
and Pawnee potentially feed onto 133rd.  YET we are told only 15 % of all traffic will be on 133rd. Sounds like a random 
number picked to keep the neighborhoods silent.  What is the current volume?  That would be nice to know for 
comparison sakes.  As traffic picks up on 135th, how many will move to 133rd?  I saw how many when Mission was 
under construction and my instinct is this will be much worse and without an end. 
                                                                                                                                                     Has the Leawood bicycle committee 
been involved?                                                                           133rd is a heavily used bike route as well as pedestrians, 
joggers, dog walkers.  Many are shopping and dining at the businesses on Stateline.  YET bikers and pedestrians are 
TOTALLY IGNORED in the traffic study.  They are part of this neighborhood! 
At breakfast the other day my wife counted 17 bikes in less than an hour.  As I write this a group of 11 pedaled past. This 
street is used frequently for charity runs and bike rides during normal years. Group rides will be seen nearly every 
evening and weekends. THE PEDESTRIANS, BIKERS, and RUNNERS need to be considered and protected. 
 
In the study the engineer calls for repainting 133rd to create turn lanes by eliminating "a small part of the bike lane". 
That sounds fine until you add up all of the "small parts" designated.  On my bike ride this morning I tried to visualize 
each of these parts.  It appears approximately 50% OF THE BIKE LANE WILL BE ELIMINATED!  The entire curve west of 
the church will lose its bike lane. Is this what Leawood wants? 
 
 Another consideration, national media is predicting a significant increase in the use of the new E‐BIKES for commuting 
and errands.  I personally know one person who decided against getting a new car after buying an e‐bike.  Will Leawood 
be prepared? 
 
  In the summary, the traffic plan recommends some major intersection changes to accommodate the increased traffic.  I 
interpreted this as saying WE DO NOT HAVE the INFRASTRUCTURE in place for the expected volume of traffic.  Is 
Leawood prepared to undertake these projects?  Should the upgrades be completed before the development is done? 
 Has future growth and development of the areas west of Mission been accounted for? 
 
 What will be the impact on the local schools?  The developer assured people at the community meeting there would 
not be more than three children in the entire complex.  We have more than that in our enclave of 24 homes. 
 
 KENNETH RD.?  Personally I think it makes sense to have Kenneth go through and have the east development exit on to 
Kenneth then have the option of using 135th or 133rd.  You will have to decide that. 
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> 
>  I would like to see the integrity and character of 133rd preserved when the vacant land is developed.  It is used  
extensively by residents and many others for recreation as well as their main thoroughfare out of their neighborhoods.  I 
believe most commercial projects should be pushed to Stateline and 135th.  133rd should be reserved for residential, 
retirement/assisted living type of developments without overloading capacity and with appropriate setback and 
landscaping.  We are going to have to live with this for the next 100 years.  Let's keep Leawood beautiful and livable. 
 
Thank you for your consideration, 
Steven Durr 
 
 
Sent from my iPad 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Tuesday, June 23, 2020 12:00 PM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: FW: Opposition to proposed Oddo 133rd Street development

From: "Tammy.R.Henke@wellsfargo.com" <Tammy.R.Henke@wellsfargo.com> 
Date: June 23, 2020 at 11:40:30 AM CDT 
To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org> 
Subject: Opposition to proposed Oddo 133rd Street development 

  
Dear Mayor Dunn, 
  
I live in Wilshire Place and have two daughters, the oldest of which will be driving in the next two 
years.  (Claire actually attended Preschool with your granddaughter and will likely be swimming against 
her at tomorrow’s swim meet ) 
  
I mention that she will soon be a ‘new driver’, because traffic safety is the number one reason I am 
opposed to the proposed Oddo development, as it is currently presented.  
  
I am concerned by the increased traffic flow on the already‐busy 133rd Street, in particular because the 
apartment entrance is directly across from our neighborhood entrance, which is already difficult to exit 
from due to heavy traffic and a nearby curve.   
  
My husband and I both support economic development (his career is based in construction and mine is 
in commercial banking).  We know that this piece of property is prime for development and are 
supportive of this; however, we feel strongly that this development should be limited in scope to single‐
family homes and a much lower number of multi‐family units.   
  
My younger daughter has many more years remaining at Mission Trail Elementary and I am also 
concerned about the potential impact on our awesome school due to the overcrowding potential 
related to so many more families associated with 600+ apartment units.  There are already four sections 
of her Kindergarten‐going‐in‐to‐First‐Grade class, and I know from my time as the MTE PTO Treasurer 
that the school is at max capacity in regards to its current classroom buildout.  
  
I appreciate you taking the time to listen to my concerns and would appreciate any assistance you could 
provide in altering the scope of this project to significantly reduce the number of apartment units. 
  
Thank you, 
Tammy Henke 
2701 W. 132nd St. 
Leawood, KS 66209  
913‐327‐5277 
  
  

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Richard Sanchez
Sent: Friday, July 17, 2020 2:22 PM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: FW: Opposition to Proposed Oddo Development near 133rd & Mission

From: "Tammy.R.Henke@wellsfargo.com" <Tammy.R.Henke@wellsfargo.com> 
Date: July 17, 2020 at 11:10:34 AM CDT 
To: Committees ‐ City Council <Allcouncil@leawood.org> 
Subject: Opposition to Proposed Oddo Development near 133rd & Mission 

  
Dear Leawood City Council Members, 
  
I live in Wilshire Place and have two daughters, the oldest of which will be driving in a little over two 
years from now.   
  
I mention that she will soon be a ‘new driver’, because traffic safety is the number one reason I am 
opposed to the proposed Oddo development as it is currently presented.  
  
I am very concerned by the increased traffic flow on the already‐busy 133rd Street, in particular because 
the apartment entrance is directly across from our neighborhood entrance, which is already difficult to 
exit from due to heavy traffic and a nearby curve.   
  
My husband and I both support economic development (his career is based in construction and mine is 
in commercial banking).  We know that this piece of property is prime for development and are 
supportive of this; however, we feel strongly that this development should be limited in scope to single‐
family homes and a much lower number of multi‐family units.   
  
My younger daughter has many more years remaining at Mission Trail Elementary and I am also 
concerned about the potential impact on our school due to the overcrowding potential related to so 
many more families moving in if the development were to contain 600+ apartment units.  There are 
already four classes in her Kindergarten‐going‐in‐to‐First‐Grade class, and I know from my time as the 
PTO Treasurer that the school is at max capacity in regards to its current classroom buildout.  
  
I appreciate you taking the time to listen to my concerns and would appreciate any assistance you could 
provide to change the scope of this project to significantly reduce the number of apartment/multi‐family 
units. 
  
Thank you, 
Tammy Henke 
2701 W. 132nd St. 
Leawood, KS 66209  
913‐327‐5277 
  

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Teri And Steve <sdurr3@suddenlink.net>
Sent: Wednesday, August 19, 2020 2:36 PM
To: Chuck Sipple; Parks & Rec General Email; Mark Klein; Planning and Development 

General Email; Chris Claxton
Subject: Proposed Cameron’s court plan 133rd Street Leawood

 
To all it may concern ‐ three years ago my husband and I moved from Oklahoma.  We had our choice of cities in the 
Kansas City area.   We built a new home off 133rd in Leawood because it “felt like home”.....the winding street, the bike 
lanes, gezer park, safe dog walking up and down 133rd!   We love it here.  I know these things are very important to the 
city of Leawood ‐ we were thrilled to see they even had a BFC (bike friendly committee)!   When we built our home we 
knew that the open area from 133rd‐135th mission to state line would be developed eventually..... but knowing the city 
also valued what we did ‐ we trusted that all bike lanes along 133rd and safe walking would be important considerations 
when developments were proposed.   The traffic study associated with the Cameron’s court proposal is 
frightening.....remarking streets to make more turn lanes(only one way to achieve that) and more entrance/exits onto 
133rd than 135th,  study indicates huge increase in traffic.   Funny ‐ the study shows no bike traffic.....Saturday morning 
on my back porch I counted 17 cyclists in just under an hour!   Families/joggers/dog walkers walk up and down 133rd 
constantly.   City planning is to discuss this Tuesday ‐we beg your consideration to keep Leawood special!   Teri Durr 
2211 west 132nd street, Leawood 66209 ‐ 580‐484‐0928. 
 
 
 
Sent from my iPad 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or ATTACHMENTS unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 



From: Grant Lang 

Sent: Monday, July 13, 2020 8:19 AM 

To: 'Viseslav Tonkovic-Capin'; Planning and Development General Email 

Cc: Marija Tonkovic-Capin; anjat@princeton.edu; it7@princeton.edu 

Subject: RE: Oddo development on 133rd Street 

 
Good Morning, 

 

Thank you for submitting your letter to the Planning Department. The letter will be added to the public 

record, which will be reviewed by the Planning Commission and Governing Body once the case is to be 

heard. 

 

CASE 49-20 (Cameron's Court) is scheduled to be heard at the August 25th Planning Commission 

meeting. 

 

Please let me know if you have any other questions. 

 

Thank you, 

 

Grant D Lang 
City Planner 

Phone: 913-663-9163 

 
 

 

 

From: Viseslav Tonkovic-Capin <vtonkovic@inkpharmaceuticals.com>  

Sent: Sunday, July 12, 2020 7:35 PM 

To: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Committees - City Council <Allcouncil@leawood.org>; 

Planning and Development General Email <PlanningandDevelopmentGeneralEmail@leawood.org> 

Cc: Marija Tonkovic-Capin <mtonkovic@inkpharmaceuticals.com>; anjat@princeton.edu; 

it7@princeton.edu 

Subject: Oddo development on 133rd Street 

 
Leawood, Kansas July 12th, 2020 
Mayor Peggy J. Dunn 
City Council of Leawood, Kansas 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 

  
Re:         Opposition to Cameron’s Court Development Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood 
  
Dear Mayor Dunn and City Council: 
  



We are writing concerning the proposed Cameron’s Court development. My family of 4 (now all of 

voting age) moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services in south 

Leawood. 
  
After reviewing the plans and the information provided by Oddo, we conclude the project currently 

envisioned is incompatible with our area.  The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street and the existing 

commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor are almost entirely high-end residential 

and commercial developments. We need to be careful that any new development does not adversely affect 

these neighborhoods. The City’s existing development plan calls for moderate-high density mixed-use 

projects in our area. While we would not oppose such a vision for our City, we would prefer a wild nature 

park. 
  
The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, and potential crime 

to our area without providing the amenities of a mixed-use project. Mission Trail Elementary is already at 

capacity and could not handle an influx of additional students from 1200-1400 new residents. We do not 

believe 133rd street is well-suited to such a significant influx of additional traffic. Also, we are concerned 

Gezer Park will be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in such a small area.   
  
We feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of the existing home 

and enhance our overall community. While there are some very good elements to the project, including 

the single-family homes and apartments in the style of the Villa Milano apartments located to the south of 

135th Street, we believe the plan is too dense, calling for over 600 hundred apartment units. The current 

plan also calls for four-story structures, which will tower over the skyline of our neighborhood.   
  
Again, we look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed, 

or, preferably, turned into a wild nature park. We would not oppose development plans that are consistent 

with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues. But we respectfully request that you reject the current 

project as proposed by Oddo Development. To the extent you have any questions, please do not hesitate 

to contact us. Thank you very much for your consideration, and we, together with other residents, will 

keep in mind your decision during the next municipal elections. 
  
  
Very Truly Yours, 
  
  
Marija Tonkovic-Capin, MD 
Viseslav Tonkovic-Capin, MD 
Anja Tonkovic-Capin, Princeton Class of 2021 
Ivan Tonkovic-Capin, Princeton Class of 2024 
  
13284 High Dr. 
Leawood, KS 66209 
  
cc: [City Planning Department] 
 

 

Viseslav Tonkovic-Capin, MD, FAAD 
President & CEO 

 



P.O. Box 26730 
Overland Park, KS 66225 
USA 
913-963-5456 
www.inkpharmaceuticals.com 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



 
  
Dear Wilshire Place Neighbors: 
  
We are writing to you to share our views about the proposed Cameron’s Court development. First, we recognize 
that Oddo Development has put a significant amount time and thought into the current proposal for the 
Cameron’s Court development. As residents of the neighborhood most impacted by development between 133rd 
and 135th from Pawnee to State Line, we are open to a great project that will not only enhance our 
neighborhood, but provide additional amenities to make Leawood an even better place to live.  
  
After reviewing the plans, as well as information provided by Oddo, we have concluded the project as currently 
envisioned is incompatible with our area.  The neighborhoods surrounding 133rd Street, as well as the existing 
commercial projects to the west along the 135th Street corridor, are almost entirely high-end residential and 
commercial developments. We need to be careful that any new development does not adversely affect these 
neighborhoods. The City’s existing development plan calls for moderate-high density mixed use projects in our 
area. We support that vision for our City. 
 
We feel very strongly that any new development should add to the property values of existing homes and 
enhance our overall community. While there are some very good elements to the project, including the single 
family homes and the apartments in the style of the Villa Milano apartments located to the south of 135th Street, 
we believe the plan is too dense, calling for over 600 apartment units. The current plan also calls for four story 
structures, which will tower over the skyline of our neighborhood.   
 
We each moved to this area because of the excellent schools, infrastructure, and services available in south 
Leawood. The project would bring an unacceptably high increase in traffic, school enrollment, and potential 
crime to our area, all without providing the amenities of a mixed-use project.  Please consider the following: 
 

• Mission Trail Elementary is already at capacity and could not handle an influx of additional students 
from 1200-1400 new residents.  The school is currently one of the top public elementary schools in 
Kansas, and a major driver of property values.  Class sizes are already 25 to 30 students, with all of 
the classrooms in use.  The influx of additional students will result in even larger classes and likely 
the need for portable pods at the school.  Both changes would detract from the school’s current 
excellent reputation. 
 

• We do not believe 133rd Street is well-suited to such a significant influx of additional traffic. The 
developer is conducting a traffic study to support its claim 133rd Street can handle additional traffic, 
but we question the accuracy and value of a traffic study performed during a pandemic.  We believe 
a high-density apartment development will result in significantly extended commute times and long 
delays turning from 133rd Street onto State Line, every weekday morning.   
 

• The exit from the apartment complex directly onto High Drive is even more problematic.  Residents 
whose driveways abut High Drive already report long wait times during rush hour periods to exit 
their driveways, excessive and high-speed traffic endangering their children, and near-accidents 
when they slow to turn into their driveways.  The addition of a large group of apartment dwellers 
can only add to the problem. 
 

• Finally, we are concerned Gezer Park will be overwhelmed with so many additional residents in 
such a small area.   

 
Again, we look forward to seeing the land between State Line Road and Pawnee responsibly developed.  We 
would not oppose development plans that are consistent with the existing neighborhoods and retail venues. But, 
we respectfully suggest that the current project as proposed by Oddo Development is unacceptable.  
 



If you agree, we request that you submit your concerns to Mayor Peggy Dunn, the City Council, and the 
Planning Commission.  Their email addresses are:  
 
Mayor Peggy Dunn:  peggyd@leawood.org 
Leawood City Council: allcouncil@leawood.org 
Leawood Planning Commission: planning@leawood.org  
 
If we are unified and vocal in our opposition to this project, we believe it can be stopped, or at the very least, 
significantly improved.   
  
Very Truly Yours, 
  
 
 
Jeff Place   
3185 West 132nd Place 
 

 
Ryan Brunton   
3144 W. 132nd Terrace 
 
 
 
Chris Vukas 
13252 Falmouth Street 

JPlace
Pencil









“ CORNERSTONE

August 21, 2020

Leawood City Council
Leawood Planning Commission

Cornerstone Presbyterian Church supports the proposed Cameron’s Court
development as introduced to us by Oddo Development Company on August 11,
2020 (site plan attached). A key aspect of this revised site plan that leads to
Cornerstone’s endorsement is that there is only a limited extension of Kenneth Road
between 1 33td Street and 135th Street.

Cornerstone is not in favor of a development plan that includes a full extension of
Kenneth Road between 1 33td and 135 h Streets. A full extension would present a
substantial financial burden to Cornerstone without any appreciable benefit.
Cornerstone’s current ingress and egress from both the north (133rd St), and the
south (private drive from 135th Street) are sufficient for our traffic needs, and the
revised site plan would be compatible with Cornerstone’s traffic flow. In addition, full
extension of Kenneth Road will result in the needless destruction of a lengthy stand
of mature trees that contribute to the beauty and value of adjacent properties.
Furthermore, the increased traffic along a fully extended Kenneth Road would
unnecessarily detract from the park-like setting of Cornerstone’s grounds that so
many of our neighbors enjoy on a daily basis.

In addition to the changes to Kenneth Road as shown in the 08.11 .20 site plan,
Cornerstone’s endorsement of the development plan is contingent upon:
• Assurance that additional water will not back up on our site due to the

development (no-rise certificate)
• Assurance from Oddo Development and Leawood that Cornerstone’s existing

private drive from the south will remain private and that Cornerstone will not have
to make improvements to this road.

Oddo Development has verbally agreed to both of these provisions.

Cornerstone is proud to make our home in Leawood and we look forward to
welcoming our new neighbors in Cameron’s Court.

Sincerely,

Lance Hodges
Executive Director

Cornerstone Presbyterian Church
13300 Kenneth Road, Leawood, KS 66209

913.738.5250 I www.cornerstoneks.org

Making disciples who love God, love people, and seive others.
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Richard Sanchez

From: Jerry Baber <jbaber1000@yahoo.com>
Sent: Friday, August 21, 2020 3:25 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email; Richard Sanchez
Cc: Peggy Dunn; Debra Filla; Andrew Osman; Mary Larson; Jim Rawlings; Chuck Sipple; Lisa 

Harrison; Julie Cain; James Azeltine
Subject: Fw: 49-20 Cameron's Court - Public Hearing

I would like to add my support for this development project as well.  I am not related or associated 
with the developers.  I live at 3381 W 132nd Place in Whilshire Place.  My home backs up to 133rd 
street directly across the street from the site, and as such I will be materially impacted by any future 
development of the site. 
 
While I would love for this site to remain undeveloped as would most all homeowners in close 
proximity, It's obvious that some sort of mixed use development will inevitably occur at this site.  I 
want to applaud the developers for prioritizing the maintenance of 133rd street with two rows of single 
family housing.  This is the absolute best possible buffer to be offered by a potential developer to 
ensure the housing values along 133rd street are maintained as well as the safety of those of us 
already living on 133rd St.   
 
I would like to ensure that the housing proposed stays in the $600,000+ range as communicated by 
the developer, and that the single family housing is the first phase of the project if approved, to 
provide the necessary buffer for those of us in the area before the rest of the development is initiated. 
 
Matthew has offered multiple positives associated with this development in his email below, of which I 
won't repeat but I agree with, I believe this proposal provides the best path forward to development of 
this site while taking into account the current homeowners in the immediate area. 
 
Jerry Baber 
3381 W 132nd Place 
Leawood, KS 66209 
 
----- Forwarded Message ----- 
From: Matthew Winston <mrockwin@gmail.com> 
To: Jerry Baber <jbaber1000@yahoo.com> 
Sent: Friday, August 21, 2020, 08:24:17 AM CDT 
Subject: Fwd: 49-20 Cameron's Court - Public Hearing 
 
Here is what I sent.  

 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: Matthew Winston <mrockwin@gmail.com> 
Date: August 21, 2020 at 7:15:47 AM CDT 
To: planning@leawood.org, richards@leawood.org 
Cc: peggyd@leawood.org, debraf@leawood.org, andrewo@leawood.org, mlarson@leawood.org, 
jimr@leawood.org, chucks@leawood.org, lisah@leawood.org, jcain@leawood.org, jamesa@leawood.org 
Subject: 49-20 Cameron's Court - Public Hearing 
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Good morning, 
 
I'm writing to this group to voice my support for Oddo Development and the current plan 49-20 Cameron’s 
Court listed on the planning commission’s agenda for 8/25/2020.  
 
For full disclosure, I am related (cousins) through marriage to Rick Oddo. I do not have any other 
affiliation or involvement with Oddo Development or Cameron’s Court plan. I do have a heavily weighted 
opinion as I live on 133rd street and my backyard faces the center of Cameron’s Court residential 
development area.  I’m sure you will hear from many who’s aim it is to stop any development of this area. 
They do not have the big picture in mind and won’t support anything other than keeping the land 
vacant.  Please do not forget there are well over 500 homes in the impacted area surrounding this land. I 
led the effort a few years ago and collected over 500 signatures from those surrounding houses in 
opposition to a plan by Continental Properties. We all know support is often not as vocal as 
opposition.  Many support this and just won’t make the effort to share their views of support. I would also 
remind you of what you already know: silence does mean approval.  
 
We have an opportunity to have a local developer complete an appropriate and economically viable 
project on this land that will compliment the city and its overall appeal. Please do what is right for the 
city and residents of Leawood and approve this plan. 
 
Here are my main points of support: 

1. The addition of two rows of single family houses is a welcomed buffer between the line of houses 
in Wilshire Place and the apartments planned for this development.  

2. The look and finish of the first phase of apartments to the south of the single family houses 
seems to compliment the high end finish needed to match the current builds in the City of 
Leawood.  

3. Moving all of the mixed use, retail, and office buildings to Stateline Road and 135th Street is the 
right location. The lack of success of many of the existing building along 133rd street give an 
example of what not to do. Please don’t push for a repeat of what has failed time and time again.  

 
I do want to clearly state this will add to the through traffic in Wilshire Place and the surrounding 
subdivisions. The city must be prepared to quickly react and make immediate changes to direct traffic 
towards 135th Street, Stateline Road, and Mission Road and keep this traffic from seeking short cuts 
though the surrounding subdivisions.  Speed bumps, police enforcement, and even potentially cutting 
streets to form cul-de-sacs should be part of your immediate solutions as traffic through our subdivision 
will cause problems to an otherwise quiet area. Please do not wait too long to initiate these traffic calming 
measures. Oddo Development is pushing for offset streets from the phase 2 area of apartments instead 
of a direct connect to High Drive. THIS IS A MUST.  Having a straight shot will cause even more of the 
traffic issues I have previously mentioned. Please do not ask Oddo Development to change the offset 
street to a straight connection to High Drive.  
 
On a final note, Kenneth Road does not need to cut straight through to 133rd Street. Stateline Road 
and 135th Street are designed to handle much more traffic than they currently see. Both streets are fairly 
quiet even during peak traffic times. Please be sure there is a focus to allow for immediate access and 
exits using these main roads which would further eliminate the need for Kenneth Road to connect straight 
through to 133rd Street.  
 
In closing, I’m available to clarify any points I’ve made and I look forward to working with this committee 
and the city council members as we finally let this land be developed and work together to keep the 
surrounding subdivisions family friendly, safe, and quiet while we complete the development of the City of 
Leawood.  
 
 
Best wishes as you navigate this plan and thank you for all you do.  
 
 
Matthew Winston 
3289 W 132nd Place 



3

Leawood, KS 66209 
(816) 651-7121 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Boris Naronov <boris_naronov@yahoo.com>
Sent: Saturday, August 22, 2020 11:31 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Comment -- Case 49-20 Cameron's Court - Public Hearing

Hello,  
 
My family and I are residents of the Wilshire Place subdivision.  In the past few months we have been 
watching with a great deal of concerns how Oddo Development's plan for land development between 
State Line and Pawnee Lane (btw. 133 and 135 Streets) is being presented as a "great deal" for 
Leawood. 
 
I would like to register my opposition for the current plan for the following reasons.  Please use Aug 
25th meeting to address these issues, if possible: 
 
1) Creating high density apartment rentals does not take into the account existing infrastructure in 
place.  What about all the services, such as electrical, sewage, water, broadband?  How that will be 
addressed with potentially hundreds new residents moving into the area?  What about other city 
services - police, EMT, libraries?  Is there data where these issues are being reviewed? 
 
2) I believe that additional pressure on current schools is not being considered at all.  Mission Trail 
Elementary, Leawood Middle, Blue Valley North are already at capacity.  How exactly the school 
district is supposed to absorb hundreds of new students that will move in?  Please share some data 
on new students.  How many are expected?  Has BV school district been consulted on mitigation, etc. 
 
3) One of the reasons that we picked Leawood as a place to live was a sense of community, with 
single-family homes and backyards where kids can play safely.  Creation of a high-density 
apartments goes against that.  I believe we all share a vision of Leawood is as a tight-knit community, 
where we know our neighbors and not a high-density rentals with a never ending tenant turnover. 
 
4) I have not seen any strong data to confirm any need for additional commercial development in the 
area.  With so many businesses closing, do we really need another office park?  Just need to take a 
look at Village of Seville Shopping Center (133rd St and State Line) - an underutilized shopping area 
built 10 years ago.  It has has very little appeal and still struggling to attract shoppers.  Why are we 
building more retail or office space, if there is already an overcapacity. 
 
It is clear that Leawood's strength as  a community is in traditional one family homes.  Please 
consider this when you make your decision. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Boris Naronov 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Cathy Gunja <csgunja@att.net>
Sent: Sunday, August 23, 2020 10:36 PM
To: peggy@leawood.org; Committees - City Council; Planning and Development General 

Email
Subject: Cameron's Court Development Proposal for 133rd Street in Leawood

I am writing to express my strong opposition to the Cameron's Court development that has been proposed between 133rd 
and 135th Streets and Pawnee to State Line Road.   
I live at 13288 High Drive.  The proposed development is simply too dense and will drastically effect the traffic on 133rd 
and High Drive.  During this COVID-19 pandemic any traffic study that has been conducted is not a true representation. 
One of the reasons that I moved from Overland Park to Leawood 7 years ago was because of Leawood's strong zoning 
standards and to make a wise investment in property and my standard of living.  
Please reject the current project as proposed by Oddo Development.    
Thank you for your excellent work in keeping the quality of living and investing in Leawood high. 
 
Sincerely Yours,  
 
Cathy Gunja 
13288 High Dr.  
Leawood, KS  66209 
913-469-3607 
 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Michael Schaefer <mpscha@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, August 24, 2020 10:04 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: August 25 Planning Meeting Comments - Cameron's Court

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

This letter is to submit my comments regarding the proposed development between 133rd and 135th Streets 
called Cameron's Court, which I understand will be on the agenda during the August 25 Planning Commission 
hearing.  I attended the developer’s webinar meeting in June and reviewed the development’s proposed plans, at 
least as they existed at that time. My opinion of the development are below: 
  
I strongly oppose the proposed apartment buildings and multi-family units. The large number of multi-family 
units is simply not in keeping with the environment of the local community which attracted my family to the 
area.  The proposed development would contain more residences as Wilshire Place, Waterford, and Royse 
subdivisions, combined, in an area with a smaller footprint than any of those subdivisions.  I worry that the 
influx of students from Cameron’s Court would overwhelm Mission Trail Elementary, the quality of which was 
one of the primary factors attracting us to Wilshire Place. 
  
At the webinar meeting, the developer regularly argued that the market will only support multi-family 
residential at the present time.  However, I would rather the city xxxxxxxbe patient and await the right type of 
development than rush to develop the land in a manner damaging to the local community and school.  
  
I approve of the proposed single-family homes along the south side of 133rd Street (not the multi-family units 
along 135th) and the proposed commercial development along State Line Road between 133rd and 135th St.  
  
I appreciate your time and reading my thoughts on the new development.   
  
Sincerely, 
  
Michael Schaefer 
13248 Falmouth 
Leawood, Kansas 66209 
mpscha@gmail.com 

Cell:  816-877-6221 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: Dylan Goodwin <croquetnetwork@gmail.com>
Sent: Monday, August 24, 2020 2:29 PM
To: Planning and Development General Email
Subject: Cameron Court Development

I live in Waterford and wanted to raise some concerns about the Cameron Court development --  
 
1) While the commercial segment on the east side seems to be expected and reasonable considering the 
surrounding area, the density in the multiple residential sections doesn't seem in line with the feedback from the 
interactive online commenting platform Leawood offered several years ago. 
 
2) The apartment clubhouse is sitting exactly where a "regional attraction" was supposed to be according to 
previous documents. I don't know what a regional attraction is, but I had envisioned an attempt to provide some 
active engagement for the growing senior community with maybe a combo of pickleball courts, bocce, croquet 
and lawn bowling facilities. 
 
3) Again I thought the overall 135th corridor plan feedback was pretty clear on a balanced green space mix. We 
certainly expected to see housing there, but this is packed full west of the church. 
 
4) The entry to the clubhouse creates a high traffic intersection at High Drive and 133rd. And that ultimately 
mandates traffic lights and means that 132nd through Waterford is going to see a huge increase in traffic. 132nd 
may have always been planned as a collector/feeder but I don't think it was designed with the level of density 
we are seeing in this planned development in mind. It looks like you would have to cut it off if this goes through 
 
--  
Dylan Goodwin | 3201 W 132nd St., Leawood, KS 66209 
croquetnetwork.com | 913.636.7231 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Richard Sanchez

From: John Kelley III <jkelley016@gmail.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 25, 2020 6:37 AM
To: Planning and Development General Email; Kathleen Kelley; Dennis Palmer
Subject: Proposed Cameron Court/ Otto Development

To the Commission:   
 
Thank you for the opportunity to submit comments on the proposed development.  
 
1) The proposed development varies greatly from the previous planning concepts and efforts that have been 
presented to the public for the 135th street corridor. The design lacks details that were used at previous 135th 
street developments such as setbacks, right of way berms, bike/ walkways, etc.  
 
2) The proposed resident density of the project may be one of the highest for any Leawood development. 
  
3) The proposed buildings will be some of the highest, if not the highest, in Leawood. 
 
4) There has always been a paucity of neighborhood parks in Leawood. This development greatly increases 
population without proportionately adding park space. Over use of public park areas greatly diminishes their 
value.  
 
5)  In most respects the Commision acts as a coordinating agency that would consult and coordinate with other 
entities, such as Blue Valley school board, and water, storm & sanitary agencies, and  highway agencies.  This 
development has significant impacts on all the existing facilities and requires new facilities.   
 
6) The development density will greatly increase the stormwater load.The general flow of the system is to the 
north through the Leawood South subdivision area, which has existing capacity issues.    
 
7) The Commission must consider the cost to the City (unless reimbursed by the Developer) for utilities and 
street infrastructure including stormwater improvements, traffic lights/ signals. 
 
8) Phase 1 59 lot area is a very bland, repetitive design that does not resemble Leawood historical standards.  
 
9) Can we assume the proposed plan has been through an administrative review to ensure that all Leawood 
codes, standards, and design guidelines have been followed? If not, the Commision, and the public are spending 
time reviewing a non-compliant plan.  
Thank you  
John Kelley 
Currently serving on Waterford Homes Association board.  
12800 Howe, Leawood 
jkelley016@gmail.com 
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WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



1

Richard Sanchez

From: Natalie Brown <tallybennett@yahoo.com>
Sent: Monday, August 24, 2020 5:20 PM
To: Richard Sanchez
Subject: Cameron's Court

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

Hi Richard, 
 
I am a homeowner in Waterford and would like to express my opposition for building the proposed 
Cameron's Court.  I understand there is a meeting tomorrow night via Zoom, however I wanted to 
provide the City of Leawood my feedback before the meeting.  I am concerned this development will 
not benefit our existing community.  Instead, the development will increase traffic, over fill our schools 
and parks, and create more store fronts when we already have so many open store fronts, even prior 
to Covid-19.  There are better options for the community!  I appreciate your attention to this matter. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Natalie Brown 
WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



August 25, 2020 

Chairman Elkins & Members of the Planning Commission 

City of Leawood 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, Ks 66211 

Dear Chairman Elkins & Members of the Planning Commission: 

Thank you very much for your service to the City of Leawood, and for taking the time to read these 

comments.  I have been a resident of the city of Leawood since 2008, and I am writing to express 6 

areas of community wide concern regarding the proposed Cameron’s Court development along the 

135th Street corridor.  While the development of the land in question can, and should be, of benefit 

to the city, the developers who improve the land, and the residents already living in the area, the 

applicant’s proposal creates some significant concerns that need to be addressed. 

1)  Traffic Concerns & Trip Determinations: 

 

The proposed project road area currently has some of the lowest graded traffic flow 

along the corridor, according to city staff.  Extensive remediation would need to be 

undertaken by the developers to alleviate the outlined problems, let alone improve 

the traffic challenges we already experience in the area.  As proposed, the project 

will have at completion potentially nine (9) points of ingress and egress (and one 

emergency access) of which eight would be considered major: three on 133 rd, four 

on 135th, and one on Stateline/Kenneth.  Of the eight major intersections, the State 

Line/Kenneth intersection may well prove to be the most problematic.  This main 

entry corridor, identified as 134th Street on L-5, serves the bulk of the 

hotel/office/retail square footage and will most likely be a controlled, demand type 

intersection.  This will present motorists with three controlled intersections in the 

short space of less than one half mile. Without continuous synchronization, an 

accordion effect will be imposed on those wishing to go northbound or southbound, 

compounding the existing conditions. 

 

Based upon the limited information available certain assumptions regarding traffic 

impact can be drawn from readily available sources such as the Institute of Traffic 

Engineers (I.T.E.).  The proposed development includes the following; a 122 room 

hotel, 662 multifamily residences, 59 single family dwellings, and 282,244 square 

feet of office space and 122,620 square feet of retail space.  Using the information 

from the source listed above, the total trip ends for the development could be just 
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over 26,754 per day thus having a dramatic impact especially on 133 rd, Stateline, 

Pawnee Lane, and 133rd/Mission intersection. 

 

Land use Base rate  Amount Trip ends 

Hotel  8 per Room  122 rooms 976 

Office*  12 per 1,000 SF   282.244 SF 3,387 

Multifamily 7 per DU  662 DU  4,634 

Single Family 10 per DU  59 DU  590 

Gen. Merch** 140 per 1000 SF 122.62 SF 17,167 

Total       26754 
(* This base rate increases to 200 per 1000 SF for financial institutions and 35 per 1000 SF for medical.)  

(** This base rate increases to 350 w/o drive through for restaurants or 500 per 1000 SF for 

restaurants with drive through.) 

 

This estimate of total trip ends is for this project alone, let alone the impact on the 

area from the other 3 developments along the corridor that have already been 

approved by the city, and are currently underway.   

 

Lastly, concerning the traffic impact, a hazard to the safety and wellbeing of the 

surrounding neighborhoods already exists due to the significant volume of cut -thru 

traffic, by motorists avoiding the traffic controls the city currently has in place along 

State Line and 135th Street both.  An addition to the traffic flow the size of 

Cameron’s Court, as is currently proposed, can only exacerbate the problem to 

unsafe levels. 

 

2) Zoning Considerations: 

There appears to be an insufficient buffer area between Cameron’s Court and the 

neighborhoods of Greenbrier, The Enclave, Wilshire Place, and to some degree 

Waterford and Leawood South.  It would be beneficial for those neighborhood 

residents if the applicant would redesign Tract B to provide an extension of Phase 

One to the easterly limits of the project near the Cornerstone Church.  Provisions 

could still be made for the High Drive extension.  This would be similar to the zoning 

addressed south of 135th between Kenneth and Mission where the Mixed Use is 

separated from the low density residential by a buffer of medium density residential 

as shown in the 2019 Comprehensive Plan Update. 

 

3) Storm water remediation: 

Storm water management is already a challenge for many of the property owners 

and residents in the area.  A review of the proposed project area shows that it is of 

an “area of undetermined flood hazard” (FEMA 2020) likely due to the fact it is an 
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open agricultural plot of land.  The Leawood Storm water map shows two private 

ponds (capacity is unknown) located within the property lines.  These two ponds 

help in the retention of storm water and snow melt runoff and the undisturbed 

nature of the area appears to assist in the prevention of flooding into the nearby 

residential areas.  The proposed project does show (AS101, AS102) a number of 

retention ponds, but again, with an unknown capacity.  To remediate the effects of 

potential runoff from the parking areas, new streets, and driveways (sheet flow) a 

comprehensive engineering plan should be undertaken by the developer.  This will 

prevent neighborhood flooding as well as assist in the city’s storm water 

management program. 

 

4) Prudent Development of the Corridor: 

Presently, the City has already approved, and construction in part is underway on 

three other developments along the corridor.  These three developments include, in 

one fashion or another, everything of note in the Cameron’s Court proposal…Single 

Family, Multifamily, Commercial Office, Retail, Hotel & Hospitality, etc.  With so 

many worthwhile projects already underway, is it prudent to approve yet another 

project for the impacted area prior to seeing the results of those projects?  Perhaps 

even after these developments are completed, we will find that there is still a need 

for something similar to the applicant’s proposal, however wouldn’t it be sensible to 

let the other projects reach completion, rather than guessing about the impact 

prematurely? 

5)  Developer Demeanor: 

On June 12th, the Developer held a meeting regarding this application at their Villa 

Milano property.  Despite the city’s request that the meeting be held outdoors , in 

order to practice safe social distancing in light of the Coronavirus pandemic, the 

meeting was held indoors, with no option to participate out on the Villa Milano pool 

deck, as had been assured to the interested residents in the area.  Additionally, I 

have been advised by city staff that a request for a traffic study revision from the 

applicant had been sent last week, and as of yesterday afternoon that request has 

yet to be acknowledged.  These are just two examples of concerning demeanor on 

the part of the applicant, others exist.  I believe this begs the question…is this really 

the partner that the city, and its resident’s want for the development of this parcel? 
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6)  Leawood’s Distinctive Character: 

In 2019, the Governing Body affirmed a vision for the City and stated that:  

“Leawood prides itself on being a safe, attractive community, which values its 

distinctive character. The citizens of Leawood are civic-minded and are an important 

component in shaping Leawood’s future. As the City of Leawood looks to the future, 

it will continue to maintain the residential property values, promote neighborhood-

oriented commercial developments and quality mixed use developments,* offer a 

variety of high-quality residential neighborhoods, sustain environmental sensitivity, 

retain natural landscapes and provide public open space. With this vision, as 

articulated in a comprehensive plan, the City of Leawood will continue to grow with 

distinction”.  

I wonder, does the applicant’s proposal offer the City and its residents something 

that is “distinctively Leawood”, or would it be just as easily developed anywhere, 

leaving this portion of Leawood indiscernible from other cities, and abandoning the 

distinctiveness that makes our city the best place to live in the metro?   

In closing, I would like to thank Brian Scovill, Leawood City Engineer, and Richard Sanchez, Planning 

Director, for their time and assistance during this process.  I would also like to thank you, Chairman 

Elkins, as well as the rest of the Planning Commission, for taking the time to read this letter and 

investigate these concerns. 

Sincerely, 

Chad Summers  

2608 W. 131st Street 

Leawood, KS 66209 

(913) 238 3412 

chadcsummers@yahoo.com 







SECTION 27-13-25

LOCATION MAP

SCALE 1" = 2000'

PROJECT

LOCATION

PROJECT

LOCATION

SE1/4

SW1/4

NE1/4
NW1/4

W 127TH ST

M
I
S

S
I
O

N
 
R

D

W 135TH ST

27 26

SW1/4

W 133RD ST

S
T

A
T

E
 
L
I
N

E
 
R

D

NW1/4

CAMERON'S COURT MXD ZONING LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

ALL THAT PART OF THE SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼ (BEING GOVERNMENT LOT NO. 2) OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25,

NOW IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  COMMENCING AT

THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 26 SECONDS WEST,

ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼, A DISTANCE OF 1,745.59 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE CENTERLINE OF

133

RD

 STREET, AS  NOW ESTABLISHED; THENCE SOUTH 88 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF

SAID 133

RD

 STREET, A DISTANCE OF 180 FEET, TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF 133

RD

STREET, SAID LINE BEING ON A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 3,258.42 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 7 DEGREES 20

MINUTES 01 SECONDS, A DISTANCE OF 417.06 FEET, TO A POINT OF TANGENCY; THENCE NORTH 84 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 25

SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID 133

RD

 STREET, A DISTANCE OF 235.06 FEET, TO A POINT OF CURVATURE;

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID 133

RD

 STREET, SAID LINE BEING ON A CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS

OF 3,258.42 FEET AND A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 3 DEGREES 20 MINUTES 58 SECONDS, A DISTANCE OF 190.48 FEET, TO A POINT OF

TANGENCY; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 00 MINUTES 22 SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID 133

RD

 STREET, A

DISTANCE OF 91.97 FEET, TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼; THENCE SOUTH 2 DEGREES 13

MINUTES 19 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼, A DISTANCE OF 1,836.43 FEET, TO THE

SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 32 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID

SOUTHWEST FRACTIONAL ¼, A DISTANCE OF 1,102.95 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, EXCEPT THAT PART IN STREETS AND

ROADS.

AND

PART OF THE SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER AND SOUTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST,

IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 27; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES

13 MINUTES 11 SECONDS WEST ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE SAID SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 60.00 FEET TO A

POINT ON THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 135TH/ STREET AS NOW ESTABLISHED, SAID POINT BEING THE POINT OF

BEGINNING; THENCE ALONG THE SAID NORTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE THE FOLLOWING NINE COURSES, SOUTH 87 DEGREES 40

MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 2193.07 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88 DEGREES 31 MINUTES 00 SECONDS WEST, A

DISTANCE OF 180.39 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 10 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 200.00 FEET; THENCE

NORTH 40 DEGREES 11 MINUTES 04 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 48.89 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 48

SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 9.55 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 100.01

FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 08 MINUTES 07 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 21.76 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35 DEGREES 40

MINUTES 31 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 48.73 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 39 SECONDS WEST, A

DISTANCE OF 1206.35 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PAWNEE LANE AS PLATTED IN MARKET SQUARE

CENTER,  A SUBDIVISION IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD AS RECORDED IN BOOK 119 AT PAGE 47, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE

ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PAWNEE LANE AND THE EAST LINE OF SAID MARKET SQUARE CENTER THE FOLLOWING FOUR

COURSES, NORTH 02 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 373.44 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE

ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, TANGENT TO THE PREVIOUS COURSE, HAVING A RADIUS OF 1950.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 14

DEGREES 28 MINUTES 45 SECONDS AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 492.78 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS

EAST, A DISTANCE OF 21.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 03 MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO A

POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 133RD/ STREET AS NOW ESTABLISHED; THENCE ALONG THE SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF

WAY LINE OF W 133RD/ STREET THE FOLLOWING SEVEN COURSES, NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A

DISTANCE OF 1285.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 27 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE

NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 80.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 27

SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1059.35

FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, TANGENT TO THE PREVIOUS COURSE, HAVING A RADIUS

OF 900.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 59 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 41 SECONDS AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 941.61 FEET; THENCE NORTH

27 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 38 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 18.69 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF LOT 1, COVENANT

CHAPEL, A SUBDIVISION IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD AS RECORDED IN BOOK 104 AT PAGE 36, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE

ALONG THE WEST AND SOUTH LINE OF SAID COVENANT CHAPEL THE FOLLOWING FOUR COURSES, SOUTH 22 DEGREES 49

MINUTES 49 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 266.30 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 19 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, A

DISTANCE OF 534.91 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 27 DEGREES 49 MINUTES 52 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 235.08 FEET ; THENCE

NORTH 87 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 27 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 405.69 FEET TO A POINT ON THE EAST LINE OF THE SAID

SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 13 MINUTES 11 SECONDS EAST ALONG THE SAID EAST LINE, A DISTANCE

OF 350.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

EXCEPT

PART OF THE SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER AND SOUTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST,

IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH ONE-QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 27; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 38 SECONDS

WEST, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 27, A DISTANCE OF 595.25 FEET TO THE POINT

OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1292.84 FEET TO A POINT OF

CURVATURE ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PAWNEE LANE AS PLATTED IN MARKET SQUARE CENTER,  A SUBDIVISION IN THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD AS RECORDED IN BOOK 119 AT PAGE 47, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID

PAWNEE LANE AND THE EAST LINE OF SAID MARKET SQUARE CENTER THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES, THENCE NORTHERLY

ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 1950.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 09 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 55

SECONDS , AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF NORTH 06 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 41 SECONDS WEST, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 324.97

FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 21.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 03

MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 133RD STREET AS

NOW ESTABLISHED; THENCE ALONG THE SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 133RD STREET THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES,

THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1285.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 07

MINUTES 27 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE

OF 80.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 27 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87

DEGREES 56 MINUTES 19 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 855.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 35 SECONDS

EAST, A DISTANCE OF 54.90 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, TANGENT TO THE PREVIOUS

COURSE AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 29 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 21 SECONDS , A CHORD BEARING

OF SOUTH 13 DEGREES 50 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 154.67 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 39 DEGREES 04

MINUTES 13 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 168.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, A

DISTANCE OF 823.72 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CAMERON'S COURT RP-2 ZONING LEGAL DESCRIPTION:

PART OF THE SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER AND SOUTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 13 SOUTH, RANGE 25 EAST,

IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTH ONE-QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 27; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 38 SECONDS

WEST, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID SOUTHWEST ONE-QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 27, A DISTANCE OF 595.25 FEET TO THE POINT

OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 1292.84 FEET TO A POINT OF

CURVATURE ON THE EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PAWNEE LANE AS PLATTED IN MARKET SQUARE CENTER,  A SUBDIVISION IN THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD AS RECORDED IN BOOK 119 AT PAGE 47, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS; THENCE ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID

PAWNEE LANE AND THE EAST LINE OF SAID MARKET SQUARE CENTER THE FOLLOWING THREE COURSES, THENCE NORTHERLY

ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 1950.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 09 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 55

SECONDS , AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF NORTH 06 DEGREES 59 MINUTES 41 SECONDS WEST, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 324.97

FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 21.93 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 03

MINUTES 51 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 10.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 133RD STREET AS

NOW ESTABLISHED; THENCE ALONG THE SAID SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF W 133RD STREET THE FOLLOWING FIVE COURSES,

THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 1285.27 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 07

MINUTES 27 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 18 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE

OF 80.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 02 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 27 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 30.00 FEET; THENCE NORTH 87

DEGREES 56 MINUTES 19 SECONDS EAST, A DISTANCE OF 855.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 02 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 35 SECONDS

EAST, A DISTANCE OF 54.90 FEET TO A POINT OF CURVATURE; THENCE ALONG A CURVE TO THE LEFT, TANGENT TO THE PREVIOUS

COURSE AND HAVING A RADIUS OF 300.00 FEET, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 29 DEGREES 32 MINUTES 21 SECONDS , A CHORD BEARING

OF SOUTH 13 DEGREES 50 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 154.67 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 39 DEGREES 04

MINUTES 13 SECONDS WEST, A DISTANCE OF 168.94 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 87 DEGREES 56 MINUTES 06 SECONDS WEST, A

DISTANCE OF 823.72 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

LIQUID WASTES TO BE HANDLED BY GRAVITY OR LOW PRESSURE SANITARY SEWER

JCW SERVICE DISTRICT: BR02 - CMSD

PRELIMINARY PLAT

FOR

CAMERON'S COURT

IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD

JOHNSON COUNTY, KS

OWNER/DEVELOPER:

ODDO DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, INC.

RICK ODDO

15431 W. 100TH TER

LENEXA, KS 66219

p 913-894-6336

f 913-894-9100

RODDO@ODDODEV.COM
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RP-2 BULK SITE INFORMATION

REQUIREMENT     PROVIDED

FRONT SETBACK 30 FT. 30 FT.

INTERIOR SIDE SETBACK 10 FT. 10 FT.

CORNER LOT STREET SIDE SETBACK 20 FT. 20 FT.

REAR SETBACK 20 FT. 20 FT.

MINIMUM LOT AREA                 6,000 S.F.        9,100 S.F.

LOT OPEN SPACE AREA 30% 30%

HEIGHT LIMIT(MEASURED FROM GRADE OF FRONT DOOR) 35' 35'



950

SANx

SANx

SANx

STO xSTO xSTO x STOxSTOx STOxSTOx

ST
O x

ST
O x

STO xSTO x

STOx

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

STO xSTO x

STO x

STO

x

STO x

STO x

STO x

STOx

W
x

Wx

SAN
x

G x

G x

STO xSTO x

STO x

STOx

SA
N

x

SAN
x

STOx STOx STO xSTO x

SANx SANx

STOx STOx

Wx
Wx

G
x

G x
G x

SANx

Wx
Wx

G
x

M
EA

D
O

W

PE
M
BR

OK
E

131ST TER

131ST ST

133RD ST

GREENBRIER
THE

OF LEAWOOD
SECOND PLAT

132ND TER

WINDSOR C
IR

PAW
NEE

132ND ST

8

.

4

8

'

48'

8

.

4

8

'

32'

8

.

4

8

'

64'

8

.

4

9

'

68.
47'

3
4
.
7
0
'

3
2
.
6
8
'

3
2
.
6
8
'

3
2
.
6
8
'

3
2
.
6
8
'

C.O
.

C.O
.

C.O
.

C
.
O
.

100

982.626

+ CUT

X X X

X

X

X

X

X

60' R/W EASEMENT

B 64, P 455

60' R/W EASEMENT

B 63, P 144

60' R/W EASEMENT

B 63, P 141

6
0
'
 
R

/
W

W 133RD STREET

(P
UBLIC

)

W

 

1

3

3

R

D

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

(

P

U

B

L

I

C

)

W
 135TH S

TREET

(P
UBLIC

)

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP TRAF SIG

LP

24" CMP

END SECTION

XXXX

X

XXXXXXX

OHP x
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx OHPx
OHPx OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx OHPx
OHPx

LP

LP

WELL

STO
x

STO x STO x

STO x STO x STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x
STO x

STO x
STO x STO x

STO x
STO

x

STO x
STO x

STO

x

STO x

STO
x

STOx

STO x

STO x
STO x

STO x STO x
STO x STO x

STO x
STO x

STO x
STO x STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x

SIG
NALED

IN
TERSECTIO

N

SIGNALED

INTERSECTION

WETLAND

PEM1Ch

ZONE X (FUTURE BASE FLOOD)

ZONE X (FUTURE BASE FLOOD)

WETLAND

PABFh

NOTE #8

NOTE #8

W
 135TH S

TREET

(P
UBLIC

)

6
0
'
 
R

/
W

60' R/W EASEMENT

B 63, P 141

60' R/W EASEMENT

B 64, P 454

2
8
.
5

4
0
'

2
8
.
5

1
1
.
4

M
A

T
C

H
 
L
I
N

E

K
E

N
N

E
T

H
 
R

O
A

D

(
P

U
B

L
I
C

)

A
S

P
H

A
L
T

 
D

R
I
V

E

40'

P
A

W
N

E
E

 
L
A

N
E

(
P

U
B

L
I
C

)

40'

B/B

4
0
'

B
/
B

3
6
'

B
/
B

3
6
'

B
/
B

3

6

'
B

/

B

FOUND CUT "+"

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ PEI CAP X 3

FOUND REBAR

W/ PEI CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

FOUND REBAR

W/ GBA CAP

POINT OF BEGINNING

WELL

4
0
0
'

4
0
0
'

4
0
0
'

400'

4

0

0

'

8
0
.
0
0

8

0

.
0

0

'

7
2
.
0
0
'

1
3
0
.
0
0
'

1
2
0
.
0
0

8
0
.
0
0

4

0

.

0

0

'

8

0

.

0

0

'

40.00

5
8
.
8
6

R

3

8

.

0

0

R

5

0

.

0

0

79.99

Pa
ck

ag
es Co
un

te
r

Packages

Counter

Packages

Counter

Packages

Counter

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

DUMPSTE
R:  6' w. x

 5' d. x 4' h
. = 8 CU. Y

DS.

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

DUMPSTER:  6' w. x 5' d. x 4' h. = 8 CU. YDS.

Packages

Counter

Packages
Counter

Packages

Counter

24"

10"

20"

20"

15"

15"

10"

24"

24"

10"

24"

24"

14"

18"

18"

24"

12"

12"

12"

16"

16"

10"

10"

12"

12"

10"

10"

8"

8"

20"

20"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

18"

18"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

14"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

10"

10"

10"

10"

10"

10"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8" 8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

14"

14"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

10"

10"

10"

10"

8"

10"

18"

8"

18"

10"

20"

30"

10"

10"

12"

10"

24"

24"

10"

10"

15"

12"

12"

8"

12"

12"

12"

12"

12"

14"

14"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

10"

14"

16"

16"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

10"

18"

18"

14"

14"

8"

8"

10"

10"

10"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

8"

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

2

5

'
 

P

R

K

N

G

.

 

B

.

L

.

4

0

'
 

B

.

L

.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4

0

'
 

B

.

L

.

2

5

'
 

P

R

K

N

G

.

 

B

.

L

.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

75' S
ETBACK

2

5

'
 
P

R

K

N

G

.
 
B

.
L

.

4

0

'
 
B

.
L

.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

40' B
.L.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

R
3
8
.0

0

R
5
0
.
0
0

80.00

0 200' 400'

SCALE: 1" = 200'

N

(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
5

1
5

8
 
 
 
 
F

a
x
:
 
(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
8

4
0

0

1
4

9
2

0
 
W

e
s
t
 
1

0
7

t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t
 
 
 
L

e
n

e
x
a

,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s
 
6

6
2

1
5

W
W

W
.
S

C
H

L
A

G
E

L
A

S
S

O
C

I
A

T
E

S
.
C

O
M

SHEET

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
 
D

A
T

E
D

E
S

C
R

I
P

T
I
O

N

D
A

T
E

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
:

P
R

O
J
.
 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
B

Y
:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

2
0
-
0
2
8

C
A

M
E

R
O

N
'
S

 
C

O
U

R
T

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

1
3
5
T

H
 
&

 
S

T
A

T
E

L
I
N

E
 
 
L
E

A
W

O
O

D
,
 
K

S

OVERALL

LAYOUT

C1.1

#
#
#
#

#
#
#
#

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
I
P

T
I
O

N
 
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
925

AutoCAD SHX Text
920

AutoCAD SHX Text
925

AutoCAD SHX Text
925

AutoCAD SHX Text
930

AutoCAD SHX Text
930

AutoCAD SHX Text
935

AutoCAD SHX Text
930

AutoCAD SHX Text
940

AutoCAD SHX Text
945

AutoCAD SHX Text
940

AutoCAD SHX Text
935

AutoCAD SHX Text
945

AutoCAD SHX Text
935

AutoCAD SHX Text
925

AutoCAD SHX Text
940

AutoCAD SHX Text
965

AutoCAD SHX Text
960

AutoCAD SHX Text
955

AutoCAD SHX Text
950

AutoCAD SHX Text
950

AutoCAD SHX Text
970

AutoCAD SHX Text
975

AutoCAD SHX Text
965

AutoCAD SHX Text
965

AutoCAD SHX Text
960

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
985

AutoCAD SHX Text
975

AutoCAD SHX Text
970

AutoCAD SHX Text
975

AutoCAD SHX Text
970

AutoCAD SHX Text
980

AutoCAD SHX Text
970

AutoCAD SHX Text
975

AutoCAD SHX Text
995

AutoCAD SHX Text
995

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
990

AutoCAD SHX Text
945

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HIGHWAY (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C O V E N A N T     C H A P E L ,     L O T     1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN. MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
e

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
12' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
133RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
135

AutoCAD SHX Text
134

AutoCAD SHX Text
133

AutoCAD SHX Text
132

AutoCAD SHX Text
131

AutoCAD SHX Text
130

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENANT CHAPEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENANT CHAPEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE GREENBRIER OF LEAWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF LEAWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE GREENBRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
86

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
84

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
87

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE GREENBRIER OF LEAWOOD, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABERDEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
164

AutoCAD SHX Text
163

AutoCAD SHX Text
162

AutoCAD SHX Text
161

AutoCAD SHX Text
160

AutoCAD SHX Text
159

AutoCAD SHX Text
158

AutoCAD SHX Text
157

AutoCAD SHX Text
156

AutoCAD SHX Text
155

AutoCAD SHX Text
154

AutoCAD SHX Text
153

AutoCAD SHX Text
152

AutoCAD SHX Text
151

AutoCAD SHX Text
150

AutoCAD SHX Text
147

AutoCAD SHX Text
146

AutoCAD SHX Text
145

AutoCAD SHX Text
144

AutoCAD SHX Text
143

AutoCAD SHX Text
142

AutoCAD SHX Text
141

AutoCAD SHX Text
140

AutoCAD SHX Text
139

AutoCAD SHX Text
138

AutoCAD SHX Text
137

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
127

AutoCAD SHX Text
126

AutoCAD SHX Text
125

AutoCAD SHX Text
124

AutoCAD SHX Text
123

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
119

AutoCAD SHX Text
118

AutoCAD SHX Text
117

AutoCAD SHX Text
116

AutoCAD SHX Text
115

AutoCAD SHX Text
114

AutoCAD SHX Text
113

AutoCAD SHX Text
112

AutoCAD SHX Text
111

AutoCAD SHX Text
110

AutoCAD SHX Text
109

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
106

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C"

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE/

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL/

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENIENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT/

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENIENCE STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT/

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
87

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
74

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
84

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
72

AutoCAD SHX Text
71

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
86

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
64

AutoCAD SHX Text
63

AutoCAD SHX Text
62

AutoCAD SHX Text
61

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
59

AutoCAD SHX Text
58

AutoCAD SHX Text
57

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
172

AutoCAD SHX Text
171

AutoCAD SHX Text
170

AutoCAD SHX Text
169

AutoCAD SHX Text
168

AutoCAD SHX Text
167

AutoCAD SHX Text
166

AutoCAD SHX Text
165

AutoCAD SHX Text
148

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
99

AutoCAD SHX Text
98

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
96

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE SITE "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
17,000 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1010.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1012.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,600 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL SHOPS "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
FPW

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRW

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1010.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
149

AutoCAD SHX Text
30"C.M.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL SHOPS "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
37,560 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1010.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1013.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
62 PARKING SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.8 SP./1000 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY~7,000 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.2 SP./1000 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
70,000 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1012.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRICE CHOPPER SUPERMARKET

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
US 150

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1010

AutoCAD SHX Text
1005

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 35' %%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 35' %%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EM

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 936.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=922.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=922.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=921.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 935.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=924.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=923.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" RCP @ 3.04%

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=948.18(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 954.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=948.28(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'x6' AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 955.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=951.11(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=974.89(24")

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(E)=975.68(15")

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=949.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 963.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=928.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=928.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=928.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 938.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=926.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=925.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 940.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'CONC. SDWK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.54 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.71 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.48 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.64 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.77 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.43 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d49'40"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
380.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N88%%d56'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d59'26"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1856.44'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N2%%d13'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2654.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2594.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. R/W 50' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
21 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
26 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
10 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
TELE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTIONALIZER

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWITCHGEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS HIGHWAY NO. 150       (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
N87%%d32'32"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
979.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N40%%d38'03"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d58'22"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
160'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87%%d32'32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1102.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 72' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 60' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 100' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 60' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 72' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 60' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 72' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'x3.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'x3.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R/W 60'%%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N3%%d44'17"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 35' %%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
N2%%d13'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2654.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2594.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
C O V E N A N T     C H A P E L ,     L O T     1

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d49'40"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
380.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N88%%d56'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N2%%d13'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2654.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2594.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS HIGHWAY NO. 150       (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
N87%%d32'32"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
979.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N40%%d38'03"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d58'22"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
160'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87%%d32'32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1102.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N3%%d44'17"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETENTION POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,300 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,525 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,050 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
11,925 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,150 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,300 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,200 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
30,400 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
156 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
56 LOTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
42 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
56 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
49 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
6,170 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
36.59 AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
J

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
49 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
42 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
42 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNITY PARK 71,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOG PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUNITY GARDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOG PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
K

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,000

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL BELOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
122 KEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
4 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
66,472 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MXD

AutoCAD SHX Text
65,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETENTION POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
INFILTRATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
POCKET PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLANTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE ABOVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
15,200

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL BELOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAINT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30,400 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY ACCESS ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
5 STORIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
8,500 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
65,000 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLUB

AutoCAD SHX Text
8,500 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
184 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/4 BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/4 BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4 SPLIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4 SPLIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4 SPLIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4 SPLIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
42 UNITS

AutoCAD SHX Text
4/5 SPLIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 UNIT BLDG

AutoCAD SHX Text
10,244 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 story

AutoCAD SHX Text
Office

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK 20,000SF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHASE 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESTINATION STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
133RD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH PROPERTY

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEIGHBORHOOD ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
142 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAINT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
142 SF

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT 3: 1.07 AC

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE / GREEN AREAGREEN AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
21



PP LP S. N.

T

T

GV

1

0

0

5

9

8

5

985

9

9

0

9

9

5

1

0

0

0

1

0

0

5

1

0

0

5

9

8

0

9
8
5

9

9

0

9

9

5

1

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

1

0

0

5

1

0

0

5

9

8

5

9

9

0

9

9

5

1

0

0

0

1

0

0

5

9

4

5

9
5
0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

6

5

9

7

0

9
7
5

9

8

0

9

8

5

9

9

0
9

9

0

9

9

0

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

6

5

9
7
0

9

7

5

9

5

0

9
5
5

9

6

0

9
6
5

9

7

0

9

7

5

9
8
0

9

8

5

9

9

0

9

9

0

9

2

5

9

3

0

9

3

5

9
4
0

9

4

5

9
5
0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9
6
5

9

7

0

9
3
5

9

4

0

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

3

5

9

6

5

9

6

5

9

7

0

9

7

5

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

3

5

9
4
0

SANx

SANx

SANx

SANx

SAN
x

SANx

SANx

SANx

SANx

SAN
x

SANx

SAN
x

STO xSTO xSTO x

ST
O x

ST
O x

SANx

STOx
STOx

STO
x

STO
x

STO
x

STO
x

SANx

STO xSTO x

STO xSTO x

STOx

STOx

STOx

STO xSTO x STO xSTO x

STO x

STO

x

STOx

STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x

STOx

W
x

Wx

SAN
x

STO xSTO x

STO x

STOx

STO x

SA
N

x
SA

N
x

SAN
x

SAN
x

STO xSTO xSTO xSTO x

SANx

Wx
Wx

W
x

G
x

G x

Gx

SANx

x

W
x

G
x

G
x

M
EA

D
O

W

PE
M
BR

OK
E

131ST TER

131ST ST

133RD ST

GREENBRIER
THE

OF LEAWOOD
SECOND PLAT

WINDSOR C
IR

PAW
NEE

132ND ST

0

N

SCALE: 1" = 150'

150' 300'

(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
5

1
5

8
 
 
 
 
F

a
x
:
 
(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
8

4
0

0

1
4

9
2

0
 
W

e
s
t
 
1

0
7

t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t
 
 
 
L

e
n

e
x
a

,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s
 
6

6
2

1
5

W
W

W
.
S

C
H

L
A

G
E

L
A

S
S

O
C

I
A

T
E

S
.
C

O
M

K
a
n
s
a
s
 
S

t
a
t
e
 
C

e
r
t
i
f
i
c
a
t
e
s
 
o
f
 
A

u
t
h
o
r
i
t
y

 
#
E

-
2
9
6
 
 
#
L
A

-
2
9
 
 
#
L
S

-
5
4

SHEET

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
 
D

A
T

E
D

E
S

C
R

I
P

T
I
O

N

D
A

T
E

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
:

P
R

O
J
.
 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
B

Y
:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

2
0
-
0
2
8

C
A

M
E

R
O

N
'
S

 
C

O
U

R
T

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

1
3
5
T

H
 
&

 
S

T
A

T
E

L
I
N

E
 
 
L
E

A
W

O
O

D
,
 
K

S

EXISTING

CONDITIONS

WEST

C1.2

#
#
#
#

#
#
#
#

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
I
P

T
I
O

N
 
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
988.337

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 40 MAG AND +

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
1003.292

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 41 MAG AND +

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
1002.488

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 42 PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
976.979

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 43 PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
938.767

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 44 PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
941.723

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 45 MAG PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
988.282

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 46 MAG PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
990.463

AutoCAD SHX Text
LID

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRFC WHTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP D PROP COR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFC SIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HIGHWAY (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C O V E N A N T     C H A P E L ,     L O T     1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN. MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
e

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
12' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
133RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
135

AutoCAD SHX Text
134

AutoCAD SHX Text
133

AutoCAD SHX Text
132

AutoCAD SHX Text
131

AutoCAD SHX Text
130

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
86

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
84

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
87

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABERDEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
164

AutoCAD SHX Text
163

AutoCAD SHX Text
162

AutoCAD SHX Text
161

AutoCAD SHX Text
160

AutoCAD SHX Text
159

AutoCAD SHX Text
158

AutoCAD SHX Text
157

AutoCAD SHX Text
156

AutoCAD SHX Text
155

AutoCAD SHX Text
154

AutoCAD SHX Text
153

AutoCAD SHX Text
152

AutoCAD SHX Text
151

AutoCAD SHX Text
150

AutoCAD SHX Text
147

AutoCAD SHX Text
146

AutoCAD SHX Text
145

AutoCAD SHX Text
144

AutoCAD SHX Text
143

AutoCAD SHX Text
142

AutoCAD SHX Text
141

AutoCAD SHX Text
140

AutoCAD SHX Text
139

AutoCAD SHX Text
138

AutoCAD SHX Text
137

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
127

AutoCAD SHX Text
126

AutoCAD SHX Text
125

AutoCAD SHX Text
124

AutoCAD SHX Text
123

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
119

AutoCAD SHX Text
118

AutoCAD SHX Text
117

AutoCAD SHX Text
116

AutoCAD SHX Text
115

AutoCAD SHX Text
114

AutoCAD SHX Text
113

AutoCAD SHX Text
112

AutoCAD SHX Text
111

AutoCAD SHX Text
110

AutoCAD SHX Text
109

AutoCAD SHX Text
108

AutoCAD SHX Text
107

AutoCAD SHX Text
106

AutoCAD SHX Text
105

AutoCAD SHX Text
104

AutoCAD SHX Text
103

AutoCAD SHX Text
102

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "C"

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRISR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRISR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST LINE FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FALMOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CANTERBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
87

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
24

AutoCAD SHX Text
25

AutoCAD SHX Text
26

AutoCAD SHX Text
27

AutoCAD SHX Text
28

AutoCAD SHX Text
77

AutoCAD SHX Text
76

AutoCAD SHX Text
75

AutoCAD SHX Text
74

AutoCAD SHX Text
73

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
84

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
35

AutoCAD SHX Text
36

AutoCAD SHX Text
37

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
72

AutoCAD SHX Text
71

AutoCAD SHX Text
70

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
90

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
88

AutoCAD SHX Text
86

AutoCAD SHX Text
85

AutoCAD SHX Text
64

AutoCAD SHX Text
63

AutoCAD SHX Text
62

AutoCAD SHX Text
61

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
59

AutoCAD SHX Text
58

AutoCAD SHX Text
57

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
132ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
172

AutoCAD SHX Text
171

AutoCAD SHX Text
170

AutoCAD SHX Text
169

AutoCAD SHX Text
168

AutoCAD SHX Text
167

AutoCAD SHX Text
166

AutoCAD SHX Text
165

AutoCAD SHX Text
148

AutoCAD SHX Text
101

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
99

AutoCAD SHX Text
98

AutoCAD SHX Text
97

AutoCAD SHX Text
96

AutoCAD SHX Text
95

AutoCAD SHX Text
94

AutoCAD SHX Text
93

AutoCAD SHX Text
92

AutoCAD SHX Text
91

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
L/E

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
OFFICE SITE "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
149

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPBMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARD RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
30"C.M.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'x20' PERM. DRAIN. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY CONST.  ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. MONUMENT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL SHOPS "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
37,560 S.F.

AutoCAD SHX Text
F.F.=1010.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
PVMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESMT

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"PW

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HWY (135TH ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EM

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRELLIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 936.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=922.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=922.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=921.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 935.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=924.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=923.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" RCP @ 3.04%

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=948.18(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 954.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=948.28(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'x6' AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 955.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=951.11(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=949.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 963.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=928.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=928.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=928.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 938.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=926.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=925.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 940.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'CONC. SDWK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.54 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.71 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.48 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.64 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.77 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.43 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N2%%d13'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2654.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2594.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
12 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
10 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
14 SPACES

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SERVICE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTIONALIZER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWITCHGEAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 72' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 60' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 100' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 60' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 72' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
STLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. R/W 60'%%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"E(PVC)

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY ARTERIAL CONCRETE PAVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY COLLECTOR ASPHALT PAVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY COLLECTOR ASPHALT PAVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAWNEE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 133RD ST



MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

MH

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LINE FROM TGII

WILSHIRE PALCE 3RD PLAT

9

4

5

9

5

09

5

5

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

6

5

9
7
0

9

7

5

9

5

0

9
5
5

9

2

59

3

0

9

3

5

9
4
0

9

4

5

9
5
0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9
6
5

9

7

0

9
3
5

9

4

0

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

3

5

9

4

0

9

4

5

9

5

0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

6

5

9

7

0

9

7

5

9

8

0

9

8

5

9

9

0

9

9

5

995

9

9

0

9

6

5

9

7

0

9

7

5

9

8

0

9

8

5

9

9

0

9

7

0

9

7

5

9

8

0

9

8

5

9
9
0

9
9
5

9

4

5

9

5

0

9
5
5

9
6
0

9
6
5

9

7

0

9

7

5

9

8

0

9

8

5

9

9

0

9

3

5

9
4
0

9
4
5

9
5
0

9

5

5

9

6

0

9

6

5

9

6

5

9

6

5

970

975

9

8

0

SANxSAN
x

SANx

STO xSTO x

STO x
STO x

STOx STOx

SANx

SAN
x

ST
O x

ST
O x

STOxSTOx

STO x
STO xSTO x
STO x STOx STOx

STOx STOx
STOx STOx
STOx STOx

ST
O x

ST
O x

ST
O x

ST
O x

SANx

SANx

SAN
x

STOx
STOx

STOx
STOx

STO
x

STO
x

STO
x

STO
x

STOx
STOx

SANx

STOx

STO
x

STOx

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

ST
O

x
ST

O
x

SA
N

x

SAN
x

SAN
x

SAN
x

SAN x

STOx

M
EA

D
O

W

133RD ST

0

N

SCALE: 1" = 150'

150' 300'

(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
5

1
5

8
 
 
 
 
F

a
x
:
 
(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
8

4
0

0

1
4

9
2

0
 
W

e
s
t
 
1

0
7

t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t
 
 
 
L

e
n

e
x
a

,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s
 
6

6
2

1
5

W
W

W
.
S

C
H

L
A

G
E

L
A

S
S

O
C

I
A

T
E

S
.
C

O
M

SHEET

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
 
D

A
T

E
D

E
S

C
R

I
P

T
I
O

N

D
A

T
E

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
:

P
R

O
J
.
 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
B

Y
:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

2
0
-
0
2
8

C
A

M
E

R
O

N
'
S

 
C

O
U

R
T

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

1
3
5
T

H
 
&

 
S

T
A

T
E

L
I
N

E
 
 
L
E

A
W

O
O

D
,
 
K

S

EXISTING

CONDITIONS

EAST

C1.3

#
#
#
#

#
#
#
#

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
I
P

T
I
O

N
 
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
938.767

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 44 PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
941.723

AutoCAD SHX Text
CP 45 MAG PAINT +

AutoCAD SHX Text
K-150 HIGHWAY (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
C O V E N A N T     C H A P E L ,     L O T     1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"G

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN. MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
e

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
12' DWC

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
21" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"CMP

AutoCAD SHX Text
133RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
135

AutoCAD SHX Text
134

AutoCAD SHX Text
133

AutoCAD SHX Text
132

AutoCAD SHX Text
131

AutoCAD SHX Text
130

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENANT CHAPEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVENANT CHAPEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE GREENBRIER OF LEAWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
OF LEAWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE GREENBRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
89

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
PPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PPED

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.DITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'C&G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
137

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
123

AutoCAD SHX Text
120

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENIENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT/

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENIENCE STORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTAURANT/

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAIL / OFFICE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
TV

AutoCAD SHX Text
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
POWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY CONST.  ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' CONC. SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST LINE FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERMANENT STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONDEMNED IN CASE NO. 94C6024

AutoCAD SHX Text
35' R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.(2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPBMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPBMH

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCB

AutoCAD SHX Text
GA'S

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WS

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'x5' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'x4' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" HEADWALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GUARD RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
30"C.M.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2.5' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' CONC. CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' CONC. SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'x20' PERM. DRAIN. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET RIGHT-OF-WAY IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'x20' PERM. DRAIN. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY CONST.  ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEMPORARY CONST.  ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN COND. CASE NO. 95C2953

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. MONUMENT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH LINE FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHEAST CORNER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAC. SEC. 26-13-25

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. MONUMENT BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SET 1/2"I.B.

AutoCAD SHX Text
US 150

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' SAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 35' %%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 35' %%131

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 25' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EM

AutoCAD SHX Text
YDLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRON FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LSA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRELLIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 936.11

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=922.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=922.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=921.78

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 935.66

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=924.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=923.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" RCP @ 3.04%

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=948.18(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 954.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=948.28(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'x6' AREA INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 955.91

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(S)=951.11(30")

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST. R/W 40' %%130

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%134

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"STEEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SW)=949.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 963.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELEC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"R.C.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=928.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=928.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(N)=928.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 938.93

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(SE)=925.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NE)=926.69

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%135(NW)=925.89

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 940.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'CONC. SDWK.

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.54 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.71 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.48 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 943.64 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.77 NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP EL. 946.43 SE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.3' x 5.4' CURB INLET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
30'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d49'40"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
380.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N88%%d56'24"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
9.86'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d59'26"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1856.44'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N2%%d13'19"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
2654.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2594.49'

AutoCAD SHX Text
35'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
TS

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIRE FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KANSAS HIGHWAY NO. 150       (135TH STREET)

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%130 10' PERM. SAN. SEWER ESMT. &

AutoCAD SHX Text
100' TEMP. CONST. ESMT. FILED IN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOL. 1727, PG. 821

AutoCAD SHX Text
N87%%d32'32"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
979.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N40%%d38'03"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
96.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N1%%d58'22"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
160'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S87%%d32'32"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1102.95'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILED IN VOLUME 2827, PAGE 262.

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' KANSAS POWER & LIGHT CO. ESMT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N3%%d44'17"E

AutoCAD SHX Text
120.60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY ARTERIAL CONCRETE PAVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATE LINE RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY ARTERIAL CONCRETE PAVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 133RD ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PRIMARY COLLECTOR ASPHALT PAVED



SANx

SA
N

x

SANx
SANx

SANx

SAN x

SANx SANx

SA
N

x

SANx
SANx

SAN
x

SANxSANx
SANx

SANx

SA
N x

SANx

SANx

SAN
x

SANx

SAN
x

SANx

SANx

SAN
x

SAN
x

SAN

STOx
STOx

STOx

STO
x

STO x
STO xSTO x
STO x

STO xSTO x

STO xSTO x

ST
O x

STOx

STOx

STO xSTO x

STO xSTO x STO xSTO x
STO xSTO x

STO xSTO x
STO xSTO x

STO xSTO x
STO xSTO x

STO x
STO xSTO x
STO x

STO x
STO x

ST
O

x STO x

STO x

STOx STOx

W
x

W
x

Wx

SAN
x

SAN
x

SANxG x

STO x
STO xSTO x
STO x

STO x

STO x

STO x

STO xSTO xSTO x
STO xSTO x
STO x

STO
STO

SANx
SAN

Wx
Wx

Wx

STOx STOx

W
x

W
x

G
x

G
x

G x
G x

Gx

SANx
SANx

Wx

W
x

G
x

G
x

G
x

811.4
2'

W
 133RD S

TREET

(P
UBLIC

)

W

 

1

3

3

R

D

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

(

P

U

B

L

I

C

)

W
 135TH S

TREET

(P
UBLIC

)

LP

LP

OHPx

OHP x
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

OHPx
OHPx

SA
N

x

W
 135TH S

TREET

(P
UBLIC

)

P
A

W
N

E
E

 
L
A

N
E

(
P

U
B

L
I
C

)

S87°4
0'39"W

  2
652.74'

S87°4
0'10"W

  2
653.34'

8
0
.
0
0

8

0

.
0

0

'

7
2
.
0
0
'

1
3
0
.
0
0
'

5
8
.
8
6

R

3

8

.

0

0

R

5

0

.

0

0

79.99

Packages

Counter

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

30' B
.L.

20' B
.L.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

40' B
.L.

25' P
RKNG. B

.L.

2
5
'
 
P

R
K

N
G

.
 
B

.
L
.

4
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

2

5

'
 

P

R

K

N

G

.

 

B

.

L

.

4

0

'
 

B

.

L

.

4

0

'
 

B

.

L

.

2

5

'
 

P

R

K

N

G

.

 

B

.

L

.

75' S
ETBACK

2

5

'
 
P

R

K

N

G

.
 
B

.
L

.

4

0

'
 
B

.
L

.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

1
0
'
 
B

.
L
.

R
3
8
.0

0

R
5
0
.
0
0

80.00

0 100' 200'

SCALE: 1" = 100'

N

(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
5

1
5

8
 
 
 
 
F

a
x
:
 
(
9

1
3

)
 
4

9
2

-
8

4
0

0

1
4

9
2

0
 
W

e
s
t
 
1

0
7

t
h

 
S

t
r
e

e
t
 
 
 
L

e
n

e
x
a

,
 
K

a
n

s
a

s
 
6

6
2

1
5

W
W

W
.
S

C
H

L
A

G
E

L
A

S
S

O
C

I
A

T
E

S
.
C

O
M

SHEET

R
E

V
I
S

I
O

N
 
D

A
T

E
D

E
S

C
R

I
P

T
I
O

N

D
A

T
E

 
P

R
E

P
A

R
E

D
:

P
R

O
J
.
 
N

U
M

B
E

R
:

D
R

A
W

N
 
B

Y
:

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
 
B

Y
:

8 97654321

PREPARED BY:

SCHLAGEL & ASSOCIATES, P.A.

2
0
-
0
2
8

C
A

M
E

R
O

N
'
S

 
C

O
U

R
T

P
R

E
L
I
M

I
N

A
R

Y
 
P

L
A

T

1
3
5
T

H
 
&

 
S

T
A

T
E

L
I
N

E
 
 
L
E

A
W

O
O

D
,
 
K

S

GENERAL

LAYOUT WEST

C1.4

#
#
#
#

#
#
#
#

D
A

T
E

D
E

S
C

R
I
P

T
I
O

N
 
1

GRADING NOTE:

DESIGN OF RETENTION/DETENTION BASINS SHALL ACCOMMODATE WALK OUT

SLOPES IN EVENT OF EMERGENCY PER CITY OF LEAWOOD AND APWA DESIGN

STANDARDS.

REFER TO ASSOCIATED PRELIMINARY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR

PRELIMINARY STORMWATER ANALYSIS.

RP-2 BULK SITE INFORMATION

REQUIREMENT     PROVIDED

FRONT SETBACK 30 FT. 30 FT.

INTERIOR SIDE SETBACK 10 FT. 10 FT.

CORNER LOT STREET SIDE SETBACK 20 FT. 10 FT.

REAR SETBACK 20 FT. 20 FT.

MINIMUM LOT AREA                 6,000 S.F.        9,100 S.F.

LOT OPEN SPACE AREA 30% 30%

HEIGHT LIMIT(MEASURED FROM GRADE OF FRONT DOOR) 35' 35'
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INDICATES TREES TO REMAIN

INDICATES TREES TO BE REMOVED

RESIDENTIAL AREA

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST SIDE 1,251 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED EAST SIDE    583 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST AND EAST COMBINED 1,834 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 75.27 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 24.36 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 734 TREES

COMMERCIAL OFFICE AREA

TOTAL CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES 4,806 CAL.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED    910 CAL. IN.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED 3,896 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 40.21 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 96.89 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 1,559 TREES

ENTIRE SITE

TOTAL CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES 6,640 CAL. IN.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED    910 CAL. IN.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED 5,730 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 115.48 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 49.62 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 2,292 TREES

SEE LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR TREE REPLACEMENT INFORMATION
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GROUP TOTAL 347

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST SIDE 1,251 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED EAST SIDE    583 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST AND EAST COMBINED 1,834 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 75.27 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 24.36 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 734 TREES
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INDICATES TREES TO REMAIN

INDICATES TREES TO BE REMOVED

TOTAL CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES 4,806 CAL.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE SAVED    910 CAL. IN.

CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED 3,896 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 40.21 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 96.89 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 1,559 TREES
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LOT 10, MARKET SQUARE

BP MARKET SQUARE, LLC
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AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B
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SINGLE FAMILY

PRELIM.
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L1.0
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1

LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL

PROVISIONS, 16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.2 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS SINGLE FAMILY

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

133RD STREET (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =2,205 FEET BETWEEN HIGH DRIVE AND KENNETH ROAD

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED

2,205/35 = 63 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

63 SHADE TREES

PAWNEE LANE (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 336 FEET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

336/35 = 10 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

10 SHADE TREES

HIGH DRIVE (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 238 FEET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

238/35 = 7 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

7 SHADE TREES

CANTERBURY STREET  (RESIDENTIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 151 FEET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

151/35 = 4 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

4 SHADE TREES

FAIRWAY STREET  (RESIDENTIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 151 FEET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

151/35 = 4 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

4 SHADE TREES

133RD TERRACE  (RESIDENTIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 4,125 FEET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 35 FEET

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

4,061/35 = 116 SHADE TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

116 SHADE TREES

1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS BASED ON

UTILITY LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING LANDSCAPE

INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS OR

OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NOTIFY

THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN QUANTITIES AND

NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED QUANTITIES IN THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AND ANSI A60.1 THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD ORDINANCE.

ALL TREES SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO AND UNDERSIZED

TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME OF

PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS,

ANNUALS SHALL BE IN A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND A

"V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF WOOD

MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE

WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF LEAWOOD,

PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND

CONDITION OF SITE PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM CLEARANCE

BETWEEN PLANT AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR PERENNIALS AND

GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR SHRUBS.  A 2 FT. CLEARANCE FOR CAR

OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS AND PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK IS

COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL REVIEW

THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH THE

APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

PROVIDE A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT ALL

LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED PLAN.
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TRACT 10

(D/E TRACT 3) PAGE 23

DEED OF DEDICATION

SUPERMARKET DEVELOPERS TO CITY OF LEAWOOD

RECORDED B 6635, P 393. SUPERMARKET DEVELOPERS DID NOT OWN THIS PROP

DOES NOT SHOW UP AS PROP LINE ON AIMS. NOT LISTED IN TITLE COMMITMENT
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LOT 7, MARKET SQUARE
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AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES

AC Amelanchier canadensis Shadblow Serviceberry 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

MSR Malus sp. 'Robinson' Robinson Crabapple 8' ht. B&B

MRR Malus sp. 'Royal Raindrops' Royal Raindropgs Crabapple 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

EVERGREEN TREES

JVC Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaert Juniper 7'-8' ht. B&B

JVT Juniperus virginiana 'Taylor' Taylor Juniper 8'-9' ht. B&B

PAC Picea abies 'Cupressina' Cupressina Norway Spruce 8'-9' ht. B&B

PPC/PP Picea pungens Colorado Spruce 6' ht. B&B

PFV Pinus flixillis 'Vanderwolfs Pyramid' Vanderwolf Limber Pine 6' ht. B&B

PS Pinus strobus White Pine 6' ht. B&B

SHRUBS

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

SHADE TREES

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 3" Cal. B&B

ATW Acer truncatum 'Warrenrd' Pacific Sunset Maple 3" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 3" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 3" Cal. B&B

UXP Ulmus 'Patriot' Patriot Elm 3" Cal. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 3" Cal. B&B

B&BPAE Platanus x acerifolia 'Exclamation' Exclamation London Planetree 3" Cal. B&B
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LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL

PROVISIONS, 16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.3 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS OTHER DISTRICTS

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

135TH STREET (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =1,231 FEET BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.

1,231/40 = 31 SHADE TREES

1,231/20 = 62 ORNAMENTAL TREES

1,231/5 = 246 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

31 SHADE TREES

62 ORNAMENTAL TREES

246 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

PAWNEE LANE (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 467 FEET (EXCLUDES DRIVE ENTRANCE)

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

467/40 = 12 SHADE TREES

467/20 = 23 ORNAMENTAL TREES

467/5 = 93 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

12 SHADE TREES

23 ORNAMENTAL TREES

93 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

C)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING NOT ADJACENT TO ROW

NORTH PROPERTY LINE

REQUIREMENT

LDO DOES NOT REQUIRE SCREENING SINCE BOTH USES ARE

RESIDENTIAL

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

SHADE AND EVERGREEN TREES PROVIDED AND COUNTED TOWARD

INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS

D)INTERIOR LANDSCAPING: THE INTERIOR PORTIONS OF THE SITE

TO BE LANDSCAPE THAT ARE NOT PART OF ANY SETBACK OR

BUFFER AREAS

NET SITE AREA 672,763 S.F.

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED   67,276 S.F. 10%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 352,040 S.F.  52%

REQUIREMENT

(1) 2 1/2"  CALIPER TREE PER EVERY 10 PARKING SPACES

59 OPEN PARKING SPACES/10 = 6 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

6 TREES

REQUIREMENT

1 ADDITIONAL TREE FOR EVERY 3,000 S.F. OF LANDSCAPE OPEN

AREA

67,276 S.F. OPEN SPACE/3,000 = 23 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

23 TREES

1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS

BASED ON UTILITY LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR

TO COMMENCING LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE

ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS OR OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.

NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN

QUANTITIES AND NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED QUANTITIES IN

THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD

STANDARDS AND ANSI A60.1 THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY

STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD

ORDINANCE.  ALL TREES SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO

AND UNDERSIZED TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME

OF PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS,

ANNUALS SHALL BE IN A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND

A "V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF

WOOD MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE

WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF

LEAWOOD, PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND

CONDITION OF SITE PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH

THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM

CLEARANCE BETWEEN PLANT AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR

PERENNIALS AND GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR SHRUBS.  A 2 FT.

CLEARANCE FOR CAR OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS

AND PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK

IS COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

REVIEW THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH

THE APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

SHALL PROVIDE A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT

ALL LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED

PLAN.

TABLE E: EXISTING TREE CALIPER INCH REPLACEMENT QNTY CAL. IN.

TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF EXISTING TREES>12" 1,834 CAL. IN.

CREDIT FOR TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF EXISTING TREES BEING SAVED 0 CAL. IN.

TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF TREES BEING REMOVED>12" 1,834 CAL. IN.

REQUIRED RATIO OF REPLACEMENT PER CODE SEC 16-4-7.3.E (1:1)

PERIMETER AND INTERIOR TREES REQUIRED BY CODE 294

PERIMETER AND INTERIOR TREES PROPOSED 294

PROPOSED PERIMETER AND INTERIOR TREES UPSIZED FROM 2.5" CAL.  TO 3" CAL 68      34 CAL. IN.

PROPOSED 2.5" CAL. REPLACEMENT TREES 519 1,297.5 CAL. IN.

PROPOSED 3" CAL. REPLACEMENT TREES 168   504 CAL. IN.

TOTAL CAL. IN. FOR REPLACEMENT TREES 1835.5 CAL. IN.

NET CALIPER INCHES      1.5 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST SIDE 1,251 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED EAST SIDE    583 CAL. IN.

TOTAL TREES REMOVED WEST AND EAST COMBINED 1,834 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 75.27 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 24.36 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 734 TREES

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' SETBACK LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MSR
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AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES

AC Amelanchier canadensis Shadblow Serviceberry 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

MSR Malus sp. 'Robinson' Robinson Crabapple 8' ht. B&B

MRR Malus sp. 'Royal Raindrops' Royal Raindropgs Crabapple 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

EVERGREEN TREES

JVC Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaert Juniper 7'-8' ht. B&B

JVT Juniperus virginiana 'Taylor' Taylor Juniper 8'-9' ht. B&B

PAC Picea abies 'Cupressina' Cupressina Norway Spruce 8'-9' ht. B&B

PPC/PP Picea pungens Colorado Spruce 6' ht. B&B

PFV Pinus flixillis 'Vanderwolfs Pyramid' Vanderwolf Limber Pine 6' ht. B&B

PS Pinus strobus White Pine 6' ht. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

SHADE TREES

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 3" Cal. B&B

ATW Acer truncatum 'Warrenrd' Pacific Sunset Maple 3" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 3" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 3" Cal. B&B

UXP Ulmus 'Patriot' Patriot Elm 3" Cal. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 3" Cal. B&B

B&BPAE Platanus x acerifolia 'Exclamation' Exclamation London Planetree 3" Cal. B&B
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LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL

PROVISIONS, 16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.3 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS OTHER DISTRICTS

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

135TH STREET (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =1,454 FEET BETWEEN CHADWICK ST. AND HIGH DRIVE

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.

1,454/40 = 36 SHADE TREES

1,454/20 = 73 ORNAMENTAL TREES

1,454/5 = 291 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

36 SHADE TREES

73 ORNAMENTAL TREES

SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

HIGH DRIVE (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 771 FEET (EXCLUDES DRIVE ENTRANCE)

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

771/40 = 19 SHADE TREES

771/20 = 38 ORNAMENTAL TREES

771/5 = 154 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

19 SHADE TREES

38 ORNAMENTAL TREES

154 SHRUBS (NOT SHOWN)

C)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING NOT ADJACENT TO ROW

NORTH PROPERTY LINE

REQUIREMENT

LDO DOES NOT REQUIRE SCREENING SINCE BOTH USES ARE

RESIDENTIAL

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

SHADE AND EVERGREEN TREES PROVIDED AND COUNTED TOWARD

INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS

D)INTERIOR LANDSCAPING: THE INTERIOR PORTIONS OF THE SITE

TO BE LANDSCAPE THAT ARE NOT PART OF ANY SETBACK OR

BUFFER AREAS

NET SITE AREA 718,186 S.F.

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED   71,819 S.F. 10%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 385,475 S.F.  52%

REQUIREMENT

(1) 2 1/2"  CALIPER TREE PER EVERY xx PARKING SPACES

62 OPEN PARKING SPACES/10 = 6 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

6 TREES

REQUIREMENT

1 ADDITIONAL TREE FOR EVERY 3,000 S.F. OF LANDSCAPE OPEN

AREA

71,819 S.F. OPEN SPACE/3,000 = 24 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

24 TREES

0 60' 120'

SCALE: 1" = 60'
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1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS BASED

ON UTILITY LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL

BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING

LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY

CONFLICTS OR OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.

NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN

QUANTITIES AND NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED QUANTITIES IN

THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AND ANSI A60.1 THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD

ORDINANCE.  ALL TREES SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO AND

UNDERSIZED TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME OF

PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS,

ANNUALS SHALL BE IN A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND A

"V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF

WOOD MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE

WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF

LEAWOOD, PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND

CONDITION OF SITE PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM CLEARANCE

BETWEEN PLANT AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR PERENNIALS AND

GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR SHRUBS.  A 2 FT. CLEARANCE FOR CAR

OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS AND PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK IS

COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

REVIEW THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH THE

APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

PROVIDE A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT ALL

LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED PLAN.
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AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES

AC Amelanchier canadensis Shadblow Serviceberry 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

MSR Malus sp. 'Robinson' Robinson Crabapple 8' ht. B&B

MRR Malus sp. 'Royal Raindrops' Royal Raindropgs Crabapple 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

EVERGREEN TREES

JVC Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaert Juniper 7'-8' ht. B&B

JVT Juniperus virginiana 'Taylor' Taylor Juniper 8'-9' ht. B&B

PAC Picea abies 'Cupressina' Cupressina Norway Spruce 8'-9' ht. B&B

PPC/PP Picea pungens Colorado Spruce 6' ht. B&B

PFV Pinus flixillis 'Vanderwolfs Pyramid' Vanderwolf Limber Pine 6' ht. B&B

PS Pinus strobus White Pine 6' ht. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B
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LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL

PROVISIONS, 16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.3 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS OTHER DISTRICTS

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

135TH STREET (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =1,000 FEET BETWEEN HIGH DRIVE AND KENNETH ROAD

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.

1,000/40 = 25 SHADE TREES

1,000/20 = 50 ORNAMENTAL TREES

1,000/5 = 200 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

25 SHADE TREES

50 ORNAMENTAL TREES

200 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

HIGH DRIVE (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 771 FEET (EXCLUDES DRIVE ENTRANCE)

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

771/40 = 19 SHADE TREES

771/20 = 38 ORNAMENTAL TREES

771/5 = 154 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

19 SHADE TREES

38 ORNAMENTAL TREES

154 SHRUBS (NOT SHOWN)

133RD STREET  (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 960 FEET (EXCLUDES DRIVE ENTRANCE)

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

960/40 = 24 SHADE TREES

960/20 = 48 ORNAMENTAL TREES

960/5 = 192 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

24 SHADE TREES

48 ORNAMENTAL TREES

192 SHRUBS (NOT SHOWN)

D)INTERIOR LANDSCAPING: THE INTERIOR PORTIONS OF THE SITE

TO BE LANDSCAPE THAT ARE NOT PART OF ANY SETBACK OR

BUFFER AREAS

NET SITE AREA 992,700 S.F.

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED   99,270 S.F. 10%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 529,129 S.F.  52%

REQUIREMENT

(1) 2 1/2"  CALIPER TREE PER EVERY xx PARKING SPACES

362 OPEN PARKING SPACES/10 = 36 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

36 TREES

REQUIREMENT

1 ADDITIONAL TREE FOR EVERY 3,000 S.F. OF LANDSCAPE OPEN

AREA

99,270 S.F. OPEN SPACE/3,000 = 33 TREES

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

33 TREES

1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS BASED ON UTILITY

LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR

LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS OR OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL

VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF

ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN QUANTITIES AND NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED

QUANTITIES IN THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS AND ANSI A60.1

THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD ORDINANCE.  ALL TREES

SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO AND UNDERSIZED TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME OF PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS, ANNUALS SHALL BE IN

A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND A "V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF WOOD MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE WRITTEN APPROVAL

OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND CONDITION OF SITE

PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF

LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM CLEARANCE BETWEEN PLANT

AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR PERENNIALS AND GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR

SHRUBS.  A 2 FT. CLEARANCE FOR CAR OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS AND

PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE CONTRACTOR SHALL

NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK IS COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.

THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL REVIEW THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE

COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL PROVIDE A

SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT ALL LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE

BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED PLAN.
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AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES

AC Amelanchier canadensis Shadblow Serviceberry 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

MSR Malus sp. 'Robinson' Robinson Crabapple 8' ht. B&B

MRR Malus sp. 'Royal Raindrops' Royal Raindropgs Crabapple 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

EVERGREEN TREES

JVC Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaert Juniper 7'-8' ht. B&B

JVT Juniperus virginiana 'Taylor' Taylor Juniper 8'-9' ht. B&B

PAC Picea abies 'Cupressina' Cupressina Norway Spruce 8'-9' ht. B&B

PPC/PP Picea pungens Colorado Spruce 6' ht. B&B

PFV Pinus flixillis 'Vanderwolfs Pyramid' Vanderwolf Limber Pine 6' ht. B&B

PS Pinus strobus White Pine 6' ht. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B
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LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL PROVISIONS,

16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.3 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS OTHER DISTRICTS

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

STATE LINE ROAD (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =639 FEET BETWEEN 133RD STREET AND 134TH STREET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.  

639/40 = 16 SHADE TREES

639/20 = 32 ORNAMENTAL TREES

639/5 = 128 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

16 SHADE TREES

12 SHADE TREES SUBSTITUTED FOR 24 ORNAMENTAL TREES

8 ORNAMENTAL TREES

128 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

133RD STREET (COLLECTOR CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE = 948 FEET (EXCLUDES DRIVE ENTRANCE)

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED 

948/40 = 24 SHADE TREES

948/20 = 48 ORNAMENTAL TREES

948/5 = 190 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

24 SHADE TREES

16 SHADE TREES SUBSTITUTED FOR 32 ORNAMENTAL TREES

16 ORNAMENTAL TREES

190 SHRUBS (NOT SHOWN)

D)INTERIOR LANDSCAPING: THE INTERIOR PORTIONS OF THE SITE TO

BE LANDSCAPE THAT ARE NOT PART OF ANY SETBACK OR BUFFER

AREAS

NET SITE AREA 1,700,663 S.F.(ENTIRE SITE)

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED   170,066 S.F. 10%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 692,187 S.F.  52%(ENTIRE SITE)

REQUIREMENT

(1) 2 1/2"  CALIPER TREE PER EVERY 10 PARKING SPACES

897 OPEN PARKING SPACES/10 =  90 TREES NORTH SIDE

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

90 TREES NORTH SIDE

REQUIREMENT

1 ADDITIONAL TREE FOR EVERY 3,000 S.F. OF LANDSCAPE OPEN AREA

170,066 S.F. OPEN SPACE/3,000 = 57 TREES ENTIRE SITE

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

57 TREES ENTIRE SITE

1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS BASED ON

UTILITY LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING LANDSCAPE

INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS OR

OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NOTIFY

THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN QUANTITIES AND

NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED QUANTITIES IN THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AND ANSI A60.1 THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD ORDINANCE.

ALL TREES SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO AND UNDERSIZED

TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME OF

PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS,

ANNUALS SHALL BE IN A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND A

"V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF WOOD

MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE

WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF LEAWOOD,

PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND

CONDITION OF SITE PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM CLEARANCE

BETWEEN PLANT AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR PERENNIALS AND

GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR SHRUBS.  A 2 FT. CLEARANCE FOR CAR

OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS AND PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK IS

COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL REVIEW

THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH THE

APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

PROVIDE A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT ALL

LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED PLAN.

TOTAL CAL. IN EXISTING TREES 4,806 CAL. IN.

TOTAL CAL. IN. EXISTING TREES SAVED    910 CAL. IN.

TOTAL CAL. IN. TREES TO BE REPLACED 3,896 CAL. IN.

TREE REPLACEMENT REQUIRED PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 16-4-7.3.E 

All trees larger than 12 inch caliper to be removed from the site shall be replaced on a 1:1 caliper

inch ratio. Exception: When the amount of qualifying caliper inches to be replaced is greater than 132” per

acre of the development, and an arborist employed by the City determines that sufficient space

on-site is not available for the replanting of the required number of trees, then, the Governing

Body may approve replacement of trees larger than 12 inch caliper by replacing 50% of those

qualifying caliper inches.

SITE AREA 40.21 ACRES

REPLACEMENT INCHES REQUIRED BASED ON ACREAGE 96.89 CAL. IN./ACRE

MINIMUM TREE SIZE PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE SECTION 2-1/2"

QUANTITY OF TREES REQUIRED USING MINIMUM TREE SIZE 1,558 TREES

(PER CITY STAFF PERIMETER, INTERIOR, AND PARKING LOT TREES MAY NOT BE USED TO MEET THIS REQUIREMENT)

TABLE E: EXISTING TREE CALIPER INCH REPLACEMENT QNTY. CAL. IN.

TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF EXISTING TREES>12" 4,806 CAL. IN.

CREDIT FOR TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF EXISTING TREES BEING SAVED    910 CAL. IN.

TOTAL CALIPER INCHES OF TREES BEING REMOVED>12" 3,896 CAL. IN.

REQUIRED RATIO OF REPLACEMENT PER CODE SEC 16-4-7.3.E (1:1)

PROPOSED 4" CAL. REPLACEMENT TREES 974 3,896 CAL. IN.

NET CALIPER INCHES 0 CAL. IN.

ALL EXIST. TREES

AND BRUSH TO BE

SAVED IN THIS

AREA

8"

EXISTING TREE TO BE PRESERVED
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134TH S
TREET

AFM Acer x freemanii 'Marmo' Marmo Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AFS Acer x freemani 'Sienna Glen' Sienna Glen Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

AMM Acer miyabei 'Morton' State Street Miyabe Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

APE Acer platanoides 'Emerald Queen' Emerald Queen Norway Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

ASG Acer saccharum 'Green Mountain' Green Mountain Sugar Maple 2.5" Cal. B&B

GTS Gleditsia tricanthos v. inermis 'Shademaster' Shadmaster Honeylocust 2.5" Cal. B&B

QR Quercus rubra Red Oak 2.5" Cal. B&B

UXF Ulmus x Frontier Frontier Elm 2.5" Cal. B&B

ZSM Zelkova serrata 'Musashino' Musashino Columnar Zelkova 2.5" Cal. B&B

ORNAMENTAL TREES

AC Amelanchier canadensis Shadblow Serviceberry 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

MSR Malus sp. 'Robinson' Robinson Crabapple 8' ht. B&B

MRR Malus sp. 'Royal Raindrops' Royal Raindropgs Crabapple 2" Cal. & 8' ht. B&B

EVERGREEN TREES

JVC Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaert Juniper 7'-8' ht. B&B

JVT Juniperus virginiana 'Taylor' Taylor Juniper 8'-9' ht. B&B

PAC Picea abies 'Cupressina' Cupressina Norway Spruce 8'-9' ht. B&B

PPC/PP Picea pungens Colorado Spruce 6' ht. B&B

PFV Pinus flixillis 'Vanderwolfs Pyramid' Vanderwolf Limber Pine 6' ht. B&B

PS Pinus strobus White Pine 6' ht. B&B

NSW Nyssa sylvatica 'Wildfire' Wildfire Black Gum 2.5" Cal. B&B

TE Tiliaam americana 'Redmond' Redmond Linden 2.5" Cal. B&B

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

9'-10' ht. AT CLUBHOUSE

0 60' 120'
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LANDSCAPE DATA:

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS BASED UPON THE LEAWOOD

DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, ARTICLE 4, SUPPLEMENTAL PROVISIONS,

16-4-7 LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING REQUIREMENTS

16-4-7.3 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS OTHER DISTRICTS

B)PERIMETER LANDSCAPING ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.

STATE LINE ROAD (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =836 FEET BETWEEN 1134TH STREET AND 135TH STREET

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.  

836/40 = 21 SHADE TREES

836/20 = 42 ORNAMENTAL TREES

836/5 = 167 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

21 SHADE TREES

20 SHADE TREES SUBSTITUTED FOR 40 ORNAMENTAL TREES

2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

128 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

135TH STREET (ARTERIAL CLASSIFICATION)

FRONTAGE =934 FEET BETWEEN KENNETH ROAD AND STATE LINE

ROAD

REQUIREMENT

1 SHADE TREE PER 40 FEET; 1 ORNAMENTAL PER 20 FEET; 1 SHRUB

PER 5 FEET

A SHADE TREE MAY BE SUBSTITUTED FOR 2 ORNAMENTAL TREES

LANDSCAPE REQUIRED BETWEEN PAWNEE LN AND CHADWICK ST.  

934/40 = 23 SHADE TREES

934/20 = 46 ORNAMENTAL TREES

934/5 = 187 SHRUBS

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

23 SHADE TREES

16 SHADE TREES SUBSTITUTED FOR 32 ORNAMENTAL TREES

14 ORNAMENTAL TREES

187 SHRUBS NOT SHOWN

D)INTERIOR LANDSCAPING: THE INTERIOR PORTIONS OF THE SITE TO

BE LANDSCAPE THAT ARE NOT PART OF ANY SETBACK OR BUFFER

AREAS

NET SITE AREA 1,700,663 S.F.(ENTIRE SITE)

OPEN SPACE REQUIRED   170,066 S.F. 10%

OPEN SPACE PROVIDED 692,187 S.F.  52%(ENTIRE SITE)

REQUIREMENT

(1) 2 1/2"  CALIPER TREE PER EVERY 10 PARKING SPACES

892 OPEN PARKING SPACES/10 = 89 TREES SOUTH SIDE

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

89 TREES

REQUIREMENT

1 ADDITIONAL TREE FOR EVERY 3,000 S.F. OF LANDSCAPE OPEN AREA

170,066 S.F. OPEN SPACE/3,000 = 57 TREES ENTIRE SITE

LANDSCAPE PROVIDED

57 TREES ENTIRE SITE

1. UTILITY INFORMATION SHOWN IS DESIGNED LOCATION OR LOCATIONS BASED ON

UTILITY LOCATES.  AS BUILT LOCATIONS MAY VARY.  CONTRACTOR SHALL BE

RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING ALL UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING LANDSCAPE

INSTALLATION.  NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY CONFLICTS OR

OBSTRUCTIONS.

2. QUANTITIES INDICATED ON THE PLAN ARE FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL PLANT QUANTITIES PRIOR TO PLANTING.  NOTIFY

THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.  THE PLAN QUANTITIES AND

NUMBER OF SYMBOLS SHALL SUPERSEDED QUANTITIES IN THE SCHEDULE

3. .ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

AND ANSI A60.1 THE AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK.

4. ALL TREES SHALL MEET THE SIZE REQUIREMENTS OF THE LEAWOOD ORDINANCE.

ALL TREES SHALL BE CALLIPERED PER THE LEAWOOD UDO AND UNDERSIZED

TREES SHALL BE REJECTED.

5. ALL SHRUBS TO BE UTILIZED FOR SCREENING SHALL BE 36" HEIGHT AT TIME OF

PLANTING.

6. ALL PLANTING BEDS CONTAINING SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, PERENNIALS,

ANNUALS SHALL BE IN A PLANTING BED WITH 3" MIN. DEPTH OF MULCH AND A

"V-CUT" EDGE.

7. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A MIN. 3 FT. DIA. AREA THAT HAS 3" MIN. DEPTH OF WOOD

MULCH.

8. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE  IRRIGATED.

9. ALL TURF AREAS SHALL BE SODDED UNLESS INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

10. ANY DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE

WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE CITY OF LEAWOOD,

PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

11. THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER SHALL APPROVE GRADES AND

CONDITION OF SITE PRIOR TO SODDING OPERATIONS.

12. INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF LANDSCAPING SHALL COMPLY WITH THE

CITY OF LEAWOOD STANDARDS

13. ALL ABOVE GROUND UTILITIES SHALL BE SCREENED.

14. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE INSTALLED TO ALLOW A MINIMUM CLEARANCE

BETWEEN PLANT AND ADJACENT PAVEMENT OF 1 FT. FOR PERENNIALS AND

GROUNDCOVER AND 1.5 FT. FOR SHRUBS.  A 2 FT. CLEARANCE FOR CAR

OVERHANG IS REQUIRED AT ALL PARKING ISLANDS AND PERIMETERS.

15. AFTER COMPLETE INSTALLATION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL AND SODE THE

CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT THAT THE WORK IS

COMPLETE AND READY FOR REVIEW.  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL REVIEW

THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE WITH THE

APPROVED PLANS.  WHEN THE LANDSCAPE INSTALLATION MEETS THE

REQUIREMENTS OF THE APPROVED PLAN, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL

PROVIDE A SIGNED AND SEALED LETTER TO THE CITY STATING THAT ALL

LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS HAVE BEEN INSTALLED PER THE APPROVED PLAN.
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K-150 HIGHWAY (135TH STREET)
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1. MULTI-FAMILY BLDG'S & SINGLE FAMILY LOTS TO HAVE STORM SHELTERS PER FEMA STANDARDS, TYP.

2. MINIMUM SIZE OF APARTMENT UNITS TO COMPLY WITH LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE. 80% OF UNITS MINIMUM OF 900
SF. NO UNIT SMALLER THAN 750 SF.

3. ALL TRASH ENCLOSURES TO BE SCREENED FROM PUBLIC VIEW WITH 6' MASONRY STRUCTURE TO MATCH MATERIALS USED IN
BUILDING DESIGN. ENCLOSURES TO BE ARCHITECTURALL ATTACHED TO BUILDINGS AND ACCENTED WITH APPROPRIATE LANDSCAPING.
GATES OF TRASH ENCLOSURE TO BE PAINTED, SIGHT OBSCURING METAL PER LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE.

4. ALL SIDEWALKS TO BE MINIMUM OF 5 FEET IN WIDTH.  SIDEWALKS AT HEAD IN PARKING TO BE MINIMUM OF 7 FEET IN WIDTH.
SIDEWALKS AT STOREFRONT TO BE MINIMUM OF 8 FEET IN WIDTH.  A 10 FEET DEEP LANDSCAPE BUFFER TO BE PROVIDED  BEHIND
CURB OR SIDEWALK TO BUILDING  EXCEPT AT STOREFRONTS.
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S-1

S-2
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S-1

SF-1MT-1

F.F.E. FIRST FLOOR
ELEV. 100'-0"

F.F.E. SECOND FLOOR
ELEV. 110'-8"

ROOF H.P.
ELEV. 135'-0"

ROOF L.P.
ELEV. 120'-4"

RF-1

ST-1 S-1 ST-1SF-1 SF-1

RF-1
S-2

ST-1S-1S-1

S-1 S-1 S-1

CS-1 CS-1

WD-2

RF-1PFG-1

PFG-1

PFG-1

F.F.E. FIRST FLOOR
ELEV. 100'-0"

F.F.E. SECOND FLOOR
ELEV. 110'-8"

ROOF H.P.
ELEV. 130'-0"

ROOF L.P.
ELEV. 120'-4"

ST-1

RF-1

RF-1

S-1

WD-2 SF-1

S-1WD-2

RF-1

PFG-1

PFG-1

PFG-1
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A200 RESIDENTIAL BUILDING ELEVATIONS
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05.19.20

SCALE: 3MULTI-FAMILY BUILDING TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

FINISH SCHEDULE
SYMBOL MATERIAL MANUFACTURER COLOR

MT-2

CAST STONECS-1 TBD

ALUMINUM

TEXTURE / FINISH
TBD

COMPOSITE FRAME GLAZINGSF-1

TBD

S-1 STUCCO

S-2 STUCCO

STONE VENEERST-1

MT-3 ALUMINUM

BK-1 BRICK

ALUMINUM FRAME GLAZINGSF-2

ARCH WALL PANELWD-1

PC-1 PRECAST PANEL

RF-1 SHINGLE

BK-2 BRICK

MT-1 ALUMINUM

LAP SIDINGLS-1

LAP SIDINGLS-2

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

CEDARWD-2 TBD TBDTBD

PFG-1 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM
GUTTER/DOWNSPOUT TBD TBDTBD

SCALE: 2BIG HOUSE APARTMENT TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

SCALE: 1BIG HOUSE WALKOUT APARTMENT TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

Buildings SG12, SG14, and WO12
elevations to utilize similar materials as
the previously approved Villa Melano
project in type, material, spec, and
finish.
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T.O. PARAPET
ELEV. 135'-10"

F.F.E. SECOND FLOOR
ELEV. 116'-0"

F.F.E. FIRST FLOOR
ELEV. 100'-0"
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ELEV. 130'-0"
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MT-1
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ELEV. 123'-2"

S-1
MT-3
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MT-1BK-1 SF-2 SF-2

WD-1MT-2

ST-1
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T.O. STORE FRONT
ELEV. 110'-0"
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F.F.E. GROUND FLOOR
ELEV. 100'-0"

BK-1
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BK-1BK-1 CS-1CS-1

MT-2

MT-2

PC-1

SF-2SF-2SF-2

S-1

PC-1 SF-2MT-2

SF-2

S-1

MT-1

ALL ROOF DRAINS TO BE
INTERNAL TO THE BUILDING
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FINISH SCHEDULE
SYMBOL MATERIAL MANUFACTURER COLOR

MT-2

CAST STONECS-1 TBD

ALUMINUM

TEXTURE / FINISH
TBD

COMPOSITE FRAME GLAZINGSF-1

TBD

S-1 STUCCO

S-2 STUCCO

STONE VENEERST-1

MT-3 ALUMINUM

BK-1 BRICK

ALUMINUM FRAME GLAZINGSF-2

ARCH WALL PANELWD-1

PC-1 PRECAST PANEL

RF-1 SHINGLE

BK-2 BRICK

MT-1 ALUMINUM

LAP SIDINGLS-1

LAP SIDINGLS-2

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

CEDARWD-2 TBD TBDTBD

PFG-1 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM
GUTTER/DOWNSPOUT TBD TBDTBD

SCALE: 2 2-STORY OFFICE/RETAIL TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

SCALE: 3RETAIL BUILDING TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

SCALE: 2OFFICE BUILDING TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"
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SIGNAGE

F.F.E. FIRST FLOOR
ELEV. 100'-0"

T.O. PARAPET
ELEV. 122'-8"

T.O. PARAPET
ELEV. 118'-8"

MT-1BK-1 BK-2 SF-2 ST-1BK-2

S-1 BK-1 MT-3

T.O. GRADE
ELEV. 100'-0"

T.O. PARAPET
ELEV. 121'-6"
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F.F.E. FIRST FLOOR
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ELEV. 123'-0"

F.F.E. FOURTH FLOOR
ELEV. 133'-6"

T.O. ROOF
ELEV. 144'-8"

S-2 MT-3S-1
S-1S-2

BK-1 ST-1 BK-2 BK-2SF-2

MT-3 MT-3

BK-2BK-2 BK-1 CS-1

ALL ROOF DRAINS TO BE
INTERNAL TO THE BUILDING
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FINISH SCHEDULE
SYMBOL MATERIAL MANUFACTURER COLOR

MT-2

CAST STONECS-1 TBD

ALUMINUM

TEXTURE / FINISH
TBD

COMPOSITE FRAME GLAZINGSF-1

TBD

S-1 STUCCO

S-2 STUCCO

STONE VENEERST-1

MT-3 ALUMINUM

BK-1 BRICK

ALUMINUM FRAME GLAZINGSF-2

ARCH WALL PANELWD-1

PC-1 PRECAST PANEL

RF-1 SHINGLE

BK-2 BRICK

MT-1 ALUMINUM

LAP SIDINGLS-1
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TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

TBD TBDTBD

CEDARWD-2 TBD TBDTBD

PFG-1 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM
GUTTER/DOWNSPOUT TBD TBDTBD

SCALE: 2C-STORE TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

SCALE: 3C-STORE FUEL TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"

SCALE: 1HOTEL TYPICAL ELEVATION
1" = 10'-0"
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
Schlagel & Associates, PA is submitting Cameron’s Court residential/commercial mixed-
used development project for preliminary development plan approval on behalf of our client, 
Oddo Development, and this Preliminary Storm Water Management Study in support of the 
applications. This report has been prepared to address permitting requirements and 
provides preliminary design calculations of the required storm water detention and BMP 
facilities. 
 
The overall approximate 120 acre, mixed-use develop is made up of a western phase, 75-
acre site is a proposed single-family and multi-family subdivision with associated 
infrastructure, and an eastern phase, 43 acre commercial development with associated 
infrastructure on an existing row crop, pasture, and woods combination land description. 
The overall development area lies in the Blue River Watershed. In the western portion, on-
site wetlands include an existing riverine that is located at the southeast corner of the 
western residential phase and bi-sects the two proposed development uses, a 
decommissioned freshwater detention basin at the north center of the site western phase, 
and a decommissioned freshwater emergent wetland at the northeastern portion of the 
western phase.  In regards to the eastern commercial phase, no existing wetlands and/or 
riverine features are identified within that development area. Detention will be provided to 
limit post-developed flows to at or below existing flow rates for the 10-, and 100-year return 
events, with emergency overflow routing provided. Due to the nature of the development 
being bisected by a large north/south tributary of the Little Blue River, which generally 
isolates the western, residential phase from the eastern commercial phase, we have 
calculated water quality requirements for each phase individually.  For the western, 
residential portion we have calculated a required level of service of 5.3 and on the eastern, 
more intense commercial phase we have calculated a required level of service of 6.7.   The 
Water Quality Level of Service for the development has been preliminarily proposed to be 
been obtained through use of best management practices, including native vegetation area, 
maintained vegetation areas within the stream corridor, extended dry detention, extended 
wet detention, proprietary devices, native vegetated swales, and various combinations of 
these practices in sequence with each other. 
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1.0 GENERAL INFORMATION 

Cameron’s Court is a proposed mixed used development with associated infrastructure 

located in Section 26, Township 13, and Range 25 at the north-west corner of the 135th 

Street and Stateline Road intersection in Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. This overall 

approximate 120 acre development consists of a 75 acre western, residential (single family 

and multi-family) and a 43 acre eastern commercial phase (office/retail).  The western 

phase is proposed to be developed with a combination of 59 single family lots and a multi-

family apartment complex with 34 multi-story apartment buildings, with associated 

infrastructure and landscaping and the eastern phase is proposed to be developed with a 

combination of commercial uses, including commercial business/office buildings, hotels and 

convenience store with gas sales along with the associated parking and site infrastructure.  

The western phase is currently a combination of AG (Agriculture) and SD-0 (Business-

Office) and the entire eastern phase is currently zoned (SD-0) (Business-Office).  The entire 

area is preliminarily proposed to be planned and redeveloped into one master-planned MXD 

District (Mixed Use District) to create a mixture of residential, commercial retail and 

commercial office use areas within this corridor between 133rd Street and 135th Street, 

extending between Pawnee and State Line Road. 

 

1.1 OBJECTIVE 

The intent of this report is to provide information pertaining to the existing and proposed 

watersheds, provide a conceptual analysis of detention and level of service requirements, 

and address permitting requirements. Detention will be provided to limit the proposed site 

peak discharge rate to that of the existing site peak discharge rate for the 10- and 100-year 

storm events. The site will be required to meet the City of Leawood’s storm water quality 

objectives, and calculations are included to determine the improvements required. This 

study provides information as required in the Leawood Stormwater Ordinance and the City 

of Leawood’s adopted requirements and subsidies.  

 

1.2 METHODOLOGY 

Section 5600 – Storm Drainage Systems and Facilities of the Standard Specifications and 

Design Criteria of the Kansas City Metropolitan Chapter of the American Public Works 

Association, dated February 16, 2011,The Manual of Best Management Practices for 

Stormwater Quality - September 2012, published by the Mid-America Regional Council and, 



Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan July 31, 2020 General Information 

Cameron’s Court – MXD Overall Development 1-2 Schlagel & Associates PA 

and the City of Leawood Municipal Code were utilized in preparation of this document and 

site watershed analysis. Watersheds for the site were defined according to soil cover and 

type and tributary area. Soil cover was determined from inspection of the site and aerial 

photography. A soil survey for the project area obtained from the NRCS online portal was 

utilized in determining soil types on-site and can be found in Appendix A. Watershed sizes 

were determined from topographical survey of the existing conditions, aerial photography, 

and the proposed site layout. Times of concentration were compiled according to NRCS 

TR-55 Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds (1986) methodology for sheet flow, shallow 

concentrated flow, and channel flow.  Travel times for channel flows were determined using 

the length and velocity of the open channel. HydroCAD version 10.0 was used to model the 

runoff.  All storm events were modeled using SCS 24 hour Type II distributions for the 10-

year, and 100-year storm events.  

* * * * *
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2.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS 

The existing site is predominantly agricultural and consists of row crops, pasture, and 

wooded ground cover in good condition. Runoff is conveyed to four discharge points by 

sheet, shallow concentrated, and channel flow. The surrounding streets are improved 

roadways with existing public storm sewer infrastructure in place.  There are no improved 

channels or storm sewer systems on the project site. A riverine stream segment is located 

at the south-west corner of the site and is depicted in the Wetlands Inventory Exhibit in 

Appendix A.  

 

2.1 EXISTING SOIL CONDITIONS 

On-site soils data was retrieved via a USDA NRCS Custom Soil Resource Report obtained 

from the Web Soil Survey online portal. The soils report is presented in Appendix A. The 

report indicates that the following soils are located on-site. 

 7051 – Kennebec Silt Loam, Frequently Flooded; Moderately Well Drained, Low 

Runoff Class, Non-Hydric, Hydrologic Soil Group B, 3.9% of Site 

 7251 – Grundy Silt Loam, 1-3 Percent Slopes; Somewhat Poorly Drained, Non-

Hydric, Hydrologic Soil Group C/D, 50.2% of Site 

 7462 – Oska-Martin Silty Clay Loam, 4-8 Percent Slopes; Well Drained, Medium, 

Runoff Class, Non-Hydric, Hydrologic Soil Group D, 11.7% of Site 

 7525 – Chillicothe Silty Loam, 2-5 Percent Slopes; Moderately Well Drained, Low 

Runoff Class, Non-Hydric, Hydrologic Soil Group D, 34.1% of Site 

 

2.2 TRIBUTARY AREAS 

The existing tributaries are provided in Appendix B. The site release points have been 

identified as Release Points 1 through 4 (R#1, R#2, etc.). These designations correspond 

with the watershed model located in Appendix B.   

 

2.3 CURVE NUMBER AND TIME OF CONCENTRATION 

The existing curve numbers and time of concentrations for each sub-area have been 

established based on the procedures outlined in NRCS TR-55 Urban Hydrology for Small 

Watersheds (1986). Existing curve numbers were based on aerial photography, site 

inspection, and the soil types present on site. A composite curve number for each sub-area 
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was determined.  The predevelopment condition of this site includes a row crop, woods, and 

pasture combination. These areas can be seen in an aerial AIMS map provided in Appendix 

A. Table 2.3.1 summarizes the curve numbers for each of the sub-areas.   

 

Time of concentration flow paths were based on sheet flow, shallow concentrated flow, and 

channel flow conditions. Sheet flow lengths were limited to 100 feet, or where a grade break 

occurred.  Flow was then considered shallow concentrated flow. The Existing Drainage 

Area Map presented in Appendix B illustrates the time of concentration flow paths utilized in 

the analysis. Times of concentration for each sub-area are presented in Table 2.3.1, and 

detailed calculations are included with the HydroCAD summary in Appendix B.  

Table 2.3.1a Existing Cover Conditions – Western Phase 

CN 89 80 77   

Catchment Outfall 
Row 

Crops 
Pasture Woods Total Area Tc Composite 

CN 
ac ac ac ac min 

W-EDA-1 R#1 (NW) 8.765 0.000 0.393 9.158 13.3 88.5 
W-EDA-2 R#2 (N) 4.842 0.860 1.959 7.661 11.4 84.9 
W-EDA-3 R#3 (E) 28.556 9.479 2.344 40.380 19.5 86.2 

W-EDA-4 R#5 (SW) 16.756 0.000 1.378 18.134 12.4 88.1 

Whole Site (Sum) 58.919 10.339 6.075 75.333 --- 86.8 
 

Table 2.3.1b Existing Cover Conditions - Eastern Phase 

CN 89 80 77     

Catchment Outfall 
Row 

Crops 
Pasture Woods 

Total 
Area 

Tc Composite 
CN 

ac ac ac ac min 
E-EDA-1 R#1 (NW) 3.960 1.686 4.618 10.264 13.4 82.1 

E-EDA-2 R#2 (SW) 11.525 3.222 17.541 32.288 12.6 81.6 

Whole Site (Sum) 15.485 4.908 22.159 42.552 --- 81.7 
 

2.4 EXISTING FLOW RATES 

Existing flow rates were determined based on the above, identified parameters (Time of 

Concentration, Soil type and Cover Conditions) for the 10-year and 100-year design storms. 

Comparison of the Peak flow rates for the existing and proposed conditions are presented 

in Table 4.2.1, and detailed calculations are included with the HydroCAD summary in 

Appendix B. 
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3.0 AGENCY REVIEW 

Permitting requirements of the following agencies were reviewed as part of the existing 

conditions analysis. 

 

3.1 CORPS OF ENGINEERS REVIEW 

The north/south riverine tributary of the Blue River is centrally located and generally bisects 

the western and eastern phases of the proposed development areas and is identified as a 

Waterway of the U.S. per the USGS Topographic Map for the project location. The 

proposed development is anticipated to stay north/south drainage feature and has identified 

stream corridor within the development plans to accommodate. Coordination regarding any 

necessary permitting and potential impacts to the riverine and wetland areas will be 

addressed as project phasing progresses. A National Wetland Inventory Map provided in 

Appendix B. 

 

3.2 FEMA REQUIRMENTS 

A future conditions 1% Annual Chance of Flood Hazard Zone X is located at the south-east 

portion of the site along the riverine flow path, as depicted per FEMA Flood Insurance Rate 

Map Panel No. 20091C0085G. The proposed development is anticipated to stay outside of 

the referenced north-south drainage tributary via the established stream corridor restrictions 

and no FEMA requirements are anticipated for the project at this time. Please see the 

attached FEMA Firmette in Appendix A. 

 

3.3 KANSAS DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENT 

All land disturbance activities will be permitted in accordance with the City of Leawood, KS 

specifications as well as the Kansas Department of Health and Environment and National 

Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) requirements.  NPDES and NOI 

Applications will be made with the future permitting of the site in compliance with local, state 

and federal guidelines. 

 

* * * * *
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4.0 PROPOSED STORM WATER MANAGEMENT ANALYSIS 

The proposed development will generally maintain the existing site drainage patterns with 

the addition of on-site detention and BMP facilities to provide post development runoff 

control and water quality level of service. Runoff from the interior of the site will be 

conveyed to proposed on-site extended dry detention basins (EDDB) and extended wet 

detention basins (EWDB) and/or underground detention chambers as defined with the final 

design of the project.  A site plan detailing the preliminary locations and drainage areas of 

the proposed basins is presented in Appendix B. An on-site enclosed storm sewer is 

proposed to capture and convey the site runoff to the proposed detention facilities. 

 

4.1 TRIBUTARY AREAS 

The proposed tributary areas are provided in Appendix B. The proposed drainage areas 

have been delineated to convey runoff volumes necessary to meet requirements for runoff 

control and level of service by use of the on-site detention and BMP facilities. BMP facilities 

are discussed in section 4.5 of this report. Site release points generally remained 

unchanged from the existing conditions. These designations correspond with the watershed 

model located in Appendix B.  

 

4.2 CURVE NUMBER AND TIME OF CONCENTRATION 

The proposed curve numbers and time of concentrations for each sub-area have been 

established based on the procedures outlined in NRCS TR-55 Urban Hydrology for Small 

Watersheds (1986).  Proposed curve numbers were based on inspection, and the soil types 

present on site. General ground cover including single-family and multi-family residential 

and commercial office/retail and pervious and impervious cover types for the proposed 

conditions were considered and a composite curve number for each sub-area was 

determined. Curve numbers for the proposed conditions were based on 1/4-acre and 1/8-

acre residential development cover and commercial development cover respective to the 

proposed overall land use. Hydrologic soil group D was used for the site per the USDA 

NRCS Custom Soil Resource Report presented in Appendix A. The proposed cover 

conditions are shown in appendix B. Table 4.2.1a and Table 4.2.1b summarizes the curve 

numbers for each of the sub-areas in the post-development, proposed cover condition 

phase. 
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Time of concentration flow paths were based upon sheet flow, shallow concentrated flow, 

and reach flow conditions. Sheet flow lengths were limited to 100 feet.  Flow was then 

considered shallow concentrated flow until a detention basin, or storm sewer was reached 

at which point the flow was modeled as a pipe reach. Table 4.2.1 summarizes the time of 

concentration for each sub-area. Detailed calculations of the composite curve numbers and 

times of concentration can be found in Appendix B and the proposed flow paths utilized in 

the time of concentration calculations are presented in appendix A. 

Table 4.2.1a West Phase - Proposed Cover Conditions 

CN 87 92   

Catchment Outfall 
Single 
Family 

Multi 
Family 

Total  Tc 
Composite CN 

ac ac ac min 
W-PDA-1 R#1 (NW) 4.032 0.000 4.032 5.0 87.0 
W-PDA-2 R#2 (N) 8.612 13.053 21.665 5.0 90.0 
W-PDA-3 R#3 (E) 4.247 40.192 44.439 5.0 91.5 

W-PDA-4 R#5 (SW) 0.855 4.341 5.196 5.0 91.2 

Whole Site (Sum) 17.75 57.59 75.333 --- 90.8 
 

Table 4.2.1b East Phase - Proposed Cover Conditions 

CN 95       

Catchment Outfall 
Commercial Total  Tc Composite 

CN ac ac min 
E-PDA-1 R#1 (NW) 8.889 8.889 5.0 95.0 

E-PDA-2 R#2 (SW) 33.663 33.663 5.0 95.0 

Whole Site (Sum) 42.55 42.552 --- 95.0 
 

4.3 PROPOSED FLOW RATES 

Proposed flow rates were determined for the 10-year, and 100-year design storms.  

Comparison of the Peak flow rates for the existing and proposed conditions are presented 

in Tables 4.3.1a and 4.3.2b, detention routing calculations are not included in the site runoff 

rates presented in Table 4.3.1, and detailed routing calculations can be found in the 

referenced Hydrocad Report in Appendix B. 
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Table 4.3.1a West Phase - Pre-Detention Peak Flow Summary – HydroCAD Calculations 

(Flows in CFS) 

Outfall 
10-YR 100-YR 

EX PROP CHANGE EX PROP CHANGE 
W-R#1 48.65 27.21 -21.44 75.74 42.50 -33.24 
W-R#2 40.41 154.29 113.88 64.44 235.60 171.16 
W-R#3 171.44 326.21 154.77 272.36 491.52 219.16 

W-R#4 98.97 37.59 -61.38 153.96 57.01 -96.95 

SITE TOTAL --- --- 185.83 --- --- 260.13 
 

Table 4.3.1b – East Phase - Pre-Detention Peak Flow Summary – HydroCAD Calculations 
(Flows in CFS) 

Outfall 
10-YR 100-YR 

EX PROP CHANGE EX PROP CHANGE 
E-R#1 47.39 67.62 20.23 77.84 100.23 22.39 

E-R#2 152.88 256.10 103.22 250.87 379.57 128.70 

SITE TOTAL --- --- 123.45 --- --- 151.09 
 

4.4 DETENTION ANALYSIS 

City of Leawood codes require detention and runoff control for the 10-, and 100-yr storm 

events. The runoff hydrographs used to determine the peak flow volumes for each tributary 

area were determined using TR-55 methodology and HydroCAD Version 10.0 and are 

presented in Tables 4.4.1a and 4.4.1b. The difference in hydrograph volumes for the 

proposed and existing conditions was utilized to estimate the total detention volumes 

required across the site relative to the release points to reduce flows to at or below the 

existing conditions. Multiple onsite detention facilities are proposed to meet the associated 

peak flow reduction requirements. Final design and sizing will be completed with the final 

storm water management report. Complete hydrograph routing and model output can be 

found referenced Hydrocad Report in Appendix B. 
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Table 4.4.1a West Detention Volume Summary–HydroCAD Calculations (Volumes in AC-FT) 

Outfall 
10-YR 100-YR 

EX PROP CHANGE EX PROP CHANGE 
W-R#1 3.091 1.326 -1.765 4.938 2.134 -2.804 
W-R#2 2.387 7.696 5.309 3.905 12.109 8.204 
W-R#3 12.928 16.593 3.665 20.979 25.717 4.738 

W-R#4 6.120 1.893 -4.227 9.778 2.956 -6.822 

SITE TOTAL --- --- 2.982 --- --- 3.316 
  

TOTAL DETENTION VOLUME PROVIDED 8.8 AC-FT 
 

Table 4.4.1b East Detention Volume Summary–HydroCAD Calculations (Volumes in AC-FT) 

Outfall 
10-YR 100-YR 

EX PROP CHANGE EX PROP CHANGE 
E-R#1 2.942 3.567 0.625 4.931 5.409 0.478 

E-R#2 9.254 13.510 4.256 15.551 20.483 4.932 

SITE TOTAL --- --- 4.881 --- --- 5.410 
  

TOTAL DETENTION VOLUME PROVIDED  6.6 AC-FT 

 

4.5 LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS 

A level of service analysis has been completed with this report.  Worksheets 1 and 2 from 

The Manual of Best Management Practices for Stormwater Quality, published by the Mid-

America Regional Council and the American Public Works Association (MARC BMP 

Manual) have been completed and are included in Appendix B. In the western, residential 

phase, existing and proposed curve numbers of 87 and 91 were determined, respectively, 

resulting in a required level of service of 5.3.  In the eastern, commercial office/retail phase, 

Existing and proposed curve numbers of 82 and 95 were determined, respectively, resulting 

in a required level of service of 6.7.  Best management practices including established 

native vegetation, extended dry detention, extended wet detention, proprietary devices, 

native vegetation swales, and various combinations of these practices in sequence are 

proposed to meet the required level of service for the development. The proposed 

detention facilities will function as extended dry or wet detention basins to treat runoff from a 

storm water quality perspective, as well as a storm water quantity control facility. Full design 

of extended dry and wet detention facilities and all storm water quality features will be 

completed with the final stormwater management report as the proposed project progresses 
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and phases are submitted. Final design shall be in accordance with the associated design 

procedure forms as detailed by the MARC BMP Manual. Completed best management 

practice worksheets for the proposed development are presented in Appendix B.  

 

4.6 COMBINED DETENTION ANALYSIS 

Detention analysis for the entire combined residential and commercial development is 

provided at the request of city staff. Table 4.6.1 details the combined volume analysis for 

the entire proposed development. 

Table 4.6.1 Pre-Detention Site Volume Summary – HydroCAD Calculations (Volumes in AC-FT) 

FULL SITE – Combined Commercial and Residential 

Outfall 
10-YR 100-YR 

EX PROP CHANGE EX PROP CHANGE 
R#1 - Res 3.091 1.326 -1.765 4.938 2.134 -2.804 
R#2 - Res 2.387 7.696 5.309 3.905 12.109 8.204 
R#3 12.928 16.593 3.665 20.979 25.717 4.738 
R#4 6.120 1.893 -4.227 9.778 2.956 -6.822 

R#1 - Com 2.942 3.567 0.625 4.931 5.409 0.478 
R#2 - Com 9.254 13.510 4.256 15.551 20.483 4.932 

SITE TOTAL --- --- 7.863 --- --- 8.726 
  

TOTAL DETENTION VOLUME PROVIDED       15.4 AC-FT 
 

As shown in Table 4.6.1, the detention volume provided exceeds the overall the volume 

increase associated with the proposed improvements. Full basin and BMP design will be 

addressed with final development plans and associated submittals.  

 

* * * * * 
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5.0 SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

The proposed development of this approximate 120-acre site within the City of Leawood by 

Oddo Development has preliminarily proposed to incorporate storm water quality (BMP’s) 

and storm water quantity (detention) controls.  We have allotted space throughout the 

proposed development plan to accommodate the proposed facilities with the final design of 

the project.   Detention for the 10-, and 100-year events is proposed for the site with 

emergency overflow conveyance provided. Additionally, the required Water Quality Level of 

Service 5.3 in the western, residential family phase and Level of Service of 6.7 in the 

eastern, commercial office/retail phase is preliminarily planned to be obtained through use 

of best management practices, including native vegetation extended dry and wet detention, 

propriety devices, native vegetation swales, and combinations of these practices in 

sequence.  As with the proposed detention facilities, the water quality features will be 

located throughout the development and the final design of each respective feature will be 

incorporated into the final design and layout of each respective phase of the development.  

With the water quality/quantity features preliminarily incorporated into the overall 

development plan to restrict post-development flow rates to calculated pre-development 

rates in the 10-year and 100 year storm events, the preliminarily planned project should be 

able to be constructed from storm water perspective without any adverse impacts on the 

existing public storm sewer system that serves this overall development area. 

 

 

 

 

* * * * *
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Richard Sanchez

From: Henry Klover <henry@klover.net>
Sent: Friday, August 14, 2020 2:23 PM
To: Richard Sanchez
Cc: Rick Oddo; Curtis Holland; Patrick Reuter; Justin Campbell
Subject: Cameron's Court
Attachments: 135th & Kenneth Shared Parking Analysis.pdf

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Completed

 
Rickard 
 
In response to your request for the parking study to justify the 1.46 minimum ratio for the residential parking, attached 
is the parking study done for the South side  of  135th and Kenneth project.    It a shared parking study, but the analysis 
on page 4 on residential parking is the description of the actual parking usage for 51st and Main and Mission Farms, 
which we provided to Trans systems and still applies. The basic analysis is the actual demand with the stabilized 
properties was closer to 1.35 ratio, even though half of the units were 2 bedroom.  
 
The calculated ratio for Cameron’s Court is below and  based on the Developers (Oddo’s) typical requirements came out 
almost the same at  calculated  overall ratio of 1.38  to 1.44 stalls/ unit.    Since the desired ratios were so close to the 
previous recommended study we left the minimum at the 1.46 stalls / unit ratio. 
 
Cameron’s Court phase 2 (East of High Drive) have a 25% two bed to 75% one bed range which at 322 units = 81 two 
beds and 241 one beds.  
 
Typically Developers residential parking requirements: 1.25 stall/one bed and 1.75 stalls/two bed which equals 
 
Phase  2 (East of  High Drive) 
241 x 1.25‐ 1bed: 301.25 
81 x 1.75‐ 2bed: 141.75 stalls 
= 443 stalls / 332 units or 1.38 stalls / unit. 
 
Parking provided 581 / 322 or  1.80 stalls/ unit.     
 
Cameron’s Court phase 3 (West of High Drive) have a 39% two bed to 61% one bed range which at 340 units = 132 two 
beds and 208 one beds. 
 
Phase  3 (West of  High Drive) 
208 x 1.25‐ 1bed: 260 stalls 
132 x 1.75  ‐2bed: 231 stalls 
= 491 stalls / 340 units or 1.44 stalls / unit. 
 
Parking provided 507 / 340 or  1.49 stalls/ unit.    
 
The actual provided parking is higher then the 1.46 minimum ratio and considering both developments have similar 
desired parking ratios, that were obtained separately,  shows the parking ratio is logical and adequate.  
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Henry Klover                         President 

Klover Architects 
8813 Penrose Lane, Suite 400 
Lenexa, KS 66219 
P: 913-649-8181 
F: 913-649-1275 
henry@klover.net 
 

 
www.klover.net  

 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 
ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



  
 Memorandum 2400 Pershing Road 
  Suite 400 
  Kansas City, MO  64108 
  Tel 816 329 8600 
  Fax 816 329 8601  
 
  www.transystems.com 
 
 

To: Mr. Rick Lashbrook 

Leawood 135, LLC 

P.O. Box 26170 

Overland Park, KS  66225 

 

From: Jeff Wilke, PE, PTOE 

Date: November 1, 2018 

Project No.: P101180207 

 
Subject: 135th & Kenneth Shared Parking Analysis 

 In accordance with your request, TranSystems has completed a shared parking analysis for the proposed mixed-
use development at the southwest corner of 135th Street and Kenneth Road in Leawood, Kansas. The study 
included an analysis of parking demand for the proposed land uses. The concept of shared parking is described in 
a publication titled Shared Parking, published by the Urban Land Institute (ULI). Shared parking is defined as the 
use of a parking space to serve two or more individual land uses without conflict or encroachment. The key goal 
of a shared parking analysis is to find the balance between providing adequate parking, land area, and resources 
dedicated to parking. 

Proposed Development 
The proposed development includes a mixture of residential, office and retail land uses.  The southern portion 
of the site, generally south of 137th Street, includes 118 twin villas.  The northern portion of the site includes 
the mixture of land uses.  Several buildings are proposed with apartments, commercial, and assisted living 
facilities.  The main access driveway for the development will run north/south, bisecting the northern portion of 
the site.  The main driveway creates two separate mixed-use areas, referred to in this analysis as the 
northeastern and northwestern portions of the site. 
 
The parking areas for the two northern portions of the site were designed independently, to provide ample 
parking for each area.  The northeastern portion includes a 100-space parking garage below the assisted living 
facility to be used by residents, employees, and visitors to the facility.  The northeastern portion also includes a 
302 surface parking spaces.  The northwestern portion of the site includes 182 garage parking spaces for 
apartment residents (one per unit).  There will also be 162 surface parking spaces to be shared by the office and 
retail uses, as well as some apartment residents and visitors. 
 
The proposed development is currently in the planning stages and the specific tenants of the commercial areas 
are not known at this time.  Based on input from the developer’s design team, several assumptions were made 
about the types uses anticipated.  The team anticipates the retail uses as being specialty retail and service needs 
with some small café, local coffee shop, deli, and small restaurants included for the needs of the residential and 
office land uses.  The sizes of these businesses range from 1,500 to 4,000 square feet.  Based on this input, the 
table on the following page indicates the land uses and sizes assumed for the shared parking analysis. 
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135th & Kenneth Mixed-Use Development 
Proposed Land Uses 

Northwestern Portion Northeastern Portion 

Land Use Intensity Land Use Intensity 

Family Restaurant 6,000 Square Feet Family Restaurant 6,000 Square Feet 

Retail 9,000 Square Feet Retail 20,000 Square Feet 

Office 10,000 Square Feet Office 72,000 Square Feet 

Apartments 182 Units Apartments 0 Units 

Assisted Living 0 Units Assisted Living 84 Units 

 

Parking Requirements 
The Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO) requires certain parking ratios by zoning district. For a mixed-
residential and commercial district, 2.0 parking spaces are required per residential unit, plus 3.0 spaces per each 
1,000 square feet of lease space. The table below summarizes the parking supply and LDO parking requirements. 
 

Parking Supply and LDO Requirements 

Land Use Intensity 

LDO 
Minimum 
Required  
Parking 
Spaces 

Parking Supply 
Excess 

(Shortage) 
Garage 
Parking 
Spaces 

Surface 
Parking 
Spaces 

Total 
Spaces 

 Northwestern Portion 

Apartments 182 Units 364     

Commercial 25,000 Square Feet 75     

Total  439 182 162 344 (95) 
 Northeastern Portion 

Commercial 98,000 Square Feet 294     

Assisted Living 84 Units 168     

Total  462 100 302 402 (60) 

 

The LDO requirements are for individual land uses and do not account for shared parking. Given the mixture of 
land uses proposed for the development, it is likely that the peak parking demands for the land uses will not 
coincide. The land uses are located within close proximity; therefore, shared parking is applicable for the 
proposed development. The LDO states that parking requirements may be modified on a project basis with 
supporting documentation. The following section includes a shared parking analysis for the proposed 
development. 
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Shared Parking Analysis 
In general, methodologies outlined in Shared Parking were used to perform the analysis. The parking demand was 
estimated for each land use in the proposed development based on weekday base parking ratios from Shared 
Parking, average weekday peak parking demand from Parking Generation published by the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE), or from local data for similar land uses. These ratios indicate the peak 
accumulation of vehicles at the peak hour for a single land use.   
 
Next the ratios for each land use were multiplied by a percentage for each hour of the day to indicate hourly 
variations in the demand for parking.  Similarly, seasonal variations are accounted for by applying a different 
percentage for each month of the year. The ratios and variations used in the analysis were obtained from Shared 
Parking, and are included with the analysis files in the Appendix at the end of this memorandum. The 
percentages used for the hourly and seasonal variations in this analysis are a weighted average of the 
visitor/guest and employee percentages.  
 
Retail Rates 
According to Shared Parking, the Community Shopping Center is the smallest retail category available to 
estimate parking demand, with a base parking ratio of 3.6 spaces per 1,000 sf of leasable space. This category 
includes all retail that is less than 400,000 square feet. The retail portion of the proposed development is much 
smaller at 29,000 square feet, and is anticipated to be specialty type stores. These types of specialty stores 
typically do not generate as much traffic as a drug store or grocery store, which is categorized in the same land 
use.  
 
Given that the Community Shopping Center land use does not accurately describe the retail component of the 
proposed development, another source was used to determine an appropriate base ratio for parking demand. 
Parking Generation provides an average peak parking demand for a Shopping Center land use on a weekday of 
2.55 spaces per 1,000 sf. This average ratio is likely higher than the demand for parking in the proposed 
development, however it provides for a conservative analysis of shared parking conditions.  
 
Office Rates 
The office land use would not be expected to be used as densely as other general office buildings.  The types of 
offices anticipated are professional offices such as law firms or stock brokers.  They would generally have small 
staff sizes, individual office work areas, and conference rooms. Due to these factors, the generic base parking 
ratio of 3.6 spaces per 1,000 sf from Shared Parking of was not utilized for the analysis. Instead the average peak 
parking demand for a suburban Office Building land use from Parking Generation was used. This ratio is 2.84 
spaces per 1,000 sf of leasable space. 
 
Apartment Rates 
The base parking rate of 1.65 in Shared Parking does not differentiate between the numbers of bedrooms 
included in each apartment, which can have an effect on parking demand. Seventy-six percent of the apartment 
units in the proposed development are one bedroom units, which would be expected to have a lower demand 
for parking than a two bedroom unit. The base parking ratio used for the apartment land use in this analysis is 
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1.46 spaces per unit. This ratio was obtained from the 85th percentile for suburban apartments from Parking 
Generation. This ratio exceeds one space per unit for one bedroom units, and two spaces per unit for two 
bedroom units.  
 
The development team provided data from several recent projects in the metropolitan area for additional 
perspective on the appropriate base parking ratio for apartments. Data was collected by EPC Real Estate Group 
from their developments at 51 Main in Kansas City, Missouri, and from the Village at Mission Farms in Overland 
Park, Kansas. At 51 Main, a ratio of 1.3 spaces per unit was provided and found to have a surplus of 10 percent 
at peak times. The parking garage for the Village at Mission Farms provided a 1.6 ratio, equating to one space 
per unit for one bedroom units and two spaces per unit for two bedroom units. The garage was found to have a 
parking surplus of roughly 20 percent during peak times. The actual demand is closer to a 1.35 ratio, even 
though more than half of the units consist of two bedrooms. It should be noted that there are surface parking 
spaces available at Mission Farms outside the garage. 
 
For this shared parking analysis, the base parking ratio for the apartments in the northwestern portion was 
reduced from 1.46 to 0.46 spaces per unit, as one parking space per unit will be provided in the 182 garage 
parking spaces below the apartments. These garage spaces will not be shared with other land uses.  A few 
apartment residents not parking in the garage spaces and apartment visitors will share the surface parking 
spaces. The base parking ratio for the assisted living in the northeastern portion was reduced to 0.28 spaces per 
unit, as 100 spaces are provided in the garage below the assisted living facility.  These garage spaces will not be 
shared with other land uses. 
 
Captive Demand 
Shared Parking states that some reduction of customer parking needs occurs in a mixed-use development due to 
patronage of multiple land uses. These patrons are referred to as “captive” since they are already present at the 
site for another land use. Residents of the proposed development who visit the restaurants or shops would be 
considered captive, as they do not add to the demand for parking. This is the same for office workers at who 
shop or go to restaurants in the development. There is also potential for nearby residents, especially in the twin 
villas to walk to the restaurants or shops. Given these considerations, a reduction of 12 percent was applied to 
the base ratios for the restaurant and retail land uses to account for captive demand.  The 12 percent reduction 
matches the average percentage of internally captured trips indicated in the traffic impact study for the proposed 
development. 
 
Assumptions 
Several factors in the analysis should be noted. First, the northeastern and northwestern portions of the site 
were analyzed separately as to not share parking across the main access drive. Second, the parking garage spaces 
are not included in the supply for the shared parking analysis as they will not be shared spaces.  

Results 
The results of the analysis indicate that the parking supplies for the northeastern and northwestern portions are 
projected to be sufficient for all times of the year.  The most critical time periods are projected to be during the 
middle of the day in December. The peak parking demand of 300 spaces for the northeastern portion of the site 
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is projected to occur at 11:00 A.M. in December. At that time the surface parking in the northeastern portion of 
the site is projected to be 99 percent occupied. The peak parking demand of 150 spaces for the northwestern 
portion of the site is projected to occur at 7:00 P.M. in December. At that time, the 162 surface spaces are 
projected to be 93 percent occupied. This analysis correlates with the fact that December is the peak month for 
most retail business because of holiday shopping. This analysis indicates that the parking supply can be effectively 
shared to accommodate the proposed land uses at all times of day, throughout the year. 

Summary 
The mixed-use portion of the proposed development will provide fewer parking spaces than the LDO requires, 
however the requirements are based on isolated, individual land uses. The LDO allows for modifications to the 
parking requirements on a project basis with supporting documentation. Given the mixture of land uses 
proposed for the site within a close proximity, shared parking is applicable for this development. The Shared 
Parking Analysis indicates that the parking supply can be effectively shared to accommodate the proposed land 
uses at all times of day, throughout the year. 
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August 13, 2020 
 
 
Mr. Rick Oddo  
Oddo Development Company, Inc. 
15431 West 100th Terrace 
Lenexa, KS 66219 
 
 
Re: Cameron’s Court Traffic Impact Study  
 135th Street and State Line Road 
 Leawood, Kansas 
 
Dear Mr. Oddo: 
 
In response to your request and authorization, TranSystems has completed a traffic impact study for the 
proposed residential and commercial development generally located along the north side of 135th Street 
between State Line Road and Pawnee Lane in Leawood, Kansas. The purpose of this study was to assess 
the impact of the proposed development on the surrounding transportation system.  
 
Included in this study is a discussion of the anticipated impact of the proposed development on the 
adjacent street network and identified improvements to mitigate deficiencies for the following scenarios: 

 Existing Conditions 
 Existing plus Approved Development Conditions 
 Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Residential Development Conditions  
 Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Full Development Conditions 
 Future Year 2040 Conditions 

 
We trust that the enclosed information proves beneficial to you and the City of Leawood in this phase 
of the development process. We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and will be available 
to review this study at your convenience. 
 
Sincerely, 
TRANSYSTEMS 
 
 
  
By: ________________________________    By: ________________________________  
                 
              Jeffrey J. Wilke, PE, PTOE                                         Emma Martin, EIT         
        

  
            

EHM:JJW/ehm/P101200212 
Enclosure 
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Introduction 
TranSystems has completed this traffic impact study for the proposed residential and commercial 
development to be located generally located along the north side of 135th Street between State Line Road 
and Pawnee Lane in Leawood, Kansas. The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of the proposed 
development on the surrounding transportation system. The location of the project relative to the major 
streets in the area is shown on Figure A-1 in Appendix A. 

In addition to a description of the proposed development and the surrounding transportation 
infrastructure, this study includes trip generation estimates, trip distribution estimates, capacity analyses, 
and a summary of findings.  

Proposed Development Plan 
The proposed development includes a variety of land uses which will be constructed in phases. The initial 
phases of the development will include residential land uses to the west of Kenneth Road. Later phases of 
the development will include commercial land uses, such as retail, office, hotel, and a gas station with a 
convenience store located to the east of Kenneth Road. A copy of the proposed site plan for the 
development is included on Figure A-2 for reference. 

The residential phases include single-family and multi-family land uses. Along the south side of 133rd Street 
there are 56 single-family homes which will be accessed from two proposed site driveways (Site Drives 2 
and 3). The multi-family units are separated into an eastern and western portion, which is divided by a 
new street named High Drive. High Drive is to be a collector type street running between 133rd and 
135th Street. The proposed High Drive will intersect 133rd Street at an existing curb cut, roughly 375 
feet west of the existing High Drive intersection. There are 340 proposed multi-family units to the west 
of High Drive, and 322 units to the east of High Drive. The two multi-family developments will each have 
gated entries. The western portion is accessed from three proposed driveways; one on Pawnee Lane, one 
on 135th Street that aligns with Chadwick Street, and an internal driveway that intersects proposed High 
Drive. The eastern portion will be accessed from two proposed driveways along 133rd Street, an internal 
driveway intersecting Kenneth Road north of 135th Street, and two internal driveways that intersect 
proposed High Drive. 

The commercial phases of the proposed development include the area generally bounded by Kenneth 
Road on the west, 135th Street on the south, State Line Road on the east, and 133rd Street on the north. 
Four new driveways will provide access to the commercial land uses. An internal driveway will intersect 
Kenneth Road north of 135th Street, aligning with the internal drive to the eastern portion of the multi-
family development. Two proposed driveways are to be located along 133rd Street. One proposed 
driveway will be the east leg of the existing signalized 133rd Street and State Line Road intersection. While 
the intersection is signed as 133rd Street, the intersection is actually offset roughly 740 feet south of 
Leawood’s 133rd Street and State Line Road intersection. For the purposes of this study, the two 
intersections are referred to as the N. 133rd Street and S. 133rd Street intersections. 
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Study Area 
To assess the impacts of the proposed development, the intersections listed below were identified for 
study during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours of a typical weekday.  

 133rd Street and Mission Road 
 133rd Street and Pawnee Lane 
 133rd Street and Canterbury Road 
 133rd Street and High Drive 
 133rd Street and State Line Road (North intersection) 
 133rd Street and State Line Road (South intersection)  
 135th Street and State Line Road 
 135th Street and Kenneth Road 
 135th Street and Chadwick Street 
 135th Street and Pawnee Lane 
 135th Street and Mission Road 
 Site Driveways 

 
Surrounding Land Uses and Street Network 
The development site currently consists of undeveloped land with agricultural land uses. There is an 
existing church located between the commercial and multi-family residential land uses, which is not part 
of the development site and will remain. The church is accessed from the north leg of the 135th Street 
and Kenneth Road intersection and from a driveway on 133rd Street. North of the development site, 
there are several neighborhoods of single-family homes. Directly to the east and west of the site, there 
are commercial developments. Currently the area south of the site across 135th Street is undeveloped 
land, except for a church. However an approved mixed-use development has been approved in the 
southwest corner of 135th Street and Kenneth Road.   
 
The existing street network characteristics are summarized below in Table 1. It should be noted that the 
segment of 133rd Street between Mission Road and State Line Road has intermittent bike lane markings 
where there are no designated left-turn lanes. 
 

Table 1 
Existing Street Network Conditions 

Street 
Functional 

Classification 
Number of 

Lanes 
Speed 
Limit 

Median 

135th Street Arterial 4-lane 45 mph Raised Median 

State Line Road Arterial 5-lane 40 mph Raised Median south of 133rd Street 

Mission Road Arterial 4-lane 35 mph 
Raised Median between 135th and 

133rd Streets 

Pawnee Lane Collector 2-lane Not Posted None 

133rd Street Collector 3-lane 35 mph None 

Kenneth Road Collector 2-lane 35 mph None 
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Traffic Counts 
Turning-movement traffic volume counts were collected at some of the study intersection on Thursday, 
June 30, 2020, from 7:00 to 9:00 A.M. and from 4:00 to 6:00 P.M.  Based on the data, the A.M. peak hour 
generally occurs between 7:15 and 8:15 A.M. along 135th Street and between 8:00 and 9:00 A.M. along 
133rd Street. The P.M. peak hour generally occurred between 4:30 and 5:30 P.M.  
 
Turning-movement traffic volume counts were adjusted and balanced to account for the abnormal traffic 
volumes due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In general, traffic counts collected on June 30, 2020 were 
increased by 33 percent during the A.M. peak hour and 10 percent during the P.M. peak hour. To develop 
these adjustment factors, the traffic counts were compared to previous counts within the study area. The 
turning-movement traffic volume counts along 135th Street at Mission Road, Pawnee Lane, and State Line 
Road were provided by Operation Green Light. Counts at the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection 
were obtained from the traffic impact study for the approved development. In general, traffic counts 
collected on June 30, 2020 were increased by 33 percent during the A.M. peak hour and 10 percent during 
the P.M. peak hour. The existing lane configurations, traffic control devices, and peak hour traffic volumes 
have been illustrated on Figure A-3. 

Analysis 
The scope of analysis for the assessment of the proposed development’s impact on the surrounding 
transportation system is based in large part on the recommended practices of the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE), as outlined in their Traffic Engineering Handbook. ITE is a nationally-
recognized organization of transportation professionals with members from both private and public 
sectors. The analysis of the proposed development’s impact included development of trip generation and 
trip distribution estimates as well as a traffic operations assessment for each study scenario. Each of the 
analysis methodologies and findings are described in the subsequent sections.   
 

Trip Generation  
Trip generation estimates were prepared using the Institute of Transportation Engineer’s Trip Generation, 
10th Edition. Table 2 on the following page shows the expected trips to be generated by the proposed 
development.  Additional information related to trip generation is included in Appendix B. 
 

The commercial portion of the proposed development includes office, retail, hotel, and convenience store 
land uses. Therefore, it can be assumed that when the development is fully built out, some of the retail 
trips will be from the office workers and hotel patrons. These trips are said to be internal trips, because 
the origin and destination of the trips are within the development site. The NCHRP 8-51 internal capture 
estimation tool was used to determine the number of trips internal to the site. The internal trips were 
not applied to the external street system. 
 
Pass-by traffic occurs when drivers stop at the proposed development while in route to their final 
destination. Pass-by traffic is common for gas stations and retail land use. A pass-by percentage of 76% 
was assumed for the gas station/convenience store, and a pass-by percentage of 34% was applied to the 
external shopping center trips during the P.M. peak hour only. These pass-by rates were obtained from 
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the ITE Trip Generation Handbook. No pass-by percentage is provided for A.M. peak hour shopping 
center trips. 
 

Table 2 
Trip Generation 

Land Use Intensity ITE 
Code 

Average 
Weekday 

A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 

Total In Out Total In Out 

Residential Land Uses 

Single-Family 
Residential 

56 units 210 610 45 12 33 59 38 21 

Multi-Family Housing 
(Western Low-Rise) 

340      units 220 2,530 153 36 117 176 111 65 

Multi-Family Housing 
(Eastern Low-Rise) 

322      units 220 2,394 145 34 111 168 106 62 

Subtotal Residential Development Trips 5,534 343 82 261 403 255 148 

Commercial Land Uses 

General Office 
Building 282,244 sf 710 2,903 292 252 40 306 49 257 

Hotel 122 key 310 951 56 34 22 66 34 32 

Shopping Center 116,450 sf 820 6,668 211 131 80 609 293 316 

Super Convenience 
Store 

6,170 sf 960 5,168 584 292 292 428 214 214 

Subtotal Commercial Development Trips 15,012 961 611 350 1,409 590 819 

Subtotal Full Development Trips 21,224 1,306 693 613 1,812 845 967 

Internal Trips - 64 32 32 78 39 39 

External Trips - 1,422 759 663 1,734 806 928 

Pass-by Trips (Shopping Center) - - - - 194 97 97 

Pass-by Trips (Convenience Store) - 444 222 222 325 163 163 

Total Full Development Trips 21,224 978 537 441 1,215 546 668 

 
Trip Distribution 
The estimated trips generated by the proposed development were distributed onto the street system 
based on the trip distributions summarized on the next page in Table 3. These distributions are based on 
existing travel patterns in the area, expected service area of the development, and engineering judgment. 
The detailed distribution patterns through the study intersections are shown in Appendix B.   
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Table 3 
Trip Distribution 

Direction To/From 
Residential 
Percentage 

Commercial 
Percentage 

West on 133rd Street 10% 5% 

East on 135th Street 15% 20% 

West on 135th Street 30% 25% 

North on State Line Road 30% 25% 

South on State Line Road 5% 5% 

North on Mission Road 5% 10% 

South on Mission Road 5% 10% 

Total 100% 100% 

 
Traffic Operation Assessment  
An assessment of traffic operations was made for the scenarios listed below.   

 Existing Conditions 
 Existing plus Approved Development Conditions 
 Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Residential Development Conditions 
 Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Full Development Conditions  
 Future (Year 2040) Conditions 

 
The study intersections were evaluated using the Synchro traffic analysis software package. Calculations 
were performed based on the methodologies outlined in the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th 
Edition, which is published by the Transportation Research Board. The operating conditions at an 
intersection are graded by the “level of service” experienced by drivers. Level of service (LOS) describes 
the quality of traffic operating conditions and is rated from “A” to “F”. LOS A represents the least 
congested condition with free-flow movement of traffic and minimal delays. LOS F generally indicates 
severely congested conditions with excessive delays to motorists. Intermediate grades of B, C, D, and E 
reflect incremental increases in the average delay per stopped vehicle. Delay is measured in seconds per 
vehicle. Table 4 on the subsequent page shows the upper limit of delay associated with each level of 
service for signalized and unsignalized intersections.  
 
While LOS measurements apply to both signalized and unsignalized intersections, there are significant 
differences between how these intersections operate and how they are evaluated. LOS for signalized 
intersections reflects the operation of the intersection as a whole. Unsignalized intersections, in contrast, 
are evaluated based on the movement groupings which are required to yield to other traffic. Typically, 
these are the left turns off of the major street and the side-street approaches for two-way stop-controlled 
intersections. At unsignalized intersections lower LOS ratings (D, E and F) do not, in themselves, indicate 
the need for additional improvements. Many times there are convenient alternative routes to avoid the 
longer delays. Other times the volumes on the unsignalized approaches are relatively minor when 
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compared to the major street traffic, and improvements such as traffic signal installation may increase the 
average delay to all users of the intersection. 
 

Table 4 
Intersection Level of Service Delay Thresholds 

Level of Service 
(LOS) 

Signalized Unsignalized 

A ≤ 10 Seconds ≤ 10 Seconds 

B ≤ 20 Seconds ≤ 15 Seconds 

C ≤ 35 Seconds ≤ 25 Seconds 

D ≤ 55 Seconds ≤ 35 Seconds 

E ≤ 80 Seconds ≤ 50 Seconds 

F > 80 Seconds > 50 Seconds 

 
The decision to install a traffic signal, which is often considered when lower LOS ratings are projected, 
should be based on engineering studies and the warrants for traffic signal installation as outlined in the 
Federal Highway Administration’s Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). Signals are 
typically not recommended in locations where there are convenient alternative paths, or if the installation 
of a traffic signal would have negative impacts on the surrounding transportation system.  
 
The LOS rating deemed acceptable varies by community, facility type and traffic control device. Most 
communities in the region, such as Leawood, have identified LOS D as the minimum desirable goal for 
signalized intersections. However, at unsignalized intersections LOS E, or even F are often considered 
acceptable for low to moderate traffic volumes where the installation of a traffic signal is not warranted 
by the conditions at the intersection, or the location has been deemed undesirable for signalization.  
 
Traffic queues were also evaluated as part of the analyses. Long traffic queues which extend beyond the 
amount of storage available, either between intersections or within turn lanes, can have significant impacts 
on operations. The projected vehicular queues were analyzed to ensure the analyses are reflective of the 
physical constraints of the study intersections and to identify if additional storage is needed for turn lanes. 
 
Existing Conditions 
The results of the Existing Conditions intersection analyses are summarized on the following page in Table 
5. The study intersection was evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control 
devices shown on Figures A-3 through A-5. The current signal timing and coordination plans for the study 
intersection were used for the analysis of the traffic signal in this scenario. Synchro output files are included 
in Appendix C.   
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Table 5 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Mission Road and 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
16.9 

 
B 

 
18.6 

Pawnee Lane and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.5 
7.7 

 
B 
A 

 
12.3 
8.1 

Canterbury Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
12.1 
8.0 

E. High Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.5 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
13.0 
8.0 

State Line Road and N. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
11.2 

 
C 

 
23.6 

State Line Road and S. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
9.4 

 
B 

 
14.4 

State Line Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
52.0 

 
E 

 
57.7 

Kenneth Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
3.5 

 
A 

 
6.0 

Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
A 

 
15.0 
9.9 

 
D 
C 

 
34.9 
18.0 

Pawnee Lane and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
7.1 

 
A 

 
5.4 

Mission Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
43.7 

 
D 

 
36.5 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 
The results of Table 4 indicates that all of the study intersections currently operate at acceptable levels 
of service except for the intersection of State Line Road and 135th Street. During the P.M. peak hour, the 
intersection operates at LOS E with 57.7 seconds of delay. This is due to high volumes of through traffic 
and a heavy southbound left-turn movement. Additionally, the 95th percentile queue for the southbound 
left-turn movement exceeds the length of the dual left-turn lanes. 
 
To improve the LOS at this intersection, significant capacity improvements are needed. A third eastbound 
lane would need to be constructed through the State Line Road intersection, and possibly through other 
intersections to the east, to serve the heavy eastbound through volume. Such an improvement would 
require coordination with the Missouri Department of Transportation, as 135th Street becomes M-150 
Highway to the east of State Line Road. These improvements have not been programmed and therefore 
are not included in the existing conditions analyses. 
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Existing plus Approved Development Conditions 
The Existing plus Approved Development Conditions scenario includes the addition of traffic and 
improvements from the development proposed in the southwest corner of 135th Street and Kenneth 
Road. The development has been approved by the City of Leawood, but has not been constructed at the 
time of this study. The approved development trips and improvements were obtained from the traffic 
impact study for that development, completed by TranSystems in November 2018.  
 
Improvements for the proposed development include construction of High Drive south of 135th Street, 
roughly 1,070 feet west of the Kenneth Road intersection. The 135th Street and High Drive intersection 
will be signalized. A westbound left-turn lane, eastbound right-turn lane, and three northbound lanes will 
be constructed at the intersection. 
 
The results of the Existing plus Approved Development Conditions intersection analyses are summarized 
in Table 6. This study scenario considered the addition of traffic from the proposed development. The 
study intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control devices 
shown on Figures A-6 through A-8. The new traffic signal at High Drive was evaluated in this scenario 
with the same cycle lengths as the current coordination plans for the corridor. The Synchro output files 
are included in Appendix C.  
 

Table 6 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Mission Road and 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
16.0 

 
B 

 
18.3 

Pawnee Lane and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.5 
7.7 

 
B 
A 

 
12.3 
8.1 

Canterbury Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
12.1 
8.0 

E. High Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.5 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
13.0 
8.0 

State Line Road and N. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
11.1 

 
C 

 
23.7 

State Line Road and S. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
9.3 

 
B 

 
14.5 

State Line and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
E 

 
56.3 

 
E 

 
61.5 

Kenneth Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
2.5 

 
B 

 
14.0 

High Drive and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
5.1 

 
A 

 
5.9 



Cameron’s Court Traffic Impact Study 
135th Street and State Line Road  

Leawood, Kansas 
 

9 | TranSystems August 2020 

 

Table 6 – Continued 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
B 

 
16.6 
10.5 

 
E 
C 

 
41.6 
19.5 

Pawnee Lane and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
9.4 

 
A 

 
3.4 

Mission Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
47.3 

 
D 

 
40.2 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 
As shown in the table, the study intersections are projected to operate within acceptable levels of service 
during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours with two exceptions. The 135th Street and State Line Road 
intersection is projected to operate at LOS E during both peak hours. Additionally, the 95th percentile 
queue for the southbound left-turn movement exceeds the length of the dual left-turn lanes. As mentioned 
in the existing conditions scenario, significant capacity improvements are needed. Given that such 
improvements are not programmed, they were not included in the Existing plus Approved Development 
Conditions analyses. 
 
The intersection of 135th Street and Chadwick Street is projected to operate at LOS E with the addition 
of traffic from the approved development. The northbound traffic volumes on Chadwick Street are 
projected to be low, therefore no improvements are identified for this intersection. If delays are 
unacceptable to drivers, alternate routes are available by traveling on 137th Street to High Drive or to 
Pawnee Lane. 
 
Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Residential Development Conditions 
This scenario includes development trips from the residential portion of the proposed development. The 
proposed site driveways are included in the analysis. The City of Leawood does not have access 
management requirements, therefore the Kansas Department of Transportation’s (KDOT) Access 
Management Policy (AMP) was used as guidance for intersection spacing and turn lane requirements.  

 
Pawnee Lane and Site Drive 1 
Site Drive 1 will provide access to the western portion of the multi-family residential area. This full-access 
drive is to be located roughly 330 feet north of 135th Street, measured between centerlines. This location 
aligns with an existing commercial driveway along the west side of Pawnee Lane. Per AMP criteria, Pawnee 
Lane would be most similar to a Class E route, and the minimum spacing between unsignalized driveways 
for a 30 mph street is 125 feet. The drive is located 240 feet south of the adjacent driveway to the north, 
so the minimum spacing criteria is met. The intersection influence area on the north leg of the 135th 
Street and Pawnee Lane intersection is 155 feet, plus the queue storage length. The analysis results show 
that all southbound 95th percentile queues are 87 feet or less at full development, therefore Drive 1 is 
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outside the influence area of the 135th Street intersection. Traffic volumes at the Site Drive 1 intersection 
are well below the warranting volumes for turn lanes. As such, no turn lanes are identified for this 
intersection. 
 
133rd Street and Site Drive 2 
Site Drive 2 will provide access to the single-family residential area. This full-access drive is to be located 
roughly 825 feet west of Pawnee Lane, measured between centerlines. This location aligns with an existing 
Canterbury Road along the north side of 133rd Street. Per AMP criteria, 133rd Street would be most 
similar to a Class D route, and the minimum spacing between unsignalized driveways is 200 feet. The drive 
is located 1,175 feet west of the next proposed site driveway (Site Drive 3), therefore the minimum 
spacing criteria is met. Drive 2 is also well outside the influence area of the adjacent intersections.  
 
The traffic volumes at the 133rd Street and Site Drive 2 intersection will meet the AMP warrants for a 
westbound left-turn lane, but not for an eastbound right-turn lane. The AMP indicates that the minimum 
turn lane length is 135 feet for deceleration plus 50 feet for queue storage, totaling 185 feet plus 
appropriate taper. This turn lane can be provided by modifying the existing pavement markings on 133rd 
Street to create a left-turn lane and eliminate a short section of the bike lane, as has been done at adjacent 
intersections. 
 
133rd Street and Site Drive 3 
Site Drive 3 will also provide access to the single-family residential area. This full-access drive is to be 
located roughly 375 feet west of the proposed High Drive intersection, measured between centerlines. 
Therefore, the AMP minimum spacing criteria is met. Drive 2 is also well outside the influence area of the 
adjacent intersections.  
 
The traffic volumes at the 133rd Street and Site Drive 3 intersection will meet the AMP warrants for a 
westbound left-turn lane, but not for an eastbound right-turn lane. The AMP indicates that the minimum 
turn lane length is 135 feet for deceleration plus 50 feet for queue storage, totaling 185 feet plus 
appropriate taper. This turn lane can be provided by modifying the existing pavement markings on 133rd 
Street to create a left-turn lane and eliminate a short section of the bike lane, as has been done at adjacent 
intersections. Given the distance from High Drive, a three-lane section with a center two-way left-turn 
lane would be appropriate for this location. 
 
133rd Street and W. High Drive 
High Drive is a new street that is proposed to be constructed through the development from 133rd Street 
to 135th Street. High Drive is to intersect 133rd Street at the location of an existing curb cut, which is 
offset roughly 375 feet from the existing High Drive intersection on 133rd Street. For the purposes of 
this study, the proposed High Drive intersection is referred to as W. High Drive, and the existing High 
Drive intersection is referred to as E. High Drive. At the south end, High Drive is to intersect 135th Street 
at the location of the signalized intersection in the approved development plan. 
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Given the intersection spacing, the AMP’s unsignalized intersection criteria is met. The AMP also has 
guidance on offset intersections in Table 4-9. The minimum offset distance is 225 feet along 35 mph 
roadways, so the minimum offset distance is exceeded. 
 
The traffic volumes at the 133rd Street and W. High Drive intersection will meet the AMP warrants for 
a westbound left-turn lane, but not for an eastbound right-turn lane. The AMP indicates that the minimum 
turn lane length is 135 feet for deceleration plus 50 feet for queue storage, totaling 185 feet plus 
appropriate taper. This length will overlap with the left-turn lane length for the E. High Drive intersection. 
Given the spacing between intersections, the three-lane section with a center two-way left-turn lane 
should continue through this intersection. The Future Conditions operational analysis indicates that all 
left-turn queues at these intersections are projected to be no more than one vehicle in length. Therefore, 
short queues of one vehicle in the center two-way left-turn lane on 133rd Street will not restrict opposing 
traffic from entering the center left-turn lane at the adjacent intersection.    
 
High Drive and internal site driveways 
High Drive will be constructed as a two-lane undivided street with a speed limit no higher than 30 mph. 
which would be considered similar to a Class E route per the AMP. There are 3 internal site driveway 
connections proposed from High Drive to the multi-family areas on the east and west side of the street. 
The first intersection is spaced 220 feet south of High Drive, The next internal drive is spaced 350 feet 
from the drive to the north, and 270 feet from the next drive to the south. The southernmost internal 
drive is spaced 450 feet north of 135th Street. These spacings all meet the 125 foot minimum spacing per 
the AMP. 
 
133rd Street and Site Drive 4 
Site Drive 4 will provide access to the eastern portion of the multi-family residential area. This full-access 
drive is to be located roughly 375 feet east of E. High Drive and 660 feet west of Meadow Lane, measured 
between centerlines. This location meets the minimum spacing criteria.  
 
The traffic volumes at the 133rd Street and Site Drive 4 intersection will meet the AMP warrants for a 
westbound left-turn lane, but not for an eastbound right-turn lane. The AMP indicates that the minimum 
turn lane length is 135 feet for deceleration plus 50 feet for queue storage, totaling 185 feet plus 
appropriate taper. This turn lane can be provided by modifying the existing pavement markings on 133rd 
Street to create a left-turn lane and eliminate a short section of the bike lane, as has been done at adjacent 
intersections. The center two-way left turn lane would terminate at Site Drive 4. 
 
135th Street and Kenneth Road 
The development will utilize the north leg of the 135th Street and Kenneth Road intersection for access 
to the eastern portion of the multi-family residential development. An internal drive to the multi-family 
site will intersect Kenneth Road approximately 300 feet north of 135th Street. The existing driveway for 
the church will continue north of the internal intersection as a private street.  
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According to the AMP, the development trips are projected to satisfy warrants for a westbound right-
turn lane and an eastbound left-turn lane. Per the AMP, the westbound right-turn lane should have a 
minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper, and the eastbound left-turn lane should have a 
minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 
The existing traffic signal at 135th Street and Kenneth Road operates without left-turn phasing for 
east/west traffic and split phasing for north/south traffic. It would be appropriate to include protected left-
turn phasing for east/west traffic in conjunction with the addition of the eastbound left-turn lane. It would 
also be appropriate to provide north/south left-turn lanes to eliminate the split phased operation. The 
northbound approach should be restriped to provide a 150 foot left turn lane and a shared right-
turn/through lane. A southbound left-turn lane should be provided with a minimum storage length of 250 
feet plus appropriate taper. 
 
135th Street and High Drive 
The proposed portion of High Drive will intersect 135th Street at the signalized intersection that is to be 
constructed as part of the approved development to the south of 135th Street. The development trips 
are projected to satisfy warrants for a westbound right-turn lane and an eastbound left-turn lane. Per the 
AMP, the westbound right-turn lane should have a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper, and 
the eastbound left-turn lane should have a minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. A 
southbound left-turn lane should be constructed with a minimum length of 110 feet plus appropriate taper 
to allow for protected/permitted left-turn phasing for north/south traffic. 

 
135th Street and Chadwick Street 
An access point to the western portion of the multi-family area will be provided from 135th Street, aligning 
with Chadwick Street. An intersection has been planned for this location, as pavement is in place for an 
eastbound left-turn lane and a westbound right-turn lane. The pavement markings need to be modified in 
the existing lane to provide a westbound right-turn lane. Lengthy delays are expected at peak times for 
left-turn traffic from the side street. To separate this traffic from the right-turn traffic, a southbound left-
turn lane should be constructed with a minimum length of 110 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 
It should be noted that intersection sight distances were not measured in the field at the site driveways, 
however the terrain is fairly level and cursory observations from readily available photography indicate 
that sight distances at all proposed site driveways should be adequate. In roadway segments with 
horizontal curves, such as proposed High Drive, low landscaping should be planned that will not obstruct 
intersection sight distances. 
 
The results of the Existing plus Approved plus Residential Development Conditions intersection analyses 
are summarized on the next page in Table 7. This study scenario includes the addition of traffic from the 
residential portion of the proposed development and the aforementioned improvements. The study 
intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control devices 
shown on Figures A-9 through A-11. The new traffic signal at High Drive was evaluated in this scenario 
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with the same cycle lengths as the current coordination plans for the corridor. The Synchro output files 
are included in Appendix C.  
 

Table 7 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved plus Residential Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Mission Road and 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
16.8 

 
B 

 
19.1 

Pawnee Lane and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
12.4 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
13.3 
8.2 

Canterbury Road/Site Drive 2 and 
133rd Street 

Northbound 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
 
B 
B 
A 
A 

 
 

12.4 
10.3 
7.8 
7.6 

 
 
C 
B 
A 
A 

 
 

16.2 
13.1 
8.1 
8.1 

Site Drive 3 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
7.6 

 
B 
A 

 
11.6 
8.1 

W. High Road and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
7.7 

 
B 
A 

 
11.9 
8.1 

E. High Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
12.0 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
13.7 
8.1 

Site Drive 4 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.9 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
12.6 
8.1 

State Line Road and N. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
12.2 

 
C 

 
24.4 

State Line Road and S. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
9.2 

 
B 

 
14.3 

State Line and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
52.9 

 
E 

 
58.6 

Kenneth Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
8.3 

 
A 

 
4.1 

High Drive and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
18.7 

 
B 

 
12.8 

Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
Northbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 
Southbound Through/Right-Turn 

Eastbound Left-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
F 
C 
C 
B 

 
20.9 
>100 
21.4 
18.1 
10.5 

 
F 
F 
B 
B 
C 

 
75.9 
>100 
14.8 
13.1 
20.1 

Pawnee Lane and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
14.2 

 
A 

 
12.4 

Mission Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
53.3 

 
D 

 
44.5 
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Table 7 – Continued 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved plus Residential Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Pawnee Lane and Site Drive 1 
Westbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.9 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
9.1 
7.4 

High Drive and Internal Drive 1 
Westbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.6 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.6 
7.3 

High Drive and Internal Drive 2 
Westbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.8 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.9 
7.3 

High Drive and Internal Drive 3 
Eastbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.7 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.7 
7.3 

Kenneth Road and Internal Drive 4 
Eastbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.4 
7.2 

 
A 
A 

 
8.8 
7.3 

 
As shown in Table 7, the study intersections are projected to operate within acceptable levels of service 
during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours with the aforementioned improvements, with two exceptions. The 
intersection of 135th Street and State Line Road is projected to operate at LOS E during the P.M. peak 
hour, as it does in the previous scenario. While LOS E is generally undesirable, it is worth noting that the 
increase in average delay per vehicle is only 0.9 seconds per vehicle more during the P.M. peak hour than 
it is in the Existing Conditions scenario. The 95th percentile queue for the southbound left-turn movement 
exceeds the length of the dual left-turn lanes, as it does in the previous scenarios. 
 
While the delays for side street traffic are projected to be lengthy at the 135th Street and Chadwick 
Street intersection, the side street traffic volumes are projected to be below the minimum volume 
thresholds of the peak hour traffic signal warrant. As such, it is not likely that the intersection will satisfy 
traffic signal volume warrants. If delays are unacceptable to drivers, alternate routes are available by 
traveling on the existing and proposed street network to High Drive or to Pawnee Lane. 
 
Existing plus Approved plus Proposed Full Development Conditions 
This scenario includes development trips from the residential and commercial portion of the proposed 
development. Full build out of the proposed development will result in a significant increase in traffic to 
the surrounding street network and capacity improvements will be needed. The proposed site driveways 
for the commercial development are included in the analysis. The Kansas Department of Transportation’s 
(KDOT) Access Management Policy (AMP) was used as guidance for intersection spacing and turn lane 
requirements.  
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133rd Street and Site Drive 5 
Site Drive 5 will provide access to the commercial area from 133rd Street. This full-access drive is to be 
located at an existing curb cut roughly 450 feet east of Pembroke Lane and 260 feet west of Overbrook 
Road, measured between centerlines. Per AMP criteria, 133rd Street would be most similar to a Class D 
route, and the minimum spacing between unsignalized driveways is 200 feet, therefore the minimum 
spacing criteria is met. 
 
The traffic volumes at the 133rd Street and the Site Drive 5 intersection will meet the AMP warrants for 
a westbound left-turn lane, but not for an eastbound right-turn lane. An intersection has been planned at 
this location for some time and there is an existing left-turn lane with a 95 feet of storage. This storage 
length is less than the minimum turn lane length in the AMP. The turn lane cannot be extended without 
shortening the existing left-turn lane for Overbrook Road. It should be noted that the 95 feet of storage 
will contain the queues for the westbound left-turn movement. 
 
133rd Street and Site Drive 6 
Site Drive 6 will provide access to the commercial area from 133rd Street. This drive is to be located 
roughly 410 feet east of Overbrook Road and 410 feet west of State Line Road, measured between 
centerlines. This location aligns with an existing full-access commercial drive along the north side of 133rd 
Street. The minimum driveway spacing criteria of the AMP is met. Long queues of eastbound left-turn 
traffic from the signalized State Line Road intersection do nearly extend to the Site Drive 6 intersection 
during the P.M. peak hour. Therefore Site Drive 6 is within the influence area of the 133rd Street and 
State Line Road intersection. For that reason, Site Drive 6 is proposed to be a right-in/right-out access 
only to limit vehicular conflicts within the influence area. 
 
S. 133rd Street and State Line Road 
A new access point will be constructed as the west leg of the existing signalized S. 133rd Street and State 
Line Road intersection. Several lanes are needed to accommodate development traffic, which are listed 
below. 
 

 Construct a northbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a southbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct three eastbound lanes with minimum lengths of 200 feet plus appropriate taper. The 

lanes are to be a left-turn lane, a shared right-turn/through lane, and a right-turn lane. 
 

The shared lanes will require split phased operation for east/west traffic. While split phasing is generally 
not desirable, at intersections where there is little to no through volume on the side street, split phasing 
does effectively accommodate turning traffic. 
 

135th Street and State Line Road 
Long queues occur for the heavy southbound left-turn movement during the P.M. peak hour. To 
accommodate this volume, the left-turn storage capacity should be maximized. The existing dual left turn 
lanes should be lengthened to provide a minimum length of 325 feet plus appropriate taper. 
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135th Street 
With the addition of development traffic, significant capacity improvements are needed along 135th Street. 
In the eastbound direction, 135th Street should be widened for three through lanes from High Drive 
through the State Line Road intersection. In the westbound direction, 135th Street should be widened for 
three through lanes from State Line Road to the start of the third lane at Pawnee Lane. 
 

135th Street and Kenneth Road 
Access to the commercial portion of the development will be provided from the north leg of the 135th 
Street and Kenneth Road intersection. A new internal drive will extend east from Kenneth Road at the 
intersection of the internal drive to the multi-family residential area. To accommodate development traffic, 
the eastbound left-turn lane will need to be lengthened to provide a minimum length of 400 feet plus 
appropriate taper. 
 
The results of the Existing plus Proposed Full Development Conditions intersection analyses are 
summarized in Table 8. This study scenario considered the addition of traffic from the proposed 
development. The study intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and 
traffic control devices shown on Figures A-12 through A-14. The traffic signal timings were optimized for 
this scenario, but the existing cycle lengths were maintained. The Synchro output files are included in 
Appendix C.  
 

Table 8 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved plus Full Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Mission Road and 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
23.2 

 
C 

 
24.0 

Pawnee Lane and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
13.6 
7.9 

 
B 
A 

 
14.7 
8.4 

Canterbury Road/Site Drive 2 and 
133rd Street                            Northbound 

Southbound 
Eastbound Left-Turn 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
B 
A 
A 

 
13.7 
10.8 
8.0 
7.8 

 
C 
B 
A 
A 

 
18.6 
14.6 
8.3 
8.2 

Site Drive 3 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.4 
7.8 

 
B 
A 

 
12.5 
8.3 

W. High Road and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
10.0 
7.7 

 
B 
A 

 
12.6 
8.3 

E. High Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
13.2 
7.9 

 
C 
A 

 
15.4 
8.3 

Site Drive 4 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.7 
7.9 

 
B 
A 

 
13.8 
8.3 
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Table 8 – Continued 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Existing plus Approved plus Full Development Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Site Drive 5 and 133rd Street 
Northbound Left-Turn 

Northbound Through/Right-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
B 
A 

 
15.8 
10.2 
8.1 

 
C 
B 
A 

 
22.3 
11.1 
8.4 

Site Drive 6 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

 
B 

 
10.2 

 
B 

 
12.1 

State Line Road and N. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
13.2 

 
C 

 
21.8 

State Line Road and S. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
22.7 

 
C 

 
31.0 

State Line and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
25.2 

 
D 

 
40.6 

Kenneth Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
25.3 

 
C 

 
27.6 

High Drive and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
5.3 

 
C 

 
20.7 

Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
Northbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 
Southbound Through/Right-Turn 

Eastbound Left-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
F 
D 
E 
B 

 
22.1 
>100 
28.1 
43.9 
11.8 

 
F 
F 
C 
D 
C 

 
81.9 
>100 
19.4 
29.0 
24.1 

Pawnee Lane and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
10.4 

 
A 

 
3.6 

Mission Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
40.5 

 
D 

 
54.8 

Pawnee Lane and Site Drive 1 
Westbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.9 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
9.1 
7.4 

High Drive and Internal Drive 1 
Westbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.6 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.6 
7.3 

High Drive and Internal Drive 2 
Westbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.8 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.9 
7.3 

High Drive and Internal Drive 3 
Eastbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
8.7 
7.3 

 
A 
A 

 
8.7 
7.3 

Kenneth Road and Internal Drive 4 
Eastbound 

Westbound 
Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
B 
A 

 
7.2 
12.4 
8.7 

 
A 
B 
A 

 
8.4 
17.1 
7.3 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 



Cameron’s Court Traffic Impact Study 
135th Street and State Line Road  

Leawood, Kansas 
 

18 | TranSystems August 2020 

 

As shown in the table, each study intersection is projected to operate within acceptable levels of service 
during the A.M. and P.M. peak hours with the aforementioned improvements except the intersection of 
135th Street and Chadwick Street. Similar to the previous scenario, side street traffic volumes are 
projected to be below the minimum volume thresholds of the peak hour traffic signal warrant. As such, it 
is not likely that the intersection will satisfy traffic signal volume warrants. Alternate routes are available 
if delays are unacceptable to drivers. 
 
The intersection of 135th Street and State Line Road is projected to operate acceptably with the 
aforementioned capacity improvements, however, the 95th percentile queue for the southbound left-turn 
movement exceeds the length of the dual left-turn lanes. The volume for this movement is projected to 
be extremely heavy, but there is limited space in the existing median to lengthen the left-turn lanes beyond 
what has been identified. 
 
Future (Year 2040) Conditions 
To estimate future conditions in year 2040 background traffic growth was assumed. An annual growth 
rate of two percent was applied to the existing traffic volumes for a conservative analysis. The additional 
background growth results in a very heavy volume of through traffic on 135th Street and on State Line. 
To support the increased volume and future development traffic, several improvements are necessary. 
These improvements are listed below and are included in the Future Conditions intersection analyses.  
 

State Line Road 
 Widen State Line Road for three through lanes in the southbound direction beginning at N. 133rd 

Street. The third lane will terminate as a southbound left-turn lane at 135th Street. 
 

N. 133rd Street and State Line Road 
 Construct a second eastbound left-turn lane. 
 Widen 135th Street to have three through lanes in each direction. 

 

135th Street and State Line Road 
 Construct a third southbound left-turn lane. 

 

135th Street  
 Widen 135th Street for three through lanes in each direction throughout the study area. 

 

135th Street and Mission Road 
 Widen for two through lanes on Mission Road south of 135th Street. 
 Construct a southbound right-turn lane. 
 Construct a second eastbound left-turn lane. 

 

The results of the Future Conditions intersection analyses are summarized on the following page in Table 
9. The study intersections were evaluated with the lane configurations, traffic volumes, and traffic control 
devices shown on Figures A-15 through A-17. The traffic signal timings for the 135th Street corridor 
were optimized for this scenario. The Synchro output files are included in Appendix C.  
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The results shown in Table 9 indicate that all study intersections are projected to operate at an acceptable 
level of service in the future conditions scenario, with one exception. Several turning movements at the 
135th Street and Chadwick intersection are projected to operate at LOS F during both peak hours. Traffic 
volumes in the Future Conditions scenario are projected to be below the minimum volume thresholds of 
the peak hour traffic signal warrant. There is developable land remaining on the south side of 135th Street 
near the Chadwick intersection. Additional development of this land could add enough traffic to satisfy 
warrants at some point in the future. 
 

Table 9 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Future Year 2040 Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

Mission Road and 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
27.3 

 
C 

 
28.3 

Pawnee Lane and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
A 

 
17.4 
8.2 

 
C 
A 

 
21.2 
9.0 

Canterbury Road/Site Drive 2 and 
133rd Street                            

Northbound 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
B 
A 
A 

 
17.7 
12.4 
8.3 
8.0 

 
D 
C 
A 
A 

 
29.8 
22.6 
8.8 
8.7 

Site Drive 3 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.4 
8.0 

 
C 
A 

 
15.2 
8.8 

W. High Road and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
11.2 
8.0 

 
B 
A 

 
14.8 
8.8 

E. High Road and 133rd Street 
Southbound 

Eastbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
A 

 
16.6 
8.2 

 
C 
A 

 
16.8 
8.6 

Site Drive 4 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

Westbound Left-Turn 

 
B 
A 

 
13.5 
8.2 

 
C 
A 

 
16.0 
8.6 

Site Drive 5 and 133rd Street 
Northbound Left-Turn 

Northbound Through/Right-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
C 
B 
A 

 
20.4 
11.1 
8.4 

 
D 
B 
A 

 
31.7 
12.0 
8.7 

Site Drive 6 and 133rd Street 
Northbound 

 
B 

 
11.0 

 
B 

 
12.1 

State Line Road and N. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
15.3 

 
C 

 
21.7 

State Line Road and S. 133rd Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
28.6 

 
D 

 
36.2 

State Line and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
48.3 

 
E 

 
55.7 

Kenneth Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
D 

 
40.0 

 
C 

 
26.6 
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Table 9 – Continued 
Intersection Operational Analysis 

Future Year 2040 Conditions 

Intersection A.M. Peak Hour P.M. Peak Hour 
Movement LOS1 Delay2 LOS1 Delay2 

High Drive and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
B 

 
12.3 

 
B 

 
18.3 

Chadwick Street and 135th Street 
Northbound 

Southbound Left-Turn 
Southbound Through/Right-Turn 

Eastbound Left-Turn 
Westbound Left-Turn 

 
E 
F 
F 
F 
D 

 
45.1 
>100 
57.4 
>100 
29.9 

 
F 
F 
D 
F 
F 

 
>100 
>100 
28.0 
59.9 
>100 

Pawnee Lane and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
A 

 
4.4 

 
A 

 
7.6 

Mission Road and 135th Street 
Traffic Signal 

 
C 

 
23.6 

 
D 

 
47.1 

Pawnee Lane and Site Drive 1 
Westbound 

Northbound Left-Turn 

 
A 
A 

 
9.1 
7.4 

 
A 
A 

 
9.3 
7.4 

1 – Level of Service 
2 – Delay in seconds per vehicle 

 

Summary 
TranSystems has completed this traffic impact study for the proposed residential and commercial 
development to be located generally located along the north side of 135th Street between State Line Road 
and Pawnee Lane in Leawood, Kansas. The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of the proposed 
development on the surrounding transportation system.    
 
The proposed development includes a variety of residential and commercial land uses which will be 
constructed in phases. The initial phases of the development will include residential land uses to the west 
of Kenneth Road. Later phases of the development will include commercial land uses, such as retail, office, 
hotel, and a gas station with a convenience store located to the east of Kenneth Road. 
 
Analysis of existing conditions determined that the intersection of 135th Street and State Line Road is 
currently in need of substantial capacity improvements. The addition of development traffic from the 
approved development in the southwest corner of 135th Street and State Line Road will further increase 
delays at the intersection. The addition of traffic from the residential portion of the development will also 
incrementally increase delays at the intersection by a nominal amount. 
 
To accommodate traffic generated by the residential portion of the proposed development, the following 
improvements are identified. 
 

133rd Street and Site Drive 2 
 Re-stripe the street for a westbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 185 feet plus 

appropriate taper. 
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133rd Street 
 Re-stripe the street as a three-lane roadway, with a center two-way left-turn lane from Site Drive 

3 to Site Drive 4. 
 

133rd Street and Site Drive 4 
 Re-stripe the street for a westbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 185 feet plus 

appropriate taper. 
 

135th Street and Kenneth Road 
 Construct an eastbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a westbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a southbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Restripe the northbound approach to provide a 150 foot left turn lane and a shared right-

turn/through lane. 
 Modify the traffic signal phasing to include protected left-turn phasing for east/west traffic and 

protected permitted left-turn phasing for north/south traffic. 
 

135th Street and High Drive 
 Construct an eastbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a westbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a southbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 110 feet plus appropriate taper.  

 
135th Street and Chadwick Street 

 Modify the pavement markings in the existing lane to provide a westbound right-turn lane. 
 Construct a southbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 110 feet plus appropriate taper. 

 
Full build out of the proposed development will result in a significant increase in traffic to the surrounding 
street network. To accommodate traffic generated by the full build out of the proposed development, the 
following improvements are identified. 
 
S. 133rd Street and State Line Road 

 Construct a northbound left-turn lane with a minimum length of 315 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct a southbound right-turn lane with a minimum length of 250 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 Construct three eastbound lanes with minimum lengths of 200 feet plus appropriate taper. The 

lanes are to be a left-turn lane, a shared right-turn/through lane, and a right-turn lane. 
 Modify the traffic signal to include split phasing for east/west traffic and protected/permitted 

phasing for north/south left-turn traffic. 
 

135th Street and State Line Road 
 Construct additional storage length for the southbound dual left-turn lanes. Provide a minimum 

length of 325 feet plus appropriate taper. 
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135th Street 
 Widen 135th Street for three through lanes in the eastbound direction from High Drive through 

the State Line Road intersection. 
 Widen 135th Street for three through lanes in the westbound direction from State Line Road to 

Pawnee Lane. 
 

135th Street and Kenneth Road 
 Construct additional storage length for the eastbound left-turn lane. Provide a minimum length of 

400 feet plus appropriate taper. 
 
In the future, significant traffic growth is projected along the 135th Street and State Line Road corridors. 
To support future traffic growth and future development, the following improvements are identified. 
 

State Line Road 
 Widen State Line Road for three through lanes in the southbound direction beginning at N. 133rd 

Street. The third lane will terminate as a southbound left-turn lane at 135th Street. 
 

N. 133rd Street and State Line Road 
 Construct a second eastbound left-turn lane. 
 Widen 135th Street to have three through lanes in each direction. 

 

135th Street and State Line Road 
 Construct a third southbound left-turn lane. 

 

135th Street  
 Widen 135th Street for three through lanes in each direction throughout the study area. 

 

135th Street and Mission Road 
 Widen for two through lanes on Mission Road south of 135th Street. 
 Construct a southbound right-turn lane. 
 Construct a second eastbound left-turn lane. 

 

 



The applicant has requested that the RCLCO – Highest and Best Use Analysis, be publicly distributed and 

to be part of their application submission.  

 

Due to the large file size, the analysis is not able to be attached to this document.  

 

For a complete download of the analysis, please go to: http://www.klover.net/camerons-court 

 

There you will see a link to the RCL Market Survey. 

 

You can also access the document by this direct link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-

%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0 

http://www.klover.net/camerons-court
https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/lvw3weaiembsbg0/RCL%20market%20survey%20-%20135th%20St%20Highest%20and%20Best%20Use%20Analysis.zip?dl=0


Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Ricky Sanchez, Planner II 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting: August 25, 2020 

Date of Memo:  February 14, 2020 

Re: Case 74-20, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-3-3, 
Administrative Approvals, pertaining to the exterior tenant façade of a development. 
**PUBLIC HEARING** 

The amendment proposes to add a section within the Administrative Approvals section of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

Currently, exterior tenant finishes must go through the Planning Process which includes: Staff Review, Planning 
Commission Recommendation, and Governing Body Approval. In total, this process may sometimes take a total of 
up to 90 days from application to approval.  

The proposed amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance will allow the Director of Community 
Development to administratively approve exterior tenant finishes, which could reduce the amount of time for 
approval down to 2 weeks. 

The applicant will still have to get an approval letter from the development stating that they have reviewed the plan 
against their own design criteria and that they approve of the changes made. 

If an applicant is not content with the decision to deny an application from the Director of Community Development, 
they may have the opportunity to move forward through the current Planning Process. 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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or changed uses of property as well as certain site alterations, as specified herein, if the location and 
circumstances are appropriate to the use or change under the standards provided in this Article.  It is also 
the intent of this Article to increase the flexibility of development design by authorizing deviations to the 
standard district regulations subject to the conditions and/or approval of the Governing Body.  Any approval 
of any development plan shall be deemed to incorporate the provisions of this Ordinance. 

16-3-2 DEVELOPMENT PLANS — WHEN REQUIRED 

In any zoning district, an approved development plan as provided by this Article shall be required for (A)  
any change in zoning district classification, other than to the AG district, or (B)  any change in use, or (C)  
any construction or alteration of a structure, landscaping, parking, or drive isles on property or other exterior 
change in any zoning district except when such change is: 

A) Authorized by a previously approved development plan under this Planned Development 
Procedure that has not expired by its own terms or as provided for in this Article; 

B) Expressly exempted from the development plan requirements by the underlying zoning district; 

C) An alteration or construction of one or more single-family dwellings where no subdivision of land is 
required, provided a plot plan for the property is submitted and approved; 

D) A change only in use that does not require a change in underlying zoning district or special use 
permit and does not propose or require the alteration of parking, traffic volume or patterns, exterior 
change or construction, or other physical site requirements;   

E) An authorized Agricultural use in the AG Agricultural District; 

F) Ordinary maintenance which does not change the exterior color, style, design, or material type; 

G) Otherwise exempted from development plan requirements by state or federal law; 

H) Changes authorized to be administratively approved by the Director of Planning pursuant to 
Section 16-3-3. 

16-3-3 ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVALS   

The following changes to a site, building or structure may be approved by the Director of Planning and shall 
not require approval or amendment of a Development Plan: 

A) Change of permanent signage or sign facing if the size, characteristics, and number of signs 
remain the same; 

B) Change in landscaping (including location, bed material, related species, etc.) if the size and type 
of landscaping remain the same or if the number of landscaping specimens is increased; 

C) Change in architectural detail if it is consistent with the general intent and requirement of the 
Development Plan approval; and 

D) Changes in lighting if the changes otherwise satisfy the Development Plan requirements and 
applicable provisions of this Ordinance. 
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D)E) Changes to exterior tenant façade of a development, provided an authorized representative of the 
development has acknowledged in writing it (1) has reviewed the application, (2) approves the 
changes, (3) the changes meet the design guidelines set forth by the development.  

The Director of Planning may administratively approve these changes if the proposed change is consistent 
with the provisions and intent of an approved Development Plan and other applicable regulations.  The 
Director may deny the change, impose conditions necessary to satisfy applicable requirements, or refer the 
request to the Planning Commission.  If a party is aggrieved by a denial or conditions imposed on an 
administrative approval, the change shall be resubmitted pursuant to the Development Plan Procedure 
established in this Article.   

16-3-4 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPROVAL PROCESS 

A “Development Plan” shall consist of both a preliminary and final development plan approved as provided 
in this Article.  No construction of a structure or commencement of a use, or change or alteration in a use, 
structure or site, requiring a development plan shall be authorized until approval of the final development 
plan.  Approval of the preliminary development plan shall be considered an act of rezoning subject to the 
procedural requirements for rezoning as set forth in Article 5, except as provided herein.  A final 
development plan is intended only to provide final additional details or minor changes but shall otherwise 
conform to the approved preliminary development plan. 

The minimum steps required for approval of a Development Plan approval required by this Article are 
summarized as follows: 

A) Application for preliminary development plan (Section 16-3-5) 

B) Notice and public hearing before the Planning Commission (Section 16-5-3) 

C) Recommendation on preliminary development plan by the Planning Commission 

D) Governing Body enacts ordinance approving or approving with conditions the preliminary 
development plan or denies the plan  

E) Submission of Final Development Plan to the Planning Commission 

F) Approval of Final Development Plan: 

1) No changes or minor changes – approval by the Planning Commission and review by the 
Governing Body for final approval, conditional approval, or denial in accordance with voting 
procedures for preliminary plan approval. 

2) Substantial changes – submission of new preliminary development plan and repeat of 
development plan process. 

G) Once a Preliminary and Final Development Plan has been approved for a development, each lot will be 
required to receive preliminary site plan and/or final site plan approval prior to construction.   

 

(Ord. 2808[MK1], 11-01-2016) 
(Ord. 2957[JS2], 08-12-2019) 

 



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Ricky Sanchez, Planner II 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting: August 25, 2020 

Date of Memo:  August 19, 2020 

Re: Case 75-20, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-2-6.3, SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail) **PUBLIC HEARING** 

The amendment proposes to increase the allowed maximum height of buildings within the SD-CR zoning district.  

Currently, the Leawood Development Ordinance allows for buildings to have a maximum height of 50’. The 
proposed change to the Leawood Development Ordinance will allow for buildings to go up to a height of 65’ as long 
as for every foot in height that is increased, an additional 10’ is added to the setback on all sides for that particular 
structure/building. 

If an applicant were to propose a building with the SD-CR zoning district with a height of 65’, the building will have to 
be setback 150’ from all property lines.   

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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Leawood Development Ordinance   Article 2  Page 1 

A) with noted exceptions.  The intended purpose is to provide for neighborhood shopping 

centers properly landscaped to ensure open space and promote compatibility to surround-

ing neighborhoods. 

B) Principal Permitted, Planned and Special Uses:  Only the uses set forth as authorized in 

the SD-NCR district as specified in the Table of Uses are permitted in the SD-NCR District.  

All uses and any erection, construction, relocation, or alteration of any structure or building 

in the SD-NCR District, are subject to the requirements of this District and shall further be 

subject to all other requirements of this Ordinance except as may be expressly exempted. 

C) Accessory Uses:  Accessory Uses in this district are governed by 16-4-1 of this Ordi-

nance. 

D) Bulk Regulations: 

Requirement Minimum Distance/Area  

Front Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet 

Surface Parking (Loading and Service Areas Prohibited): 25 

feet   

Side Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet  

Interior Property Line Setback Structures:  10 feet 

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  10 feet 

Rear Yard Setback: Structures: 40 feet  

Surface parking, Loading, and Service Areas: 25 feet  

Building Setback from residen-

tial  

75 feet from property zoned, used, or master-planned for 

residential use  

Open Space  30% minimum 

Minimum Acres 10 acres per development, provided however that an appli-

cant may seek a deviation as set forth in Section 16-3-9 of 

the Leawood Development Ordinance 

Floor Area Ratio .20 maximum 

Height Limit: 40 feet 

(Ord. 2366, 11-3-08[m1]) 

16-2-6.3 SD-CR (Planned General Retail)  
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Leawood Development Ordinance   Article 2  Page 2 

A) General Purpose and Description:  Property zoned and developed as SD-CR Planned 

General Retail shall be to provide for general retail business uses within the City.  This dis-

trict is designed to serve the motoring public or uses involving vehicular traffic and requir-

ing areas bounded by a major street system for their most beneficial operation and which 

generally are larger in area and more intense in their operation than other retail districts. 

B) Principal Permitted, Planned and Special Uses:  Only the uses set forth as authorized in 

the SD-CR district as specified in the Table of Uses are permitted in the SD-CR District.  All 

uses and any erection, construction, relocation or alteration of any structure or building are 

subject to the requirements of this District and shall further be subject to all other require-

ments of this Ordinance except as may be expressly exempted. 

C) Accessory Uses:  Accessory Uses in this district are governed by 16-4-1 of this Ordi-

nance. 

D) Bulk Regulations: 

Requirement Minimum Distance/Area  

Front Yard Setback: 

 

Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking (Loading and Service Areas prohibited):  25 

feet  

Side Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet  

Interior Property Line Set-

back 

Structures:  10 feet 

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  10 feet 

Rear Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet 

Building Setback from resi-

dential  

125 feet from property zoned, used, or master-planned for 

residential use  

Open Space  30% minimum  

Minimum Acres 10 acres per development, provided however that an appli-

cant may seek a deviation as set forth in Section 16-3-9 of 

the Leawood Development Ordinance 

Floor Area Ratio .25 maximum 

Height Limit: Up to 65 feet; provided that structures between 50’ and 65’ 

must have an additional 10 feet of setback on all sides for 

each additional foot (or portion of foot) above 50 feet.50 feet 

(Ord. 2367, 11-3-08[m2]) 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER CROSSING – DESIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A REVISED 
FINAL PLAN PERTAINING TO THE MODIFICATIONS TO THE DEVELOPMENTS DESIGN 

GUIDELINES – LOCATED SOUTH OF 119th STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE – CASE 66-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of CASE 66-20, Town Center Crossing – Design Guidelines – request for 
center design guidelines modifications, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by 119 Leawood, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a revised final plan to modify the existing design criteria for the 
Town Center Crossing development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 Allowing for Tenant Finishes to be administratively approved. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 119th Street is Camelot Court Shopping Center, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 South Directly south of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 East Directly east of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 West Directly west of Roe Avenue is Hawthorne Plaza, a retail development within 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

 
PLAN OVERVIEW 

 Application will modify existing design criteria for the Town Center Crossing development. 

 Designating where and how tenant “Trade Dress Zones” may be applied 

 Allowing for Tenant Finishes to be administratively approved. 

 Materials and Signage will follow the approved sign guidelines for the development, along with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Crossing has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body, and will not be altered 
with this application. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 This application is subject to continuance/change dependent on the result of Case 74-20 regarding 
the allowance of planning staff to administratively approve tenant finishes (Stipulation #2).  

 The awning section within the design guidelines state that the tenant shall gain approvals from the 
landlord allowing awnings. These exterior changes shall also be reviewed and approved by City 
Staff, which may be done with an administratively approved tenant finish (Stipulation #4) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve CASE 66-20, Town Center Crossing – Design 
Guidelines – request for center design guideline modification, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to design guideline changes for the Town Center Crossing development, 
zoned SD-CR.   

2. This application is subject to change, depending the result of approval for Case 74-20 regarding 
the allowance of planning staff to administratively approve tenant finishes.  

3. Applicant will continue to work with staff with the incorporation of additional design elements. 
4. Prior to Governing Body review, the applicant shall revise the awning section of the design 

guidelines; stating that awnings shall also be reviewed and approved by the City of Leawood. 
5. All decorative features not specifically identified on the plan, including lighting on the buildings, 

paving patterns, paving colors, plantings within the planter areas, benches, planters, decorative 
details on the building, signs, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Staff. 

6. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
7. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 

all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through seven. 
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

APPROVALS

The approval process consists of the Landlord receiving plans, elevations, and 
other requested materials that conform to Landlord’s criteria requirements. 
Landlord must approve exterior tenant storefront and trade dress in writing 
prior to submission to the City of Leawood.  All plans for these exterior 
improvements must conform to all building code requirements.  City of 
Leawood will confirm Landlord approval review plans and materials to affirm 
the plans are also in general conformance with the Final Site Plan Resolution 
for the Center.  If so, the City of Leawood will process the submitted plans for 
a building permit.  The Tenant improvements for the interior are subject to 
building permit review only.  

TENANT EXTERIOR FINISHES

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged within 
the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord 
supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at 
one or more other locations.  All colors, materials, and finishes used to convey 
tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest quality, craftsmanship, 
elegance, innovation, and creativity and Landlord shall have the sole right to 
require modifications to ensure these finishes are appropriate for the center 
overall and conducive to all other tenants.  If Trade Dress is not applicable, 
Landlord shall have the sole right to require modifications to ensure these 
finishes are appropriate for the center overall, conducive to all other Tenants, 
or otherwise in conformance with this document.  

GENERAL INFORMATION

A. Tenant’s storefront shall be established six inches (6”) back from the face 
of the neutral pier.

B. Landlord will require glass, display windows, or other translucent 
materials within Tenant’s storefront.

C. Tenant shall not be permitted to install any opaque section of storefront 
over a length of six feet (6’) unless specific approval is granted by the Landlord.  

D. Should Tenant’s storefront be located within a curved or radial lease line 
area, it must be kept four inches (4”) back of Tenant’s lease line.

E. Construction that flattens or otherwise alters Tenant’s curved or radial 
lease line is not permitted.

F. Recessed out-swinging doors shall not extend past Tenant’s lease line 

when fully open.

G. Doors may be fully glazed, solid or any combination thereof.

STOREFRONT FINISH TREATMENTS

A. As a guideline, acceptable treatments include:
 
 1. Limestone, marble, granite and other natural stone products  
  carefully articulated and detailed;
 2. Lacquered surfaces in a minimum of four (4) coats;
 3. Metals, excluding laminates; and
 4. Stained or natural finished hardwoods.

B. The following are unacceptable finishes:
 
 1. Painted drywall, wallcovering, undetailed brick, rough   
  stucco, or anything Landlord would consider a non-durable  
  material or lacking in visual quality.
 2. ALL finishes that Landlord deems unacceptable for the center.

C. Glazing:
 
 1. Simulated, applied or reproduced glass in acrylic or Plexiglas is  
  not permitted.
 2. Mirrored glass is not permitted
 3. The use of attractive and high quality clips or brackets that  
  complement the design of store is required.

D. Lighting:
 
 1. Tenant shall not install pulsating or blinking, strobe, neon, or  
  otherwise an animated illumination.  

EXTERIOR AWNINGS

Overall, awnings are not required.  However, creative awnings at tenant 
entrances are encouraged which can be fabric or other materials approved 
by the Landlord.  Awnings are provided and installed by the Tenant as a 
part of the Tenant’s improvement work.  Awning design, colors, and finishes 
are subject to Landlord approval.  Awnings may be required by Landlord to 
convey a consistent architectural vocabulary at entrances and storefronts.

LANDLORD EXTERIOR MATERIALS

Exterior finishes outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones shall not be altered 
by Tenant without prior approval by Landlord.  Modifications to the building 
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outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones are subject to Planning and Zoning 
approval by the City of Leawood.  Landlord will consider modifications to 
ensure tenant visibility, alignment with tenant trade dress needs, and quality 
of the modifications.  Proposed modifications should not significantly modify 
the overall architectural vocabulary of the center, however changes will be 
encouraged and supported by Landlord if those modifications suggest quality, 
craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, creativity, and general compatibility with 
the center.



TOWN CENTER CROSSING
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1 ELEVATION 1 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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2 ELEVATION 2 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

AREA HAS A SECOND LEVEL
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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4 ELEVATION 4 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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5 ELEVATION 5 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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6 ELEVATION 6 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

Designates storefront 
behind, excludes Landlord 
controlled brick column
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OUTPARCEL TENANT DESIGN
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged 
within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as 
Landlord supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s 
branding at one or more locations.

Outparcel tenants are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all exterior 
facing facades with the exception that they follow the Landlord’s Exterior 
Finishes Guidelines.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

N
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STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
The unique characteristics and quality Tenant mix of Town Center Crossing calls for 
bold, dynamic storefronts. Critical to the design integrity and success of the 
shopping center’s image are the individual contributions of each Tenant’s store. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – DESIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A REVISED 
FINAL PLAN PERTAINING TO THE MODIFICATIONS TO THE DEVELOPMENTS DESIGN 

GUIDELINES – LOCATED NORTH 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVENUE – CASE 67-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of CASE 67-20, Town Center Plaza – Design Guidelines – request for center 
design guideline modification, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a revised final plan to modify the existing design criteria for the 
Town Center Plaza development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 Allowing for Tenant Finishes to be administratively approved. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Parkway Plaza, zoned MXD (Mixed Use District), 
Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and the Johnson 
County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Apartment Residential District, previous 
LDO) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is the City of Overland Park, zoned R-1 (Residential). 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue is the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial 
Office) 

 
PLAN OVERVIEW 

 Application will modify existing design criteria for the Town Center Plaza development. 

 Designating where and how tenant “Trade Dress Zones” may be applied 

 Allowing for Tenant Finishes to be administratively approved. 

 Materials and Signage will follow the approved sign guidelines of the development, along with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 The design guidelines provided by the applicant does not include out-lots not owned by the applicant.  
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Plaza has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body, and will not be altered with 
this application. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 Staff is not supportive of changing the Design Guidelines as the current application does not 
include the entire development, creating two sets of Design Guidelines for the same development. 
All properties need to be shown on the updated plan (Stipulation #2).   

 The application is subject to continuance/change dependent on the result of Case 74-20 regarding 
the allowance of planning staff to administratively approve tenant finishes (Stipulation #3) 

 The awning section within the design guidelines state that the tenant shall gain approvals from the 
landlord allowing awnings. These exterior changes shall also be reviewed and approved by City 
Staff, which may be done with an administratively approved tenant finish (Stipulation #4) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve CASE 67-20, Town Center Plaza – Design 
Guidelines – request for center design guideline modification, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to design guideline changes for the Town Center Plaza development, zoned 
SD-CR. 

2. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant shall include the entire development, 
including outparcels and properties not owned by the applicant to also be part of the updated 
design guidelines. 

3. This application is subject to change, depending the result of approval for Case 74-20 regarding 
the allowance of planning staff to administratively approve tenant finishes.  

4. Prior to Governing Body, the applicant will revise awning section; stating that awnings will be 
approved by the City of Leawood. 

5. Applicant will continue to work with staff with the incorporation of additional design elements. 



3 

6. All decorative features not specifically identified on the plan, including lighting on the buildings, 
paving patterns, paving colors, plantings within the planter areas, benches, planters, decorative 
details on the building, signs, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Staff prior to 
building permit. 

7. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
8. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 

all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through eight. 

 



 TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN CRITERIA - PLAZA

ORIGINAL SUBMISSION: JULY 21, 2020

REVISED SUBMISSION: AUGUST 07, 2020



CONTENTS

STOREFRONT DESIGN EXHIBITS

LANDLORD PIER CONDITIONS

OUTPARCEL TENANT DESIGN

STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

5-8

9-13

14

15

2-3

TOWN CENTER PLAZA

16

ADJECENTLY OWNED TENANTS

MAJOR TENANT DESIGN EXHIBIT



2AUG.07.2020 TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

APPROVALS

The approval process consists of the Landlord receiving plans, elevations, and 
other requested materials that conform to Landlord’s criteria requirements. 
Landlord must approve exterior tenant storefront and trade dress in writing 
prior to submission to the City of Leawood.  All plans for these exterior 
improvements must conform to all building code requirements. City of 
Leawood will confirm Landlord approval review plans and materials to affirm 
the plans are also in general conformance with the Final Site Plan Resolution 
for the Center.  If so, the City of Leawood will process the submitted plans for 
a building permit.  The Tenant improvements for the interior are subject to 
building permit review only.  

TENANT EXTERIOR FINISHES

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged within 
the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord 
supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at 
one or more other locations.  All colors, materials, and finishes used to convey 
tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest quality, craftsmanship, 
elegance, innovation, and creativity and Landlord shall have the sole right to 
require modifications to ensure these finishes are appropriate for the center 
overall and conducive to all other tenants.  If Trade Dress is not applicable, 
Landlord shall have the sole right to require modifications to ensure these 
finishes are appropriate for the center overall, conducive to all other Tenants, 
or otherwise in conformance with this document.  

GENERAL INFORMATION

A. Tenant’s storefront shall be established six inches (6”) back from the face 
of the neutral pier.

B. Landlord will require glass, display windows, or other translucent 
materials within Tenant’s storefront.

C. Tenant shall not be permitted to install any opaque section of storefront 
over a length of six feet (6’) unless specific approval is granted by the Landlord.  

D. Should Tenant’s storefront be located within a curved or radial lease line 
area, it must be kept four inches (4”) back of Tenant’s lease line.

E. Construction that flattens or otherwise alters Tenant’s curved or radial 
lease line is not permitted.

F. Recessed out-swinging doors shall not extend past Tenant’s lease line 

when fully open.

G. Doors may be fully glazed, solid or any combination thereof.

STOREFRONT FINISH TREATMENTS

A. As a guideline, acceptable treatments include:
 
 1. Limestone, marble, granite and other natural stone products  
  carefully articulated and detailed;
 2. Lacquered surfaces in a minimum of four (4) coats;
 3. Metals, excluding laminates; and
 4. Stained or natural finished hardwoods.

B. The following are unacceptable finishes:
 
 1. Painted drywall, wallcovering, undetailed brick, rough   
  stucco, or anything Landlord would consider a non-durable  
  material or lacking in visual quality.
 2. ALL finishes that Landlord deems unacceptable for the center.

C. Glazing:
 
 1. Simulated, applied or reproduced glass in acrylic or Plexiglas is  
  not permitted.
 2. Mirrored glass is not permitted
 3. The use of attractive and high quality clips or brackets that  
  complement the design of store is required.

D. Lighting:
 
 1. Tenant shall not install pulsating or blinking, strobe, neon, or  
  otherwise an animated illumination.  

EXTERIOR AWNINGS

Overall, awnings are not required.  However, creative awnings at tenant 
entrances are encouraged which can be fabric or other materials approved 
by the Landlord.  Awnings are provided and installed by the Tenant as a 
part of the Tenant’s improvement work.  Awning design, colors, and finishes 
are subject to Landlord approval.  Awnings may be required by Landlord to 
convey a consistent architectural vocabulary at entrances and storefronts.

LANDLORD EXTERIOR MATERIALS

Exterior finishes outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones shall not be altered 
by Tenant without prior approval by Landlord.  Modifications to the building 
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outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones are subject to Planning and Zoning 
approval by the City of Leawood. Landlord will consider modifications to 
ensure tenant visibility, alignment with tenant trade dress needs, and quality 
of the modifications.  Proposed modifications should not significantly modify 
the overall architectural vocabulary of the center, however changes will be 
encouraged and supported by Landlord if those modifications suggest quality, 
craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, creativity, and general compatibility with 
the center.
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IN-LINE TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN 
Tenant’s are encouraged to maximize their storefront height to 
increase their presence. Tenant storefront design is to be reviewed 
and approved by Landlord per the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information 
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IN-LINE TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN CONT. 
Tenant’s are encouraged to maximize their storefront height to 
increase their presence. Tenant storefront design is to be reviewed 
and approved by Landlord per the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information 
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SPECIALTY IN-LINE TENANT 
STOREFRONT DESIGN

Specialty In-Line Tenants, are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all 
exterior facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s criteria 
requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE
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PLAZA STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
Exciting and unique storefronts, merchandising designs and signage create a shopping 
and entertaining environment that attracts customers. Tenants are encouraged to create 
innovative and dramatic storefronts, interiors and signage compatible with the overall 
design quality of Town Center Plaza/Crossing. 
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STOREFRONT PIERS
At the Tenant’s storefront leaseline there are 4 conditions architectural piers that 
each Tenant must observe and abide by the guidelines stated in this criteria.   
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TENANT SPACE
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 1

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that occur in line 
with a Tenant demising wall and are considered part of the architecture of 
the building. 

Condition 1 piers are NOT to be modified by tenants and must remain as is. 
Tenant storefront finishes are to terminate in a clean finished manner into 
Landlord piers.
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REFERENCE IMAGE
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 2

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that are connected by 
an architectural header/bridge element to the exterior colonade columns. 

Condition 2 piers are NOT to be modified by tenants and must remain as is. 
Tenant storefront finishes are to terminate in a clean finished manner into 
Landlord piers.
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REFERENCE IMAGE
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 3

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that are part of an 
architectural corner/sidewall.

Condition 3 piers can be modified by tenants. Tenants may incorporate finishes 
and signage per Landlord approval.

LE
A

SE
 L

IN
E

LE
A

SE
 L

IN
E

LEASE LINE

3

SECTION

LE
A

SE
 L

IN
E

V
A

R
IE

S
T

E
N

A
N

T
 S

T
O

R
E

FR
O

N
T

V
A

R
IE

S
T

E
N

A
N

T
 S

T
O

R
E

FR
O

N
T

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED PIER



13AUG.07.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

PLAN REFERENCE IMAGE
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 4

Pier of brick or EIFS construction that exists along the Tenant leaseline and 
is not connected architecturally to the exterior colonade. A majority of the 
time the pier is a cladding around a structural column but not in every 
instance.  Tenant may modify the cladding but must leave structural column 
as is. All conditions to be verified in field.

Condition 4 piers can be removed / modified by Tenants to achieve a 
continuous storefont design. This condition is subject to Landlord approval.

Possible structural column
(Verify condition in field)
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N

OUTPARCEL TENANT DESIGN
TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

Exterior finishes reflective of Tenant’s national branding are encouraged 
within the Tenant Trade Dress Zone.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as 
Landlord supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s 
branding at one or more locations.

Outparcel Tenants are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all exterior 
facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
The unique characteristics and quality Tenant mix of Town Center Crossing calls for 
bold, dynamic storefronts. Critical to the design integrity and success of the 
shopping center’s image are the individual contributions of each Tenant’s store. 
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MAJOR TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN

Major Tenants, 50,000 sf and above, are allowed to express their Trade 
Dress on all exterior facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s 
criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of 
Storefront Design Criteria – Reference Only

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA– FIRST ASCENT (HEALTH CLUB) – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAN– LOCATED NORTH OR 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVE 

CASE 64-20             **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 64-20 Town Center Plaza – First Ascent – request for a Revised 
Preliminary Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 

 The architect is Mark Poltorek with RDL Architects. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a revised Preliminary Plan for removal of five existing tenant 
spaces, and will construct a Rock Climbing Health Club (24,719 sq. ft.), on the eastern/north side end 
of the main retail center of Town Center Crossing, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Parkway Plaza, zoned MXD (Mixed Use District), 
Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and the Johnson 
County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Apartment Residential District, previous 
LDO) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is the City of Overland Park, zoned R-1 (Residential). 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue is the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial 
Office) 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 Proposal calls for a 24,719 sq. ft. of construction for a Health Club 

 Located on the eastern/north side end of the main retail center of Town Center Crossing. 

 Removal of five existing tenant spaces, and will construct a 64’ tall Rock Climbing Health Club. 

 Existing parking, sidewalks, landscaping will remain with this project. 

 Existing archway found on Cedar Street, between site and Bravo restaurant will be removed. 

 Existing archway at the entrance of service area will be removed. 
 
ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant has provided preliminary elevations for proposed building. Elevations are reviewed and 
approved at the time of final site plan application. 

 Building is proposed to be 64’ in height. 

 Insulated concrete panels in colors; Pediment, Alabaster, Crushed Ice, and Acier, along with insulated 
metal panels make up the majority of the exterior facade. 

 Large windows constructed of 1” low “E” insulated glass, along the north/west façade, allow for a look 
inside to the rock climbing equipment/walls, south/east façade do not include windows. 

 Metal composite canopy in color Osage Orange, provide an accent above the entry/exit doors 

 Aluminum storefront system to match façade. 
  
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the SD-CR Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Side Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Interior Property Line 10’ 10’ Complies 

Rear Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Height 50’ 65’ Does not Comply 
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Signage for First Ascent will be approved administratively through a separate application. 

 Town Center Plaza has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 No lighting is proposed with the Preliminary Plan. 
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LANDSCAPING 

 Existing landscaping will remain in place. 

 No additional changes to the landscaping are proposed. 
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 12, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are attached. 
 
IMPACT FEES: 

Park Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the building permit in the amount 
of $0.15 per sq. of building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

Public Art Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to building permit in the amount of 
$0.15 per sq. of building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 

The area is characterized by a major arterial 117th Street is Parkway Plaza, zoned MXD (Mixed Use 
District); major arterial 119th Street is the City of Overland Park, zoned R-1 (Residential); major arterial 
Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail); major arterial Nall Avenue is 
the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial Office) 
 

The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Due to the mix of uses within the surrounding area and the fact that the property is adjacent to 
two major arterial and collector streets, the property is suitable for a health club. 

 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

Although the site is suitable for a health club, stipulations are necessary to ensure a high 
quality project that fits with the surrounding uses. 
  

The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 

Denial of the application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety, or welfare. The 
addition of a health club will increase help to promote health, safety, and will increase the welfare of 
residents. 

 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 

The proposed application conforms to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood. 
 
STAFF COMMENT: 

 This application is subject to continuance/change dependent on the result of Case 75-20 regarding 
height tolerance within the SD-CR zoning district (Stipulation #2).  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 64-20, Town Center Plaza – First Ascent – 
request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to 24,719 sq. ft. of construction for a Health Club 
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2. This application is subject to change, depending the result of approval for Case 75-20 regarding 
height tolerance within the SD-CR zoning district.  

3. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Plaza. 
4. The applicant shall be responsible for: 

 A park impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area is required 
prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be ($.15 x 24.719 = 
$3,707.85). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required.  Approval of the design 
and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, 
and be approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant 
may pay a public art impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area 
prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $3,707.85 ($.15 X 
24,719). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

5. Materials used within the project must meet the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
6. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access 

routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular 
paving material to match existing crosswalks within the Town Center Plaza development. 

7. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 
8. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 

equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the 
building and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment 
compatible with the building structure. 

9. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which 
is compatible with the building architecture. The height of the screen must be at least as tall as the 
utilities being screened.   

10. All decorative features not specifically identified on the plan, including lighting on the buildings, 
paving patterns, paving colors, plantings within the planter areas, benches, planters, decorative 
details on the building, signs, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Staff prior to 
building permit. 

11. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
12. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a) All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
b) All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
c) Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
d) All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
e) A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted 

prior to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved 
landscape plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry.   

13. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
14. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
15. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun 

or if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may 
request a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City 
Council may grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the 
developer. 

16. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
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17. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect 
except to the extent expressly modified herein. 

18. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 
all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through eighteen. 

 



 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Town Center Plaza First Ascent 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections or recommendations on Case 64-20 at this 

time. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 

 

 

 



 

74474340.1 

Town Center Plaza – First Ascent PDP August 12, 2020 Interact Meeting    Attendance: Stephen Harris – Washington Prime Group Starr Korner – Washington Prime Group Jacqueline Shrum – Property Manager Jon Shepherd – First Ascent John Petersen/Amy Grant, Polsinelli PC  This meeting was held via Zoom and began at 6:00 p.m.  At 6:15 p.m. the meeting was concluded as none of the invitees attended the meeting.    
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1. The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on records of the The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on records of the various utility companies, and where possible, measurements taken in the field. The information is not to be relied on as being exact or complete.  The contractor must call the appropriate utility companies at least 48 hours before any excavation to request exact field location of utilities. It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to coordinate with and relocate &/or remove all existing utilities which conflict with the proposed improvements shown on the plans.  2. The construction of storm sewers on this project shall conform to the requirements of the City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. The construction of storm sewers on this project shall conform to the requirements of the City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. 3. The contractor shall field verify the exact location and elevation of the existing storm sewer lines and the existing  elevation at locations where the The contractor shall field verify the exact location and elevation of the existing storm sewer lines and the existing  elevation at locations where the proposed storm sewer collects or releases to existing ground.  If discrepancies are encountered from the information shown on the plans, the contractor shall contact the design engineer. No pipes shall be laid until direction is received from the design engineer. 4. It will be the contractors responsibility to field adjust the top of all manholes and boxes as necessary to match the  grade of the adjacent area.   It will be the contractors responsibility to field adjust the top of all manholes and boxes as necessary to match the  grade of the adjacent area.   Tops of existing manholes shall be raised as necessary to be flush with proposed pavement elevations, and to be 6-inches above finished ground elevations in non-paved areas.  No separate or additional compensation will be made to the contractor for making final adjustments to the manholes and boxes.  5. Inlet locations, horizontal pipe information and vertical pipe information is shown to the center of the structure.   Deflection angles shown for storm Inlet locations, horizontal pipe information and vertical pipe information is shown to the center of the structure.   Deflection angles shown for storm sewer pipes are measured from the center of curb inlets and manholes.  The  contractor shall adjust the horizontal location of the pipes to go to the face of the boxes.  All roof drains shall be connected to storm sewer structures.  Provide cleanouts on roof drain lines at 100' max. Spacing and at all bend points.  Do not connect roof drains directly to storm sewer pipe.  6. The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all fire and domestic water lines, meters, backflow  devices, pits, valves and all The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all fire and domestic water lines, meters, backflow  devices, pits, valves and all other incidentals required for a complete operable fire protection and domestic water system.  All costs associated with the complete water system for the buildings shall be the responsibility of the contractor.  All work shall conform to the requirements of City.     City.     7. The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all sanitary sewer service lines from the buildings  to the public line. All work shall The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all sanitary sewer service lines from the buildings  to the public line. All work shall conform to the requirements of the City and Johnson County Unified Wastewater District. City and Johnson County Unified Wastewater District. 8. The contractor will be responsible for securing all permits, bonds and insurance required by the contract documents, City, and all other governing The contractor will be responsible for securing all permits, bonds and insurance required by the contract documents, City, and all other governing City, and all other governing , and all other governing agencies (including local, county, state and  federal authorities) having jurisdiction over the work proposed by these construction documents.  The cost  for all  permits bonds and insurance shall be the contractors responsibility and shall be included in the bid for the work.   9. By the use of these construction documents the contractor hereby agrees that he/she shall be solely responsible for  the safety of the construction By the use of these construction documents the contractor hereby agrees that he/she shall be solely responsible for  the safety of the construction workers and the public. The contractor agrees to hold the engineer and owner harmless for any and all injuries, claims, losses or damages related to the project.    10. The Contractor shall be responsible for furnishing all materials, tools and equipment and installation of electrical  power, telephone and gas service The Contractor shall be responsible for furnishing all materials, tools and equipment and installation of electrical  power, telephone and gas service from a point of connection from the public utility lines to the building structures.   This will include all conduits, service lines, meters, concrete pads and all other incidentals required for a complete  and operational system as required by the owner and the public utilities.  Refer to building plans for exact tie-in locations of all utilities.  Contractor shall verify connection points prior to installation of utility line.   11. All fill material is to be in place, compacted, and consolidated before installation of proposed utilities.  On-site geotechnical engineer shall provide All fill material is to be in place, compacted, and consolidated before installation of proposed utilities.  On-site geotechnical engineer shall provide written confirmation that this requirement has been met and that utilities may proceed in the fill areas.  All utilities are to be placed in trench conditions.  12. Contractor shall notify the utility authorities inspectors 48 hours before connecting to any existing line.  Contractor shall notify the utility authorities inspectors 48 hours before connecting to any existing line.  13. Water lines shall be as follows (unless otherwise shown on plans):  Water lines shall be as follows (unless otherwise shown on plans):  A.  Pipe sizes less than 3-inches that are installed below grade and outside building shall comply with the following: 1. Seamless Copper Tubing:  Type "K" soft copper, ASTM B88. 2. Fittings: Wrought copper (95_5 Tin Antimony solder joint), ASME B 16.22. B. Pipe sizes 3-inches Through 48-inches that are installed below grade and outside building shall comply with one of the following: 1. Gray Cast Iron Water Pipe:  ANSI A21.6, thickness class 52. a. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. b. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. c. Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 2. Ductile Iron Water Pipe:  AWWA C151, thickness class 50. a. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. b. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. c. Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 3. Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Water Pipe:  Pipe, AWWA C900, rated DR 18 (Class 150), continually marked as required.   a. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477 for smaller pipes. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477 for smaller pipes. b. Pipe joints:  Integrally molded bell ends, ASTM D3139. Pipe joints:  Integrally molded bell ends, ASTM D3139. c. Trace wire: Magnetic detectable conductor, (#12 Copper) brightly colored plastic covering imprinted with “Water Service” in large letters Trace wire: Magnetic detectable conductor, (#12 Copper) brightly colored plastic covering imprinted with “Water Service” in large letters Water Service” in large letters  in large letters 14. Minimum trench width shall be 2 feet.  Minimum trench width shall be 2 feet.  15. Contractor shall maintain a minimum of 42" cover on all waterlines.  All water line joints are to be mechanical joints with thrust blocking as called Contractor shall maintain a minimum of 42" cover on all waterlines.  All water line joints are to be mechanical joints with thrust blocking as called out in specifications and construction plans.  Water mains and service lines shall be constructed in accordance to waterone's specifications for commercial services. 16. All waterlines shall be kept min. ten (10') apart (parallel) from sanitary sewer lines or manholes.  Or when crossing, an 24" vertical clearance All waterlines shall be kept min. ten (10') apart (parallel) from sanitary sewer lines or manholes.  Or when crossing, an 24" vertical clearance (outside edge of pipe to outside edge of pipe) of the water line above the sewer line is required.  17. Sanitary conflicts will be resolved prior to permit issuance. Sanitary conflicts will be resolved prior to permit issuance. 18. In the event of a vertical conflict between waterlines, sanitary lines, storm lines and gas lines (existing and proposed), the sanitary line shall be In the event of a vertical conflict between waterlines, sanitary lines, storm lines and gas lines (existing and proposed), the sanitary line shall be ductile iron pipe with mechanical joints at least 10 feet on both sides of crossing (or encased in concrete this same distance), the waterline shall have mechanical joints with appropriate thrust blocking as required to provide a minimum of 24" clearance. Meeting requirements of ANSI A21.10 or ANSI 21.11 (AWWA C-151) (CLASS 50).  19. All underground storm, sanitary, water and other utility lines shall be installed, inspected and approved before backfilling.  Failure to have inspection All underground storm, sanitary, water and other utility lines shall be installed, inspected and approved before backfilling.  Failure to have inspection approval prior to backfill will constitute rejection of work. 20. All necessary inspections and/or certifications required by codes and/or utility service companies shall be  performed prior to announced building All necessary inspections and/or certifications required by codes and/or utility service companies shall be  performed prior to announced building possession and the  final connection of service. Contractor shall coordinate with all utility companies for installation requirements and specifications.  21. Refer to building plans for site lighting electrical plan, irrigation, parking lot security system and associated conduit requirements.  Coordinate with Refer to building plans for site lighting electrical plan, irrigation, parking lot security system and associated conduit requirements.  Coordinate with Owner that all required conduits are in place & tested prior to paving. 22. When a building utility connection from site utilities leading up to the building cannot be made immediately, temporarily mark all such site utility When a building utility connection from site utilities leading up to the building cannot be made immediately, temporarily mark all such site utility terminations. 23. Refer to the building plans for site lighting electrical requirements, including conduits, pole bases, pull boxes, etc.Refer to the building plans for site lighting electrical requirements, including conduits, pole bases, pull boxes, etc.
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25th, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14th, 2020 
 

PLAZA POINTE – GUIDEPOST MONTESSORI – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE 
PERMIT, PRELIMINARY PLAN, AND FINAL PLAN 

LOCATED SOUTH OF 135TH STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVENUE 
CASE 68-20             **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 68-20 Plaza Pointe, Guidepost Montessori – request for approval of a 
Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 

APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Chris Horney with Murphy Real Estate Services. 

 The property is owned by Mathews Real Estate Partnership LP. 

 The architect is Eric Pepa with Allen+Pepa Architects. 
 

REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, 
including removal of 16 parking spaces with the addition of a playground and equipment, on the 
southeast corner the Plaza Pointe development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 No other exterior changes to the building are proposed to be made with this application. 
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 

LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 135th Street is Parkway Plaza Shopping Center, zoned MXD (Mixed 
Use Development). 

 South Directly south of 137th Street is Church of the Resurrection, zoned AG (Agricultural). 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Villaggio at Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Briar Street is Cornerstone of Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail). 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The applicant proposes to remove 16 parking spaces and the construction of two playgrounds. 

 Applicant will provide a direct sidewalk connection to Roe Ave. 

 The playground equipment located on the east side of the building will be constructed of wooden logs 
adhering to LDO requirements. 

 The playground will be enclosed by a Vinyl (wood look) fence with shade devices provided over the 
play equipment. 

 
BULK REGULATIONS 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the SD-CR Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Side Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Interior Property Line 10’ 10’ Complies 

Rear Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 
 
PARKING 

 Parking will be reduced 8 spaces with the addition of the playground. 

 Additional parking spaces will be added on west side of the building and on the north side by reducing 
the parking lot islands in size. 

 Site will include 28 parking spaces, this accounts for 1.5 spaces per employee on a maximum shift. 
 

LANDSCAPING  

 Any landscaping that is removed within the project site will be replaced within the property. 

 Shade/ Ornamental Trees, Shrubs, and perennials will all be replanted along the property line. 
 
ELEVATIONS:   

 Building was previously occupied by Carpet Corner. 

 The exterior façade of the building will not be altered, including brick masonry. 

 No other changes to the façade of the building are proposed with the plan.  
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Signage for Guidepost Montessori will be approved administratively through a separate application. 

 Plaza Pointe has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body. 
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LIGHTING: 

 There are no proposed changes to lighting with this application.   
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 06, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are attached. 
 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 

The area is characterized by a major arterial street (135th); parkway plaza zoned Mixed use to the 
North, Church of the Resurrection zoned AG to the south, a major arterial (Nall); and the City of 
Overland Park to the west, a major arterial street (Roe); Villaggio a mixed use development to the east. 
 

The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Commercial properties surround the subject site. The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for 
a daycare within the commercial development. The subject property is suitable for the restricted uses.  

 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

The project is suitable to this site, but the required Special Use Permit and stipulations recommended 
for approval with this application are necessary to ensure a high quality development.   

  
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 

Denial of this application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare because 
this project does not propose a disruptive use or any changes to the site. 

 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 

The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as retail.  The zoning is SD-CR.  The use is allowed 
with a Special Use Permit. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 68-20, Plaza Pointe – Guidepost Montissori – 
request for approval of a Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, with the following 
stipulations: 

1. The project is limited Plaza Pointe, Guidepost Montessori and the construction of two playgrounds. 
2. At the time of Governing Body, open area will consist of 30% living material; and shown on plans. 
3. All playground equipment shall meet all ASTM (American Society for Testing and Material) 1487 

and CPSC (U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission) current standards. 
4. Per Section 16-4-3.6 of the Leawood Development Ordinance, this Special Use Permit shall have 

a duration of twenty (20) years from approval by the Governing Body, after which shall terminate 
if no new Special Use Permit is applied for and granted by the City of Leawood Governing Body. 

5. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access 
routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular 
paving material to match existing crosswalks within the Plaza Pointe development. 

6. All decorative features not specifically identified on the plan, including lighting on the buildings, 
paving patterns, paving colors, plantings within the planter areas, benches, planters, decorative 
details on the building, signs, etc. shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning Staff prior to 
building permit. 
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7. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
8. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
c. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
d. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
e. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

9. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior 
to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape 
plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

10. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
11. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
12. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the 

public works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior 
to issuance of a building permit. 

13. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun 
or if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may 
request a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City 
Council may grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the 
developer. 

14. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
15. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect 

except to the extent expressly modified herein. 
16. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 

all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through sixteen. 

 







 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Plaza Pointe- Guideport Montessori 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections or recommendations on Case 68-20 at this 

time. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 

 

 

 



MEETING MINUTES 

 

Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 6:00 PM-7:00 PM 

Location:  Zoom Meeting 

Presenters: Chris Horney & Higher Ground Education Staffs 

Subject: Request a special use application for a daycare facility at 4701 W 136th Leawood, Kansas; 

commonly known as Carpet Corner building  

 

ATTENDEES 

Murphy Real Estate Service 

Chris Horney, Kim Burrell, Bryan Li 

Higher Ground Education 

Alma Reza, Aaron Bailey, Jocelyn Scotty 

Neighborhood Guests 

Brad Tally (Owner of Tally J Brad DDS), Arjun & Sudha (Owner of Primrose School of Leawood) 

 

Part 1 – INTRODUCTION 

Chris Horney started the discussion by introducing himself and parties involved in this transaction, and 

then stated that the purpose of the meeting is to request special use permit for the building and wanted to 

generate feedbacks from the neighborhood.  He further discussed high levels of the project including:  

 The special use will be a daycare facility with maximum 134 student’s capacity and 27 parking 

spaces based on city’s zoning requirement. 

 The building exterior will stay the same and a green space (~5,000 SF) will be added for children 

uses on the east of the building.  

 The development team believed that the layout presented in the application has the least impact 

on the neighborhood after considering operational use and traffic flows.  

 

Higher Ground Education team then joined and discussed school operation related topics including: 

 The capacity initially with be limited to about 40 students, and gradually to achieve total of 134 

students over four years period.  

 The building will have total 7 classrooms and the operator intends to open 4 classrooms first and 

grow overtime based on demand. 

 Pick up and drop off time is throughout the day between 7AM-7PM, and the peak hours are 

7AM-9AM and 4PM-6 PM. Parents would bring kids in and out when pick up and drop off.  

 Operation hour is between 7AM-6PM, and total employee will be 18 people maximum 

 



Part 2 - Q&A  

Q: Has the developer been to plan commission meeting? 

A: No yet, given that there is step by step process, but the developer has been working with city 

administrators and planners for two months and received some feedbacks regarding park compliance 

and congestion in which will be addressed in the process. The feedback includes comply with parking 

requirement and congestion and add sidewalk from our property on to road which we are exploring.  

 

Q: What is the daycare company background, and if this is the first daycare in this market? 

A: Headquartered in Orange County, CA, Higher Grounded Education has opened 54 schools across 

the nation as June 30, 2020, and this will be the first venture for the company, if everything goes as 

planned. More information about school on the link. https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-

scotty  

 

Q: Is the parking comply with city? How is the inflow and outflow?  

A:  Per city requirement, the parking is 1.5 per employee at max shift, in this case the max shift is 18 

people hence 27 parking spaces. The kids will come from outside or front door and have direct access 

into playground area so will be limited exposure on the road. It will have some traffic given this is an 

urban environment. We will be cautious about where to put curb and fence and make sure kids are 

safe.  

 

Q: What improvements will be on the building? Landscape? 

A: The development team will clean up the building, do the landscape, high-quality finishes, etc.  In 

general, this this will be a bit higher end class daycare in the market yet still affordable and accessible 

to families.   

 

Q: What is project timeline and expect construction cross access during the construction 

process? 

A:  If everything goes well, it will take next 6-8 months to get through the full zoning process and 

design and then do the physical work.  Give the most work will be interior, the team expect minimal 

construction noise or vibration, and will try to minimize any unharmonious work for the 

neighborhood.  The end goal is to be a good neighbor for the community. 

 

Q: Who will operate the daycare? 

A:  Higher Ground has administrative team that runs all the school locations, and the company will 

provide support to administrative team who is experienced in childcare to support any school 

operation.  

 

Q: Next step and schedule? 

A: The team will join plan commission meeting on August 25th, 2020. If have any comments, please 

reach out to the team members or staffs from the city of Leawood we contacted below.    

Grant D Lang  City Planer glang@leawood.org 

Richard Sanchez  City Planer richards@leawood.org  

 

 

https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-scotty
https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-scotty
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From: Arjun Amaran <arjun.amaran@primroseleawood.com> 

Sent: Monday, August 17, 2020 4:52 PM 

To: Grant Lang; Brad Tally; Erin Dean; Sudha Amaran 

Subject: Guidepost Montessori Project Concerns 

Attachments: CityOfLeawood-GuidepostMontessori-Concerns.pdf; Plaza Pointe 

Bylaws.pdf; 9121 868.pdf; 8007 595.pdf; 6824 51.pdf; Six hospitalized 

after car crashes into fence of Texas day care.pdf 

 

Grant - As we discussed, I am attaching concerns about the Guidepost Montessori Project.    I 

have discussed this with Dr. Brad Talley who owns the Dental office and Erin Davis who owns 

Sydney Pet and Spa and they share these concerns.   Both of them are directly to the south of this 

project.       

 

Please let me know how we can be at the Planning Commission meeting to express our concerns 

to the committee members.     

 

Thank You, 

 

Arjun Amaran 

Primrose School of Leawood 

913-488-3841 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



Below are some issues we see with the Guidepost Montessori School Project…..  
 
The number of parking spaces, shared easements, and landscaping is a value add for the 
Plaza Pointe community.  All the buildings in Plaza Pointe had to abide by these rules 
when our buildings were constructed.  There is even a Common Area Easement and a 
Cross Parking Easement that was agreed to.  These rules do protect our property value. 
If this new project is not held to the same standards, they are reducing the value of the 
other properties in Plaza Pointe.  We hope that the City of Leawood takes all of this in 
consideration before they consider approving a Special Use Permit for this project. 

 
1.) Parking - They are removing many parking spots.  We count a reduction of at least 11 
parking spots on the East side.   When the buildings were built in Plaza Pointe there was 
a Cross Parking Easement. A copy of these agreements is attached - Section 6.2.     It 
was signed by the owner of the Carpet Corner building.  The agreement means that all 
owners have the right to use the parking spots.    They are removing 11 spots that other 
property owners could be using. Then when they use up all the spots they could still use 
the neighbors parking spots.   They are using a smaller ratio of parking spots than 
was required when the Plaza Pointe buildings were built.  As a comparison, the 
Primrose School of Leawood has 50 parking spots with a capacity of 178 children. 
Guidepost Montessori will have a capacity of 132 children, but will only have 27 spots. 
We know for a fact looking at their building layout they will need more than 18 staff. They 
will also need more parking for when parents come to pick up and drop off.    If they will 
have vehicles to transport children they will need spots for that as well.    All of this 
additional parking burden will be taken on by the neighboring Plaza Pointe Buildings 
which have this cross parking easement agreement. 
 
2.) Parking and 1.5 Employees at Max Shift.   Guidepost Montssori is basing their 
parking calculations on 18 staff. However they have seven rooms, an office, a kitchen, 
and an infant room.   The seven rooms will require two teachers each for 14 teachers, the 
infant room will require three teachers, the kitchen will require one, and the office will 
require two(Director and an Assistant Director).   That is a total of 20 staff minimum. If any 
of the rooms are changed to infant rooms the minimum will be higher.     At 1.5 parking 
spots per staff they would need a minimum of 30 spots when they have only accounted 
for 27 spots.  
 
3.) Shared Easement Removal - They are removing sidewalk and shared easements for 
Plaza Pointe.   There is a Shared Common Area Easement(Section 6.1). They are 
removing the shared common area between Dr. Tally's building and the Carpet corner 
building. They are also removing the common area sidewalk on the East and North of the 
building.  
 
4.) Fencing - They are putting their fencing right up against the parking lot.    If you look 
at the Primrose School of Leawood, there is a lot of space between fencing and the 
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parking lot. This is for safety and aesthetics.   The Primrose School of Leawood was also 
required to put a wall around all four corners. Anywhere there is a fence there is 
landscaping hiding the playground, There needed to be landscaping to hide the 
playground.  The original owner who built this building, Ken Baude, said the City of 
Leawood was very particular about all of these items before they were given a special use 
permit for the Primrose School of Leawood.   I believe the Leawood Development 
Ordinance requires screening outside of a fence.   16.4.7.6 B) ... The screening wall or 
fence shall be accented with landscaping materials to soften the appearance of the wall or 
fence.  In fact two other childcare centers in Leawood have this.    Please see pictures 
below with descriptions. 
 
5.) Landscaping - They are removing a significant amount of landscaping.     They are 
removing landscaping and easement on the West side of the building to accommodate 
additional parallel parking.  There has been no Parallel parking approved for use in 
any other area of Plaza Pointe. It would be unfair to allow for the removal of landscaping 
and put in parking in that area. That also removed any setback between the building and 
the road. 
 
6.) Safety - There is a huge safety issue with having the fence right up against the 
parking lot without any setbacks or buffers.   Attached is an article about a preschool 
where there wasn't a proper buffer and a car hit the fence and injured several children. 
This was a serious situation that happened a few years ago. One child was critically 
injured and in the hospital for several days as a result of this.   16-4-7.3 C)  Perimeter 
Landscaping Not Adjacent to a Public Right-of-Way: A landscaped setback/buffer 
area is required along all property lines on the periphery of the area covered by the plan, 
other than street frontages. 1.a) Notwithstanding any other provisions relating to yard 
requirements, such landscaped setback/buffer areas shall be a least 10 feet in width 

 
7.) Proposed Sidewalk with Stairs - The plan also calls for a sidewalk that connects to 
Roe on the East side.  I don't think this should be allowed.  This will encourage people to 
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park along Roe and walk to the building.  We don't have anything like this connecting the 
buildings in Plaza Pointe to Roe. 
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The items in Red above are all the parking spots they are removing.  The Items in yellow 
are all of the Easements they are removing.   The item in green shows the amount of 
landscaping required by Plaza Pointe and the City of Leawood at the time of construction 
to have between buildings and the parking lot.  As you can see this new project does not 
allow for space between the parking lot and their building. 
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The above picture in the red circle shows the wall required by the City of Leawood to put 
in place for before the construction of the Primrose School of Leawood.  The wall 
conforms to the same brick used throughout the Plaza Pointe Development.   The yellow 
circle shows the fence and the landscaping right outside the fence.  As you can see you 
can't see the playground from the street.  In the plan they have shown they don't have any 
landscaping between the playground and the parking lot and street.  
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Primrose School of Leawood - In the above picture in the red shows the walls and 
landscaping.  The green arrows show the amount of easement and landscaping 
between the property and the street and parking lot. 
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Kiddie Kollege of Leawood on 134th and Briar.  Notice the Easements and 
setbacks from the Fence/Building and the street/parking marked with green arrows. 
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Primrose School of Leawood - 137th and Linden Ave.   Notice the Easements and 
setbacks from the Fence/Building and the street/parking marked with green arrows. 
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8/17/20, 11:30 AMSix hospitalized after car crashes into fence of Texas day care | Fort Worth Star-Telegram

Page 1 of 2https://www.star-telegram.com/news/local/article176019581.html

Five children, one adult injured as car
crashes into fence of Frisco day care
By Mitch Mitchell September 28, 2017 06:42 PM , Updated October 01,
2017 12:15 AM

Several people reported injured Thursday when a car crashed into a Frisco day care, according to police WFAA

Courtesy

FRISCO

Five children and one adult were taken to the hospital after a car crashed
into a fence at a day care center, according to police.

Police are unsure about the severity of injuries, said Ryan Chandler, a Frisco
police spokesman.

The crash happened about 4:50 p.m. Thursday at the Primrose School of

mailto:mitchmitchell@star-telegram.com
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8/17/20, 11:30 AMSix hospitalized after car crashes into fence of Texas day care | Fort Worth Star-Telegram

Page 2 of 2https://www.star-telegram.com/news/local/article176019581.html

Frisco in the 9100 block of Teel Parkway, Chandler said.

The 17-year-old driver of the vehicle hit the accelerator instead of the brake
pedal, crashing into the gate outside the school, officials told WFAA-TV, a
media partner of the Star-Telegram. The father of the driver told WFAA that
he was sitting in the passenger’s seat when the crash occurred.

"Several kids were either moving into the classroom or out of the classroom,
we're not sure which," Kevin Haines, captain with the Frisco Fire
Department, told WFAA.

Two of the children were taken by air amblance to Children’s Medical Center
in Dallas. Three children and an adult were transported to the hospital by
the Frisco Fire Department.

As of Friday, one child remained in critical condition in the ICU and three
others were admitted overnight to the trauma floor, WFAA reported.

The teen did not appear to be injured, said Sgt. Jeff Inmon, also a Frisco
Police Department spokesman.

The driver was not arrested and no charges have been filed. He was
released after questioning, Inmon said.

Police said the investigation is still ongoing.

https://www.google.com/maps/place/9100+Teel+Pkwy,+Frisco,+TX+75034/@33.1546425,-96.8663229,17z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x864c3bd9711c8d15:0x7ec25bb98a587d7a!8m2!3d33.154638!4d-96.8641342
http://www.wfaa.com/news/local/collin-county/children-hit-at-frisco-daycare-teen-driver-sorry/479418490
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BYLAWS OF 
PLAZA POINTE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 
 

ARTICLE I 
OFFICES 

 
1.1  Name. The name of the corporation is Plaza Pointe Owners Association, Inc. It is 

incorporated under the laws of the State of Kansas as a not-for-profit, non-stock corporation. The 
corporation is the owner’s association referenced in the Declaration (as defined below). 
 

1.2  Location. The principal office of the corporation shall be located in Leawood, Kansas, 
but meetings of members and directors may be held at such other places in Johnson County, 
Kansas as may be designated by the Board of Directors from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE II 
DEFINITIONS 

 
2.1  Association shall mean Plaza Pointe Owners Association, Inc., its successors and 

assigns. 
 

2.2  Subdivision shall mean all of the property which is now or hereafter within the 
jurisdiction of the Association as provided in the Declaration. 
 

2.3  Common Area shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.4  Building Lot shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.5  Owner shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.6  Declaration shall mean that certain Declaration of Easements, Covenants and 
Restrictions for Plaza Pointe recorded on January 16, 2001 in Book 6824 at Page 51 in the Office of 
the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas (the “Register’s Office”), as amended by that 
certain First Amendment to Declaration of Easements, Covenants and Restrictions recorded August 
12, 2002 in Book 8007 at Page 595 in the Register’s Office, and as further amended by that certain 
Second Amendment to Declaration of Easements, Covenants and Restrictions recorded June 20, 
2003 in Book 9121 at Page 868 in the Register’s Office and  any additional declarations as may be 
recorded from time to time with the Register's Office which relate to the Subdivision commonly 
known as "Plaza Pointe" or any other Subdivision under the jurisdiction or coverage of the 
Association from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE III 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
3.1  Membership Generally. Membership in the Association shall be limited to persons or 

entities that are the Owners of any Building Lot which is now or hereafter within the jurisdiction of the 
Association. Persons or entities (other than a contract seller) who hold an interest merely as· 
security for the performance of an obligation shall not be members. Membership shall be 
appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of a Building Lot. 
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3.2  Suspension of Membership. During any period in which a member shall be 
delinquent in the payment of any assessment levied by the Association as provided in the 
Declaration, the voting rights of such member shall be suspended, and the rights of such member to 
receive services provided by the Association may be suspended by the Board of Directors, until such 
assessment has been paid. Such rights of a member may also be suspended by the Board of 
Directors, after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days, for violation of any of 
the rules and regulations established by the Board of Directors governing the use of the Common 
Area in or available to the Subdivision. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
VOTING RIGHTS 

 
4.1  Voting. The Association shall have one class of membership, namely Class A. Each 

Owner of a Building Lot shall be a Class A member. Class A members shall have one (1) vote for 
each square foot of building area contained on the lot. For purposes hereof, the term building area 
shall mean with respect to each building, or structure on an Owner’s Site, the number of square feet 
of floor area at each level or story (including basements and structural mezzanines) lying within the 
exterior faces of exterior walls (except party walls as to which the center line, not the exterior faces, 
shall be used), without deduction for stairways, elevators or escalators, interior walls, columns or 
other construction equipment.Where more than one (1) person holds an interest in a Building Lot, all 
such persons shall be members and the vote for such Building Lot shall be exercised as they may 
determine among themselves; however, the number of votes for such Building Lot shall never 
exceed the number of votes allocated to that Building Lot based upon square footage. 
 

4.2  Representatives. Where a Building Lot is owned by a corporation, partnership or 
other entity, such entity shall designate a person who is entitled to vote respecting such Building Lot 
and to serve, if elected or appointed, as a director of the Association, such designation to be made 
by filing an instrument to that effect with the Association, either by post mail or electronic 
communication. 
 

ARTICLE V 
USE OF COMMON AREA 

 
5.1  Common Area. The Owners of Building Lots within the Subdivision shall have 

the non-exclusive right to the use of all Common Area to the extent not located on any Building 
Lot. 
 

5.2  Rules and Regulations. The Association shall have the right and the power to 
make reasonable rules and regulations which shall govern the use of the Common Area. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
6.1  Number. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors 

composed of five (5) directors. Each director named in the Articles of Incorporation shall hold 
office until the first annual election of directors or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. 
Each individual elected as a director shall serve until the next annual election and until his or her 
successor is duly elected and has commenced his or her term of office or until his or her earlier 
resignation or removal. 
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6.2  Qualification. Each Owner that has designated a director must be and remain a 
member in good standing of the Association in order for such Owner’s designee to be elected 
and remain as a director.  
 

6.3  Removal. Any director may be removed from the Board of Directors, with or 
without cause, by a majority vote of the members of the Association entitled to vote. In the event 
of death, resignation or removal of a director, his or her successor shall be selected by the 
remaining members of the Board of Directors and shall serve for the unexpired term of his or 
her predecessor. 
 

6.4  Compensation. No director shall receive compensation for the service he or she 
may render to the Association as a director. However, any director may be reimbursed for his or 
her reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties. 
 

6.5  Newly Created Directorships. Newly created directorships resulting from any 
increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a majority of the directors then in 
office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, unless it is otherwise 
provided in the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, and the directors so chosen shall hold 
office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified, or 
until their earlier resignation or removal. If there are no directors in office, then an election of 
directors may be held in the manner provided by statute. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
MEETING OF DIRECTORS 

 
7.1  Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held within 

15 days following the annual meeting of the members at such place as may be fixed by the 
Board. 
 

7.2  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held 
without notice and shall be held at such place and time as may be fixed from time to time by the 
Board. 
 

7.3  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at 
such place and time as may be specified by and when called by the president of the Association 
or by any two or more directors. 
 

7.4  Notice of Special Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the place, day and 
hour of a special meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be 
delivered to each director not less than five (5) days before the date of the special meeting, 
either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the person(s) calling the meeting. If mailed, 
such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail 
addressed to the director at his address as it appears on the records of the Association, with 
postage thereon prepaid. Any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be a legal meeting without 
any notice thereof having been given if all directors shall be present. 
 

7.5  Quorum. Unless otherwise required by law, a majority of the total number of 
directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Except as otherwise required 
by law or as provided in Article XVI hereof, every act or decision done or made by a majority of 
the directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as 
the act of the Board of Directors. 
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7.6  Adjournment. If a quorum shall not be present at any such meeting, the directors 

present shall have the power successively to adjourn the meeting, without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, to a specified date. At any such adjourned meeting at which a 
quorum shall be present any business may be transacted which could have been transacted at 
the original session of the meeting. 
 

7.7  Meetings by Conference Telephone or Similar Communications Equipment. 
Members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board, may participate 
in a meeting of the Board or committee by means of conference telephone or similar 
communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each 
other, and participation in a meeting pursuant hereto shall constitute presence in person at such 
meeting. 
 

7.8  Action Taken Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at 
any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting 
if written consent thereto is signed by all members of the Board of Directors or of such 
committee, as the case may be, and such written consent is filed with the minutes of 
proceedings of the Board or committee. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 
 8.1  Nomination. Nomination for election to the Board of Directors may be made in 
writing by any member delivered to the secretary of the Association in advance of the annual 
meeting or from the floor at the annual meeting of the members. 
 
 8.2  Election. Election to the Board of Directors shall be by written ballot or through 
electronic communication. At any such election, the members entitled to vote or their proxies 
may cast, in respect to each vacancy, as many votes as they are entitled to exercise under the 
provisions of Article IV hereof. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be 
elected. Cumulative voting shall not be permitted. 
 
 8.3  Commencement of Term of Office. A director shall be deemed elected at the time 
of his or her election, but he or she shall not be deemed to have commenced his or her term of 
office or to have any of the powers or responsibilities of a director until the time he accepts the 
office of director either by a written or electronic acceptance or by participating in the affairs of 
the Association at a meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
9.1 General Powers.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to: 

 
9.1.1  Scope. Exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority 

vested in or delegated to the Association and not reserved to the membership by other 
provisions of these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation or the Declaration. 

 
9.1.2  Rules and Regulations. Adopt and publish rules and regulations 

governing the use of the Common Area and the personal conduct of the members and 
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their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof; provided, 
however, that the Board of Directors may not, in any event, revoke, limit, restrict, or 
suspend in any way, the right of any Owner to use and enjoy any street for ingress and 
egress. 

 
9.1.3  Employment. Employ (and contract with for such periods of time and on 

such terms as may be deemed appropriate) agents, independent contractors, managers 
and employees, and to prescribe their duties and responsibilities. 

 
9.1.4  Records and Reports. Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts 

and of the corporate affairs of the Association and to present reports thereof to the 
members. 

 
9.1.5  Supervision. Supervise all officers, agents and employees of the 

Association, and see that their duties are properly performed. 
 

9.1.6  Assessments. As more fully provided in the Declaration, provide for the 
levying of the regular assessments against each Building Lot and any special 
assessment against any Building Lot and to take all actions necessary or appropriate to 
collect the same. 

 
9.1.7  Certificates. Issue, or cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand 

by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not an assessment has been paid. A 
reasonable charge may be made by the Association for the issuance of these 
certificates.  

 
9.1.8  Insurance. Procure and maintain public liability insurance, fire and 

extended coverage hazard insurance and other insurance on property owned by the 
Association and maintain officer's and director's liability insurance, all with such 
coverages and in such sums as may be deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors. 

 
9.1.9  Bonding. Cause officers or employees having fiscal responsibility to be 

bonded, as the Board of Directors may deem appropriate. 
 

9.1.10  Maintenance. Cause the Common Area and other areas to be 
maintained as provided in the Declaration. 

 
9.1.11  Committees. Appoint one or more committees. Any such committee shall 

be composed of at least one (1) director and any other individuals as the Board of 
Directors shall designate. Not all members of a committee need be directors unless 
otherwise provided in the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. A quorum of 
any committee so designated by the Board of Directors shall be any number of the 
members designated by the Board of Directors, but that quorum shall not consist of less 
than one-half (1/2) of the total number of members appointed to such committee. The 
Board may designate one (1) or more individuals as alternate members of any 
committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the 
committee.  

 
9.1.12  Performance. Perform all acts and do all things required or permitted to 

be done by the Association by the Declaration or otherwise; and perform all acts and do 
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all things permitted or required of a Board of Directors of a not-for-profit corporation 
under the laws of the State of Kansas. 

 
 9.2 Limitations on Power.  The Board of Directors shall not have the power to take 
any of the following actions without the affirmative vote of the members: 

9.2.1 Indebtedness of Association.  Except for unsecured accounts payable 
incurred in the ordinary course of the business of the Association, borrow money and 
incur indebtedness for purposes of the Association or cause to be executed and 
delivered therefor, in the Association's name, promissory notes, bonds, debentures, 
deeds of trust, mortgages, pledges, hypothecations or other evidences of debt and 
securities therefor; provided, however, in all events, the repayment of any such 
indebtedness shall not be or become the personal obligation of any Owner or any 
director. 

 
9.2.2. Sale or Disposal of Assets.  Except for the disposal or replacement of 

personal property in the ordinary course of the business of the Association, sell, convey 
or otherwise dispose of any assets of the Association. 

 
9.2.3. Loans and Guarantees. Except for obligations evidenced by assessments 

under the Declaration or other accounts receivable in the ordinary course of the 
business of the Association, lend funds or property to any other person or guarantee or 
become a surety of the debts or obligations of any other person. 

 
   

 
 

ARTICLE X 
MEETINGS OF MEMBERS 

 
10.1  Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the members of the Association shall 

be held on the second Tuesday of January of each year or as otherwise scheduled by the 
Board, but within the first 60 days of the year, at such place and time as may be fixed by the 
Board of Directors. If the day for the annual meeting of members is a legal holiday, the meeting 
will be held on the first day following which is not a legal holiday.· At the annual meeting, 
directors shall be elected, reports of the affairs of the Association shall be considered, and any 
other business within the powers of the membership may be transacted. 
 

10.2  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members may be called at any time by 
the president or by a majority of the Board of Directors, or upon written or electronic request of 
members holding at least one-tenth (1/10th) of the votes of the members. 
 

10.3  Place and Notice of Meetings. All meetings of the members shall be held in 
Johnson County, Kansas at such place as may be designated in the notice of the meeting. 
Written or electronic notice of each meeting of the members shall be given by, or at the direction 
of, the person(s) duly calling the meeting, not less than seven (7) days nor more than forty (40) 
days prior to such meeting to each member entitled to vote thereat, addressed to the member's 
address, electronic or physical, last appearing on the books of the Association. Such notice 
shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the 
purpose(s) of the meeting. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when it is deposited in 
the United States mail with postage thereon so addressed to the member. 
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10.4  Quorum. The presence at a meeting, in person or by proxy, of members entitled 
to cast at least a majority of the total votes of the membership on the specific actions shall 
constitute a quorum for any action. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or 
represented at any meeting, the members entitled to vote thereat shall have the power to 
adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at· the meeting, 
until a quorum shall be obtained. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Declaration 
or the Articles of Incorporation or by law, a majority vote of those present at a meeting at which 
a quorum is present shall be necessary to transact any business entitled to be transacted by the 
members. 
 

10.5  Proxies. At all meetings of members, each member may vote in person or by 
proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the secretary of the Association before the 
start of the meeting. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease to be 
effective, if not sooner terminated by its terms or revoked, upon the expiration of eleven (11) 
months from the date of its issuance or upon conveyance by the member of his or her Building 
Lot, whichever event shall occur first. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES 

 
11.1  Enumeration of Offices. The officers of the Association shall be a president, a 

vice-president, a secretary and a treasurer, who shall be elected from among the members of 
the Board of Directors, and such other officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time 
elect. 
 

11.2  Election of Officers. Initially, the officers shall be elected by the Board of 
Directors named in the Articles of Incorporation at the first meeting of that body, to serve at the 
pleasure of the Board until the first annual meeting of the Board and until their successors are 
duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. At the first and each 
subsequent annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the newly elected Board shall elect 
officers to serve at the pleasure of the Board until the next annual meeting of the Board and until 
their successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. An 
officer shall be deemed qualified when he or she enters upon the duties of the office to which he 
or she has been elected or appointed and furnishes any bond required by the Board of Directors 
or these Bylaws; but the Board of Directors may also require of such person his or her written or 
electronic acceptance and promise faithfully to discharge the duties of such office. 
 

11.3  Special Appointments. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers 
and agents as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such 
period, have such authority, and perform such duties consistent with these Bylaws as the Board 
may, from time to time, determine. 
 

11.4  Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office by the Board 
of Directors whenever, in the Board's judgment, the best interests of the Association will be 
served thereby. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written or electronic notice to the 
Board through the president or the secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of 
receipt of such notice by the Board or at any later date specified therein, and, unless otherwise 
specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. 
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11.5  Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors at any 
time. The officer elected to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer 
he or she replaces. 
 

11.6  Multiple Offices. Any two (2) offices may be held by the same person. 
 

11.7  Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows: 
 

President. The president shall be the chief executive officer of the Association 
and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have general supervision, 
direction and control of the affairs and officers of the Association. He or she shall preside 
at all meetings of the membership and at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He or 
she shall be a non-voting ex officio member of all standing committees (and may also be 
a voting member of any such committee, in the capacity of an official appointee, as the 
case may be) and shall have the general powers and duties of management usually 
vested in the office of president and shall have such other powers and duties as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws. 

 
Vice President. The vice president shall act in the place and stead of the 

president in the event of his or her absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise 
and discharge such other duties and have such other powers as may be prescribed by 
the Board of Directors. 

 
Secretary. The secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all 

meetings and proceedings of the Board of Directors and of the members, shall keep the 
corporate seal, if any, of the Association and affix it on all papers required to have the 
seal affixed thereto, shall serve notice of meetings of the board and of the members, 
shall keep appropriate current records showing the members of the Association, 
together with their addresses, and shall perform such other duties, and have such other 
powers as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or usually vested in the office of 
secretary. 

 
Treasurer. The treasurer shall have responsibility for the safekeeping of the 

funds of the Association, shall keep or cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of 
receipts and disbursements of the Association and such other books of account and 
accounting records as may be appropriate, and shall perform such other duties and have 
such other powers as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or usually vested in 
the office of treasurer. The books of account and accounting records shall at all 
reasonable times be open to inspection by any director. 

 
11.8  Compensation. Officers of the Association shall not receive any compensation or 

salary for their services, but may be reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred in the performance of the duties of their offices. 
 

 
ARTICLE XII 

ASSESSMENTS 
 

12.1  Purpose. The assessments levied by the Association shall be used to provide 
funds to enable the Association to exercise the powers, maintain the improvements and render 
the services provided for in these Bylaws, the Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation. 
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12.2  Provisions Governing Assessments. Assessments shall be levied in the manner 

provided in the Declaration. 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 
The books and records of the Association shall, at all times during reasonable hours and 

upon reasonable notice, be subject to inspection by any member for proper purposes. The 
Declaration, Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association shall also be available 
during reasonable hours for inspection by any member. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 
If adopted by the Board of Directors, the Association shall have a corporate seal in a 

circular form having inscribed thereon the name of the Association and the words "Corporate 
Seal--Kansas". The corporate seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be 
impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise attached. 
 

ARTICLE XV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
15.1  Depositories and Checks. The moneys of the Association shall be deposited in 

such banks or financial institutions and shall be drawn out by checks signed in such manner as 
may be provided by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors from time to time. 
 

15.2  Certain Loans Prohibited. The Association shall not make any loan to any officer 
or director of the Association. 
 

15.3  Absence of Personal Liability. The directors, officers and members of the 
Association shall not be individually or personally liable for the debts, liabilities or obligations of 
the Association. 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
AMENDMENT 

 
These Bylaws may from time to time be altered, amended, or repealed, or new Bylaws 

may be adopted by a majority vote of the members of the Association entitled to vote who are 
present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
CONFLICT 

 
In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and 

these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation shall control. In the case of any conflict between the 
Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
FISCAL YEAR 
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The Board of Directors shall have power to fix and from time to time change the fiscal 
year of the Association. In the absence of action by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the 
Association shall end each year on the date which the Association treated as the close of its first 
fiscal year, until such time, if any, as the fiscal year shall be changed by the Board of Directors. 
 

ARTICLE XIX 
WAIVER OF NOTICE 

 
Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the statutes of 

Kansas, or of the Articles of Incorporation or of these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed 
by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, 
shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a 
waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express 
purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business 
because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at 
nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the members, directors or members of a 
committee of directors need be specified in any written waiver of notice unless so required by 
the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. 

 
ARTICLE XX 

INDEMNIFICATION 
 

 20.1 Indemnification Required by Law.  The Association shall provide to its directors and 
officers such indemnification as it is required to provide pursuant to the provisions of the Kansas 
general corporation code. 

20.2 Additional Indemnification.   

20.2.1 The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is 
threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or 
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, other than an action 
by or in the right of the Association, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a 
director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the 
request of the Association as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another 
corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, 
against expenses (including attorneys’ fees, taxes imposed by Chapter 42 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 [hereinafter in these Statutes the “Code”], and expenses of 
correction paid pursuant to Chapter 42 of the Code) and against judgments, fines, and 
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in 
a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests 
of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no 
reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.  The termination of any 
action, suit, or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of 
nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person 
did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in 
or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal 
action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was 
unlawful. 
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20.2.2 The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party 
or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action or 
suit by or in the right of the Association to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of 
the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the 
Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, 
employee, or agent of another corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint 
venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) and 
against amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with the defense or settlement of the action or suit if such person acted in 
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to 
the best interests of the Association, except that no indemnification shall be made in 
respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged 
to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of such person’s duty to the 
Association unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action or suit was 
brought determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability and in view 
of all the circumstances of the case, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to 
indemnification for such expenses as the court shall deem proper. 

20.2.3 To the extent that a director, officer, employee, or agent of the 
Association has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, 
suit, or proceeding referred to in the two preceding paragraphs of this section or in 
defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against 
expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with the action, suit, or proceeding. 

20.2.4 Any indemnification under section 20.2.1 or 20.2.2, unless ordered 
by a court, shall be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific case upon 
a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee, or agent is proper 
in the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct 
set forth in section 20.2.  Such determination shall be made:  (i) by the Board of 
Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to 
the action, suit, or proceeding; or (ii) if such a quorum is not obtainable or, even if 
obtainable, if a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal 
counsel in a written opinion. 

20.2.5 Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit, or 
proceeding may be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of the 
action, suit, or proceeding as authorized by the Board of Directors in the specific case 
upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee, or agent 
to repay such amount unless it shall ultimately be determined that such person is entitled 
to be indemnified by the Association as authorized in this section. 

20.2.6 The indemnification provided by this section 20.2 shall not be 
deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be 
entitled under any provision of law, the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration, other 
provisions of these Bylaws, any agreement or contract, a vote of disinterested directors, 
or otherwise, both as to action in an official capacity and as to action in any other 
capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to 
be a director, officer, employee, or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, 
executors, and administrators of such person. 
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20.2.7 The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf 
of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or 
is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee, or 
agent of another corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or 
other enterprise, against any liability asserted against such person or incurred by such 
person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or 
not the Association would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability 
under the provisions of this section. 

20.2.8 For purposes of this section, references to the Association include 
all constituent entities absorbed in any consolidation or merger as well as the resulting or 
surviving entity. 

20.2.9 The provisions of this section are intended to facilitate the 
Association’s ability to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as its directors and 
officers and at its request as directors and officers or in other capacities for other entities 
or enterprises by providing and maximizing the amount of indemnification that the 
Association is permitted to provide to such persons by the Kansas Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, and such provisions shall be construed accordingly.  The provisions of this section 
do not limit the Association’s power to pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director 
or officer of the Association in connection with appearing as a witness in a proceeding at 
a time when the director or officer has not been made a named defendant or respondent 
to the proceeding. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 25th, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14th, 2020 
 

VILLA DE FONTANA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR REZONING, PRELIMINARY PLAT, AND 
PRELIMINARY PLAN – LOCATED SOUTH OF 135TH STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE  

CASE 70-20             **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny CASE 70-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary Plat, and Preliminary Plan for the reasons 
outlined in the staff report and Golden Factors. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Mark Simpson with Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The property is owned by Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval for Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary 
Plat, and Preliminary Plan. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O (Planned Office), and RP-3 
(Planned Cluster Attached Residential District). 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 
LOCATION AND CURRENT ZONING:  

 
 
 



2 

 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 135th Street is undeveloped property, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 South Directly south of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned R-1 (Planned 
Single Family Low-Density Residential). 

 East Directly east of Fontana Street is open undeveloped property, zoned SD-NCR 
(Planned Neighborhood Retail). 

 West Directly west is Roe Avenue is Plaza Pointe, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 

 
 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The applicant is proposing to build 63 single family homes and 11 tracts within the RP-2 Zoning district 

 Entrances into the property include, one off 135th street, two off Fontana street, two off 137th accessing 
the north portion of the development, one off 137th accessing the south portion of the development, 
and one off Roe avenue. 

 Entrances off Roe avenue and 135th will have fountains on each side of said entrance. 

 All islands within the development will incorporate some form of statuary or flower urn.   

 Cul-de-sacs within the property include, one off Fontana street, one off 137th street, one off Granada 
street, and one off 136th street. 

 All internal streets are private. 

 Amenities include a dog park in the northwest corner, pitch and putt golf, bocce ball, and pickle ball in 
the southeast corner. 

 The development will have 6’ integrated retaining wall and fence along the north and west sides. 

 Lots 20-23 are facing 137th street. 
 
PRELIMINARY PLAT: 

 The applicant is proposing 63 single family lots for the Villa de Fontana subdivision. 

 The applicant is proposing eleven common area tracts, a total of 9.80 acres, which shall be maintained 
by the Homes Association. The tracts are as follows: 

Lot Sq. ft. Acres Area 

Tract A 53,082.86 1.2186 Northwest corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, development 
monument, Retaining wall/Fence, and Dog Park. 

Tract B 13,792.46 0.3166 Northeast corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract C 10,404.14 0.2388 Internal open space of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract D 11,650.80 0.2675 West boundary of the development along Roe Ave. This 
tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, and 
development monument. 

Tract E 1,0002.48 0.2296 Southwest corner of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 
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BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the RP-2 Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 30’ 22.5’ Deviation 
Requested 

Side Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Corner Lot Street Side 
Setback 

20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Rear Setback 20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Lot Size 6,000 Square Feet per 
dwelling unit 

Average = 
15,000 sq. ft. 

Complies 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant has provided preliminary elevations of proposed buildings. Elevations are reviewed and 
approved at the time of final site plan application. 

 
LANDSCAPING:  

 A general landscape plan has been provided. Landscaping is reviewed and approved at the time of 
final site plan application. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 No signage is proposed with this application, signage is reviewed and approved at the time of final site 
plan application. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 Lighting is reviewed and approved at the time of Final Plan application 
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 13, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are attached. 
 

Tract F 58,316.16 1.3388 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract G 43,791.76 1.0053 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract H 193,727.54 4.4474 Contains all private streets within the main development, 
excluding cul-de-sacs 

Tract I 8,790.87 0.2018 Internal cul-de-sac along 136th Ter, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Tract J 7,893.23 0.1812 Internal cul-de-sac along Fontana St, contains 
landscaping and statuary. 

Tract K 15,244.45 0.3500 Internal cul-de-sac along 137th St, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Total 426,696.75 9.80  
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REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting the following deviations to the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
Front Yard Setbacks:  

 Section 16-2-5.5 RP-2 requires that front yard setbacks to be a minimum of 30 ft. The applicant is 
proposing a deviation to the setback to allow for a 25.5’ front yard setback for twenty eight lots (lot 
7, 8, 13-16, 18, 19, 24-30, 36, 44, 45, 51-53). Section 16-3-9 (A)(5)(b): provides a deviation for 
setbacks of buildings and paved areas from other than a public street may be reduced to 75% of 
the standard requirement. The deviation may be granted only if compensating common open 
space (not less than 1:1 ratio) is provided elsewhere in the project and where there is ample 
evidence that the deviation will not adversely affect the neighboring properties.  

 
IMPACT FEES: 

Park Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in 
the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

135th Street Corridor Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of 
the Final Plat in the amount of $389.40 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to the 
recording of the Final Plat at a rate of $625 x gross acres platted x miles from 135 th Street. This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 

The area is characterized by a major arterial street (135th); a undeveloped parcel of land 
comprehensively zoned Mixed use to the North, Leawood Meadows a low density residential 
subdivision zoned R-1 to the south, a collector street (Fontana); a undeveloped property zoned SD-
NCR to the east, a major arterial street (Roe); Plaza Pointe a mixed use development to the west. 

 
The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 

Due to the mix of uses within the surrounding area and  the property is adjacent to two major 
arterial and collector streets, the property is suitable to a mixed-use development .  The 
property is surrounded on all sides by major streets: 135th St. to the north, 137th St. to the 
south, Roe Ave. to the west and Fontana St. to the east, providing the best opportunity for a 
mixed use development. The original development for this area was a mixed use development 
which better fit within the 135th Street Corridor. The project does not currently meet the 2019 
comprehensive plan or 135th street community plan, as these plans indicate that mixed use in 
the best zoning for the area/corridor. 

 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 

The property was rezoned (Ord. 2091) in 2004 from Agriculture (AG) to Planned General Retail (SD-
CR), Planned Office (SD-O), and Planned Cluster Attached Residential (RP-3) as part of the Pawnee 
Place mixed use development. The final plan for the Gardens of Villaggio portion of the development 
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was approved (Res. 3254) in 2009 with only one of the three offices being built to date. The final plan 
for the M&I Bank portion of the development was approved (Res. 2927) in 2007. 

 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

The development in this application is proposing to rezone existing SD-O and SD-CR 
properties, resulting in said properties to be in non-conformance with building setback and 
minimum acreage requirements. Building setback from residential for SD-CR is required to be 
125’ and SD-O is required to be 75’. Minimum Acreage requirements for SD-CR and SD-O are 
required to be a minimum of 10 acres per development. 
  

The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 

Maintaining Mixed Use zoning along the north side of 137th Street would keep this area compatible 
with existing and approved adjoining residential development, which may create a relative gain to the 
public health, safety, and welfare to the neighboring community by reducing density, traffic, and overall 
impact to this residential area. 

 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 

The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood, the 
comprehensive plan designates this area as Mixed Use while the applicant is requesting Medium 
Density Residential. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood or the 
135th street Community Plan. The Comprehensive Plan and 135th street Community Plan designate 
this area as Mixed Use while the applicant is requesting Medium Density Residential. The 
neighborhood is characteristically defined by the major arterial streets (135th and Roe). Given the 
access to major arterial streets, the area should be developed with the highest/best use for the 
property. Removing existing restrictions on the property will allow for the existing office buildings to not 
be in conformance with Leawood Development Ordinance. The development is proposing to spot-zone 
by rezone existing SD-O and SD-CR properties, resulting in said properties to be in non-conformance 
with building setback and minimum acreage requirements. Building setback from residential for SD-
CR is required to be 125’ and SD-O is required to be 75’. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny CASE 70-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary Plat, and Preliminary Plan. If the Planning 
Commission were to approve the application against the recommendation from planning staff, the following 
stipulations are provided.  

 
1. The project is limited to 30.44 acres. of construction for the residential subdivision Villa de Fontana 
2. The project shall comply with the bulk regulations for SD-O and SD-CR, not allowing for existing 

property to be in non-conformance. 
3. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 

a. Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of $400.00 per 
dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 
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b. 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of 
$389.40 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c. South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat at a rate 
of $625 x gross acres platted x miles from 135th Street. This amount is subject to change 
by Ordinance. 

4. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 55 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than 15 
square feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal to or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only 
with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this 
Ordinance. However, all new electric vehicle charging stations shall only be permitted within the 
interior of a garage.  

5. All new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall be authorized only by approval 
of a special use permit prior to construction. 

6. All streets within the subdivision shall be private with the exception of 137th street. The developer 
or Homes Association shall maintain any planting or statuary within the street right of way. The 
developer shall execute a right-of-way maintenance agreement with the Public Works Department 
for any planting or statuary improvements within the public right-of-way. 

7. All monument signs shall be placed within a common area designated as a separate tract of land 
to be maintained by the homes association.  

8. All monument signs shall be located outside of all sight triangles, and shall be a minimum of 5’ 
from all property lines and sidewalks. 

9. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
10. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 

trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 
trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 
trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

11. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the 
ground mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower 
shrubs in the foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

12. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
c. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
d. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
e. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
f. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be 

submitted prior to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per 
the approved landscape plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the 
nursery industry.   

13. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 
common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and 
storm water system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with 
each lot in the development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for 
such maintenance, repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable 
for such maintenance, repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace 
such common areas or common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, 



7 

repairing and replacing said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the 
City of Leawood will be jointly and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility 
of the owner(s) of such lot. 

14. At the time of Final Plan, the applicant shall provide City staff with a copy of the covenants and 
restrictions proposed for the development.  

15. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
16. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the 

public works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior 
to issuance of a building permit and recording the plat. 

17. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire 
Marshal’s memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior to 
issuance of a building permit. 

18. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
19. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun 

or if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may 
request a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City 
Council may grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the 
developer. 

20. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
21. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect 

except to the extent expressly modified herein. 
22. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by 

all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree 
to stipulations one through twenty-two. 

 









 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Villa de Fontana 

 

 

It is my understanding that this project is early in plans submittal phase.  The Leawood 

Fire deprtment is aware only of a site development containing single residence type villas 

on this site along with a proposed dog park and boche ball/pickle ball area. 

It has been mentioned to our crews via Mark Simpson (introduced as site owner) that palns 

exist to privatize the streets within this community thus restricting access to fire 

department vehicles. 

The Leawood Fire Department would object to privatization of any streets which limits or 

restricts access of all fire department vehicles. 

Without having more formal site plans for this site it is difficult to provide additional 

insight. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 

 

 

 



From: Kristi <kingofpaindds@msn.com> 

Sent: Monday, August 17, 2020 6:43 PM 

To: Planning and Development General Email 

Subject: Case # NC#70-20 Villa de Fontana 

 

Dear Leawood Planning Commission: 

 

We have lived at 13701 Fontana Lane, Leawood, Kansas for eighteen years. This is the fourth or 

fifth proposal for the property located on 135th between Roe and Mission Roads. This one is by 

far the most ridiculous. The 135th Street Corridor is prime land for commercial retail 

and/or professional office development. A dog park on such expensive property is idiotic. The 

northern half of the property at 135 should be commercial. The Southern portion of this 

property should be developed as residential.  Any residential lots should be at least 1/2 acre. A 

concrete pickle ball structure on top of an underground water retention system is a recipe for 

disaster.  

 

The City of Leawood has an obligation to it’s residents to develop the property surrounding 

residents in the most reasonable manor to benefit the city and the citizens as best as possible. 

This plan does not meet those obligations. It is doomed to fail. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

Dr. David M. Blomeyer 

 

Kristi L. Blomeyer 

 

Sent from Windows Mail 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



From: Grant Lang 

Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 3:45 PM 

To: Grant Lang 

Subject: Villa de Fontana development by Saul Ellis and Mark Simpson 

 

From: Doug Patterson <doug@propertylawfirm.com>  

Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 3:22 PM 

To: Richard Coleman <richardc@leawood.org> 

Cc: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Scott Lambers <scottl@leawood.org>; John Petersen 

<JPetersen@Polsinelli.com>; Ron Bennett (RBennett@Diservices.com) <RBennett@Diservices.com>; 

Benny Harding <benny@hardinglawkc.com> 

Subject: Villa de Fontana development by Saul Ellis and Mark Simpson 

 

Dear Richard, 

 

On behalf of myself and all of the fellow owners of the office building located at 4630 W. 137th Street as 

well as surrounding common areas, I am pleased to write in support of the above referenced rezoning 

Application. We have had the opportunity to review the proposed Villa de Fontana Plan with Mr. Ellis 

and Mr. Simpson and are convinced that this development will have a positive impact not only on our 

building but the general 135th corridor as well. Specifically, we have reviewed the proposed setbacks 

from our building to the adjacent single family residences and coupled with landscaping and other 

features fell it will provide an excellent transition between the two uses. 

 

We strongly encourage the Planning Staff, Planning Commission and the City Council to approve the 

Project. Please place this correspondence in the public record for consideration as this application is 

reviewed. 

 

Doug Patterson 

Gardens of Villaggio Condominium Association, Inc. 

HOAD, LLC 

 

CC. Mayor Peggy Dunn 

City Administrator, Scott Lambers  

 

________________________________________ 

 

****************************************************************************** 

NOTICE:During the current quarantine order/stay at home/shelter in place orders, our office has limited 

access , but Property Law Firm is fully operational. Its attorneys and staff remain working full time 

sometimes on a remote basis.  All emails, documents, faxes, court matters and your files are just as 

available to us as if we were in the office and at our desks.  

************** 

Douglas J. Patterson 

PROPERTY LAW FIRM, LLC 

4630 West 137th Street, Suite 100 

Leawood, KANSAS 66224 

913-663-1300 X.105 

913-396-5105 direct dial 



913-663-3834 fax 

913-526-3880 - cell 

Doug@Propertylawfirm.com 

www.propertylawfirm.com 

 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:  This e-mail message, including attachments, if any, is intended only for the 

person or entity to which it is addressed and may contain confidential and/or privileged material.  Any 

unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited.  If you are not the intended recipient, 

please contact the sender by reply e-mail.  If you are the intended recipient but do not wish to receive 

communications through this medium, please so advise the sender immediately. 

 

The Missouri Bar Disciplinary Counsel requires all Missouri lawyers to notify all recipients of e-mail that 

(1) e-mail communication is not a secure method of communication, (2) any e-mail that is sent to or by 

you may be copied and held by various computers it passes through as it goes from us to you or vice 

versa, (3) persons not participating in our communication may intercept our communications by 

improperly accessing your computers(s) or even some computer unconnected to either of us which the 

e-mail passed through.  We are communicating to you via e-mail because you have consented to receive 

communications via this medium.  If you change your mind and want future communications to be sent 

in a different fashion, please so advise me at once. 

 

Notice: It's OK to print this email. Paper is a biodegradable, renewable, sustainable product made from 

trees. Growing and harvesting trees provides jobs for millions of Americans. Working forests are good 

for the environment and provide clean air and water, wildlife habitat and carbon storage. Thanks to 

improved forest management, we have more trees in America today than we had 100 years ago. 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  
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Description (Rezoning & Preliminary Plat) Lots 1 and 2 and Tracts A, B, C and D, The Villaggio at Leawood, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Lots 1 thru 3 and Tract A, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Second Plat, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT A part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 13 South, Range 25 East; thence along the North line of said Northeast Quarter of North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East, a distance of 1073.24 feet; thence South 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds East, 85.00 feet to a point on the South Right of Way line of 135th Street and being a point on the North line of said Lot 1, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East along said lines, 118.66 feet to the Northwest corner of Tract B in said subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 05 minutes 49 seconds East along the Westerly line of said Tract B, 102.34 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of Fontana Street also being a point on the East line of said Lot 1: thence South 01 degrees 55 minutes 13 seconds East along said lines, 248.18 feet; thence South 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds West, 124.14 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a radius of 150.00 feet and a distance of 67.37 feet; thence North 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 305.88 feet to the Point of Beginning, TOGETHER WITH: All of Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Westerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 236.66 feet to the Northwest plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 76°16'26" E, along the North plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 344.36 feet to the Northeast plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 13°43'34" W, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 91.91 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to the South plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the Southerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 146.00 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.2351 acres, more or less, replatted land.
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Description (Rezoning & Preliminary Plat) Lots 1 and 2 and Tracts A, B, C and D, The Villaggio at Leawood, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Lots 1 thru 3 and Tract A, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Second Plat, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT A part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 13 South, Range 25 East; thence along the North line of said Northeast Quarter of North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East a distance of 1073.24 feet; thence South 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds East, 85.00 feet to a point on the South Right of Way line of 135th Street and being a point on the North line of said Lot 1, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East along said lines, 118.66 feet to the Northwest corner of Tract B in said subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 05 minutes 49 seconds East along the Westerly line of said Tract B, 102.34 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of Fontana Street also being a point on the East line of said Lot 1: thence South 01 degrees 55 minutes 13 seconds East along said lines, 248.18 feet; thence South 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds West, 124.14 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a radius of 150.00 feet and a distance of 67.37 feet; thence North 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 305.88 feet to the Point of Beginning, TOGETHER WITH: All of Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Westerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 236.66 feet to the Northwest plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 76°16'26" E, along the North plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 344.36 feet to the Northeast plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 13°43'34" W, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 91.91 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to the South plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the Southerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 146.00 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.2351 acres, more or less, replatted land.
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Description (Rezoning & Preliminary Plat) Lots 1 and 2 and Tracts A, B, C and D, The Villaggio at Leawood, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Lots 1 thru 3 and Tract A, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Second Plat, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT A part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 13 South, Range 25 East; thence along the North line of said Northeast Quarter of North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East a distance of 1073.24 feet; thence South 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds East, 85.00 feet to a point on the South Right of Way line of 135th Street and being a point on the North line of said Lot 1, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East along said lines, 118.66 feet to the Northwest corner of Tract B in said subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 05 minutes 49 seconds East along the Westerly line of said Tract B, 102.34 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of Fontana Street also being a point on the East line of said Lot 1: thence South 01 degrees 55 minutes 13 seconds East along said lines, 248.18 feet; thence South 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds West, 124.14 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a radius of 150.00 feet and a distance of 67.37 feet; thence North 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 305.88 feet to the Point of Beginning, TOGETHER WITH: All of Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Westerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 236.66 feet to the Northwest plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 76°16'26" E, along the North plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 344.36 feet to the Northeast plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 13°43'34" W, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 91.91 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to the South plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the Southerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 146.00 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.2351 acres, more or less, replatted land.

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FOUNTAIN AND LOGGIAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & WALL BACKDROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA TABLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROSS AREA                     30.44 ACRES 30.44 ACRES ZONING     RP-2                 RP-2                 PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS       63        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS 63        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS DENSITY     2.07   LOTS PER ACRE  2.07   LOTS PER ACRE  LOTS PER ACRE  MINIMUM LOT SIZE    6,000 SF 6,000 SF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE   30% 30% FRONT SETBACK    30 FT 30 FT SIDE SETBACK    10 FT 10 FT CORNER LOT SETBACK   20 FT 20 FT REAR YARD SETBACK   20 FT 20 FT CUL-DE-SAC RADIUS   45 FT 45 FT MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT  35 FT 35 FT   DEVIATIONS REQUESTED REQUESTED REQUIRED PROPOSED* REDUCTION PROPOSED* REDUCTION REDUCTION FRONT YARD SETBACK 30' 25.5' 15% 30' 25.5' 15% 25.5' 15% 15% SIDE YARD SETBACK 10' NONE NONE 10' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE SIDE YARD SETBACK (ABUTTING STREET) 20' NONE NONE 20' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE REAR YARD SETBACK 20' NONE NONE 20' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE *SEE SETBACK TABLE FOR DEVIATIONS. DEVIATION SETBACK AREA:    0.19 ACRES 0.19 ACRES OPEN SPACE REQUIRED (30% LOT AREA):  6.16 ACRES 6.16 ACRES OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:     6.74 ACRES 6.74 ACRES ADDITIONAL OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:  0.58 ACRES0.58 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' STAMPED CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC BENCH, DRINKING FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN SIMILAR TO 135TH & ROE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC BENCH, DRINKING FOUNTAIN & BIKE RACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'x20' LANDSCAPE EASEMENT



AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO,  LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO,  SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
137TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
137TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
136TH TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
136TH TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
136TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
136TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
78

AutoCAD SHX Text
79

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
81

AutoCAD SHX Text
82

AutoCAD SHX Text
83

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
29

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 CHURCH OF THE RESURRECTION  FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
305.88'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER ESMT. TO  CITY OF LEAWOOD, KS  BK. 201307, PG. 010215 (#40)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. TO  CITY OF LEAWOOD, KS  BK. 200908, PG. 006781 (#39)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 10'KCP&L ESMT. BK. 200902,  PG. 007506 (#38)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 10'KCP&L ESMT. BK. 200803,  PG. 008841 (#34)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONEOK INC. ESMT. BK. 200704, PG. 005654 (#32)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 40' WATER DISTRICT NO. 1 OF  JOHNSON COUNTY, KS ESMT. BK. 201307, PG. 010339 (#31)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200701, PG. 004522 (#30)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200701, PG. 004521 (#29)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 5' ONEOK, INC. ESMT. BK. 200612, PG. 001637 (#28)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200609, PG. 004668 (#27)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200609, PG. 004667 (#26)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200609, PG. 004666 (#25)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' KCP&L ESMT. BK. 200608,  PG. 011608 (#24)

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY ESMT. TO CITY OF LEAWOOD BK. 200604, PG. 001257 (#22)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 007000 (#21)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 006999 (#20)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 006998 (#19)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 006997 (#18)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 006996 (#17)

AutoCAD SHX Text
UTILITY ESMT. TO CITY OF LEAWOOD BK. 7748, PG. 480 (#15)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. TO  CITY OF LEAWOOD, KS  BK. 7653, PG. 754 (#14)

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIGHT-OF-WAY BK. 4547, PG. 277 (#13)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT.  (TRACT NO. 1)  BK. 4547, PG. 277 (#13)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT.  (TRACT NO. 2)  BK. 4547, PG. 277 (#13)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. (TRACT NO. 1)  BK. 4547, PG. 277 (#13) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
85'

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
48' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' U/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' L/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' L/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
65'x45' SIDEWALK ESMT.  (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT.  (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. (PLATTED, #10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' U/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' U/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' U/E (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. (PLATTED, #10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANITARY SEWER ESMT. BK. 200603, PG. 006995 (PLATTED, #10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. (PLATTED, #10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' ROADWAY & SIDEWALK ESMT.  (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' ROADWAY & SIDEWALK ESMT.  (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAINAGE ESMT. (PLATTED, #10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROADWAY AND SIDEWALK ESMT.  (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
 5' ONEOK, INC. ESMT. BK. 200612, PG. 001637 (#28)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25,

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITION PLAN OF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 3 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900



AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
48' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES PROPOSED 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES LANDSCAPE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L/E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES PROPOSED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES TREE PRESERVATION EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.P.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES BUILDING LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
U/E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES 30' POLE, 6' ARM,  (AELATB0-20BLEDE70 R2 4000K FIXTURE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AERIAL PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25, IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
500'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
500'

AutoCAD SHX Text
500'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
500'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 4 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ROE AVENUE PROPERTIES SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PARADISE VALLEY ASSOCIATES, LPPINNACLE PEAK, L.P.  SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PARADISE VALLEY ASSOCIATES, LPPINNACLE PEAK, L.P.  SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PARADISE VALLEY ASSOCIATES, LPPINNACLE PEAK, L.P.  SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PARADISE VALLEY ASSOCIATES, LPPINNACLE PEAK, L.P.  SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: RMO LEAWOOD WEST PROPERTIES LLC & JBO LEAWOOD WEST PROPERTIES LLC SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: STUART L. SHARP, HELEN L. BREWER & JANDY C. SHARP BARENTINE, TRUSTEES FOR THE PERRY M. SHARP TRUST, A KANSAS TRUST SITE ADDRESS:  4001 W. 135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: STUART L. SHARP, HELEN L. BREWER & JANDY C. SHARP BARENTINE, TRUSTEES FOR THE PERRY M. SHARP TRUST, A KANSAS TRUST SITE ADDRESS:  4001 W. 135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ROBERT C. & DENISE L. VEDDER SITE ADDRESS:  4024 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JOHN F. & SALLY A PAYNE SITE ADDRESS:  4028 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: DAVID M. & KRISTI L. BLOMEYER SITE ADDRESS:  13701 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: WILLIAM G. & JEANNINE S. PRADERIO SITE ADDRESS:  13700 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: KEVIN STALEY & KAREN E. BROLLIER SITE ADDRESS:  13704 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: ANTHONY C. & SHIRLEY A. GAGLIANO SITE ADDRESS:  13707 GRANADA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: LYLE F. & DOLORES E. HOLTHAUS SITE ADDRESS:  13701 GRANADA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: REX A. & LORI A. GROOM SITE ADDRESS:  4640 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: DAVID J. GEL & ELAINE P. GANGEL SITE ADDRESS:  4644 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JOHN C. & ALICIA M. MORRIS SITE ADDRESS:  4648 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JOSEPH T. & DENISE E. FRANKLIN SITE ADDRESS:  4652 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: KONSTANTIN VAKSHTYN & MARINA GLUSCHAK SITE ADDRESS:  13700 GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MAX L. VOHIES SITE ADDRESS:  13702 GRANADA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MARY JO BROSCH SITE ADDRESS:  13705 GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MATT CHRISTOPHER KINCAID SITE ADDRESS:  13704 GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: CHURCH O FTHE RESURRECTION - UNITED METHODIST SITE ADDRESS:  5001 W. 137TH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: SYDNEYS PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC SITE ADDRESS:  13652 ROE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: TALLY PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, LLC SITE ADDRESS:  13650 ROE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MATHEWS REAL ESTATE PARTNERSHIP SITE ADDRESS:  4701 W. 136TH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: PLAZA POINTE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: CROSSFIRST BANK LEAWOOD SITE ADDRESS:  4707 W. 135TH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: WK HOLDINGS LLC SITE ADDRESS:  4700 W. 135TH ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
 OWNER: C & G DEVELOPMENT, L.L.C. SITE ADDRESS:  13450 ROE AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MATTHEW & JENNIFER GLENN SITE ADDRESS:  4020 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MARVIN D. & SUSAN M. BELL SITE ADDRESS:  4016 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: DONALD D. & JANET S. FELTHAM SITE ADDRESS:  4017 W. 137TH TER.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JOE C. & GRACE ANN HIGDAY SITE ADDRESS:  13709 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: MICHAEL V. SABAUGH & RASHELL M. ROTH SITE ADDRESS:  13708 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: FRANCIS & JOANNA HURD SITE ADDRESS:  13712 FONTANA ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: JAMES E. & PAMELA J. MCNAIR SITE ADDRESS:  13703 GRANADA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: SHELLIE D. ELLIS & BRUCE S. IDOL SITE ADDRESS:  13706 GRANADA RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: SEAN & STFANIE PYLE SITE ADDRESS:  13709 GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: STEPHAN & JENNIFER LEHMAN SITE ADDRESS:  13708 GRANADA DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER 1: GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION SITE ADDRESS: N/A OWNER 2: HOAD, L.L.C. SITE ADDRESS: 4630 W. 137TH ST. OWNER 3: BERSTEEN PROPERTIES, L.L.C. SITE ADDRESS: N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER: RDD HOLDINGS FIVE, LLC SITE ADDRESS: 4501 W. 135TH ST.



AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH & PUTT GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICKLE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN PLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH OF THE RESURRECTION FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCCE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA'S DOG PARK (FENCED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRADING PLAN OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25, IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 5 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & WALL BACKDROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #2

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #1

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & WALL BACKDROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #3

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY &  PEDESTAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #5

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #4

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA #6

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL & FENCE DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2' RETAINING WALL



AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
305.88'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
75' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
48' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' B.L. (PLATTED,#10)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH & PUTT GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICKLE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN PLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH OF THE RESURRECTION FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCCE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA'S DOG PARK (FENCED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA VILLAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25,

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES STORM SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES SANITARY SEWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES PROPOSED 5' CONCRETE SIDEWALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES LANDSCAPE EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
L/E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES PROPOSED FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES TREE PRESERVATION EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.P.E.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEDESTRIAN CIRCULATION PLAN OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES BUILDING LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
U/E

AutoCAD SHX Text
B.L.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES 30' POLE, 6' ARM,  (AELATB0-20BLEDE70 R2 4000K FIXTURE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' SW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
DENOTES PROPOSED ADA ROUTES

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDEWALK DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' S/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 6 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900



AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
305.88'(D)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH & PUTT GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICKLE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN PLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAZA POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHURCH OF THE RESURRECTION FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, FOURTH PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCCE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA'S DOG PARK (FENCED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
400'

AutoCAD SHX Text
200'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25,

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
VEHICLE ACCESS PLAN OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock to Lock Time

AutoCAD SHX Text
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text
Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
:

AutoCAD SHX Text
:

AutoCAD SHX Text
:

AutoCAD SHX Text
feet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Firetruck-Leawood

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.61

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.14

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.25

AutoCAD SHX Text
11.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
Steering Angle

AutoCAD SHX Text
39.8

AutoCAD SHX Text
:

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 7 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900



AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH & PUTT GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICKLE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN PLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCCE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA'S DOG PARK (FENCED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVIATION PLAN OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25, IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 8 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA TABLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROSS AREA                     30.44 ACRES 30.44 ACRES ZONING     RP-2                 RP-2                 PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS       63        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS 63        SINGLE FAMILY LOTS DENSITY     2.07   LOTS PER ACRE  2.07   LOTS PER ACRE  LOTS PER ACRE  MINIMUM LOT SIZE    6,000 SF 6,000 SF REQUIRED OPEN SPACE   30% 30% FRONT SETBACK    30 FT 30 FT SIDE SETBACK    10 FT 10 FT CORNER LOT SETBACK   20 FT 20 FT REAR YARD SETBACK   20 FT 20 FT CUL-DE-SAC RADIUS   45 FT 45 FT MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT  35 FT 35 FT   DEVIATIONS REQUESTED REQUESTED REQUIRED PROPOSED* REDUCTION PROPOSED* REDUCTION REDUCTION FRONT YARD SETBACK 30' 25.5' 15% 30' 25.5' 15% 25.5' 15% 15% SIDE YARD SETBACK 10' NONE NONE 10' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE SIDE YARD SETBACK (ABUTTING STREET) 20' NONE NONE 20' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE REAR YARD SETBACK 20' NONE NONE 20' NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE *SEE SETBACK TABLE FOR DEVIATIONS. DEVIATION SETBACK AREA:    0.19 ACRES 0.19 ACRES OPEN SPACE REQUIRED (30% LOT AREA):  6.16 ACRES 6.16 ACRES OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:     6.74 ACRES 6.74 ACRES ADDITIONAL OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:  0.58 ACRES0.58 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900

AutoCAD SHX Text
30' BLD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
25.5' BLD.



AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 135TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRANADA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 136TH TER

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
W 137TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT H

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT A

AutoCAD SHX Text
PITCH & PUTT GOLF

AutoCAD SHX Text
PICKLE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN PLAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT C

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEAWOOD MEADOWS, SECOND PLAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXCEPTED TRACT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOCCE BALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOLA'S DOG PARK (FENCED)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOGGIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACT B

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1"=60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEVELOPER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE PLAN & WALL PLAN OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER/APPLICANT:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC. 1270 N. WINCHESTER  OLATHE, KS. 66061  (913) 393-1155  (913) 393-1166 FAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE DESIGN:

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEI #200597 - 8/7/20

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
FONTANA LAND COMPANY, L.L.C. 10800 FARLEY, SUITE 265 OVERLAND PARK, KS  66210 (913) 345-9300 (913) 469-1400 FAX 

AutoCAD SHX Text
JASON MEIER, PLA, LEED AP 15245 METCALF AVE. OVERLAND PARK, KS 66223  (913) 787-2817

AutoCAD SHX Text
NALL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCATION MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION 33-13S-25E

AutoCAD SHX Text
SE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE : 1 " = 2000'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
NW 1/4

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
135TH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISSION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
151ST STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
A SUBDIVISION IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 33, TOWNSHIP 13, RANGE 25, IN THE CITY OF LEAWOOD, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA DE FONTANA

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET 9 OF 9

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA TABLE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE REQUIRED (30% LOT AREA):  6.16 ACRES 6.16 ACRES OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:     6.74 ACRES 6.74 ACRES ADDITIONAL OPEN SPACE PROVIDED:  0.58 ACRES0.58 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND PLANNER:

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK OWENS 1321 UPLAND DR. #9025 HOUSTON, TX 77043  (816) 808-7900

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTEGRAL RETAINING WALL & FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING FOUNTAIN AND LOGGIAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY & WALL BACKDROP

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUANTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
5' STAMPED CONC. WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC BENCH, DRINKING FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUNTAIN SIMILAR TO 135TH & ROE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY OR FLOWER URN

AutoCAD SHX Text
OPEN SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT(NOT INCLUDED IN OPEN SPACE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' TALL INTEGRATED RETAINING WALL & FENCE (SEE DETAIL SHEET 5) OR STATUARY, FLOWER URN OR FOUNTAIN (SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR DETAILS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOUBLE LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STATUARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PUBLIC BENCH, DRINKING FOUNTAIN & BIKE RACK






















